
 

Meeting of the  
 

OVERVIEW & 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

________________________________________________ 
 

Tuesday, 5 June 2007 at 7.30 p.m. 
______________________________________ 

 

A G E N D A 
__________________________________________ 

 

VENUE 
M71, 7th Floor, Town Hall, Mulberry Place, 5 Clove Crescent, London, 

E14 2BG 
 
Members: 
 

Deputies (if any): 

Chair: Councillor Marc Francis  
Vice-Chair:    
  
  
Councillor Mohammed Abdus Salique 
Councillor Salim Ullah 
Councillor Alibor Choudhury 
Councillor Stephanie Eaton 
Councillor Peter Golds 
Councillor Alexander Heslop 
Councillor Ahmed Hussain 
Councillor Shahed Ali 
 

Councillor A A Sardar, (Designated 
Deputy representing Councillors Marc 
Francis, Alibor Choudhury, Alex Heslop, 
Mohammed Abdus Salique and Salim 
Ullah) 
Councillor Bill Turner, (Designated Deputy 
representing Councillors Marc Francis, 
Alibor Choudhury, Alex heslop, 
Mohammed Abdus Salique and Salim 
Ullah) 
Councillor Louise Alexander, (Designated 
Deputy representing Councillor Stephanie 
Eaton) 
Councillor Tim Archer, (Designated 
Deputy representing Councillor Peter 
Golds) 
Councillor Shamim A. Chowdhury, 
(Designated Deputy representing 
Councillors Shahed Ali and Ahmed 
Hussain) 
Councillor Rania Khan, (Designated 
Deputy representing Councillors Shahed 

 



 
 
 

Ali and Ahmed Hussain) 
Councillor Abjol Miah, (Designated Deputy 
representing Councillors Shahed Ali and 
Ahmed Hussain) 
 

[Note: The quorum for this body is 4 voting Members]. 
 
Co-opted Members:  
  
Mr H Mueenuddin – Muslim Community Representative 
Mr D McLaughlin – Roman Catholic Diocese of Westminster 

Representative 
 
If you require any further information relating to this meeting, would like to request a large 
print, Braille or audio version of this document, or would like to discuss access arrangements 
or any other special requirements, please contact: Angus Dixon, Democratic Services,  
Tel: 020 7364 4850, E-mail: angus.dixon@towerhamlets.gov.uk 



 
 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS 
 

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  
 

Tuesday, 5 June 2007 
 

7.30 p.m. 
 

 SECTION ONE 
 

1. ELECTION OF VICE-CHAIR   
 
 Note from Chief Executive:  At the Annual Council meeting held on 16th May 2007, 

Councillor Marc Francis was appointed Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee for 
the remainder of the current Municipal Year. 
 
Accordingly, it is necessary to elect a Vice-Chair of the Committee for that period. 
 

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 
 To receive any apologies for absence. 

 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
 To note any declarations of interest made by Members, including those restricting 

Members from voting on the questions detailed in Section 106 of the Local Government 
Finance Act, 1992.  
 

Note from the Chief Executive 
 

In accordance with the Council’s Code of Conduct, Members must declare any 
personal interests they have in any item on the agenda or as they arise during the 
course of the meeting.  Members must orally indicate to which item their interest relates.  
If a Member has a personal interest he/she must also consider whether or not that 
interest is a prejudicial personal interest and take the necessary action.  When 
considering whether or not they have a declarable interest, Members should consult 
pages 181 to184 of the Council’s Constitution. Please note that all Members present at 
a Committee meeting (in whatever capacity) are required to declare any personal or 
prejudicial interests. 
 

A personal interest is, generally, one that would affect a Member (either directly or 
through a connection with a relevant person or organisation) more than other people in 
London, in respect of the item of business under consideration at the meeting.  If a 
member of the public, knowing all the relevant facts, would view a Member’s personal 
interest in the item under consideration as so substantial that it would appear likely to 
prejudice the Member’s judgement of the public interest, then the Member has a 
prejudicial personal interest. 
 
 

Consequences: 
 

• If a Member has a personal interest: he/she must declare the interest but can stay, 
speak and vote.  

 

• If the Member has prejudicial personal interest: he/she must declare the interest, 
cannot speak or vote on the item and must leave the room. 

 



 
 
 

 
When declaring an interest, Members are requested to specify the nature of the interest, 
the particular agenda item to which the interest relates and to also specify whether the 
interest is of a personal or personal and prejudicial nature.  This procedure is designed 
to assist the public’s understanding of the meeting and is also designed to enable a full 
entry to be made in the Statutory Register of Interests which is kept by the Head of 
Democratic Renewal and Engagement on behalf of the Monitoring Officer.  

 
4. UNRESTRICTED MINUTES  
 

 
1 - 6 

 

 To confirm as a correct record of the proceedings the 
unrestricted minutes of the meeting of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee held on 1st May 2007. 
 

  

5. SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT  
 

  

5 .1 Overview and Scrutiny Committee - Terms of 
Reference (FOR NOTING)   

 

7 - 10  

 (Time allocated 5 minutes) 
 

  

5 .2 Overview and Scrutiny Committee - Protocols and 
Guidance (FOR DECISION)   

 

11 - 20  

 (Time allocated 10 minutes) 
 

  

5 .3 Overview and Scrutiny Committee - Schedule of Dates 
(FOR NOTING)   

 

21 - 24  

 (Time allocated 5 minutes) 
 

  

5 .4 Membership of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee / 
Appointment of Six Lead Scrutiny Members / 
Establishment of Health Scrutiny Panel / Co-options to 
the Committee (FOR DECISION)   

 

25 - 30  

 (Time allocated 5 minutes) 
 

  

6. REQUESTS TO SUBMIT PETITIONS  
 

  

 To be notified at the meeting. 
 

  

7. REQUESTS FOR DEPUTATIONS  
 

  

 To be notified at the meeting. 
 

  

8. SECTION ONE REPORTS 'CALLED IN'  
 

  

8 .1 REPORT CALLED IN - Review of the Inclusion (SEN) 
Strategy (CAB 175/067)   

 

31 - 56  

 (Time allocated 30 minutes) 
 

  



 
 
 

9. BUDGET AND POLICY FRAMEWORK ISSUES  
 

  

 PLEASE NOTE: 
The reports and appendices that are relevant to these 
items are being circulated as part of the 6th June 2007 
Cabinet Agenda at items 12.1 and 12.2.  For this reason 
please ensure that you bring the Cabinet Agenda to the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting. 
 

  

9 .1 Tower Hamlets Community Plan to 2010: Year 7 
(2007/2008) - Revision (FOR DECISION)   

 

57 - 62  

9 .2 The Council's Strategic Plan 2006 to 2011: Year 2 
Implementation Plan (2007/08) and Best Value 
Performance Plan (FOR DECISION)   

 

63 - 68  

 (Time allocated 30 minutes) 
 

  

10. PERFORMANCE MONITORING  
 

  

10 .1 Equalities Action Plan 2006/07: End of Year Monitoring 
Report (FOR DECISION)   

 

69 - 108  

 (Time allocated 15 minutes) 
 

  

11. SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT  
 

  

11 .1 Health Scrutiny Panel - Access to GP / Dentistry 
Services   

 

109 - 134  

11 .2 Hostels Strategy - TO FOLLOW   
 

  

11 .3 Integrated Recycling Contract - TO FOLLOW   
 

  

12. PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY OF SECTION ONE 
(UNRESTRICTED) CABINET PAPERS  

 

  

 (Time allocated 15 minutes). 
 

  

13. ANY OTHER SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIR CONSIDERS TO 
BE URGENT  

 

  

  

14. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC   
 
 In view of the contents of the remaining items on the agenda the Committee is 

recommended to adopt the following motion: 
 

“That, under the provisions of Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, as 
amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985, the press and 
public be excluded from the remainder of the meeting for the consideration of the Section 
Two business on the grounds that it contains information defined as Exempt in Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act, 1972.” 



 
 
 

 

EXEMPT/CONFIDENTIAL SECTION (Pink Papers) 
 

The exempt committee papers in the agenda will contain information, which is commercially, 
legally or personally sensitive and should not be divulged to third parties.  If you do not wish 
to retain these papers after the meeting, please hand them to the Committee Officer present. 
 

  

15. PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY OF SECTION TWO 
(RESTRICTED) CABINET PAPERS  

 

  

 (Time allocated 15 minutes). 
 

  

16. ANY OTHER SECTION TWO (RESTRICTED) 
BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIR CONSIDERS 
URGENT  

 

  

 
 



OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE, 
01/05/2007 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

1 

LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS 
 

MINUTES OF THE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

HELD AT 7.00 P.M. ON TUESDAY, 1 MAY 2007 
 

M71, 7TH FLOOR, TOWN HALL, MULBERRY PLACE, 5 CLOVE CRESCENT, 
LONDON, E14 2BG 

 
Members Present: 
 
Councillor Motin Uz-Zaman (Chair) 
Councillor A A Sardar (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Simon Rouse 
Councillor Shahed Ali 
Councillor Clair Hawkins 
Councillor Shiria Khatun 
Councillor Mohammed Abdus Salique 
Councillor Stephanie Eaton 
  
 
Other Councillors Present: 
 
Councillor Peter Golds 
Councillor Marc Francis 
Councillor Sirajul Islam 
 
Co-opted Members Present: 
 
Mr H Mueenuddin – Muslim Community Representative 

 
Officers Present: 
 
Suki Binjal – (Interim Head of Non-Contentious Team, Legal 

Services) 
Michael Keating – (Service Head, Scrutiny and Equalities) 
Alan Steward – (Policy Scrutiny Manager) 
Sara Williams – (Assistant Chief Executive) 
Claire Symonds – Service Head, Customer Access 

 
Angus Dixon – (Democratic Services) 

 
 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillor Oliur Rahman. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the apologies for absence be noted. 

Agenda Item 4

Page 1



OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE, 
01/05/2007 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

2 

 
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
No declarations of interest were made. 
 

3. UNRESTRICTED MINUTES  
 
The Chair MOVED and it was  
 
RESOLVED 
 
That subject to the following amendments, the Section 1 minutes of the 
meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on Tuesday, 3rd April, 
2007 be confirmed as a correct record and the Chair be authorised to sign 
them accordingly:- 
 

1. ‘Councillor Peck’ to be inserted in place of ‘Councillor Bawden’ on page 
3, Item 6, paragraph 4. 

2. The addition of Mr Hasan Mueenduddin’s apologies for absence. 
 

4. REQUESTS TO SUBMIT PETITIONS  
 
No requests to submit petitions had been received. 
 

5. REQUESTS FOR DEPUTATIONS  
 
No requests for deputations had been received. 
 

6. SECTION ONE REPORTS 'CALLED IN'  
 
There were no section one reports ‘called in’. 
 

7. SCRUTINY SPOTLIGHT - CUSTOMER ACCESS  
 
Ms Claire Symonds, Service Head Customer Access, presented to the 
Committee an overview of the Customer Access Directorate and its 
challenges and opportunities for the next 12 months.  Ms Symonds informed 
the Committee of the draft Customer Access Strategy and its core strategic 
objectives of choice, quality and efficiency. 
 
Committee members put detailed questions to Ms Symonds and Councillor 
Sirajul Islam, Deputy Leader, on a number of issues including phone and web 
performance recording, bilingual staff, and the validity of the survey results 
used in the presentation. 
 
Councillor Islam and Ms Symonds responded in detail on the points raised 
agreeing that more performance measures would be useful and that the 
survey was more intended to provide a snapshot rather than in depth data. 
 
 

Page 2



OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE, 
01/05/2007 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

3 

 
The Committee discussed the benefit of considering this information on 
Customer Access at the same time as other relevant reports (e.g. Corporate 
Complaints) in order to allow Members to gain a better overall picture and 
examine any linkages.  
 
In thanking Ms Symonds and Councillor Islam the Chair stated that there had 
been some useful ideas for improvement discussed and that the Excellent 
Public Services working group could be involved in any future reviews. 
 

8. PERFORMANCE MONITORING  
 

8.1 User Voice, Choice and Co-Production Review  
 
Ms Sara Williams, Assistant Chief Executive, introduced the report informing 
the Committee that it was aimed at an internal audience and the language 
was accordingly not as user friendly as it could have been.  Ms Williams 
summarised the salient points within the report and explained the title of the 
report and the report’s purpose of identifying new and more efficient ways of 
service delivery. 
 
Committee Members discussed a number of aspects of the report including 
the level of the language used and whether the report provided a platform for 
the Council to move forward in this area.  The Committee expressed concern 
that feedback they had provided on the report had not been acted upon.  
Overall it was felt that given the importance of the subject matter the review 
required greater focus. 
  
The Chair MOVED and it was 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the above comments of the Committee be considered in the future 
development of the Continuous Improvement Programme.  
 

9. SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT  
 

9.1 Leaseholders and Customer Care  
 
Councillor Simon Rouse, Scrutiny Lead Excellent Public Services, introduced 
the report thanking all who had been involved with the working group and 
complimenting their ability to work in a non-partisan way.  Councillor Rouse 
stated that the group had developed sensible recommendations to tackle 
issues between leaseholders and Council however that it was essential that 
the Council realised the importance of engaging with leaseholders. 
 
Other Committee members thanked Councillor Rouse for his efforts and 
discussed the need for better communication between Council and 
leaseholders. 
 

Page 3



OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE, 
01/05/2007 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

4 

The Chair MOVED and it was 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

9.2 Graduate Unemployment  
 
Councillor Stephanie Eaton, Scrutiny Lead Learning, Achievement and 
Leisure, introduced the report stating that she had wanted to examine links 
between education and employment, and why their expected correlation didn’t 
always hold true.  In carrying out the research Councillor Eaton commented 
that issues were uncovered that were specific to the Borough however that 
the Council was well placed to address the challenges that had been noted.  
Councillor Eaton thanked those who had been involved with the working 
group. 
 
The Committee members thanked Councillor Eaton for her efforts. 
 
The Chair MOVED and it was 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

9.3 Draft Annual Report  
 
Prior to discussion on the draft Annual Report the Committee heard updates 
from the remaining Scrutiny Leads. 
 
Integrated Recycling Contract  
 
Councillor Clair Hawkins, Scrutiny Lead Living Safely, introduced to the 
Committee the tabled draft recommendations of the working group.  
Councillor Hawkins commented that there had been a number of issues with 
the current recycling contract that the review hoped to address. 
 
Hostels Strategy  
 
Councillor A A Sardar, Scrutiny Lead Living Safely, introduced to the 
Committee the tabled summary of the review undertaken by the working 
group.  Councillor Sardar stated that the full recommendations of the working 
group would be made following its final meeting on May 15th, 2007. 
 
Access to GP / Dentistry Services 
 
Councillor Mohammed Abdus Salique, Scrutiny Lead Health, introduced the 
tabled summary of the review undertaken by the working group and thanked 
all those who were involved.  The Committee raised some issues surrounding 

Page 4



OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE, 
01/05/2007 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

5 

the publicising of the mobile dentistry service and the cessation of GPs 
offering a ‘drop in’ service whereby appointments were not required. 
 
Creating and Sharing Prosperity 
 
Councillor Shiria Khatun, Scrutiny Lead Creating and Sharing Prosperity, 
introduced the tabled key issues arising from the review on Masterplanning 
and NRF Employment.  Councillor Khatun thanked those who had been 
involved in the review.   
 
 
Draft Annual Report 
 
The Chair invited the Committee to make comments on the draft Annual 
Report. 
 
The Committee discussed that the large workload of the Committee for 
2006/07 and the high level of engagement that the Committee had with the 
public should be noted within the Annual Report.  The Committee also 
thanked the Chair for his competent and fair chairing of the Committee. 
 
The Chair thanked the Committee for their efforts over the last 12 months. 
 

10. PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY OF SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 
CABINET PAPERS  
 
There were no section one pre-decision items scrutinised. 
 

11. ANY OTHER SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) BUSINESS WHICH THE 
CHAIR CONSIDERS TO BE URGENT  
 
There was no business raised under this heading. 
 

12. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 
The Chair MOVED and it was: - 
 
RESOLVED 
  
That in accordance with the provisions of Section 100A of the Local 
Government Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to 
Information) Act 1985, the press and public be excluded from the remainder of 
the meeting for the consideration of the Section Two business on the grounds 
that it contained information defined as exempt or confidential in Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A to the Local Government, Act 1972. 
 
 

13. RESTRICTED MINUTES  
 
The Chair MOVED and it was 

Page 5



OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE, 
01/05/2007 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

6 

 
RESOLVED 
 
That the restricted minutes of the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held on Tuesday, 3rd April, 2007 be confirmed as a correct record 
and the Chair be authorised to sign them accordingly. 
 
 
CLOSE OF MEETING 
 
The Chair thanked everyone for their attendance and contributions and closed 
the meeting at 9.40 p.m. 
 
 
 

Councillor Motin Uz-Zaman 
Chair, Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

 

Page 6



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\4\9\AI00009946\TermsofRef200708TH0.doc 

 

1 

Committee 
 
Overview and Scrutiny 
 
 

Date 
 

5th June, 2007 

Classification 
 
Unrestricted 
 

Report No. 
 

 
 

Agenda Item 
No. 

5.1 

 

Report of: 
 
Service Head Democratic Services 
 
Originating Officer(s):  Angus Dixon 
 

Title 
 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee – Terms of 
Reference 
 
Ward(s) affected:  N/A 
 

 
 
1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report sets out for Members’ information the Terms of Reference of the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
 
2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1 That the report be noted. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
_________________________________________________________________________ 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT, 2000 (SECTION 97) 
LIST OF “BACKGROUND PAPERS” USED IN THE PREPARATION OF THIS REPORT 
 
Brief description of “background paper” Name and telephone number of holder 
 and address where open to inspection 

 
Council’s Constitution – 08/03/2007 Angus Dixon 
 020 7364 4850 

Agenda Item 5.1

Page 7



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\4\9\AI00009946\TermsofRef200708TH0.doc 
 

2 

LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

TUESDAY 5TH JUNE, 2007 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

REPORT OF SERVICE HEAD DEMOCRATIC SERVICES 
 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee was re-constituted by Council at its Annual 

meeting held on 16th May, 2007.  A report elsewhere on the Committee’s agenda 
details the Committee’s membership for 2007/2008.  The Terms of Reference of 
the Committee were agreed by Council on 8th March, 2007, following the review of 
the Council’s Constitution.  The Committee’s Terms of Reference are as follows: 

 
 (a) The performance of all overview and scrutiny functions on behalf of the 

Council. 
 
 (b) The appointment of such Sub-Committees (Scrutiny Panels) as it considers 

appropriate to fulfil those functions, determining those Scrutiny Panels’ 
composition (including any co-opted Members) and terms of reference. 

 
 (c) To approve an annual overview and scrutiny work programme including the 

work programme of any Scrutiny Panels it appoints to ensure that there is 
efficient and effective use of the Committee’s time and the time of the 
Council’s Scrutiny Panels. 

 
 (d) To advise the Cabinet of key issues/questions to be considered in relation to 

reports due to be considered by Cabinet. 
 
 (e) To exercise the right to call in for reconsideration of any executive decisions 

taken but not yet implemented. 
 
 (f) To determine whether to request full Council to review or scrutinise any 

decision called in, where considered contrary to the budget and policy 
framework and whether to recommend that the decision be reconsidered. 

 
 (g) To receive and consider requests from the Executive for scrutiny 

involvement in the annual budget process. 
 
 (h) To monitor the Executive’s forward plan to ensure that appropriate matters 

are subject to scrutiny. 
 

(i) To consider any matters relevant to the remit of the Committee required by a 
Committee Member to be considered under s.21 (8) Local Government Act 
2000. 

 

Page 8



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\4\9\AI00009946\TermsofRef200708TH0.doc 
 

3 

4. QUORUM 
 
4.1 The quorum for the Overview and Scrutiny Committee has been determined as not 

less than one third of the voting membership of the Committee, i.e. 4. 
 
 
5. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 
5.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 
 
 
6. CONCURRENT REPORT OF THE CHIEF LEGAL OFFICER 
 
6.1 The terms of reference of the Committee as set out in the Overview and Scrutiny 

Procedure Rules meet the statutory requirements of Section 21 of the Local 
Government Act 2000.  

 
 
7. ANTI-POVERTY AND EQUAL OPPORTUNITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 There are no anti-poverty or equal opportunity implications arising from this report. 
 
 
8. SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT 
 
8.1 There are no immediate environmental issues arising from this report. 
 
 
9. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
9.1 The terms of reference set out above will enable the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee properly to discharge the functions conferred on the Council by Section 
21 of the Local Government Act 2000, or regulations made under section 32 of that 
Act, and the Health and Social Care Act, 2001. 

 
 

Page 9



Page 10

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\7\4\9\AI00009947\OSProcedures07Report0.doc 

1 

Committee 
 

Overview and Scrutiny 

 

Date 
 

5 June 2007 

Classification 
 

Unrestricted 
 

Report No. 
 
 

Agenda Item No. 
 

 
 

Report of:  
 
Assistant Chief Executive 
 
Originating Officer(s) :  
 
Michael Keating 
 

Title :  
 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee Protocols and 
Guidance  
 

Ward(s) affected: N/A 
 

 
 
1. Summary 
 
1.1 This report sets out the protocols for members of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee (OSC).  It also outlines procedures for the receipt of deputations and 
petitions. 

 
 
2. Recommendations 
 
2.1 That the report (appendix 1) attached be agreed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT, 2000 (SECTION 97) 
LIST OF “BACKGROUND PAPERS” USED IN THE PREPARATION OF THIS REPORT 
 
Brief description of “background paper”     Name and telephone number of and 
address where open to inspection 
 

Background file held in Democratic Services    Angus Dixon  
         020 7364 4850    
            
 

Agenda Item 5.2

Page 11



 

 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\7\4\9\AI00009947\OSProcedures07Report0.doc 

2 

3. Background 
 

3.1 Under the Council’s revised constitution the provisions for the Council’s Overview and 
Scrutiny functions are to: 
 
(i) review and/or scrutinise decisions made or actions taken in connection with the 

discharge of any of the Council’s functions. 
(ii) advise the Cabinet of key issues/questions arising in relation to reports due to 

be considered by Cabinet. 
(iii) make reports and/or recommendations to the full Council and/or the Executive 

in connection with the discharge of any functions. 
(iv) consider any matter affecting the area or its inhabitants. 
(v) exercise the right to “call in”, for reconsideration, decisions made but not yet 

implemented by the Executive. 
(vi) Refer any report it receives with implications for ethical standards to the 

Standards Committee for its consideration.  
 

3.2 The protocols attached at Appendix 1 provide a viable basis for the practical 
functioning of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OSC) and outline how the 
Committee will manage its work. 
  

4. Comments of the Chief Financial Officer 
 

4.1 There are no direct financial implications arising out of this report. 
 

5. Concurrent Report of the Assistant Chief Executive (Legal Services) 
 

5.1 Section 21 of the Local Government Act 2000 established Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees and their statutory duties which in turn are included in Article 6 of the 
Council’s constitution and in the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules. These 
protocols and guidance will assist the Committee in fulfilling its statutory obligations.  
 

6. Anti-poverty and equal opportunity implications 
 

6.1 Equal opportunities and reducing poverty will be central to the work of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee. The report will allow the Committee and its members to 
function well over the coming year and work towards reducing poverty in the borough 
and improve equal opportunities. 

 

7. Risk Management 
 

7.1 The adoption of the protocols and guidance set out in Appendix 1 will assist in the 
effective and efficient functioning of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and 
therefore reduces the risk of poor delivery of the Council's Overview and Scrutiny 
function. 

 

Page 12



 

 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\7\4\9\AI00009947\OSProcedures07Report0.doc 

3 

Appendix 1 
 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee – Protocols and Guidance 
 
1.  Introduction 
 
1.1 The report outlines guidance and protocols for the functioning of the Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee (OSC) in Tower Hamlets. 
 
2. Roles and Responsibilities for Scrutiny Members 
 
2.1 The overall purpose of each position will be to strengthen the Scrutiny process in 

Tower Hamlets and to make it part of the process of improvement. To accomplish this 
Members will have the following roles and responsibilities. 

 
2.2 Chair of Overview and Scrutiny 

• co-ordinates the work of Scrutiny by developing the Committee’s work 
programme in line with the Council’s Forward Plan 

• chairs the Committee meetings 

• plans co-operatively meeting agendas and timetables with officers and other 
members (from both minority and majority parties) to ensure all areas of Scrutiny 
business are undertaken effectively 

• leads the work of OSC on budget matters 

• represents Overview and Scrutiny at Executive meetings and at community and 
other outside events 

• represents Tower Hamlets at London Scrutiny Network meetings 

• works in a cross-party and consensual manner to ensure the effectiveness of 
Scrutiny 

• contributes to developing the community leadership role of Scrutiny 
 
2.3 Scrutiny Leads 

• ensure the accountability of those Cabinet members and chief officers who have 
primary responsibility within their portfolio theme 

• assess the effectiveness of existing policy in the portfolio area 

• support the development of new and revised policy 

• ensure effective liaison with the Tower Hamlets Partnership 

• lead and co-ordinates scrutiny activity in their area including reviews, 
investigations and challenge sessions 

• ensure effective liaison with internal and external stakeholders 

• work in a cross-party and consensual manner to ensure the effectiveness of 
Scrutiny 

• contribute to developing the community leadership role of Scrutiny 
 
2.4 Skills and aptitudes 
 Members will require the following skills and aptitudes to undertake the above roles 

responsibly: 

• understanding of the Scrutiny process and its place within the Council’s overall 
objectives 

• understanding of how Scrutiny can help improve performance management by 
effective performance monitoring 

• willingness to help develop Scrutiny’s role within the wider local Partnership 
agenda and, where appropriate, within London 

Page 13



 

 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\7\4\9\AI00009947\OSProcedures07Report0.doc 

4 

• willingness to work co-operatively with members from all political parties, officers 
and partners (outside organisations) 

• ability to chair meetings 

• ability to question constructively and get the best from those attending Scrutiny 
meetings 

• willingness to liaise with officers in the drafting of reports and refining reporting 
mechanisms 

• willingness to participate in developmental work to strengthen the Scrutiny 
process including training and seminars 

 
 A willingness to develop them through Member Learning and Development will be as 

crucial as meeting them completely. 
 
3. Agenda 
 
3.1 The Committee’s agenda will comprise the following in the course of the year: 
 

Report Timing 
Call-in  When these occur – see 4.1  
Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work 
Programme including the programme of 
topics for review.  Subsequent reports 
allow OSC to monitor its progress. 

Beginning of the municipal year and 
thereafter every 2 months - see 4.2 

Budget and Policy Framework items At least 10 days before the item is to be 
considered by Cabinet (unless there are 
special factors requiring a shorter 
timescale) - see 4.3 

Performance Information and Monitoring 
reports 

Timetabled through the year - see 4.4 

Tracking progress of Overview and 
Scrutiny recommendations  

Twice during the year 

Pre-decision overview and scrutiny  When items are raised – see 4.6 

 
4. Procedures 
 
4.1  Call-in 
4.1.1 Five or more Members can request a call-in of a Cabinet’s provisional decision (two 

voting co-opted Members in respect of education matters only). 
 

4.1.2 The deadline for receipt of completed call-in requisitions is five working days after the 
publication of the provisional Cabinet decisions. For example, the next Cabinet 
meeting is to held be on Wednesday, 6June, the provisional Cabinet decisions will be 
published on Friday 8 June with the deadline for call-ins being Friday 15 June at 
5.00pm. 
 

4.1.3 Call-in Members will be asked to give reasons in writing, as well as outlining an 
alternative course of action.  The request must state whether or not those Members 
believe that the decision is outside the Budget and Policy Framework.  

 
4.1.4 The following may not be called in: 

• Any matter which has already been the subject of a call-in 

• A decision which is time-critical (this is only in highly exceptional circumstance 
and the decision-taker will have to give a reason to OSC) 

Page 14



 

 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\7\4\9\AI00009947\OSProcedures07Report0.doc 

5 

• Decisions of regulatory and other committees discharging non-executive functions 
such as Development and Licensing Committees 

• Officers’ day to day decisions 

• A resolution which merely notes the report or officer action 

• A resolution making recommendations to full Council. 
 
4.1.5 The Assistant Chief Executive will respond to the request within twenty-four hours, 

either by placing the item on the agenda of the next OSC or by a letter explaining why 
the call-in request is not a valid one. 

 
4.1.6 If a decision is called in, the OSC will consider it at its next meeting.  The business 

procedure would then be as follows in a strictly time limited slot of up to one hour:  

• presentation of the call-in by one of the call-in Members followed by questions 
from OSC Members 

• response from Lead Members/officers followed by questions from OSC Members 

• general debate among OSC Members followed by a decision 

• call-in Members would not be allowed to speak again 

• the Committee would then either resolve to take no action (in effect endorsing the 
original decision) or refer the matter back to Cabinet for further discussion, setting 
out the nature of its concerns and possibly recommending an alternative course of 
action. 

 
4.2 Overview and Scrutiny work programme  
4.2 OSC will agree its work programme at the beginning of the municipal year and 

consider progress every two months. The work programme will take into account the 
Cabinet’s Forward Plan. The programme will include when OSC will consider budget 
and policy framework reports and performance and information reports. 

 
4.3 Budget and policy framework items 
4.3.1 The policy framework is the plans and strategies required by the Local Authorities 

(Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 as amended annually, 
and regulations under s.32 Local Government Act 2000 to be adopted by the full 
Council and which OSC should examine.  It includes the: 

• Community Plan 

• Best Value Performance Plan (Strategic Plan) 

• Crime and Disorder Reduction Strategy 

• Local Transport Plan 

• Local Development Scheme 

• Youth Justice Plan 

• Children and Young People's Plan 

• Licensing Authority Policy Statement 
 
4.3.2 Budget items which OSC will monitor and examine are the allocation of financial 

resources to different services and projects, proposed contingency funds, the council 
tax base, setting the council tax and decisions relating to the Council’s borrowing 
requirement, the control of its capital expenditure and the setting of virement limits. 

 
4.4 Performance and information monitoring 
4.4.1 OSC will throughout the course of the year regularly monitor and examine reports on 

the Corporate Strategic Plan (6 monthly) plus Annual Review, Tower Hamlets Index 
(bimonthly), Equalities Action Plan (6 monthly), Customer Complaints (6 monthly) and 
Members Enquiries (6 monthly).  Within the Scrutiny Spotlight session, it will also 

Page 15



 

 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\7\4\9\AI00009947\OSProcedures07Report0.doc 

6 

receive presentations from Lead Members and Directors on the performance and 
challenges facing key Council services. 

 
4.5 Reviews, Investigations and Challenge Sessions 
4.5.1 As part of its work programme for the year, OSC will include issues and services for 

investigation, review and challenge sessions.   This must be:  

• flexible to allow some capacity to address new issues during the year or to delve 
deeper into some issues following initial work. 

• achievable and reflect the capacity available to support Scrutiny’s work. 
 
4.5.2 The Work Programme will be drawn up after consideration of key documents such as 

the Annual Residents’ Survey, Annual Audit and Inspection Letter, Strategic Plan 
monitoring, Tower Hamlets Index and the Local Area Partnership Plans to identify 
potential scrutiny issues. It will also consider issues raised through Scrutiny’s own 
work such as the performance monitoring role, as well as specific reviews.   

 
4.5.3 The following criteria act as a guide in prioritising the selection of issues: 

• a service or issue that requires significant improvement  

• a service or issue of poor or challenging performance 

• an area of national policy development that impacts or has the potential to 
impact on one or more sections of the community 

• an inspection is planned for the service where Scrutiny would add value to 
Council and partner performance  

• a controversial or sensitive issue that would benefit from a risk-management 
approach and the pro-active engagement of partners and local communities. 

 
4.5.4 Where Scrutiny Panels are established to deliver the Committee's work, their 

membership will be constituted according to proportionality rules and in liaison with 
Party whips.  It would be expected that membership would be based on the expressed 
interests of Members.  

 
4.5.5 A report on all investigations, reviews and challenges sessions will be presented to 

OSC.  Where there are recommendations that Cabinet need to consider, the review 
report will be submitted to Cabinet with an action plan (via the usual pre-agenda 
planning process).  Reports may also be submitted to partner organisations for their 
response following consideration by Cabinet. 

 
4.5.6 A progress check on the implementation of recommendations will be considered twice 

a year by OSC. 
 
4.6  Pre-decision scrutiny of Cabinet business 
4.6.1 Consideration of the Forward Plan will allow the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to 

highlight upcoming issues for the review programme or for further work by the relevant 
Lead Scrutiny Member.  

 
4.6.2 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee meets the night before Cabinet and has the 

opportunity to raise questions which it considers Cabinet should take into account in 
reaching its decision.  

 
4.6.3 Overview and Scrutiny Members receive the Cabinet papers on their initial despatch 

the week before the meeting. 
 

Page 16



 

 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\7\4\9\AI00009947\OSProcedures07Report0.doc 

7 

4.6.4 Members must notify the Chair in writing (via the clerk to OSC) of any questions they 
wish to raise by 12 noon on the Monday of the same week of OSC and Cabinet 
meetings.  

 
4.6.5 There will be a slot of a maximum of 45 minutes to consider questions for Cabinet.  

When necessary, the Chair, Vice Chair and a nominated Minority Member will meet 
prior to OSC meeting to determine how this time could best be used if there are a 
significant number of questions raised.  Those Members would use the following 
criteria: 

• the questions should be new and not ones already addressed in the report or 
that have been the subject of correspondence or review elsewhere 

• questions for information should be raised directly with the report author 

• first priority should be given to consideration of reports with large scale, cross-
borough policy implications 

 
4.6.6 Members are able to raise questions and comments only, not have a full-scale debate 

on issues 
 
4.6.7 The Committee must aim for a consensual agreement on the issues/questions to be 

raised with Cabinet. 
 
4.6.8 The Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will have an allocated 10 minute 

slot on the Cabinet agenda to feedback any questions together with any other issues 
from the Committee’s deliberations.  

 
5. Extraordinary meetings 
 

5.1 Only on rare occasions and in exceptional circumstances would it be necessary to 
timetable an additional meeting of the Committee.  The Committee would be expected 
to manage its workload to fit the time available. 

 
6. Health Scrutiny 
 

6.1 Health Scrutiny is a Standing Panel meeting on a quarterly basis with terms of 
reference and membership set out in the Constitution.  The Panel will consider its 
work programme that will be agreed by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. The 
Scrutiny Lead for Health must regularly report to OSC on the work of the Panel. 

 
7. Powers to Summon Members and Officers 
 
7.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee may scrutinise and review decisions made or 

actions taken in connection with the discharge of any Council function.  As well as 
reviewing documentation, in fulfilling their role, they may require the Leader, any other 
Member of the Executive, the Head of Paid Service and/or any senior officer to attend 
before it to explain in relation to matters within their remit. 
 

7.2 Where any Member or officer is required to attend the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or a Scrutiny Panel under this provision, the Chair of the Committee or 
Panel will inform the Chief Executive.  The Chief Executive shall inform the Member or 
officer in writing giving at least 15 working days notice of the meeting at which he/she 
is required to attend.  The notice will state the nature of the item on which he/she is 
required to attend to give account and whether any papers are required to be 
produced for the Committee or Panel.  Where the account to be given to the 

Page 17



 

 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\7\4\9\AI00009947\OSProcedures07Report0.doc 

8 

Committee will require the production of a report, then the Member or officer 
concerned will be given sufficient notice to prepare the report. 
 

7.3 Where, in exceptional circumstances, the Member or officer is unable to attend on the 
required date and a substitute is unavailable, then they should attend the next 
scheduled meeting of OSC. 

 
8. Attendance by Others 

 
8.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee (or the Health Scrutiny Panel) may invite 

people to address it and to discuss issues of local concern and/or answer questions.  
It may for example wish to hear from residents, stakeholders and Members and 
officers in other parts of the public sector and shall invite such people to attend. 
 

9. Protocol for the Conduct of Business 
 

9.1 Given the Orders of Reference of the Committee, the nature of business that it will 
consider will vary depending upon the role it is undertaking.  It can also be assumed 
that in addition to Committee Members, a variety of persons, in differing capacities are 
likely to attend meetings of the Committee.  These would include: 

• councillors or Church/Faith or Parent Governor representatives 

• the Leader of the Council and Lead Members 

• non-executive members 

• members of the Health Scrutiny Panel 

• chief officers or their representatives 

• external witnesses invited by the Committee to give evidence and advice 

• members of the public 
 
9.2 In order to facilitate the smooth conduct of business it will be necessary for all 

concerned to have an understanding of when and how it is appropriate for them to 
participate in meetings of the Committee. It is therefore suggested in accordance with 
the provisions of the Council’s Constitution, the Committee continues to use the 
protocol previously adopted for the conduct of business as detailed below: 
 
(i) Voting Members to occupy specified seats (nearest to the Chair and 

Vice-Chair and Lead Officer and Research and Scrutiny officer.) 
(ii) ‘Call In’ Members to occupy specified seats. 
(iii) Lead Member(s) to occupy specified seats.  
(iv) Subject to any variance agreed by the Committee, items of business to be 

dealt within the order that they appear on the agenda. 
(v) The agenda to be structured so that business is considered in the following 

order: 
 (a) Apologies for absence. 
 (b) Minutes of the last meeting. 
 (c) Members’ Declarations of interest. 

(d) Consideration of any matter referred to the Committee for decision in 
relation to “call in”. 

(e) Responses of the Executive to reports of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. 

(f) The business otherwise set out in the agenda. 
 

Page 18



 

 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\7\4\9\AI00009947\OSProcedures07Report0.doc 

9 

11. Procedure for the Receipt of Deputations 
 
11.1 Deputations may be received at any meeting of the Committee following seven clear 

days written notice to the Assistant Chief Executive.  They must be about matters for 
which the Council has a responsibility or which affect the area.  The notice must be 
signed by at least five persons with addresses in the borough and set out the subject 
which the deputation wishes to raise and how it is relates to the Council’s functions or 
affects the area.  The Chair may, on the advice of the Chief Executive, refuse a 
deputation that is illegal, scurrilous, improper, out of order or relating to a matter on 
which there has been a previous similar deputation within the preceding six months. 
 

11.2 A maximum of three deputations only will be permitted at any meeting and they will be 
selected in the order notice is received. 
 

11.3 A deputation may consist of up to five people, of whom no more than two may speak, 
except to answer Members’ questions. 
 

11.4 The deputation may address the meeting for no more than five minutes and Members 
may then question the deputation for a further five minutes. 

 
11.5 The relevant Member may then address the meeting for up to three minutes. 

 
11.6 The issue in question will be referred to the relevant Corporate Director for attention 

who will respond to the deputation in writing within 28 days. 
 
12. Petitions 
 
12.1 Petitions may be presented by residents of the borough whose names appear in the 

Register of Electors or by a Councillor at any meetings of the Committee.  They must 
be about matters for which the Council has a responsibility or which affect the area.  
The Chair may, on the advice of the Chief Executive, refuse a petition which is illegal, 
scurrilous, improper or out of order.  A maximum of 3 petitions only will be permitted at 
any meeting and will be selected in the order notice is received. 
 

12.2 A person wishing to present a petition must give notice to the Assistant Chief 
Executive at least seven clear days before the meeting.  The petition must contain 
signatures from at least 30 persons with residential or business addresses in the 
borough.  If it does not, the petition will not be able to be submitted to the meeting. 
 

12.3 The person presenting the petition may address the meeting for five minutes.  
Members may question petitioners and make initial comments for a further five 
minutes. 
 

12.4 The Chair of Committee may then address the meeting for up to three minutes. 
 

12.5 All petitions will be referred to the relevant Corporate Director for attention who will 
respond to the petition in writing within 28 days. 

 
13. Voting 
 
13.1 Any matter to be decided at a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall 

be determined by a majority of votes of those Members present and voting on the 
matter, in the case of equality of votes, the Chair shall have a casting vote. 
 

Page 19



 

 
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\7\4\9\AI00009947\OSProcedures07Report0.doc 

10 

13.2 If the Chair and Vice-Chair are not present at a meeting of the Committee those 
Members of the Committee who are present may elect a Chair, from one of their 
number, for the duration of the meeting. 

 
14. Notice and Access to Meetings 
 
14.1 Meetings of the Committee shall be open to the press and public.  However, they may 

be excluded from the meeting, by a resolution of the Committee, if it is considered 
likely in view of the nature of the business or proceedings that, were they present, 
confidential or exempt information would be disclosed to them. 
 

14.2 Notice of a meeting of the Committee is published 5 clear days before the meeting.  
The Council’s Constitution requires an agenda to be published 5 clear days before a 
meeting. 
 

14.3 A publicity poster advertising meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee is 
produced and circulated on the day that the agenda for the Cabinet is published. The 
publicity poster indicates key matters which are due to be considered by the Cabinet 
and in respect of which members of the public might wish to influence the Council’s 
decision making process.  The poster also informs the public of steps they need to 
take to get a matter “Called In” for consideration by the Committee. 

 
15. Co-optees and Appointed Representatives 
 
15.1 Under the Council’s constitution, OSC co-optees and appointed representatives are 

entitled to claim an allowance for their attendance.  This is a nominal sum to cover 
expenses and recognise the contribution that they make to the committee’s work. It 
was also agreed last year that co-optees appointed to the Health Scrutiny Panel be 
also entitled to claim a similar allowance.  

 

Page 20



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\4\9\AI00009948\ScheduleofDates20072008TH0.doc 

 

1 

Committee 
 
Overview and Scrutiny 
 
 

Date 
 

5th June, 2007 

Classification 
 
Unrestricted 
 

Report No. 
 
O&SC03/078 

 
 

Agenda Item 
No. 

5.3 

 

Report of: 
 
Service Head Democratic Services 
 
Originating Officer(s):  Angus Dixon 
 

Title 
 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee – Schedule 
of Dates – 2007/2008 
 
Ward(s) affected:  N/A 
 

 
 
1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report sets out for Members’ information a schedule of meetings of the 

Committee for 2007/2008 as agreed by Council on 8th March, 2007. 
 
 
2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1 That the schedule of dates for meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee for 

2007/2008 be noted and the proposed timings of the meetings be noted. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
_________________________________________________________________________ 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT, 2000 (SECTION 97) 
LIST OF “BACKGROUND PAPERS” USED IN THE PREPARATION OF THIS REPORT 
 
Brief description of “background paper” Name and telephone number of holder 
 and address where open to inspection 

 
Council’s Agenda and Minutes – 8th March, 2007 Angus Dixon 
 020 7364 4850 

Agenda Item 5.3

Page 21



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\4\9\AI00009948\ScheduleofDates20072008TH0.doc 
 

2 

LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

TUESDAY 5TH JUNE, 2007 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – SCHEDULE OF DATES – 2007/2008 
 

REPORT OF SERVICE HEAD DEMOCRATIC SERVICES 
 
 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 This report sets out for Members’ information dates of meetings of the Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee for the Municipal Year 2007/2008.  The Council at its 
meeting held on 8th March, 2007 agreed a schedule of meetings, including Council, 
Cabinet, Overview and Scrutiny Committee and other Committees and Panels, for 
the Municipal Year 2007/2008. 

 
3.2 The dates of meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee are set out below:- 
 
 •  Tuesday 5th June, 2007 - 7.30 p.m. 

 •  Tuesday 3rd July, 2007 - 7.00 p.m. 

 •  Tuesday 31st July, 2007 - 7.00 p.m. 

 •  Tuesday 4th September, 2007 - 7.00 p.m. 

 •  Tuesday 2nd  October, 2007 - 7.00 p.m. 

 •  Tuesday 6th November, 2007 - 7.00 p.m. 

 •  Tuesday 4th December, 2007 - 7.00 p.m. 

 •  Tuesday 8th January, 2008 - 7.00 p.m. 

 •  Tuesday 5th February, 2008 - 7.00 p.m. 

 •  Tuesday 4th March, 2008 - 7.00 p.m. 

 •  Tuesday 1st April, 2008 - 7.00 p.m. 

 •  Tuesday 6th May, 2008 - 7.00 p.m. 

 
3.3 Meetings of the Committee have been scheduled so that they take place the 

evening prior to Cabinet.  The meetings of the Committee will be held at the Town 
Hall, Mulberry Place, 5 Clove Crescent, East India Dock, London, E14 2BG. 

 
4. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 
4.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 
 
 
5. CONCURRENT REPORT OF THE CHIEF LEGAL OFFICER 
 
5.1 There are no immediate legal implications arising from this report. 
 

Page 22



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\4\9\AI00009948\ScheduleofDates20072008TH0.doc 
 

3 

 
6. ANTI-POVERTY AND EQUAL OPPORTUNITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 There are no anti-poverty or equal opportunity implications arising from this report. 
 
 
7. SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT 
 
7.1 There are no immediate environmental issues arising from this report. 
 
 
8. RISK ASSESSMENT 
 
7.1 Council has agreed the schedule of dates set on page 2 which will enable the 

Committee’s work to be carried out in an effective and programmed manner. 
 
 
9. RECOMMENDATION 
 
9.1 That the schedule of dates for meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

be noted and the proposed timings of the meetings be noted. 
 
 
 

Page 23



Page 24

This page is intentionally left blank



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\9\4\9\AI00009949\OSMemberships0.doc 

 

1 

Committee 
 
Overview and Scrutiny 
 
 

Date 
 

5th June, 2007 

Classification 
 
Unrestricted 
 

Report No. 
 
O&SC04/078 

 
 

Agenda Item 
No. 

5.4 

 

Report of: 
 
Service Head Democratic Services 
 
Originating Officer(s):  Angus Dixon 
 

Title 
 
Membership of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee / Appointment of Six Lead Scrutiny 
Members – Establishment of the Health 
Scrutiny Panel / Co-options to the Committee 
 
Ward(s) affected:  N/A 
 

 
 
1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report advises the Committee of the membership of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee as appointed by Council on 16th May, 2007.  The report also requests the 
Committee to appoint Lead Scrutiny Members and note the appointment of Members 
to the Health Scrutiny Panel in accordance with proportionality requirements. 

 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 That the membership of the Committee be noted. 
 
2.2 That six Lead Scrutiny Members be appointed, with portfolios as detailed in paragraph 

3.2 of the report. 
 
2.3 That the establishment of the Health Scrutiny Panel be noted and the appointment of 

Members thereto be noted as detailed in paragraph 4.2 of the report. 
 
2.4 That current details of the nominated/co-opted Members of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee be noted. 
 
2.5 That details of arrangements for co-opted Members of the Health Scrutiny Panel be 

agreed. 
 
 
 
 
 
_________________________________________________________________________ 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT, 2000 (SECTION 97) 
LIST OF “BACKGROUND PAPERS” USED IN THE PREPARATION OF THIS REPORT 
 
Brief description of “background paper” Name and telephone number of holder 
 and address where open to inspection 

 
Council’s Constitution – 08/03/2007 Angus Dixon 
 020 7364 4850 

Agenda Item 5.4

Page 25



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\9\4\9\AI00009949\OSMemberships0.doc 
 

2 

3. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
3.1 Council at its Annual Meeting held on Wednesday 16th May, 2007 agreed to appoint in 

accordance with proportionality requirements the following Members to the 
membership of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee:- 

 
 •  Councillor Marc Francis  Chair 

Deputies: Councillors A. A. Sardar & Bill 
Turner 

    
 •  Councillor Alibor Choudhury Deputies: Councillors A. A. Sardar & Bill 

Turner 
    
 •  Councillor Alex Heslop Deputies: Councillors A. A. Sardar & Bill 

Turner 
    
 •  Councillor Salim Ullah Deputies: Councillors A. A. Sardar & Bill 

Turner 
    
 •  Councillor M. Abdus Salique Deputies: Councillors A. A. Sardar & Bill 

Turner 
    
 •  Councillor Shahed Ali Deputies: Councillors Shamim A. Chowdhury, 

Rania Khan & Abjol Miah 
    
 •  Councillor Ahmed Hussain Deputies: Councillors Shamim A. Chowdhury, 

Rania Khan & Abjol Miah 
    
 •  Councillor Peter Golds Deputy: Councillor Timothy Archer 

    
 •  Councillor Stephanie Eaton  Deputy: Councillor Louise Alexander   

 
3.2 In accordance with the Council’s Constitution the Committee is asked to select six 

Lead Scrutiny Members, one for each of the following themes: 
 
 •  Living Safely  

    
 •  Living Well  

    
 •  Creating and Sharing Prosperity  

    
 •  Learning, Achievement and Leisure  

    
 •  Excellent Public Services  

    
 •  Health  

 
3.3 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee may establish Scrutiny Panels on various 

issues.  It is envisaged that only one Panel will also be established at any one time.  
The Panel’s Terms of Reference are set out below: 

 
 (a) To carry out scrutiny functions on behalf of the Council as determined by the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

Page 26



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\9\4\9\AI00009949\OSMemberships0.doc 
 

3 

 
 (b) To investigate, scrutinise, monitor and advise in relation to: 
 
 •  How services are being delivered and the Council’s functions 

discharged. 
   
 •  How policies have been implemented and their effect on the 

Council’s corporate strategies (i.e. equal opportunities, anti-poverty 
and crime and disorder). 

   
 •  The development of relevant policy. 

   
 •  How resources are being used, spent and managed. 

   
 •  Any other matter, relevant to the specific remit of the Panel, which 

affects the Council’s area or any of its inhabitants. 
 
3.4 Membership of the Scrutiny Panels will be in accordance with political proportionality 

requirements. 
 
3.5 The Council’s Constitution provides for the Committee to appoint nominated/co-opted 

Members. The nominated co-opted Members set out below were appointed by 
Council on 16th May, 2007. 

 
 •  A nomination is awaited Church of England 

Diocese representative 
    
 •  Mr Danny McLaughlin Roman Catholic Diocese representative 

    
 •  A nomination is awaited Parent Governor representative 

    
 •  A nomination is awaited Parent Governor representative 

    
 •  Mr Hasan Mueenuddin Muslim Faith representative (non-voting) 

 
 
3.6 The Committee is asked to note the current details of the nominated co-opted 

representatives as set out in paragraph 3.5 above. 
 
 
4. HEALTH SCRUTINY PANEL 
 
4.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee is also requested to note that the Council has 

established a Health Scrutiny Panel with 7 Members, which in accordance with overall 
proportionality requirements will comprise 4 Majority Group Members and 3 Minority 
Group Members to undertake the Council’s functions under the Health and Social 
Care Act, 2001 with the following Terms of Reference: 

 
 (a) To review and scrutinise matters relating to the health service within the 

Council’s area and make reports and recommendations in accordance with any 
regulations made thereunder; 

 
 (b) To respond to consultation exercises undertaken by an NHS body; and 

Page 27



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\9\4\9\AI00009949\OSMemberships0.doc 
 

4 

 
 (c) To question appropriate officers of local NHS bodies in relation to the policies 

adopted and the provision of services. 
 
4.2 Health Scrutiny Panel Membership: 
 
 The following Members were appointed to membership of the Health Scrutiny Panel 

by Council on 16th May 2007, following receipt of nominations from the Political 
Groups on the Council, in accordance with the principles of proportionality :- 

 
 •  Councillor Shafiqul Haque Deputies: Councillors Alibor Choudhury & 

Ahmed Omer 
    
 •  Councillor Waiseul Islam Deputies: Councillors Alibor Choudhury & 

Ahmed Omer 
    
 •  Councillor A. A. Sardar Deputies: Councillors Alibor Choudhury & 

Ahmed Omer 
    
 •  Councillor Ann Jackson Deputies: Councillors Alibor Choudhury & 

Ahmed Omer 
    
 •  Councillor Lutfa Begum Deputy: Councillor Shahid Ali 

    
 •  Councillor Dr. Emma Jones Deputy: Councillor Rupert Eckhardt 

    
 •  Councillor Tim O’Flaherty Deputies: Councillors Azizur Rahman Khan 

& Stephanie Eaton 
    
 
4.3 Health Scrutiny Panel Co-opted Members 
  

In the Municipal Year 2006/2007, representatives of the Barts and The London Patient 
and Public Involvement Forum, East London and City Mental Health Trust Patient and 
Public Involvement Forum, and the Tower Hamlets PCT Patient and Public 
Involvement Forum served as co-opted members of the Scrutiny Panel. 

 
 
5. COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 
5.1 There are no financial implications arising from the report. 
 
 
6. CONCURRENT REPORT OF THE CHIEF LEGAL OFFICER 
 
6.1 Article 6 of the Council’s Constitution requires the appointment of a Health Scrutiny 

Panel to discharge the Council’s statutory functions under the Health and Social Care 
Act 2001.  Members were appointed to the Panel at the Annual Meeting of the Council 
and the Committee is now required to complete the membership by agreeing the 
details of arrangements for co-opted Members. 

 
6.2 The appointment of Lead Scrutiny Members from the Committee fulfils the 

requirement of Article 6.04 of the Council’s Constitution. 
 

Page 28



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\9\4\9\AI00009949\OSMemberships0.doc 
 

5 

 
7. ANTI-POVERTY AND EQUAL OPPORTUNITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 There are no anti-poverty or equal opportunity implications arising from this report. 
 
 
8. SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT 
 
8.1 There are no direct environmental issues arising from this report. 
 
 
9. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
9.1 The appointment of Lead Scrutiny Members and a Health Scrutiny Panel will enable 

the proper discharge of the functions conferred on the Council by section 21 of the 
Local Government Act 2000 and the Health and Social Care Act 2001. 

 

Page 29



Page 30

This page is intentionally left blank



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\5\9\AI00009950\ReportCallInSEN0.doc 

 

1 

Committee 
 
OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY 
 

Date 
 
5th June, 2007 
 

Classification 
 
Unrestricted 

Report No. 
 
 

Agenda 
Item No. 
 

8.1 

Report of: 
ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE  
 
 
Originating Officer(s): Angus Dixon 
 

Title: 
REPORT “CALLED IN” – Review of the Inclusion 
(SEN) Strategy (CAB 175/067) 
 
Ward(s) affected:  All 

 
 
1. SUMMARY 
 
1.1 The attached report of the Corporate Director Children’s Services, Kevan Collins, 

and Service Head: Early Years, Children and Learning, Helen Jenner, was 
considered by the Cabinet on 2nd May, 2007 but has been “Called In” for further 
consideration by Councillors Tim O’Flaherty, Azizur Rahman Khan, Peter Golds, 
Motin Uz-Zaman and Stephanie Eaton in accordance with the provisions of Part 4 of 
the Council’s Constitution. 

 
 
2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1 That the Committee consider the contents of the attached report, review the 

Cabinet’s provisional decisions arising and decide whether to accept them or refer 
the matter back to Cabinet with proposals, together with reasons. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
_________________________________________________________________________ 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT, 2000 (SECTION 97) 
LIST OF “BACKGROUND PAPERS” USED IN THE PREPARATION OF THIS REPORT 
 
Brief description of “background paper” Name and telephone number of holder 
 and address where open to inspection 

Cabinet report (CAB175/067) Angus Dixon 
dated 2nd May, 2007 020 7364 4850 
  

Agenda Item 8.1

Page 31



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\5\9\AI00009950\ReportCallInSEN0.doc 

 

2 

3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The attached report of the Corporate Director Children’s Services, Kevan Collins, 

and Service Head: Early Years, Children and Learning, Helen Jenner, was 
considered by the Cabinet on 2nd May, 2007 but has been “Called In” for further 
consideration by Councillors Tim O’Flaherty, Azizur Rahman Khan, Peter Golds, 
Motin Uz-Zaman and Stephanie Eaton in accordance with the provisions of Part 4 
of the Council’s Constitution. 

  
3.2 The Cabinet after considering the attached report provisionally agreed:- 
 

That subject to the amendments set out at (a) to (e) below, the revised Inclusion 
(Special Educational Needs [SEN]) Strategy, attached at Appendix 1 to the report 
(CAB 175/067), be approved:- 

 
a) Further reference to good practice and in particular the supporting role of 

governing bodies in relation to the provision for SEN in mainstream schools. 
b) Strengthening of Appendix 3 Action Plan – Localised/ effective/ integrated 

support to address the needs of children on the autistic spectrum and post 16 
pathways. 

c) Strengthening to address the need for targeted support for pupils with SEN at 
the transition point from primary to secondary school. 

d) Strengthening to reflect the wider inclusivity agenda Eg Parks and inclusive 
play. 

e) Additional presentational clarity (acronyms and abbreviations to be re-examined 
and further proof reading undertaken) 

 
 

4. THE “CALL IN” REQUISITION 
 
4.1 The reasons advanced in the “Call In” requisition are set out below:- 
 

Call-in members have concerns that proposed strategic changes to post-16 
education and extended schools provision are not fully reflected in the 
report. The call-in members note: 

 

• The increase in the number of young people diagnosed with SEN (Special 
Educational Needs) and ASD (Autistic Spectrum Disorder) in Tower Hamlets 

 

• The report does not mention ongoing discussions around the re-designation of 
Phoenix School 

 

• The report does not detail proposals for providing and improving respite care 
(such as holiday play schemes) for families and young people with SEN and 
ASD 

 

• The RFU of UAJ in the report (i.e. the regrettably frequent use of unexplained 
acronyms and jargon in the report) 

 
 
 
 

Page 32



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\0\5\9\AI00009950\ReportCallInSEN0.doc 

 

3 

5. ALTERNATIVE COURSE OF ACTION 
 
5.1 In  accordance with the Committee’s procedures, the “Call In” Members have 

provided an alternative course of action for consideration:- 
 

“Councillors make the following recommendations: 
 
A further written report is submitted to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and 
Cabinet which includes:  

 
a)  The strategy for changes in designation of local schools and the processes for 
consultation and implementation of these changes ( including the impact on 
Building Schools for the Future policies) 
 
b)  Detailed proposals setting out the strategy and budget for developing and 
improving post-16 education of young people with SEN and ASD. 
 
c)  Details of the proposed extension of respite care including (but not limited to) 
holiday play schemes and extended schools provision for young people with SEN 
and ASD. 
 
d)  A full explanation of all technical terms and glossary of frequently used 
acronyms. 
 
     

6. CONSIDERATION OF THE “CALL IN” 
 
6.1 The following procedure is to be followed for consideration of the “Call In”. 
 
 (a) Presentation of the “Call In” by one of the “Call In” Members followed by 

questions. 
 
 (b) Response from the Lead Member/officers followed by questions. 
 
 (c) General debate followed by decision. 
 

N.B. – In accordance with the Overview and Scrutiny Committee Protocols 
and Guidance adopted by the Committee at its meeting on 6 June, 
2006, the “Call In” Members are not allowed to participate in the 
general debate. 

 
6.2 It is open to the Committee to either resolve to take no action which would have the 

effect of endorsing the original Cabinet decisions, or the Committee could refer the 
matter back to the Cabinet for further consideration setting out the nature of its 
concerns and possibly recommending an alternative course of action. 

 
 
7. RECOMMENDATION 
 
7.1 That the Committee consider the contents of the attached report, review the 

Cabinet’s provisional decisions arising and decide whether to accept them or refer 
the matter back to Cabinet with proposals, together with reasons. 

 

Page 33



Page 34

This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: 

Cabinet 
Date 

May 
Classification 

Unrestricted 
Report No Agenda Item No 

 
 

Report of 

Corporate Director (Children's Services) 
 
Originating officer 

Helen Jenner 
 
Service Head: Early Years, Children and 
Learning 

Title 

Review of the Inclusion (SEN) Strategy 
 
 
Wards affected:  all 

 
 
1 SUMMARY 
  
1.1 The DfES SEN Strategy (2004) ‘Removing the Barriers to Achievement’ built 

on the proposals in ‘Every Child Matters’ and has an inclusive approach to 
meeting special educational needs as one of its key principles.  
 
Tower Hamlets produced an Inclusion (SEN) Strategy in response to this which 
is now due for revision, as part of our Children and Young People Plan. 
 
    

  
2 RECOMMENDATIONS 
  
 Cabinet is recommended to approve the revised Inclusion (SEN) strategy 

attached as Appendix 1. 
  
  
  
  

   
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 Section 100D (AS AMENDED) 
LIST OF "BACKGROUND PAPERS" USED IN THE PREPARATION OF THIS 

REPORT 
 

Towards Inclusive Education in Schools: policy 
and strategy: Meeting Children’s Needs 

 David Carroll  ext: 4323 

   
Rights and entitlement for all: Using the SEN 
Framework to reduce barriers to learning and 
participation by all learners. Report to Cabinet 
October 2004 

 
 

David Carroll ext: 4323 

 

Page 35



 2  

 
  
3 BACKGROUND 
  

3.1 The strategy has been informed by the views of parents, children and providers. 
A series of consultation meetings have been held to inform the strategy and the 
draft document will be re-circulated for final comments. These meetings helped 
shape the three key priorities for the strategy: 

- building a continuum of provision 
- transitions; and  
- partnership working 

  
The strategy will provide a framework for the strategic planning to meet 
children’s Special Educational Needs and will inform an annual action plan.  
 

3.2 
 
 
3.2.1 
 
 
 
 
 
3.2.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.2.3 

An annual analysis of key data for inclusion informs strategic planning for 
Special Educational Needs. This is attached as Appendix 2. 
 
The data demonstrates very effective practice, including speed in responding to 
statements, low use of Tribunals, early intervention to address needs reducing 
statements and identifying those in need of statements at an earlier age. Tower 
Hamlets has been recognised as one of 2 London-wide hubs for effective SEN 
practice. 
 
The data supports the need to address particular areas for development 
including: 

- the need to address emotional behavioural needs more effectively (to   
ensure the possible trend in exclusions is stemmed) 

- the need to reduce the number of pupils falling well behind their peers in 
Key Stage assessments. 

 
Service provision analysis, particularly post 16, has highlighted the need for 
more targeted support for pupils with Special Educational Needs as they move 
into adulthood; and for ASD provision post 16 to be developed in-Borough. 
 

3.3 The strategy  addresses the government’s green paper ‘Every Child Matters’ 
and the subsequent The Government Select Committee Report (October 2006) 
review of special educational needs provision which recommended the following 
national priorities be considered: 
 

• build capacity in the children’s workforce to identify and meet children’s 
needs; 

• promote a flexible continuum of local provision; 

• improve accountability for the outcomes children achieve; 

• strengthen partnerships with parents and children; and, 

• Improve provision for children with behavioural, emotional and social 
difficulties and children with autism. 

Page 36



 3  

 
4 COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
  
4.1 
 
 
 
4.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.3 
 

This report recommends the approval of the revised Inclusion (Special 
Educational Needs) Strategy.   At this stage, there is no identified impact 
on the Children’s Services Revenue or Capital Budgets for the current & future 
years arising from this review.  

The costs of the implementing the future actions required to improve the 
flexibility of the continuum of SEN provision to meet individual needs (Strategy 
paragraph 4.32); the transition arrangements (paragraph 5.10); strengthen 
partnership mechanisms (Strategy paragraph 6.13) and continue to provide 
strategic direction and service management (Strategy paragraph 7.28) will be 
contained within existing resources, primarily the Children’s Services revenue 
budget and specific grants together with individual school contributions. 

Any additional resource requirements to achieve the agreed priorities will be 
identified through the established budget preparation processes of the Council. 

  
5 CONCURRENT REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE (Legal 

Services) 
  
5.1 The Tower Hamlets Inclusion (SEN) Strategy is due for revision under the 

Children and Young People’s Plan (CYPP).  The Strategy accords with the 
Every Child Matters agenda to support early years settings, schools and local 
authorities in improving provision for children with Special Educational Needs. 

  
5.2 The CYPP expands upon the legal framework established under Section 17 

Children Act 2004.  Special Education Needs are defined in the Education Act 
1996.  The principal legislation is contained in the Education (Special 
Educational Needs) Regulations 2001 and the Code of Practice 2001. 

  
5.3 Under the Education and Inspections Act 2006 local authorities will take on a 

new strategic role with a duty to promote choice, diversity, high standards and 
for the first time, the fulfilment of every child’s educational potential.  The Act 
places a duty on local authorities to promote fair access to educational 
opportunity and tightens the admissions framework to ensure this. 

  
5.4 The summary of this report (paragraph 1.1) outlines the government’s strategy 

‘Removing the Barriers to Achievement (2004) for families with SEN and 
disabilities.  Schools have duties under the Disability Discrimination Act 1995 not 
to discriminate against disabled pupils.  From December 2006 secondary 
schools have been required to publish a three year Disability Equality Scheme 
showing how they will promote equality of opportunity for disabled pupils.  
Additionally they must publish an annual action plan showing how they are 
implementing their scheme.  These obligations are extended to primary and 
special schools in December 2007. 

  
6 EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES IMPLICATIONS 
  
6.1 The Education and Inspections Act 2006 extends the role of local authorities in 

Page 37



 4  

supporting access to schools, particularly for children from the most 
disadvantaged families by widening access to transport for these pupils.   
The Equalities Impact Screening Assessment has concluded that the needs of 
pupils with BESD and ASD needs post 16 are not being adequately met, and 
more of these students fail to make a successful transition into education, 
employment or training. 
The strategy will reduce the disadvantages faced by disabled young people by 
ensuring a better range of provision reduces barriers to achievement. 

  
7 ANTI POVERTY IMPLICATIONS 
  
7.1 By improving provision for special educational needs more young people will be 

supported to achieve, increasing the likelihood of them being able to access full 
employment as adults. 
 

7.2 If children with special educational needs are well supported through the 
strategy this should support more parents of children with disabilities to feel 
confident to return to work.  

8 SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENNVIRONMENT (SAGE) 
  
8.1 Ensuring a strong continuum of provision in Borough should reduce the need for 

students to travel outside of the Borough and increase the capacity of local 
schools to meet a wider range of needs, so that there is less need for travel. 
The independent travel service ensures more young people with special 
educational needs are supported to use public transport rather than cars and 
taxis. 
 

  
9 RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 
  
9.1 The policy will establish entitlement to new groups of pupils and cannot be 

budget limited.  If insufficient funds are assigned this would result in budget 
overspend.  The Authority will therefore need to monitor expenditure and keep 
the policy under review in relation to the discretionary elements, which could be 
altered to reduce expenditure in future. 

  
10 EFFICIENCY STATEMENT 
  
10.1 Children who are not in school may need additional resources when they are 

admitted to support their learning and attendance.  The proposals within the 
report are intended to assist with children's travel costs to ensure that pupils are 
not placed in this position. 

  
11 APPENDICES 
  
11.1 Appendix 1: Inclusion (SEN) Strategy 

Appendix 2 : Inclusion (SEN) data set 
Appendix 3 : Action Plan 

Page 38



 5  

 

Appendix 1 

London Borough of Tower Hamlets – Inclusion 
(SEN) Strategy 

 
 

1. Vision 
The Authority’s aim is meet, wherever possible, the needs of all pupils through 
universally available provision. However, the needs of particular groups such as 
those who experience social deprivation or those drawn from vulnerable groups such 
as those who are in public care may well be targeted by schools and others. Schools 
are expected to have an inclusion policy to cover all vulnerable children and to have 
responsibility clearly allocated for the coordination of that policy.  
 
All children within the community of Tower Hamlets have equal rights to the opportunities 
offered by education. This includes the right to attend a mainstream school, to have access 
to a broad and balanced curriculum and to join in the social life of the school.  They also are 
entitled to an education which ensures continuity and progression from pre-school to post-
16.  Schools and Children Services have actively promoted the involvement of pupils 
through schools councils and through citizenship-related activities within and between 
schools. In addition to this both Children Services and schools have and continue to 
examine ways of increasing the involvement of all pupils and their carers in decision-making 
and target-setting processes.  

 

2.  Introduction 
2.1 The guidance in this document gives information on the Authority’s expectations 

regarding resource management and provision for pupils identified as having special 
educational needs.  The 1996 Education Act and the subsequent Code of Practice 
for Special Educational Needs revised in 2001 places a duty upon Local Authorities 
for strategic planning for Special Educational Needs. 
   

2.2  Schools in Tower Hamlets already have a tradition of sharing good teaching 
practices, including practice designed to remove barriers to learning and to meet 
individual needs both innovatively and proactively. This is achieved, for example by 
appropriate meetings and conferences such as by the SENCO conference which 
takes place each term and by utilising the skills developed in particular areas of need 
such as behaviour management and speech and language difficulties. All our special 
schools provide outreach services. Many of our mainstream schools share their 
successful practices through informal partnerships or for formal arrangements such 
as those facilitated by the extended schools network.  

 
2.3  The extended schools and children centre programmes have formalised links for 

many schools with health and social care colleagues and has improved access to 
services for children and families.  There are many good examples of cross agency 
working to improve planning, placement and the delivery of services for our most 
vulnerable groups. The Social Inclusion and Joint Commissioning Panels are 
effective collaborative forums. There is a multi-agency group which shares data and 
monitors progress for pupils with autistic spectrum disorder. Each of these groups 

Page 39



 6  

provides information to aid strategic planning as well as support for those working 
directly with children and their families. 
 

2.4 There are links with a number of parents groups. Parents groups representing the 
needs of children with a range of SEN meet at the Parents Advice Centre, several 
special schools, and in some voluntary sector organisations. The Authority’s has a 
commitment to ensuring involvement and consultation with representative parent 
groups within the borough. Tower Hamlets Children’s Services regards the 
involvement of parents as an essential component in promoting excellence through 
partnership.  The Family Support and Parental Engagement Strategy has effective 
identification and early intervention provision at its heart. Parent  involvement is 
encouraged at all levels, to ensure that knowledge is shared between school and 
home and that the access routes to the Parent Partnership Service are easily 
understood by parents and are signposted by the Children Services, schools, other 
professionals and voluntary bodies. 

 
2.5 Inclusion is co-ordinated by the schools’ senior management teams (SMT) and in 

many circumstances lead by a named member of the SMT. The recent DfES revision 
to the Code of Practice for SEN now expects a member of the school’s SMT to be 
responsible for inclusion/SEN and Disability matters. In some schools this may well 
become an extension of the current role of the SENCO. 
 
 

2.6 There are three priority areas for this Inclusion Strategy: 
 

• Early intervention in an effective continuum of provision 

• Transitions 

• Partnerships 
 
Early intervention in an effective continuum of provision 

2.7 There is a need to improve the flexibility of the continuum of provision to meet 
individual needs within Tower Hamlets, ensuring top quality integrated services are 
delivered in accessible buildings. 
 

 The Children’s Centre, Extended School and Youth Service developments must 
impact on the growth and development of young people, and improve access to a 
range of services. We must prioritise opportunities to improve outcomes in early 
language acquisition and support emotional and behavioural development. 
 

 In implementing this plan Tower Hamlets will continue to support capacity building 
within our schools and settings and across agencies through an effective workforce 
development programme 
 

 A benefit of joining services within a Children’s Service must be improved review and 
monitoring systems that ensure that the range and level of support to meet the 
needs of all vulnerable groups is impacting on outcomes, especially for those with 
complex needs. 
 

Page 40



 7  

 The need to continue to improve provision for all children, with particular focus on the 
emotional and behavioural needs and those on the autistic spectrum post 16 is not 
only a National issue but a local need for Tower Hamlets.. 
 
Transitions: 

2..8 As a Children Service Tower Hamlets needs to improve transition arrangements 
enabling children and young people to successfully move across each of the phases 
through their time in education, and moving into adult life, particularly focusing on 
tracking the most vulnerable children across key transition periods. 
 
Partnerships: 

2.9 Many of the parents and carers of our children and young people are active 
participants in their children’s education.  We need to accelerate partnership work 
with parents and carers in joint work to support children’s progress and learning. In 
order to do this we are developing a three year Family Support and Parental 
Engagement Strategy, involving both statutory and voluntary sector partners, 
building on the principles outlined in “Every Parent Matters” (DfES, 2007). 

 
2.10 It is the duty of Children Services to ensure SEN and disability commissioning 

processes deliver best value principles, and accelerate early intervention and 
prevention, whilst maintaining a range of high quality specialist provision. 
 

2.11 There are systems in place to enable parents and young people to express their 
views. We need to strengthen these mechanisms to ensure that children young 
people and their parents are listened to and their ideas are used to create and 
influence positive changes. 
 

3.  Background 
3.1  This strategy document identifies for schools, early years settings, parents/carers 

and other interested parties how Tower Hamlets Children Services aims to ensure 
that high quality provision ensures the entitlement of children and young people in 
the Local Authority’s early years settings and schools. It is one of many ways in 
which the Authority continues to promote and implement its policy for Inclusive 
Education. 
 

3.2  The Local Authority’s policy statement ‘Towards Inclusive Education in Schools: 
policy and strategy’ focused on the principles and practice of creating a 
comprehensive learning community. Tower Hamlets defines inclusive education as: 
‘…the process of increasing the participation of children in the curriculum, culture 
and community of their school thereby raising standards for all….’ 
 

3.3 Since the publication of the present Inclusion (SEN) strategy the council has 
produced its Children and Young People’s Plan (CYPP). This states that delivering a 
better deal for children and young people depends on the co-operation of the whole 
range of agencies and users of services, including community voluntary and faith 
groups. Parents, carers and children and young people are seen as key players in 
developing the plan and making it a reality. 
 

3.4  Inclusion and early intervention are at the very heart of the CYPP. The seven 
principles and values identified in the CYPP align with the five principles from the 

Page 41



 8  

Authority policy statement ‘Towards Inclusive Education in Schools: policy and 
strategy’  
 

Inclusion statement: 
 

CYPP: 

• Entitlement • Inclusion 

• Excellence • Outcome Driven 

• Diversity • Equalities: 

• Partnerships • Partnership & Participation 

• Building capacity • Professional development & 
Value for Money 

 
3.5  The government’s green paper ‘Every Child Matters’ and their subsequent 

Government Select Committee Report (October 2006) reviewed special educational 
needs provision and recommended the following national priorities be considered: 
 

• build capacity in the children’s workforce to identify and meet children’s 
needs; 

• promote a flexible continuum of local provision; 

• improve accountability for the outcomes children achieve; 

• strengthen partnerships with parents and children; and, 

• improve provision for children with Behavioural, Emotional and Social 
Difficulties and children with Autism. 

 
3.6  In addition in July 2006 Ofsted published the findings of their survey into special 

educational needs with the following recommendations: 
 
Training & Development Agency should: 

• Improve training in the field of Learning Difficulties and Disabilities (LDD) for 
all teachers 

• Provide more opportunities for specialist training 
 
Local Authorities should: 

• Ensure all pupils have opportunities to work alongside their peers in 
mainstream provisions, including those with BESD 

• Evaluate the impact of provision on the outcomes for pupils 
 
Mainstream schools should: 

•  Analyse critically their use of teaching assistants & the amount of specialist 
teaching they provide 

 
Special schools should: 

• Collaborate & share expertise more effectively with mainstream schools 
 

3.7  The DfES SEN Strategy (2004) ‘Removing the Barriers to Achievement’ built on the 
proposals in ‘Every Child Matters’ and has an inclusive approach to meeting special 
educational needs as one of its key principles. This government strategy challenged 
Local Authorities to address key themes of Early Intervention, Partnership & 

Page 42



 9  

Participation and Transition & Collaboration which map very clearly on to the 
principles of our Inclusion Statement and CYPP mentioned earlier. 
 

3.8  A common thread to all these reports, guidance documents and plans is to reject 
locating barriers to learning “solely within the child” and acknowledge a social model 
of disability and an interactive view of special educational needs: 

 
“Schools should not assume that children’s learning difficulties always 
result solely, or even mainly, from problems within the child. A school’s 
own practices make a difference- for good or ill” 

                                            (DfES Code 2001 Section 5.18) 
 

3.9  The implications for all educational settings is the requirement to adapt the education 
to the child, either reactively within the SEN framework or proactively within the SEN 
& Disability Framework. 
 

3.10 Briefings and training sessions are provided to support schools in understanding, 
making the best use of, and implementing statutory requirements as new guidance is 
published. Informal advice and support is offered, and continues to be available from 
the school’s educational psychologist, from the SEN Section at the Town Hall and 
from the Support for Learning Service (SLS). 
 

3.11 The Authority’s guidance document to support schools; Assessing & Responding to 
Individual Needs is aimed at helping schools consider what appropriate action they 
can take to intervene early to support a pupil’s learning.  This will be reviewed in the 
light of our implementation of Common Assessment Framework (CAF), a process 
intended to improve collaboration and sharing of information for the benefit of our 
most vulnerable children. 
 
 

4.  Priority 1: Early intervention in an effective continuum of provision 
Being Healthy 

4.1  The integrated disability team includes Portage, Social Care and Health 
professionals. The screening panel operated by the integrated disabilities team 
means key workers and agencies are identified and agreed for very young children 
and their families. Section 322 notifications from Health colleagues are for 
increasingly younger children so it is possible for joint planning and assessment to 
be seen as more of a continuous process.  
 

4.2  Over the past two years nearly 50 primary schools have successfully taken part in 
the Social Emotional Aspects of Learning (SEAL) programme.  They have 
implemented a whole range of strategies to support, emotional well-being in their 
schools.  In order to support schools more effectively and develop stronger links 
between services as well as share good expertise, the work is coordinated by a 
steering group made up of staff from the EPS, SDT, SLS and Healthy schools team.   

 
4.3 The Local Authority has worked with the Primary Care Trust to establish the Health 

and Well Being Strategy. This has enabled more effective planning to meet the 
health needs of children with Special Educational Needs. Extended schools and 
Children Centre development and implementation plans are all built on principles of 

Page 43



 10 

early intervention and improved co-ordination of services. A key feature in the 
planning has been increasing local access to health professionals. 
 

4.4 Neo Natal hearing screening programme; a collaboration with Health to identify 
children with hearing loss at birth, has enabled early treatment and teaching support 
to go into the home at the earliest possibility to maximize communication 
development prior to starting nursery/school.  Prior to this the screening system the 
borough had not been effective in identifying these children and as a consequence 
some were not identified until they reached school.  The borough has a higher than 
average proportion of children with Hearing Impairment. There is high quality 
provision for Hearing Impairment from nursery to secondary 
 
Staying Safe 

4.5  In 2006 the Authority was awarded beacon status for its early intervention work for 
children at risk. Our approach to safer schools with close partnership working with 
the police, the work of the social inclusion panel and the strengthening families 
project which targets families at risk were amongst the successful examples cited. 

 
4.6  The Tower Hamlets Information Sharing (THIS Child) board has overseen the 

implementation of all information sharing developments. This has included agreeing 
and publishing an information sharing protocol and producing an information sharing 
leaflet drafted for children and young people as the target audience. The Common 
Assessment Framework implementation is also overseen by a multi-agency steering 
group, 
 

4.7  In 2005/6 Ofsted continued to judge behaviour as good in 100% of primary schools 
and 90% secondary schools visited. Where the special measures school was judged 
as needing to improve behaviour as a key issue it was judged by HMI in October 
2006 to be making outstanding progress and managing a safe environment. The 
guidance published on tackling bullying has lead to an increased reporting of bullying 
by pupils demonstrating schools have effective policies in place.  

 
4.8  The Behaviour and Attendance consultant has worked as part of the Behaviour 

Support team with a specific focus on improving classroom teaching and 
management strategies.  This joint work has been particularly effective in moving 
entrenched difficulties forward in schools that are cause for concern. The consultant 
has also established regular Behaviour and Attendance Partnership meetings 
together with attendance officers and key school staff to establish the links between 
attendance and attainment. This has resulted in schools identifying and targeting 
specific students with individual attendance improvement action plans.  

 
4.9 Systems are in place to monitor and track children. There is a missing children 

procedure and register and the policy applies to all pupils in all Tower Hamlets 
schools (regardless of where the child is resident). Secondary attendance is in top 
quartile nationally.  Pupil attendance is seen as a Children Services priority and as 
such data is regularly scrutinised by DMT. Annual Review pro-forma used for pupils 
with statements of SEN requires schools to state attendance records for pupils and 
what actions they are taking if attendance falls below 85%. Secondary schools, with 
poorest records, the most ‘resistant’ truancy figures are given targeted support and 
have seen improvements in their attendance figures.  

Page 44



 11 

 
 
Enjoy & Achieve 

4.10 Early Years Area Inclusion Co-ordinators (EYAIC) offer a minimum of one visit per 
term to of the Authority’s Day Nurseries and all non-maintained early years settings 
registered to provide foundation stage education.  In practice, most settings receive 
much more support than this.  The EYAICs provide advice and support in the areas 
of inclusion, disability, additional needs and equalities.  The majority of this work is 
focused upon meeting the needs of individuals identified as having additional needs, 
but the team also does systemic and preventative work. 
 

4.11 The EYAICs offer an extensive training programme to setting staff (e.g. three-day 
core SENCO /Inclusion Co-coordinator training; nine-day CACHE level 3 accredited 
unit). Elements of training include; Working with Children and Young People with 
Special Needs; using the Index for Inclusion in Early Years Settings; working with 
children with language difficulties; emotional literacy in early years settings; and 
working with children with medical needs. 

 
4.12  As well as centrally based training, the team provides tailor-made 'in-house' training 

to setting staff focused upon identified needs, such as dealing with behaviour that 
challenges; working with a child with Down's Syndrome/autism/Fragile X 
syndrome/epilepsy/cerebral palsy. 
 

4.13  One of requirements of the DfES sponsored project extending inclusion in extended 
schools and children centres is that good practice is identified and shared through 
published guidance. Tower Hamlets is taking a lead role in supporting the 
development of this guidance 
 

4.14  The Early Support Programme has been developed across the Authority.  This has 
included joint training delivered for health and children services staff, particularly 
through the Integrated Disabled Children’s Service Team.  . 
 

4.15  Improved links and systems for early year’s notifications have resulted in more 
appropriate referrals being made. Data on under five referrals and assessments 
shows this remains the significantly highest proportion of all new statements. The 
high quality support from the Early Years Inclusion Team has ensured that pre-
school settings have grown in both their confidence and ability to meet a wide range 
of complex needs.. The recent trend of early identification mainly by health 
professionals of very young children with complex needs has continued each year 
suggesting that early identification and intervention has improved. The largest group 
of young children identified as having a special educational need are those with 
language and communication difficulties. The Authority has begun to explore ways in 
which this particular need can be better addressed.  
 

4.16  Schools use their Self Evaluation Form (SEF) as a strategic tool to demonstrate how 
they identify and evaluate whether particular groups of children are achieving at 
different rates and whether pupils fail to progress in particular aspects of learning. 
Their assessment should be four-fold, focusing on the student’s own learning 
characteristics, the learning environment provided by the school, the tasks set and 
the style of teaching. The results should inform school improvement work on 

Page 45



 12 

teaching and learning and the development of the curriculum and organisation of the 
school.  Effective assessment is an essential aspect of good teaching to meet 
learning needs.  For some children additional action may be needed to ensure 
progress is at least adequate. 
 

4.17 Children Services has both specialist teaching services which are available for pupils 
with statements and teams whose expertise schools may be purchased through 
service level agreements (SLAs). In addition Tower Hamlets’ educational 
psychologists (EPs) provide advice and support as a component of School Action 
Plus. The use of this external expertise is in addition to or complementary to School 
Action and considers the use of different teaching approaches and of modified or 
improved equipment and teaching materials. 
 

4.18  Ofsted expects schools to demonstrate that they have clearly identified the standard 
provision available in their school for their pupils. Where pupils have been identified 
as being entitled to School Action or School Action-Plus schools must be able to 
demonstrate that progress has been measured appropriately and accurately, for 
example using ‘P’ levels, and that appropriate actions have been taken. A number of 
schools are using PIVATS to plan and monitor progress for individual pupils. There 
have been a number of successful school inspections with comments by Ofsted on 
school’s use of data.    
 

4.19  The Authority’s 'School Self Evaluation of Standards' visit ensures that attainment 
and achievement are discussed with schools, whether specific groups are 
underachieving and what schools are doing to address this.  School Development 
Advisers (SDAs) and/or School Improvement Partners (SIPs) encourage schools to 
evaluate their tracking systems and the intervention programmes that they are using 
to support specific groups of children. For example, the adviser may ask how 
effective are the WAVE 3 materials they have chosen to use and how the school is 
assessing 'P' levels.  

 
4.20 Reading Recovery Programmes are in place in many schools with all schools having 

agreed to contribute towards the expansion of the programmes in the coming year 
through a top slice of their budgets. Numeracy Recovery Programmes are also in 
place in some schools as part of NRF funded pilot programme. The Authority has 
promoted Push Start programmes for SpLD pupils without the need for statement. 
(British Dyslexia Association approves the programmes and training is offered 
locally). 

 
4.21 All schools use a range of both nationally and locally produced data in planning to 

meet the needs of their pupils. Schools are already using RAISE on line and 
discussing this and the other forms of data with SDAs, SIPs and others during their 
visits. RAISE online is  a useful tool when it is populated nationally with data by 
November of each year.  Since September 2004, the SEN section has been 
recording attainment levels detailed the Annual Review forms.  These attainment 
details include ‘P’ levels.  This information has been used in conversations between 
EPs and schools about target setting for pupils. EPS has been piloting the Harrow 
Pupil Attitude & Study Skills materials with Key Stage 3 students who are Looked 
After by the Authority. This project helps students and staff in schools look at the 
student’s study skills and attitudes to learning.   

Page 46



 13 

  
4.22 There is a full range of successful local provision meeting the needs of boys with 

behavioural, emotional or social needs. There are many fewer girls who experience 
such severe needs. However there is presently a gap in provision for such girls as 
there a few local options if their needs can not be met with a local mainstream 
setting.  
 
Making a Positive Contribution 

4.23  Systems have been improved so that Connexions are automatically informed of 
planned Annual Reviews of statements of SEN by the Authority, not only for 
individual students in year 9 and above, but also of those that should be taking place 
in the coming term.  The voice of the child has been the subject of much work with 
schools including seminars at SENCo conferences where good practice has been 
shared including Barnados publications of work in Humberside and Yorkshire.  

 
4.24  Parent Information Points (PIP) is a universal service providing flexible interactive 

approach to getting parents more involved in their children’s education, as well as 
improving information about and access to services.  Its particular focus is on 
transition stages but it very responsive to schools needs. 

 
4.25 The budget for travel has remained unchanged since 2003/04 but now includes 

Home to School Transport, curricular transport for all schools (for which they are 
charged) and Independent Travel Training for students with Special Educational 
Needs. 540 children, mostly on a daily basis, are transported to 70+ special and 
mainstream schools and colleges within and outside the borough; the children range 
in age from 2 to 19 years.  The number of children with complex medical needs 
requiring passenger assistants with specific nursing skills and children requiring one-
to-one care is increasing; this additional cost has also been contained within current 
budgets. 

 
4.26 At the end of the process of statutory assessment all parents are asked to provide 

feedback for the Special Educational Needs Section, 95% of evaluations show 
satisfaction with the process. 
 

4.27 All children are encouraged to contribute to Annual Reviews of statements, and 
increasing number are developing the skills and confidence to do so. 
 
Achieving Economic Well Being 

4.28 Training has been provided for schools and governors and guidance published on 
DDA compliance. Consultancy support has been offered to all secondary schools on 
their Disability Equalities Statements. Inclusion is a strong thread in all of the 
Building Schools for the Future work.  The Youth Service contracts have changed to 
ensure that providers have a better understanding of what makes a fully inclusive 
provision. 
 

4.29  Each year Children Services contributes to the sharing of information and joint 
planning between schools and others in particular the adult disability team and 
Connexions. This ensures each of these young adults have support systems around 
them reducing the likelihood of them becoming Not in Education, Employment or 
Training (NEET). 

Page 47



 14 

 
4.30 Our Educational Improvement Partnership for 14-19 provision has mapped the  

curriculum available to ensure there is broader range of provision, including       
vocational and work based opportunities post 16. 

 
4.31 Two special schools and our PRU have developed post 16 transition support      

programmes for young people at risk of becoming NEET after they have left. This 
enables them to continue to give pastoral support and guidance until the young 
people are settled in their new environments. 
 

4.32  Future Action 
 

• The next stages of the extended schools and children centre implementation 
programmes will include aspects which could have implications for workforce 
developments. 

• The primary BSF work will have a strong inclusion theme. 

• There will be continued a support for primary schools as they implement their 
DDA obligations. 

• The HUB (our post 16 partnership),  aims to address some of the 
incongruities in provision by facilitating collaborative working between schools 
and looking and particular areas of concern such as the range of post 16 
provision for ASD. 

• The Authority will look for and implement successful early intervention 
programmes which improve the language and communication skills of pupils 
during the foundation stage. 

• There is a need to narrow the gap in Key Stage1 Maths attainment; numeracy 
recovery will be extended if the pilot is successful. 

• All schools and their partners will use RAISE on line to evaluate the impact of 
interventions. 

• The CIS website will become an information source for all services for 
children. 

• The Authority will develop and implement further training programmes and 
schemes of accreditation for SENCos in schools. 

• The Authority will monitor and embed CAF as the means of sharing 
information and joint planning across agencies. 

• The Authority will explore how it can improve the range of provisions for girls 
with BESD 

• EIP will increase range of vocational options for our 14-19 students and 
implement the September guarantee for all year 11 students ensuring learning 
opportunities match their needs. 

• The Authority will support secondary schools in using SEAL materials when 
they become available. 

 
 

5. Priority 2: Transitions 
Staying Safe 

5.1  Local Authority officers, (EPs, Statement Monitoring Officer and Look After Children 
team) visit residential schools at least once a year to discuss each pupil’s progress. 
Day schools are visited at least bi-annually with EPs making contact with child and 

Page 48



 15 

family each year. Written feedback on conduct of all reviews attended by an 
Authority officer is collated and shared with the SEN panel.  Pupils are only placed at 
out borough schools on the  DfES approved list.   
 
Enjoy & Achieve 

5.2  The Authority’s hard to place children protocol is aimed at tackling mid term 
admissions. When considered casual admissions pupils with SEN are the first 
priority then Looked After Children.  Appeals data shows no cases of LAC or SEN 
tribunals regarding placements. In addition guidance for schools was published this 
year on supporting New Entrants. The main beneficiaries of this are hoped to be 
casual admissions. 

 
5.3  The Authority’s admission policy for primary schools says that exceptional social and 

medical cases should be given priority.  This includes Looked After Children.  For 
pupils with statements of SEN, if the school is named they have first priority.  At 
secondary transfer, pupils with SEN statements are given first priority where the 
school is named.  Next priority is given to cases that the primary/secondary transfer 
committee agree as exceptional social and medical needs – this would include LAC. 
  

5.4. The Children and Young People in Public Care team vigorously pursue placements 
for children out of borough with the other Authority where the child is placed. Our 
protocol states that the educational context must be considered prior to change of 
placement as embedded in our Corporate Parenting action plan. 
 

5.5  Reducing the number of school leavers Not in Education, Employment or Training 
(NEET) has been a major achievement. However much work remains if the recent 
success is to be maintained and improved upon.  
 

5.6 There has been a rise in weapon related exclusions. It is not clear if this is a 
consequence of more students carrying weapons or better detection in schools. 
Nevertheless it is a major concern which has lead to an agreed action plan with 
schools. 

 
5.7 There are transition arrangements in place to enable schools to jointly plan for 

predicted new pupils, the summer SENCo conference is used for this purpose. 
 

5.8 A transition framework is being developed to support all learners as they transfer from 
primary to secondary school. 

 
Achieving Economic Well Being 

5.8  Transition systems are essential in ensuring children access the best possible 
support at each new educational setting. Time must be spent collating information 
and exploring possibilities with parents and young people and both the leaving and 
receiving settings.  For children experiencing Special Educational Needs lead in 
times for transfer are of greater importance e.g. discussions about post 16 options 
must start at the Year 9 be Annual Review. These transition reviews are targeted by 
Authority officers. 

 
5.9  Funding has been provided to three of our special schools to enable them to track 

and support their post 16 students. The intention is that this work will impact in 

Page 49



 16 

reducing the risk of those students becoming NEET. 
 
 

5.10  Future Action 
 

• Independent travel training will be extended to include life skills training. 

• The impact of the Behaviour Support Team targeting of pupils with 15+ days 
of fixed term exclusions will be monitored. 

• The integration of out of borough pupils and casual entrants will be monitored 
and any conflict issues will be addressed. 

• The transition projects, aimed at improving progress at Key Stage 3 will be 
evaluated to inform the transfer framework as it develops.  

• Improving the quality of dialogue and planning has been under discussion 
recently in particular Connexions and Adult Learning disability team. Under 
discussion is how we could make better use of Personalised Centred 
Planning tools.  

 
 

6.  Priority 3: Partnerships 
Being Healthy 

6.1  Service Level Agreements are in place for Speech Therapy and the Tower Hamlets 
Assisted Technology Lending Library is run very successfully by Stephen Hawking 
School. Multi-agency training programme is also  hosted by Stephen Hawking 
School. Many sessions are run by health colleagues and are available to all borough 
schools and allied professionals. 
 
Staying Safe 

6.2  As mentioned earlier in this document the Authority was awarded beacon status for 
its early intervention work in 2006.  Much of this work has been developed and 
delivered in partnership with agencies such as police, health and the third sector.   

 
6.3  The Missing Children Protocol is monitored by the multi-agency safeguarding board 

who consider an annual report. Systems are in place to monitor and track children. 
The missing children procedure, register and the policy applies to all pupils in all 
Tower Hamlets schools (regardless of where the child is a Tower Hamlets resident). 

 
6.4   A joint conference took  place  in March 2007 with Youth Offending Team, Police, 

Anti Social Behaviour Unit and Schools to tackle challenging behaviour holistically. 
 
Enjoy & Achieve 

6.5  The Authority has worked with secondary schools and the Pupil Referral Unit to 
provide a range of alternatives: managed moves, reintegration programmes. This 
has lead to improved quality of multi-agency Pupil Support Plans, better referrals to 
Social Inclusion Plan and therefore improved curriculum planning for pupils at risk.   
A joint initiative with police to reduce use of knives (linked to amnesty) resulted in 
local students producing their own high quality DVD on knife crime. 

 
6.6.  The Schools Causing Concern review programme has input from all teams across 

Children Services each term. This ensures that there is a holistic view of the 
progress made by schools. A settings review day takes place each term to share 

Page 50



 17 

information and concerns about funded early years providers and to plan appropriate 
actions.       

 

6.7  Advisers for Physical Impairment and Medical Conditions are linked to integrated 
Children with Disabilities team. Although not line-managed within the team they liaise 
and collaborate on planning for pupils. The Language and Communication team 
liaise and work closely with Speech and Language Therapy team concerning 
individual cases and the delivery of joint training. The IT SEN Adviser works in 
partnership with local occupational therapists in providing support to schools. 

 
6.8  Monitoring Officers from SEN Section, EPS and SLS attend 8 week planning 

meetings and Annual Reviews to monitor quality of planning and assessment, 
including use of P-levels where appropriate. They feedback to the school and to the 
Authority where there are concerns.  
 

6.9  A designated SEN caseworker for LAC has improved systems for monitoring and 
links with social care colleagues when tracking performance of LAC pupils.  

 
 Making a Positive Contribution 
6.10 Tower Hamlets Parent Partnership Service is provided through the Parents Advice 

Centre (PAC).  It provides an impartial, arms length advice service for parents and 
was awarded Customer Service Standard (Charter Mark) in July 2005.  The service 
operates a case-worker referral system and provides weekly drop in sessions, home 
visits and publishes materials in a range of languages. 
 
It also runs training and information events as well as a weekly parent led SEN 
support group. Integrated services operating under the umbrella of the PAC include 
welfare benefits advice, educational psychology drop in advice as well as advice and 
support on admissions and exclusions. 

 
6.11 All parents of children undergoing statutory assessment are offered case worker 

support, and information about other independent advice providers. In addition to this 
other parents self refer for a variety of reasons. The PAC is staffed by advice 
workers who between them speak three of the main community languages with 
advice offered in an additional seven languages. Translation and interpreting 
services for other languages can be booked. 

 
6.12 There are a wide range of parental activities detailed fully in the Family Support and 

Parental Engagement Strategy. These include the Home Office funded Family 
Intervention Project and Senior Parenting Practitioner post, the DfES Parenting Early 
Intervention Pathfinder and the DoH/DfES Health-led Parenting Project to be 
delivered with the PCT..  
 

6.13  Future Action 
 

• There are successful police links in each of our secondary schools. In the 
coming year the links with the anti-social behaviour unit will be improved as 
we share information to address low level crime and Anti Social Behaviour. 

• The thirty NRF, DfES, DOH and Home Office funded parenting programmes 

Page 51



 18 

run until March 2008. They aim to encourage inclusive approaches to family 
support and parental engagement in order to improve outcomes for children 
and young people. 

• The next stage of joint agency plans to combat weapon carrying will be 
implemented. 
Our Behaviour and Attendance Partnership will be established to support 
cross Borough work to reduce social exclusion.  

 
 

7  Strategic & Service Management 
Strategy 

7.1  The commissioning model developed by the Tower Hamlets Children’s Trust gained 
National prominence. It is said to be a useful tool as it acknowledges that there are a 
range of commissioners of services operating at different levels. The Authority has 
supported the ALDCS sponsored research on commissioning services and provision 
for the most vulnerable groups of children. The PEP is part of the operational group 
that will look to implement recommendations from these pieces of research. Tower 
Hamlets in partnership with other North East London boroughs is looking at how 
information is better shared about BESD and ASD provision.  

 
7.2 Strategically, the Authority sees Extended Schools and Children’s Centres as crucial 

hubs for delivering many specialist services. Children Centres will eventually become 
a vehicle for delivery of services for pre-school children and their families across the 
whole borough. This is already beginning to happen in the 14 designated centres.  

 
7.3  CAMHS commissioning incorporates third sector and other providers not just 

traditional CAMHS but whole continuum of work. CAHMS Commissioning was part 
of Children’s Trust work stream and is now part of our mainstream planning 
arrangements.  
 

7.4  Using their delegated resources, schools make choices about investing in additional 
specialist services. The SLS and EPS have operated Service Level Agreements for 
a number of years. Speech and Language Therapy is commissioned by the Authority 
using standards funds to provide targeted programmes of support to schools. A 
number of schools also commission speech therapy. Each of the Authority’s borough 
based special schools has delivered outreach support to schools over the past year.  
 

7.5  The number and type of special schools has changed significantly over the past few 
years. Changes to funding arrangements mean that it is expected that only children 
with the most complex needs are not supported in mainstream schools. Both primary 
and secondary Severe Learning Difficulties schools have been re-designated 
Profound and Multiple Learning Difficulties provisions. A former Moderate Learning 
Difficulties school, Phoenix, has become a very successful provision for pupils with 
severe communication difficulties. Ofsted’s recent inspection of the school was very 
positive, praising in particular the quality of outreach work. The school has also been 
accredited by the National Autistic Society because of the quality of its provision. All 
of our special schools have had successful Ofsted visits in recent times. 
 

7.6  The SEN finance group takes a strategic view of the borough’s range provision and 
has commissioned various pieces of research to gather data and views from 

Page 52



 19 

stakeholders as well as supporting new developments such as outreach from all 
special schools. Research undertaken has included feedback on the mechanism to 
increase delegation, the feasibility of a secondary aged deaf provision and the 
complexity of needs amongst those with visual impairment.  
 

7.7  There are also support systems in place to enable provisions to look critically at their 
work. A good example of this is the Language Forum where heads of schools with 
enhanced provision and key school staff meet with EPs, specialist teachers and 
speech therapists to review their effectiveness.  
 

7.8  Additionally resourced provision has been recently developed at Overland Children’s 
Centre and Hague School to support increasing HI needs. High quality additionally 
resourced provision is well established at: Bangabandhu, Culloden, Cyril Jackson, 
Globe and St Paul’s Way Schools 
 
Resources 

7.9  The SEN CoP requires that schools make a graduated response as a result of a 
four-fold assessment, along the continuum from School Action and School Action 
Plus to statements of special educational needs.  The DfES guidance to Local 
Authorities and others on ‘The Distribution of Resources to Support Inclusion’ 
strongly recommends that, 
 

 “greater whole school distribution of resources can improve 
provision for pupils with SEN or additional needs through greater 
stability of funding, better training for staff and stronger co-
ordination of particular interventions across the school.” (page 6) 

 
7.10  The guidance goes on to specify that additional help should be provided as soon as 

it is required, rather than wait to be allocated after a period of failure. Whole school 
funding offers schools greater flexibility to determine priorities for support and 
intervention and enable them to meet particular learning needs of pupils early on. 
Delegated budgets should be used appropriately across year groups. This gives 
schools flexibility and responsibility to think holistically about whole school provision 
and the whole school budget in relation to key the intention that resources should 
support inclusion and attainment. Tower Hamlets has transferred significant funding 
by reducing statements so that funds to support common needs are part of core 
school budgets. 
 

7.11 The Authority expects that each school’s Additional Educational Needs budget will be 
used for differentiated SEN-related expenditure. Schools should acknowledge the 
contribution that most already make from their AWPU budget to the resourcing of 
differentiated SEN provision. As a broad guideline it is suggested that schools should 
be able to demonstrate that around 11% of their budgets are allocated to support 
and improve teaching school support to meet individual learning needs. 
 

7.12 This budget allocation will meet the needs throughout the school, at Early 
Years/School Action and will also contribute towards costs at Action Plus, the latter 
supplemented by delegated funding where this is clearly agreed. The CoP indicates 
that ‘it is good practice for the costs of the SENCO…to be set against the core or 
base budget of the school’. 

Page 53



 20 

 
7.13 Tower Hamlets’ schools use their delegated budgets to purchase through service 

level agreements (SLAs), specialist support from a range of sources including 
teachers from the Support for Learning Service and additional support from Tower 
Hamlets’ educational psychologists. Recently an increasing number of schools have 
supplemented the Authority’s commissioned Speech Therapy support with SLAs of 
their own. The use of this external expertise is in addition to or complementary to 
School Action and considers the use of different teaching approaches and of 
modified or improved equipment and teaching materials. 

 
7.14 Where pupils have statements of special educational needs the resources identified 

in those statements are delegated to schools – with the exception of teacher support 
relating to sensory impairment which is allocated from a small central team.  
 

7.15 It is essential that all schools analyse the levels of need within their school on a 
yearly basis, allocate appropriate provision to meet those needs in their yearly 
budget, and publish this in their SEN policy.  
 

7.16  Changes in funding, implemented in 2003/4, have increased inclusive funding for 
schools and reduced the demand for statements. Finance figures show the impact of 
these changes on developing inclusive provision. Both the capacity and confidence 
of schools has improved since delegation as seen by the many positive statements 
in individual schools Ofsted reports. 
 

7.17 The Authority continues to perform well against the Audit Commission Best Value 
Performance Indicators 43 a & b for statutory assessment. This is the result of the 
continued implementation and review of working practices and strategies.  

 
Services 

7.18  Pooled budgets for Disabled Children were put in place as part of our Children’s 
Trust arrangements and an effective joint commissioning panel exists. Some schools 
are currently pooling budgets within Education Improvement Partnerships to provide 
improved vocational offers to all 14-19 students. The Extended Schools’ programme 
has enabled services such as those from social care, health and adult learning to be 
delivered in partnership with schools using schools’ facilities.  

 
7.19  CAMHS are commissioned to deliver tier two services through children centres and 

extended schools, with some services being delivered by voluntary organisations. 
The multi-agency CAMHS steering group oversees commissioning.   

 
7.20  The borough has been in the Audit Commission top quartile for: 

- Effectiveness of Specialist Learning Support 
- Effectiveness of monitoring progress of pupils with SEN 
- Effectiveness of EP Services  
- Effectiveness of co-ordinating services in meeting the needs of children 

and young people with disabilities and long term health conditions 
- Effectiveness of early/timely interventions and assessment of young 

children with disabilities and/or special needs.  
 
Some of these services have been in the top quartile for a number years. 

Page 54



 21 

 
7.21  All services across Children Services contribute towards the monitoring of schools 

each term. In addition EPs and other officers who regularly visit schools share 
concerns with a schools link SDA.  Information also flows the other way.  It was 
noted that the SEF has made issues much easier to identify, support and follow 
through.  

 
7.22 The pre-assessment and SEN panels both give feedback to schools on the quality of 

their arrangements and submissions. Good practice is highlighted and poor practice 
followed up by advice and support from one of the Authority’s officers. The EPS 
representative at the Social Inclusion Panel shares any panel concerns with a 
schools link SDA after each monthly panel. 
 
 
Statutory 

7.23 Since the increase in delegated funding, and the accompanying change in the 
threshold criteria for Statutory Assessment, there has been a decrease in the 
number of requests made year on year. This has allowed greater attention to be 
given to the very complex cases which are now considered for Statutory 
Assessment. At the same time, there are more very young children with profound 
and multiple difficulties coming to the attention of the Authority. 
 

7.24 Analysis of ethnicity of children with statements shows a higher proportion of Black 
students compared to the school population.  3.68% Black African & 4.28% Black 
Caribbean compared to 2.68% & 2.68%. This difference could in part be a 
consequence of coding as the schools’ data shows people choosing a wider range of 
Black sub-groups e.g. naming particular African countries which isn’t found on the 
SEN database. 
 

7.25 There are proportionally fewer children from Bangladeshi backgrounds with 
statements compared to the make up of the local community, (47.52% compared to 
61.2%). However this gap has been closing with each year the proportion of new 
statements more accurately reflecting the whole community. 

 
7.26 P level data is now a requirement on our Annual Review returns. Progress of each 

pupil is discussed at Annual Reviews.  EPs use data on all pupils with statements at 
a school as part of their initial planning meetings each year. 
 

7.27 Training as been run for all schools to support DDA compliance. Additional 
consultancy support has been arranged for all secondary schools to help them 
implement their individual DE Statements. 
 
 

7.28 Future Action 
 

• Children’s Services will continue to align work across partnerships with the 
intention of commission more effectively, using Best Value and preventative 
principles.  

Page 55



 22 

• There will be more focused work on value for money and effectiveness of 
interventions so that we develop more robust systems for tackling complex 
issues. 

• Children’s Services will continue to develop a broader and more inclusive 
range of out of school activities.  

 
 

 

Page 56



Committee: 

Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

Date: 

5th June 2007 

Classification: 
 
Unrestricted 

Report No: Agenda 
Item: 

Report of:  

Sara Williams, Assistant Chief Executive 

 
Originating officer(s) Kevin Kewin, 
Policy Manager ext. 4075 

Title:  
Tower Hamlets Community Plan to 2010: Year 7 
(2007 – 08) 
 
Wards Affected: All 

 
1. SUMMARY 
  
1.1 This report sets out – through its appendix – the revised Community Plan for 2002 – 

2010. The Community Plan for Year 7 comprises: 
• a report on the progress and milestones achieved during 2006 – 07 (Year 6 of the 

plan) 
• the priorities and specific targets for the seventh year of the plan – the year to April 

2008 
• a summary of the outturns for the use of the Neighbourhood Renewal Fund (NRF) in 

2006-07 (subject to final confirmation in the closure of the accounts in June 2007) and 
the process and priorities agreed by the Tower Hamlets Partnership Management 
Group for the allocation of the Neighbourhood Renewal Fund in 2007- 2008  

  
1.2 The comments of Overview and Scrutiny Committee, on the Tower Hamlets Community 

Plan to 2010: Year 7 (2007 – 08), will be tabled at the Cabinet meeting for Members’ 
consideration. Cabinet is then required by the Council’s Constitution, to take account of 
the views of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, before submitting its 
recommendations to full Council. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATION  
 
2.1 
 

 
That the Overview and Scrutiny Committee consider the Tower Hamlets Community Plan 
to 2010: Year 7 (2007 – 08) and provide any comments to Cabinet on 6th June 2007. 

 

  
   
  

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT, 1972 SECTION 100D (AS AMENDED) 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARATION OF THIS REPORT 

 

Brief description of  “background papers 
Name and telephone number of holder  
and address where open to inspection. 

The Community Plan to 2010  
Tower Hamlets Community Plan to 2010: Year 7 
(2007/2008) draft circulated to Overview and 
Scrutiny Members 18/05/07 

Kevin Kewin       020 7364 4075 
Mulberry Place, 
5 Clove Crescent, 
London E14 2BG  
 
 

Agenda Item 9.1

Page 57



 
  
3. BACKGROUND 
  
3.1 The Local Government Act, 2000, places on local authorities a duty to prepare 

“community strategies” for promoting or improving the economic, social and 
environmental well-being of their areas.  

  
3.2 The Community Plan to 2010 is the borough’s community strategy. The Council 

has a leading role in developing and reviewing the Community Plan and, indeed, 
has a statutory responsibility for its preparation and agreement through the Tower 
Hamlets Partnership. It must be agreed by Full Council, in accordance with the 
requirements of the Council’s Constitution. 

  
3.3 The Community Plan is reviewed annually – in consultation with all key 

stakeholders on the Tower Hamlets Partnership – with progress reported on and 
revised objectives and targets set out for each new year. The Partnership 
Management Group (PMG) oversees the preparation of the Community Plan for 
Year 7 (2007 – 2008), and the proposed draft is attached at Appendix 1. 

  
3.4 Some amendments to the Community Plan to 2010: Year 7 (2007-08) will be 

necessary as additional information becomes available before final publication, 
particularly for outcome figures and new targets for performance indicators. Any 
amendments will not, however, materially affect the key objectives and activities 
set out in the plan. The authority to make appropriate amendments needs to be 
delegated to the Chief Executive. 

  
3.5 The national and local context has changed significantly since the first Tower 

Hamlets Community Plan in 2001-02.  For example, all Councils are now 
required to have a Local Area Agreement (LAA) and, from next year, it is 
expected to be the delivery plan for the Community Strategy.  In addition, the 
development of the Tower Hamlets’ Children and Young People’s Plan has had 
a significant impact on the Partnership and planning processes.  Although the 
Tower Hamlets Community Plan has served the Partnership well and proved to 
be fit for purpose, 2007-08 will be used to fully review the Plan and consider how 
it should be developed to meet changing local needs and national imperatives.  
This refresh process will allow the Partnership to develop a renewed vision for 
Tower Hamlets looking towards 2020 and incorporate fully significant local 
developments such as Olympic and Paralympic preparations.  The involvement 
of local residents will be central to the Community Strategy review with 
consultation and engagement activities beginning in July 2007. 

  
3.6 This year’s plan has been developed with this context in mind.  For example, 

work has been undertaken to ensure that the 2007-08 Community Plan 
promises agreed by Community Plan Action Groups (CPAGs) are aligned with 
the LAA’s priority outcomes and targets.  In addition, the draft Community Plan 
highlights where priorities and targets are also monitored by the Children and 
Young People’s Strategic Partnership Group.  The refresh process will provide 
an opportunity for the Partnership to consider fully its governance arrangements 

Page 58



and agree how planning and performance reporting arrangements can be 
aligned to LAA and other local priorities.   

  
3.7 It is a government requirement that decisions on the allocation of the NRF be 

agreed through Local Strategic Partnerships – the Tower Hamlets Partnership in 
the case of Tower Hamlets. The broad allocation framework for 2006-08 has 
been agreed through the Partnership and endorsed by Council through the 
respective budget processes for those years.  

  
3.8 The figures reported in Appendix 2 for expenditure in 2006-07 are subject to final 

ratification at the closure of accounts. They reflect the allocation that was agreed 
by the Partnership and confirms spend on the agreed priorities. 

  
3.9 While decisions about the allocation of NRF must be agreed by the Local 

Strategic Partnership, the Council is the Accountable Body for the Fund. The 
Council therefore needs to ensure that the framework and process for its 
allocation will result in all NRF initiatives being commissioned and accounted for 
in accordance with Council’s financial regulations, and that its responsibilities as 
an Accountable Body are effectively fulfilled.  

  
3.10 The Tower Hamlets Community Plan to 2010: Year 7 (2007-08), as part of the 

Council’s Policy Framework, is a matter which is reserved to full Council for 
decision under Article 4 of the Council’s Constitution, as amended, and as 
recommended by the Secretary of State. 

  
4. BUDGET AND POLICY FRAMEWORK PROCEDURE RULES 
  
4.1 The Community Plan falls under the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework 

and must be approved by Full Council (on 20th June 2007).  This also requires 
that Overview and Scrutiny Committee has ten days to comment on the 
Community Plan before it is considered by Cabinet.  Cabinet then consider the 
Plan and make recommendations to Full Council, taking account of any 
comments from Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  The preparation of this 
report complies with this process. 

  
5. REPORT  
  
5.1 The Community Plan Year 7 provides a report on progress in Year 6 of the 

Community Plan, identifying what was achieved in 2006 – 2007. It also details 
the priorities and specific targets for Year 7 of the Plan – the year to April 2008. 

  
5.2 
 
 

The final plan will be approved by the members of the Tower Hamlets 
Partnership Management Group and published by the end of June 2007.  
 

5.3 Appendix 2 sets out the process and priorities for the allocation of the 
Neighbourhood Renewal Fund in 2007/2008. 

  
6. CONSULTATION 
  

Page 59



6.1 Consultation on the priorities of the Community Plan and neighbourhood 
renewal was conducted with all key partners of the Tower Hamlets Partnership 
and through Directorates’ service planning arrangements.  

  
7. COMMENTS OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
  
7.1 This year's Community Plan sets out local priorities and specific targets for the 

year ahead for the Council and its key partners. The plan sets out a framework 
for allocating and directing financial resources both for the year ahead and the 
medium term, so that resources are aligned with priorities. 

  
7.2 The report also details the provisional outturn for the Neighbourhood Renewal 

Fund for 2006/07 and sets out arrangements for the use and allocation of grant 
in 2007/08 (Appendix 2). 

  
8. CONCURRENT REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE (LEGAL) 
  
8.1 Section 4(1) of the Local Government Act 2000 imposes a duty on local 

authorities to prepare a community strategy for "promoting or improving the 
economic, social and environmental well-being of their area." 

  
8.2 Under section 4(2) a local authority has the power to modify the community 

strategy to reflect changes in local needs. In preparing or modifying its 
community strategy, a local authority must consult and seek the participation "of 
such persons as they consider appropriate" and have regard to any guidance 
issued by the Secretary of State. 

  
8.3 Article 4 of the Council's Constitution provides that the Community Strategy 

forms part of the Council’s policy framework which must be approved by full 
Council.  The process for developing the framework contained in Rule 2 of the 
Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules provides that recommendations 
to Council shall be submitted by Cabinet which shall have taken account of the 
responses received to the consultation and the views of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee.  This report facilitates compliance with this procedure. 

  
9. EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES IMPLICATIONS  
  
9.1 Equal opportunities are embedded in the Community Plan and to the power to 

promote and improve well-being. In seeking to make Tower Hamlets a place to 
live safely and well, a place for creating and sharing prosperity, a place for 
learning, achievement and enjoyment and a place for excellent public services, 
accessible to all, the Community Plan aims to fulfil the Council's stated vision of 
improving the quality of life for all who live and work in Tower Hamlets.  

  
10. ANTI-POVERTY IMPLICATIONS 
  
10.1 The Community Plan and Neighbourhood Renewal Strategy is the key vehicle 

for delivering the inclusive vision of the Tower Hamlets Partnership. It 
specifically seeks to ensure that minimum standards of quality of life are 

Page 60



achieved for all communities in the borough. 
  
11. SUSTAINABLE ACTION FOR A GREENER ENVIRONMENT 
  
11.1 The Community Plan explicitly embraces objectives, activities, and milestones 

that are consistent with the Council's policies in this area. 
  
12. RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 
  
12.1 The Community Plan provides a clear, public statement of the Tower Hamlets 

Partnership’s strategic priorities. It also sets out the key performance indicators 
(KPIs), targets, and milestones against which the performance of the public 
services – including Council services – can be assessed.  

  
12.2 Since the Community Plan is reflected in the service plans and resource 

allocation of all the service providers in the borough, financial and other service 
risks within the Council are carried by individual Directorates. However, failure to 
achieve the substantive goals of the Community Plan would place the reputation 
of the Council at risk, both locally and nationally. These Partnership risks are 
managed through the processes set out in the Council’s Partnership Risk 
Management framework. 

  
12.3 The risks associated with the NRF are assessed and challenged by a rigorous 

appraisal process for each NRF funded initiative and managed through the NRF 
Programme Management and Accountabilities Framework.  

  
  
Appendices: 
• Appendix 1: Tower Hamlets Community Plan to 2010: Year 7 (2007-08) 
 
• Appendix 2: Neighbourhood Renewal Fund: outturns for 2006-7 and priorities, 

processes and accountabilities for 2007-08.  
 

Page 61



Page 62

This page is intentionally left blank



Committee: 
 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee  
 

Date: 
 
5 June 2007 

Classification: 
 
Unrestricted 
 
 

Report No: Agenda 
Item: 

Report of:  
Chief Executive  
 
Originating officer(s)  
Alan Steward, Interim Head of Strategy 
and Performance 

Title:  
The Council's Strategic Plan 2006 – 2011: 
Year 2 Implementation Plan (2007/08), Year 1 
Annual Report and Best Value Performance Plan 
 
Wards Affected: All 

 
 
1. Summary 
  
1.1 This report provides the Implementation Plan for Year 2 (2007/08) of the Council’s 

Strategic Plan for the period 2006-2011. It also includes the Best Value Performance 
Plan, which incorporates the Annual Report on Year 1 (2006/07). 

 
It will be considered by Cabinet on 6 June 2007 with the final, integrated document 
going to full Council on 20th June. 

 
2. Recommendations  
  
2.1 That the Overview and Scrutiny Committee consider the Council's Strategic Plan 2006 

– 2011: Year 2 Implementation Plan (2007/08) and Best Value Performance Plan and 
provide any comments or advice to Cabinet on 6 June 2007.  

 
 
 
 
 

 
Local Government Act, 1972 Section 100d (As Amended) 

List of  “Background Papers” used in the preparation of this report 
 

Brief description of  “background 
papers” 

Name and telephone number of holder  
and address where open to inspection. 

• The Community Plan to 2010: Year 6 
• The Council's Strategic Plan for 2006 

– 2000: Year 1 

Alan Steward       020 7364 3186 
Mulberry Place, 
5 Clove Crescent, 
London E14 2BG  

 

Agenda Item 9.2

Page 63



 2 

3. Background 
  
3.1 The Council’s Strategic Plan is the Council’s core planning document, setting out the 

Council's vision for Tower Hamlets, and providing the strategic planning framework 
through which the Council aims to meet local priorities as agreed through the 
community planning process required under the Local Government Act 2000. The 
Strategic Plan provides the over-arching plan that links the service plans of each 
Directorate of the Council to broader corporate goals.  

  
3.2 The Council’s second Strategic Plan covers the period from April 2006 to March 2011.  

It is updated annually to incorporate an implementation plan for each of the 
intervening years. The Strategic Plan proposed in this report contains an 
implementation plan for Year 2, setting out key objectives and activities for the year 
April 2007 to March 2008, along with targets and progress milestones to support 
effective monitoring and evaluation. 

  
3.3 As in previous years, the Strategic Plan and Best Value Performance Plan (BVPP) will 

be brought together into a single document by the end of June 2007 once the 
information needed to meet the statutory requirements of the BVPP is available. This 
supports rationalisation of our planning processes and ensures consistency. 

  
3.4 Some amendments to the detail of the Strategic Plan will be necessary as additional 

information becomes available before final publication, particularly for outcome figures 
and new targets for the Performance Indicators. These will not however, materially 
affect the key activities set out in the plan. 

 
 The Year 2 Implementation Plan and the Council’s Best Value Performance Plan 

(BVPP) will be integrated into a single revision of the Strategic Plan, incorporating an 
Annual Report on how we performed against the first year of the Strategic Plan 2006-
11. It is a statutory requirement for the BVPP to be published by 30 June 2007.  The 
BVPP is included at Appendix 2. 

   
4. Report  
 
4.1 The outline framework for the Council’s Strategic Plan to 2011 and an Implementation 

Plan for Year 2 (April 2007 – March 2008) is attached at Appendix One.  The 
Implementation Plan is an action plan for the period April 2007 – March 2008, with 
most activities and targets reflecting that timescale. 

  
4.2 The Plan also highlights the key performance indicators for our priorities, current 

performance levels, comparisons with London and national benchmarks and targets 
for improvement. These will be updated as information becomes available prior to 
publication by the statutory deadline of 30th June. 

  
 These key performance indicators and targets represent a mixture of national and 

local targets, reflecting our key local priorities including the borough’s Local Area 
Agreement (LAA) 2006 to 2009 and Local Public Service Agreement (Local PSA) 
2005 to 2008. 

  
4.4 The Council's Strategic Plan is Member-led, reflects community needs, involves and 

informs staff, and is set within the Council’s contribution to partnerships and other joint 

Page 64



 3 

initiatives. In addition to the Community Plan, many other statutory and local plans will 
both inform and be informed by the Strategic Plan. These include, for example, the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy, Capital Strategy and Asset Management Plan, the 
Crime and Drugs Reduction Strategy, the Housing Investment Programme Strategy, 
the Improving Health and Wellbeing Strategy, the Children and Young People’s Plan, 
the Local Development Framework, the Regeneration Strategy, and many others. 

  
4.5 The Council uses the Strategic Plan as a vehicle for monitoring and reviewing 

Council-wide performance and ensuring that future decisions are informed by results. 
Corporate Planning and review processes identify competing demands that may arise 
between different service priorities in order to ensure that corporate aims and 
objectives can be implemented. 

  
4.6 The Annual Report on progress against the Strategic Plan, incorporating the statutorily 

required Best Value Performance Plan (BVPP) is attached at Appendix Two. It forms 
an Annex to the coming year’s Strategic Plan. 

 
4.7 The Best Value Performance Plan sets out our 2006/07 performance against all 

BVPIs, LAA, LPSA targets and other key indicators within the Audit Commission’s 
CPA assessment and is attached at Appendix Three. As required by statute, it lists 
targets for all indicators for 2007/08, 2008/09 and 2009/10.  In addition, it provides a 
commentary on the reasons for failing or exceeding targets by 10% or more. It also 
includes summary information on financial performance in 2006/07. 

  
5. Consultation 
  
5.1 Consultation on the Strategic Plan has been extensive and on-going during the year, 

through a range of mechanisms. These include: 
• engagement of all key stakeholders through the Tower Hamlets Partnership in 

developing priorities for the Community Plan and Local Area Agreement 
• a wide-ranging consultation on budget priorities, areas for improvement and 

Council Tax 
• the Annual Residents Survey and Best Value Survey 
• Members’ Seminar 
• various consultations through the Tower Hamlets Residents Panel 
• service consultations and user networks through individual Directorates 

 
The outcomes of these are reflected in the Strategic Plan. 

 
6. Comments of Chief Financial Officer 
  
6.1 This report seeks approval to the Strategic Plan and its implementation for the year 

ahead.  The plan sets out the framework for allocating and directing financial 
resources both for the year ahead and the medium term, so that resources are aligned 
with priorities. 

  
6.2 This year’s plan was developed in tandem with the 2007/08 revenue budgets and 

capital programme, and medium-term financial projections. The strategic planning 
goals are taken into account in setting these financial plans and the priorities outlined 
in this document are reflected within them. 

  

Page 65



 4 

6.3 The plan also includes a number of activities to maintain and further improve the 
quality of the authority's financial management and use of resources. Without sound 
financial management, including achievement of value for money, the achievement of 
the authority's strategic priorities would be hampered.  

  
6.4 Provision exists within the Chief Executive’s Directorate Budget for the costs of 

publishing the document. 
  
7. Concurrent Report of the Assistant Chief Executive (Legal) 
  
7.1 The Council’s Best Value Performance Plan (BVPP) which is appended to the 

Strategic Plan forms part of the Policy Framework and is required to be approved by 
full Council. 

 
7.2 Section 6 Local Government Act 1999 requires the Council to prepare a BVPP for 

each year in accordance with regulations and guidance issued by the Secretary of 
State.  A summary of the BVPP for 2007/08 must be published by 31 March 2007 and 
the full plan by 30 June 2007. 

 
7.3 The Strategic Plan is not required by statute to be approved by Council which has 

discretion in that respect. 
  
8. Equal Opportunities Implications 
  
8.1 Equalities considerations are central to the inclusive vision of the Council and its 

partners in the Tower Hamlets Partnership and their promotion and support are fully 
reflected in the Strategic Plan. It represents the Council’s service delivery 
commitments to improve the quality of life for all who live and work in Tower Hamlets 
and includes specific actions targeted at the different equalities groups. 

 
 An Equalities Impact Assessment on the Plan completed in January 2005 confirmed 

the comprehensive focus on equalities issues in the strategic planning process, and 
its recommendations for monitoring a broad range of equalities indicators are reflected 
in the proposed Plan.  

  
9 Anti-Poverty Implications 
  
9.1 The Strategic Plan is the Council’s key vehicle for delivering the inclusive vision of the 

Council and its partners and reflects the borough’s Community Plan and strategy for 
neighbourhood renewal, which is intended to make sure that minimum standards of 
quality of life are achieved for all communities in the borough. 

  
10 Sustainable Action for a Greener Environment 
  
10.1 The Strategic Plan embodies objectives, activities and milestones that work to create 

a greener more sustainable environment, particularly within the Living Safely and 
Learning Achievement and Leisure themes. 

  
11 Risk Management Implications 
  

Page 66



 5 

11.1 The Strategic Plan provides a clear, public statement of the Council’s strategic 
priorities, which fully reflect the views of the Tower Hamlets Partnership, including 
local residents. The Plan also sets out the key performance indicators, targets and 
milestones against which the Council’s performance can be assessed. 

  
11.2 Since the Strategic Plan is reflected in the service plans and resource allocation of all 

Directorates, financial and other services risks are carried by individual Directorates. 
These are reflected in the Council-wide and Directorate risk registers. 

  
Appendices: 
• Appendix 1: Council’s Strategic Plan 2006 – 2011: Year 2 implementation plan 
• Appendix 2: Year 1 Annual Report 
• Appendix 3: Best Value Performance Plan 
 

 

Page 67



Page 68

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 
    
    
  

COMMITTEE 
 
Overview and 
Scrutiny 

DATE 
 
5 June 2007 

CLASSIFICATION 
 
Unrestricted 
 

REPORT 
NO. 

AGENDA 
ITEM  

REPORT OF: 
 
Assistant Chief Executive 
 
ORIGINATING OFFICER(S):    
Michael Keating 
Service Head, Scrutiny and Equalities 
 

TITLE:  
Equalities Action Plan 2006/07: 
End of Year Monitoring Report 

 
WARD(S) AFFECTED:  All 

 

 

1. Summary 
 
1.1 This end of year monitoring report informs Overview and Scrutiny Committee of the 

Council's progress in implementing its Equalities Action Plan for 2006/7 (see Appendix 
1). 

 
2. Recommendation 
 

Members are recommended to: 
 
2.1 Note and comment on the progress in implementing the Council’s Equalities Action 

Plan 2006/07. 
 

2.2 Identify opportunities for further development or action. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT, 2000 (SECTION 97) 
LIST OF “BACKGROUND PAPERS” USED IN THE  DRAFTING OF THIS REPORT 
 
Brief description of background papers: 
 
Equalities Action Plan 2006/07 agreed by 
Cabinet on 7 June 2006 
 
Equalities Action Plan 2006/07 six monthly 
monitoring report, Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, 9 January and 6 March 2007 
 
 
 

 
Name and telephone number of holder and 
address where open to inspection 
 
Michael Keating 
Service Head, Scrutiny and Equalities 
020 7364 3183 

Agenda Item 10.1

Page 69



Page 2 
    
    
  

 
3. Background 
 
3.1 The Equality Standard for local government is designed to ensure that local authorities 

consider gender, race and disability equality issues at all levels of council policy and 
practice.  To achieve the Equality Standard, authorities self-assess and evaluate 
progress on equalities issues using 5 levels of criteria.  Each level, 5 being the 
highest, has to be achieved in turn across the authority.  Tower Hamlets is a Level 5 
authority and this was validated by external auditors in 2006.  In recognition of this the 
Council was the first local authority to be awarded the Equality Mark. 

 
3.2 The Equality Standard provides the framework for the Equalities Action Plan which 

helps the Council ensure a comprehensive and systematic approach to dealing with 
equality issues through four crosscutting themes: 

• Leadership and Corporate Commitment 

• Consultation, Community Development and Scrutiny 

• Service Delivery and Customer Care 

• Employment and Training 
 
3.3 The Equalities Action Plan has also been the vehicle for driving forward the Council’s 

ambitious diversity agenda with regard to the Race Equality Scheme and it also 
ensures compliance with the existing equalities legislation including legislation on age, 
gender and disability. 

 
3.4 The Equalities Action Plan includes mechanisms for evaluating and reviewing 

objectives to ensure they continue to reflect local needs and are responsive to 
change.  For example the Plan includes specific objectives such as the monitoring of 
equality service targets in service plans and the incorporation of feedback from 
customer complaints and compliments to be used in the forward planning for the 
annually revised action plan.  

 
4. Embedding equalities across the Council 
 
4.1 Both the Equality Standard and Equalities Action Plan represent a tool that can bring 

about change, but this can only be achieved through an active engagement in the 
processes it sets out.  To achieve this the Council has embedded equality priorities 
across directorates through the Council’s performance management framework.  A 
basket of key Equalities Performance Indicators is in place, reflecting guidance from 
the Audit Commission, the Commission for Racial Equality and the Department for 
Communities and Local Government.  The outcomes from the whole range of 
indicators will form the foundation of the 2007/08 Action Plan which is currently being 
prepared and will be presented to Members later in the summer. 

 
4.2 Underpinning much of the Council’s implementation of a major programme of 

Equalities Impact Assessments (EqIAs) covering gender, race, faith, disability, 
sexuality and age.  Last year 51 assessments were carried out against a target of 42. 

 
4.3 In their report the Level 5 auditors described the ability of Tower Hamlets’ officers to 

understand how equalities and diversity impacts upon service delivery and the 
challenges that are raised.  They saw this as illustration of the extent to which 
equalities is embedded within the culture of the organisation.  Maintaining and 
developing this will be crucial to the future success of the borough. 

Page 70



Page 3 
    
    
  

 
5. Monitoring 
 
5.1 The Equalities Action Plan is reviewed every six months and progress is measured for 

each key activity. The EAP 2006-7 covered the period April 2006 to March 2007 and 
the full progress report is attached at Appendix 1. 

 
5.2 This report is the end of year evaluation report and as such the milestones are 

allocated one of two performance levels: 
 

RED  Progress milestone not achieved; deadline has expired 
GREEN Milestone achieved 
 

5.3 As Table 1 shows, the Council's progress on implementing the Action Plan is good.  
Of the 219 milestones set for the year, 185 (or 84%) were achieved.  Table 2 provides 
a breakdown by directorate.  In the monitoring report presented to Members in 
January, and updated in March, 23% of milestones were either at red or amber status.  
The outcome has therefore addressed some of those issues although not completely 
successfully.   
 
Table 1: All progress milestones 2006/7 by status: 
 
Status Number % 
RED 34 16 
GREEN 185 84 

Total 219 100 
 

Table 2: Progress Milestone status broken down by Directorate: 
 
Directorate RED %  GREEN % Total 

Milestones 
Crosscutting  0 0  11 5 11 
Chief Executive’s 23 10.5  69 31 92 

Environment & 
Culture 

2 1  11 5 13 

Development & 
Renewal 

0 0  11 5 11 

Housing 0 0  16 7 16 
Children’s 
Services 

1 0.5  50 23 51 

Adult Services 8 4  17 8 25 
TOTALS 34 16  185 84 219 

 

Page 71



Page 4 
    
    
  

5.4 It is important that the reasons for red milestones are fully understood so that barriers 
to performance can be addressed.  Table 3 summarises the broad reasons for failing 
to achieve milestones by the due date.  
 
Table 3: Reasons for red milestones in % terms 

 
Reason % of all red 
Action still being progressed but timescale slipped 62 
Awaiting action or guidance from other organisation 12 
Milestone being reviewed by CPAG, LAL , CMT or others 6 

Failure to meet a specified quantitative target 20 
 
5.5 Most (62%) were because action was still being progressed but the timescale had 

slipped and are therefore being carried forward into 2007/08.  For instance the staff 
survey was originally planned for 2006/07 but, after further consideration, it was 
decided that April/May would be a better time of the year to undertake the work.  By 
doing so the response rate achieved was 46%.  Analysis of the results will help inform 
the new plan.  Reorganisation within the Council, particularly the creation of Children’s 
and Adults services has also delayed the implementation of the some the actions.  In 
other cases, for example the review of interpreting and translation, interim 
arrangements have been put in place which appear to be working effectively and 
therefore allow more time to consider the implications for further developing the 
service requirements.  It is important to note that no proposed action has been aborted 
but that all the outturn will be used to develop new policies and service solutions in the 
coming year. 

 
6. Conclusion 
 
6.1 The progress report demonstrates that the Council is continuing to make good 

progress with the implementation of its equalities agenda.  As reported to Members in 
March the last year has seen significant legislative and policy changes in the overall 
diversity and equality agenda, for example the Disability and Gender Equality 
Schemes and the formation of the new Commission for Equalities and Human Rights.  
Revised guidance about the Level 5 Standard has also just been published.   

 
6.2 In addition debate at Overview and Scrutiny has highlighted the need to ensure that 

the Plan is refreshed as a useful strategic tool to enable Members to assess the 
Council’s work easily.  Work is currently being undertaken to link the Plan to other key 
policies via Excelsis, the Council’s performance management software.  This aim to 
further strengthen and embed equalities and diversity in the ‘golden thread’ running 
from the Strategic Plan right down to individual work plans.  The new Equalities Action 
Plan will therefore be revised to accommodate both local and national changes and 
will be presented to Members later in the summer.  The Council is also currently 
reconfiguring its Corporate Equalities team to finalise this work and facilitate its 
implementation. 

 
7 Equalities Implications 
 
7.1 By incorporating national standards and legislation, such as the Race Relations 

Amendment Act, the integrated Equalities Action Plan represents an important step in 
progressing the Council’s equality and diversity agenda. The monitoring report 

Page 72



Page 5 
    
    
  

demonstrates the Council's good progress towards integrating equality and diversity 
into all aspects of service delivery and employment practice. 

 
7.2 This report demonstrates the progress being made with creating an environment in 

which everyone who lives and works in our borough is treated with dignity and respect 
and where everyone can improve their life chances and access the increasing 
opportunities on offer. 

 
8 Comments from the Chief Finance Officer 
 
8.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.  Service design and 

provision give consideration to equalities issues and Directorate budgets reflect this.  
The costs of implementing the Equalities Action Plan have been met from the 
respective budgets. 

 
9 Concurrent Report of the Chief Legal Officer 
 
9.1 The European Union Race Directive 2000/43 (published in June 2000) prohibits 

discrimination on the grounds of race and ethnic origin by laying down "the principle of 
equal treatment between persons irrespective of racial or ethnic origin".  

 
9.2 In November 2000, the European Union published the Equal Treatment Framework 

Directive 2000/78. This Directive sets out the anti-discrimination "principle of equal 
treatment" in the context of sexual orientation, religion or belief, disability and age. 
This Directive was implemented on 2 December 2006 in relation to disability and age.   

 
9.3 The Government consultation paper "Towards Equality and Diversity-Implementing 

the Employment Race Directive" (2001) indicated the Government’s intention to 
implement the Directives by amendment to the Race Relations Act 1976 and the 
Disability Discrimination Act 1995. The consultation paper also referred to the 
Government's intention to introduce legislation to prohibit discrimination in work and 
training on the grounds of sexual orientation, religion and age.  The Employment 
Equality (Sexual Orientation) Regulations 2003 and the Employment Equality 
(Religion and Belief) Regulations 2003 were enacted with effect from 1 and 2 
December 2003 respectively and transpose the phase 1 provisions of the Directive 
into UK law.  The Employment Equality (Age) Regulations 2006 gave effect to the 
provisions on age discrimination with effect from 1 October 2006. 

 
9.4 The Race Relations (Amendment) Act 2000 strengthens the Race Relations Act 1976 

by extending protection against racial discrimination by public authorities and by 
placing a duty on public authorities to have regard to the need to eliminate unlawful 
discrimination and to promote racial equality and good race relations. 

 
9.5 The Equalities Action Plan 2006/07 was formulated having regard to and in 

compliance with legislation, and set out the Council's intentions in respect of equality.  
Regular monitoring and review of the plan enables the Council to maintain compliance 
with statutory requirements as well as measuring progress in relation to non-statutory 
aspects. 

 
10 Sustainable Action for a Greener Environment 
 
10.1 There are no specific issues relating to the environment raised in this report. 

Page 73



Page 6 
    
    
  

 
11 Anti Poverty Comments 
 
11.1 The integrated Equalities Action Plan aims to tackle the barriers currently preventing 

some of the most disadvantaged people and marginalised communities in our 
borough from accessing services and take part in community life.  The equalities 
agenda aims to enable all residents to benefit from the opportunities and improved life 
chances on offer and enable them to participate in creating and sharing prosperity in 
the borough. 

 
12 Risk Management Implications 
 
12.1 The Equalities Action Plan provides a focus for all the Council’s equalities work, and a 

means by which Members can ensure that each of the progress milestones are 
achieved.   The arrangements in place to review progress during the year through the 
Corporate Equalities Steering Group and the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, are 
considered to be effective ways of keeping this work on track. 

 
12.2 There have been major changes in equalities legislation over the last year and further 

sweeping changes are expected.  The Equalities Action Plan and its monitoring 
ensure the Council is well-placed to respond to these forthcoming measures and 
retain its status as a leader in equality and diversity. 

 

Page 74



L
o

n
d

o
n

 B
o

ro
u

g
h

 o
f 

T
o

w
e
r 

H
a
m

le
ts

E
N

D
 O

F
 Y

E
A

R
 R

E
V

IE
W

E
Q

U
A

L
IT

IE
S

 A
C

T
IO

N
 P

L
A

N
 2

0
0
6
/7

(P
a

rt
 o

f 
th

e
 C

o
u

n
c
il'

s
 D

iv
e
rs

it
y
 a

n
d
 R

a
c
e
 E

q
u
a
lit

y
 S

c
h
e

m
e
)

M
a

y
 2

0
0

7

Page 75



IN
T

R
O

D
U

C
T

IO
N

P
a
g
e
 3

K
E

Y
P

a
g
e
 4

P
L
A

N
P

a
g
e
 5

C
O

N
T

E
N

T
S

L
o
n
d
o
n
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
 o

f 
T

o
w

e
r 

H
a
m

le
ts

2
E

q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 A

c
ti
o
n
 P

la
n
 2

0
0
6
/7

Page 76



T
h
e
 S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 P
la

n
 p

ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 a

re
 

P
ro

p
o

s
e
d

 o
u

tc
o

m
e
s
 f

o
r 

2
0
0
6
 -

 2
0
1
1

1
. 
A

 c
le

a
n
e
r,

 g
re

e
n
e
r,

 s
a
fe

r 
T

o
w

e
r 

H
a
m

le
ts

2
. 
D

e
c
e
n
t 
h
o
m

e
s
 i
n
 d

e
c
e
n
t 
n
e
ig

h
b
o
u
rh

o
o
d
s

3
. 
H

e
a
lt
h
ie

r 
c
o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
 

4
. 
Im

p
ro

v
e
d
 o

u
tc

o
m

e
s
 f
o
r 

v
u
ln

e
ra

b
le

 c
h
ild

re
n
 a

n
d
 a

d
u
lt
s

5
. 
S

e
c
u
ri
n
g
 s

u
s
ta

in
a
b
le

 c
o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s

6
. 
In

c
re

a
s
e
d
 l
o
c
a
l 
e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t

7
. 
In

c
re

a
s
e
d
 e

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
tt
a
in

m
e
n
t

8
. 
In

c
re

a
s
e
d
 p

a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 s

p
o
rt

in
g
, 
le

is
u
re

 a
n
d
 c

u
lt
u
ra

l 
a
c
ti
v
it
ie

s

9
. 
E

ff
ic

ie
n
t 
a
n
d
 e

ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s

1
0
. 
L
o
c
a
lly

 f
o
c
u
s
e
d
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 e

m
p
o
w

e
ri
n
g
 l
o
c
a
l 
p
e
o
p
le

1
1
. 
S

tr
o
n
g
e
r 

a
n
d
 m

o
re

 c
o
h
e
s
iv

e
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s

1
2
. 
Im

p
ro

v
e
d
 e

q
u
a
lit

y
 o

f 
o
p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
y

T
h

e
 a

c
ti
v
it
ie

s
 l
in

k
in

g
 i
n

 w
it
h

 t
h

e
 N

a
ti
o

n
a

l 
E

q
u

a
lit

y
 S

ta
n

d
a

rd
 f

o
r 

L
o

c
a

l 
G

o
v
e

rn
m

e
n

ts
 a

re
 n

u
m

b
e

re
d

 i
n

 l
in

e
 w

it
h

 t
h

e
 S

ta
n

d
a

rd
 i
n

 t
h

e
 c

o
lu

m
n

 e
n

ti
tl
e

d
 E

S

T
h

e
 a

c
ti
v
it
ie

s
 l
in

k
in

g
 i
n

 w
it
h

 t
h

e
 M

u
lt
i 
A

g
e

n
c
y
 R

e
fu

g
e

e
 S

tr
a

te
g

y
 a

re
 t

ic
k
e

d
 i
n

 t
h

e
 c

o
lu

m
n

 e
n

ti
tl
e

d
 M

A
R

S

T
h

e
 a

c
ti
v
it
ie

s
 l
in

k
in

g
 i
n

 w
it
h

 o
u

r 
R

a
c
e

 E
q

u
a

lit
y
 S

c
h

e
m

e
 a

re
 t

ic
k
e

d
 i
n

 t
h

e
 c

o
lu

m
n

 e
n

ti
tl
e

d
 R

E
S

.

IN
T

R
O

D
U

C
T

IO
N

L
o
n
d
o
n
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
 o

f 
T

o
w

e
r 

H
a
m

le
ts

3
E

q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 A

c
ti
o
n
 P

la
n
 2

0
0
6
/7

Page 77



C
E

C
h
ie

f 
E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
s

C
H

S
C

h
ild

re
n
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s

D
R

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
&

 R
e
n
e
w

a
l

E
C

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t 
&

 C
u
lt
u
re

H
H

o
u
s
in

g
A

S
A

d
u
lt
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s

E
S

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
E

q
u
a
lit

y
 S

ta
n
d
a
rd

R
E

S
R

a
c
e
 E

q
u
a
lit

y
 S

c
h
e
m

e

E
IA

E
q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 I
m

p
a
c
t 
A

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t

D
D

A
D

is
a
b
ili

ty
 D

is
c
ri
m

in
a
ti
o
n
 A

c
t

D
E

L
O

S
D

ir
e
c
to

ra
te

 E
q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 L

ia
is

o
n
 O

ff
ic

e
rs

B
V

P
I

B
e
s
t 
V

a
lu

e
 P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 I
n
d
ic

a
to

r

K
E

Y

L
o
n
d
o
n
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
 o

f 
T

o
w

e
r 

H
a
m

le
ts

4
E

q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 A

c
ti
o
n
 P

la
n
 2

0
0
6
/7

Page 78



E
q

u
a

li
ti

e
s

 A
c

ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 2
0

0
6

/0
7

 M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

 R
e

p
o

rt
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 1

D
E

S
R

E
S

K
E

Y
 A

C
T

IV
IT

Y
D

IR
K

E
Y

 M
IL

E
S

T
O

N
E

 &
 

C
O

M
P

L
E

T
IO

N
 D

A
T

E

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
L

E
A

D
 O

F
F

IC
E

R
T

R
A

F
F

IC
 L

IG
H

T
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 T

O
 3

1
 M

a
rc

h
 

0
7

E
X

P
L

A
N

A
T

IO
N

 O
F

 

S
L

IP
P

A
G

E
/F

A
IL

U
R

E
 T

O
 M

E
E

T
 

T
A

R
G

E
T

R
E

M
E

D
IA

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

 

IN
C

L
U

D
IN

G
 N

E
W

 D
E

A
D

L
IN

E
S

S
E

R
V

IC
E

 D
E

L
IV

E
R

Y
 &

 C
U

S
T

O
M

E
R

 C
A

R
E

O
B

J
E

C
T

IV
E

 1
 -

 T
o

 d
e

m
o

n
s

tr
a

te
 t

h
a

t 
th

e
 a

u
th

o
ri

ty
 h

a
s

 

m
a

d
e

 r
e

a
l 

p
ro

g
re

s
s

 i
n

 a
c

h
ie

v
in

g
 e

q
u

a
li

ty
 i

n
 s

e
rv

ic
e

 

d
e

li
v

e
ry

R
e
p
o
rt

 p
ro

g
re

s
s
 w

it
h
 E

q
u
a
lit

y
 I
m

p
a
c
t 
A

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 
(E

IA
) 

a
c
ti
o
n
 p

la
n
s
 t
o
 d

ir
e
c
to

ra
te

 D
M

T
s
 

a
n
d
 m

o
n
it
o
r 

a
c
ti
o
n
 p

la
n
s
, 
a
n
d
 u

s
e
 E

IA
  
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 i
n
fo

rm
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

a
c
ti
v
it
ie

s

A
L
L

R
e
p
o
rt

 o
n
 p

ro
g
re

s
s
 t
o
 D

M
T

s
 b

y
 

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
6
 a

n
d
 M

a
rc

h
 0

7

E
IA

 r
e
s
u
lt
s
 a

re
 u

s
e
d
 t
o
 i
n
fo

rm
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 
a
c
ti
v
it
ie

s

D
E

L
O

S
G

R
E

E
N

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

R
e
v
ie

w
 t
h
e
 r

o
lli

n
g
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 o

f 
E

IA
s
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 D

e
lo

s
 (

D
ir
e
c
to

ra
te

 E
q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 L

ia
is

o
n
 

O
ff
ic

e
rs

) 
to

 a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
te

 s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 c

h
a
n
g
e
s

A
L
L

R
e
v
ie

w
 t
o
 b

e
 c

a
rr

ie
d
 o

u
t 
b
y
 M

a
y
 

0
6
 a

n
d
 n

e
w

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 t
o
 b

e
 

c
ir
c
u
la

te
d
 b

y
 J

u
ly

 0
6

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 o

f 
E

IA
s
 r

e
fl
e
c
ts

 t
h
e
 n

e
w

 

s
tr

u
c
tu

re

M
ic

h
a
e
l 
K

e
a
ti
n
g

G
R

E
E

N
N

e
w

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 i
s
 i
n
 

p
la

c
e
 a

n
d
 E

Q
IA

s
 d

u
e
 t
o
 b

e
 

c
o
m

p
le

te
d
 b

y
 M

a
y
 0

7

P
u
b
lis

h
 s

ix
 m

o
n
th

ly
 m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 r

e
p
o
rt

 o
n
 t
h
e
 E

q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 A

c
ti
o
n
 P

la
n
 f
o
r 

O
v
e
rv

ie
w

 &
 S

c
ru

ti
n
y
 

a
n
d
 f
o
r 

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
 E

q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 S

te
e
ri
n
g
 G

ro
u
p
 (

C
E

S
G

) 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 a

 s
u
m

m
a
ry

 o
f 
a
c
h
ie

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 

m
a
d
e

C
E

R
e
p
o
rt

 p
u
b
lis

h
e
d
 b

y
 O

c
to

b
e
r 

0
6
 

9
0
%

 o
f 
a
c
ti
v
it
ie

s
 p

la
n
n
e
d
 a

re
 o

n
 t
ra

c
k
 

o
r 

c
o
m

p
le

te
d
 a

c
c
o
rd

in
g
 t
o
 a

g
re

e
d
 

m
ile

s
to

n
e
s

M
ic

h
a
e
l 
K

e
a
ti
n
g

R
E

D

P
u
b
lis

h
 C

o
rp

o
ra

te
 E

q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
  
In

d
ic

a
to

rs
 s

h
o
w

in
g
 y

e
a
r 

o
n
 y

e
a
r 

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

ta
k
in

g
 p

la
c
e

C
E

In
d
ic

a
to

rs
 p

u
b
lis

h
e
d
 b

y
 O

c
to

b
e
r 

0
6

P
Is

 s
h
o
w

 s
ig

n
if
ic

a
n
t 
im

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t

M
ic

h
a
e
l 
K

e
a
ti
n
g

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

R
e
v
ie

w
 t
ra

n
s
la

ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 i
n
te

rp
re

ti
n
g
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 p

ro
v
is

io
n

C
E

R
e
v
ie

w
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
 b

y
 S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
6

A
c
ti
o
n
 p

la
n
 b

a
s
e
d
 o

n
 r

e
v
ie

w
 

im
p
le

m
e
n
te

d
 b

y
 M

a
rc

h
 0

7

S
a
ti
s
fa

c
ti
o
n
 s

u
rv

e
y
 f
ro

m
 d

ir
e
c
to

ra
te

s
 

s
h
o
w

s
 "

g
o
o
d
" 

le
v
e
l 
o
f 
s
e
rv

ic
e
 p

ro
v
id

e
d
.

M
ic

h
a
e
l 
K

e
a
ti
n
g

R
E

D
R

e
v
ie

w
 n

o
t 
c
o
m

p
le

te
d

A
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 r

e
v
ie

w
 w

a
s
 c

a
rr

ie
d
 

o
u
t 
in

 t
im

e
, 
w

e
 n

e
e
d
e
d
 n

e
w

 

a
rr

a
n
g
e
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 b

e
 i
n
 p

la
c
e
 t
o
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
 f
u
tu

re
 a

c
ti
o
n
s

In
te

ri
m

 a
rr

a
n
g
e
m

e
n
ts

 a
re

 i
n
 

p
la

c
e
 (

N
e
w

h
a
m

 L
a
n
g
u
a
g
e
 

S
h
o
p
).

 T
o
 d

a
te

 t
h
e
s
e
 a

re
 

w
o
rk

in
g
 w

e
ll 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
re

fo
re

 t
h
e
 

re
v
ie

w
 w

ill
 b

e
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 

o
f 
th

e
 0

7
-0

8
 w

o
rk

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e

In
c
o
rp

o
ra

te
 E

IA
 p

ro
c
e
s
s
 i
n
to

 m
a
jo

r 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
p
ro

p
o
s
a
ls

D
R

E
IA

 c
o
m

p
le

te
d
 a

t 
p
re

-a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
 

s
ta

g
e
 -

 o
n
g
o
in

g

P
ro

g
re

s
s
 o

f 
a
 s

e
ri
e
s
 o

f 
m

a
jo

r 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
ts

 p
ro

p
o
s
a
ls

 w
h
ic

h
 s

e
c
u
re

 

b
e
n
e
fi
ts

, 
im

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 a
n
d
 

o
p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s
 f
o
r 

th
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y

O
w

e
n
 W

h
a
lle

y
G

R
E

E
N

In
c
o
rp

o
ra

te
 E

IA
 p

ro
c
e
s
s
 i
n
to

 g
u
id

a
n
c
e
 o

n
 d

e
liv

e
ri
n
g
 p

re
-a

p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
 a

d
v
ic

e
 f
o
r 

p
ro

p
o
s
a
ls

 

th
a
t 
m

e
e
t 
th

e
 G

L
A

 r
e
fe

rr
a
l 
th

re
s
h
o
ld

s
 a

n
d
 /
o
r 

o
f 
s
tr

a
te

g
ic

 i
m

p
o
rt

a
n
c
e

D
R

D
ra

ft
 p

ro
c
e
d
u
re

 n
o
te

 a
n
d
 s

e
t 
o
f 

to
o
ls

 i
n
c
lu

d
e
s
 E

IA
 -

 o
n
g
o
in

g

C
le

a
r 

p
ro

fe
s
s
io

n
a
l 
p
ro

c
e
s
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 

fo
r 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
e
rs

 a
n
d
 o

th
e
r 

a
p
p
lic

a
n
ts

w
it
h
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
ls

 f
o
r 

m
a
jo

r 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
ts

O
w

e
n
 W

h
a
lle

y
G

R
E

E
N

E
n
h
a
n
c
e
 p

ro
je

c
t 
m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 a

n
d
 t
ra

c
k
in

g
 i
n
 o

rd
e
r 

to
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy

 p
ro

g
re

s
s
 a

n
d
 e

n
s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 
ta

rg
e
t 

g
ro

u
p
s
 n

e
e
d
s
 a

re
 m

e
t 
a
n
d
 i
n
fo

rm
 d

e
c
is

io
n
 m

a
k
e
rs

D
R

R
e
v
ie

w
 I
T

 s
o
ft
w

a
re

 t
o
 e

n
s
u
re

 d
a
ta

 

is
 a

c
c
u
ra

te
 a

n
d
 s

e
c
u
re

b
y
 M

a
rc

h
 0

7

P
u
b
lis

h
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 d

a
ta

 w
it
h
 d

iv
e
rs

it
y
 

in
d
ic

a
to

rs
 i
n
 p

la
c
e

S
u
e
 H

in
d
s

G
R

E
E

N

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 m

a
n
a
g
e
 t
h
e
 d

e
liv

e
ry

 i
n
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 w
it
h
 p

ri
v
a
te

 a
n
d
 p

u
b
lic

 s
e
c
to

r 
s
ta

k
e
h
o
ld

e
rs

 

o
f 
m

a
s
te

rp
la

n
s
 f
o
r 

a
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
k
e
y
 s

it
e
s

D
R

E
IA

 a
 p

ro
je

c
t 
m

ile
s
to

n
e
 i
n
 

m
a
s
te

rp
la

n
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
6

C
o
m

p
le

te
 t
h
e
 f
ir
s
t 
p
h
a
s
e
 o

f 
k
e
y
 

m
a
s
te

rp
la

n
n
in

g
 d

o
c
u
m

e
n
ts

 a
n
d
 

e
s
ta

b
lis

h
 a

 c
le

a
r 

c
o
n
te

x
t 
fo

r 
th

e
 

n
e
g
o
ti
a
ti
o
n
 p

ro
c
e
s
s

O
w

e
n
 W

h
a
lle

y
G

R
E

E
N

R
e
p
re

s
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 e

n
s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 
e
q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 a

re
 a

d
d
re

s
s
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
's

 i
n
te

re
s
ts

 i
n
 

s
h
a
p
in

g
 t
h
e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
C

ro
s
s
ra

il,
 D

L
R

 (
3
 c

a
rs

) 
a
n
d
 E

a
s
t 
L
o
n
d
o
n
 L

in
e
 p

ro
je

c
ts

D
R

E
n
s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 
E

IA
s
 a

re
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n
 

a
s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
p
ro

je
c
t 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
a
t 

e
a
c
h
 k

e
y
 s

ta
g
e
 -

 o
n
g
o
in

g

P
ro

je
c
ts

 s
h
o
w

 c
le

a
r 

e
v
id

e
n
c
e
 o

f 
a
c
ti
o
n
 

to
 a

d
d
re

s
s
 e

q
u
a
lit

y
 i
s
s
u
e
s

O
w

e
n
 W

h
a
lle

y
G

R
E

E
N

R
e
v
ie

w
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 o

n
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 t
a
k
e
 u

p
 a

n
d
 c

u
s
to

m
e
r 

s
a
ti
s
fa

c
ti
o
n
 b

y
 d

iv
e
rs

it
y
 v

ia
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 H

e
a
lt
h
 C

h
e
c
k
 r

e
p
o
rt

s
 a

n
d
 u

s
e
 t
h
is

 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 i
n
fo

rm
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

a
c
ti
v
it
ie

s

H
A

ll 
H

e
a
lt
h
 C

h
e
c
k
s
  
re

p
o
rt

e
d
 t
o
 

D
M

T
 b

y
 M

a
rc

h
 0

7

R
e
s
u
lt
s
 a

re
 a

n
a
ly

s
e
d
 a

n
d
 u

s
e
d
 t
o
 

in
fo

rm
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 
a
c
ti
v
it
ie

s

L
e
s
le

y
 O

w
e
n

G
R

E
E

N

U
s
e
 r

e
s
u
lt
s
 f
ro

m
 m

y
s
te

ry
 s

h
o
p
p
in

g
 e

x
e
rc

is
e
s
, 
c
u
s
to

m
e
r 

s
a
ti
s
fa

c
ti
o
n
 s

u
rv

e
y
s
 a

n
d
 o

th
e
r 

fe
e
d
b
a
c
k
 f
o
ru

m
s
 t
o
 i
n
fo

rm
 f
u
rt

h
e
r 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 
a
c
ti
v
it
ie

s
 i
n
 h

o
u
s
in

g

H
S

e
rv

ic
e
 I
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 
G

ro
u
p
 

m
o
n
it
o
rs

 q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y

R
e
s
u
lt
s
 a

re
 a

n
a
ly

s
e
d
 a

n
d
 u

s
e
d
 t
o
 

in
fo

rm
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 
a
c
ti
v
it
ie

s

L
e
s
le

y
 O

w
e
n

G
R

E
E

N

L
o

n
d

o
n

 B
o

ro
u

g
h

 o
f 

T
o

w
e

r 
H

a
m

le
ts

1
E

A
P

 2
0

0
6

/7

Page 79



E
q

u
a

li
ti

e
s

 A
c

ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 2
0

0
6

/0
7

 M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

 R
e

p
o

rt
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 1

D
E

S
R

E
S

K
E

Y
 A

C
T

IV
IT

Y
D

IR
K

E
Y

 M
IL

E
S

T
O

N
E

 &
 

C
O

M
P

L
E

T
IO

N
 D

A
T

E

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
L

E
A

D
 O

F
F

IC
E

R
T

R
A

F
F

IC
 L

IG
H

T
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 T

O
 3

1
 M

a
rc

h
 

0
7

E
X

P
L

A
N

A
T

IO
N

 O
F

 

S
L

IP
P

A
G

E
/F

A
IL

U
R

E
 T

O
 M

E
E

T
 

T
A

R
G

E
T

R
E

M
E

D
IA

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

 

IN
C

L
U

D
IN

G
 N

E
W

 D
E

A
D

L
IN

E
S

T
a
c
k
le

 h
e
a
lt
h
 i
n
e
q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 b

y
 p

ro
m

o
ti
n
g
 h

e
a
lt
h
y
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
fo

r 
c
h
ild

re
n
 i
n
 p

u
b
lic

 c
a
re

 a
n
d
 

fo
r 

c
a
re

 l
e
a
v
e
rs

 b
y
:

• 
D

e
v
e
lo

p
in

g
 h

e
a
lt
h
 p

ro
m

o
ti
o
n
 i
n
it
ia

ti
v
e
s
 f
o
r 

c
h
ild

re
n
 i
n
 p

u
b
lic

 c
a
re

 

• 
D

e
v
e
lo

p
in

g
 h

e
a
lt
h
 p

ro
m

o
ti
o
n
 i
n
it
ia

ti
v
e
s
 f
o
r 

c
a
re

 l
e
a
v
e
rs

• 
C

o
n
ti
n
u
o
u
s
 a

c
ti
v
e
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

s
 w

it
h
 P

C
T

 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 L

o
o
k
e
d
 A

ft
e
r 

C
h
ild

re
n
 N

u
rs

e
s
, 

S
u
b
s
ta

n
c
e
 M

is
u
s
e
 i
n
it
ia

ti
v
e
s
 Y

o
u
n
g
 P

e
o
p
le

’s
 S

e
x
u
a
l 
H

e
a
lt
h
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s

• 
E

n
s
u
ri
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
S

o
c
ia

l 
W

o
rk

e
rs

 a
re

 a
w

a
re

 o
f 
a
n
d
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
ir
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
ib

ili
ti
e
s
 i
n
 r

e
la

ti
o
n
 t
o
 

h
e
a
lt
h
 o

f 
c
h
ild

re
n
 i
n
 p

u
b
lic

 c
a
re

• 
T

ra
c
k
in

g
 o

f 
p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 b

y
 T

e
a
m

 M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

a
n
d
 S

e
rv

ic
e
 M

a
n
a
g
e
r

C
H

S
A

t 
le

a
s
t 
8
5
%

 o
f 
c
h
ild

re
n
 l
o
o
k
e
d
 

a
ft
e
r 

h
a
v
e
 a

n
n
u
a
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
ts

 a
n
d
 d

e
n
ta

l 
c
h
e
c
k
s
 

o
n
 s

c
h
e
d
u
le

 t
h
ro

u
g
h
o
u
t 
th

e
 y

e
a
r 

to
 M

a
rc

h
 0

7

D
ra

ft
e
d
 b

y
 S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
6
 I
n
 

o
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
 b

y
 J

a
n
u
a
ry

 0
7

D
ra

ft
e
d
 b

y
 J

u
n
e
 0

6
 I
n
 o

p
e
ra

ti
o
n
 b

y
 

O
c
to

b
e
r 

0
6

R
e
v
ie

w
e
d
 q

u
a
rt

e
rl
y

R
e
v
ie

w
e
d
 m

o
n
th

ly

S
u
rv

e
y
 c

a
re

 l
e
a
v
e
rs

 p
e
rc

e
p
ti
o
n
 o

f 

a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 h

e
a
th

 a
d
v
ic

e
 /
g
u
id

a
n
c
e
 

in
c
lu

d
e
 c

h
ild

re
n
 w

it
h
 d

is
a
b
ili

ti
e
s
 b

y
 

M
a
rc

h
 0

7

E
a
c
h
 C

h
ild

 i
n
 P

u
b
lic

 C
a
re

 a
g
e
d
 1

1
 o

r 

o
ld

e
r 

h
a
s
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 h

e
a
lt
h
y
 l
iv

in
g
 

a
d
v
ic

e
 b

y
 M

a
rc

h
 0

7

J
e
n
n
y
 B

o
y
d

G
R

E
E

N

In
te

g
ra

te
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
m

e
n
ta

l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 f
o
r 

o
ld

e
r 

p
e
o
p
le

 w
it
h
 o

th
e
r 

a
d
u
lt
 m

e
n
ta

l 

h
e
a
lt
h
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
.

A
S

R
e
v
is

e
d
 S

e
c
ti
o
n
 3

1
 a

g
re

e
m

e
n
t 
in

 

p
la

c
e
 t
o
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
 m

e
n
ta

l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 f
o
r 

o
ld

e
r 

p
e
o
p
le

 (
J
u
n
e
 

0
6
)

O
ld

e
r 

p
e
o
p
le

 w
it
h
 m

e
n
ta

l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 

p
ro

b
le

m
s
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
ir
 c

a
re

rs
 a

s
s
u
re

d
 o

f 

s
a
m

e
 s

ta
n
d
a
rd

s
 o

f 
s
e
rv

ic
e
 a

s
 a

ll 
a
d
u
lt
 

m
e
n
ta

l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 u

s
e
rs

.

J
o
h
n
 G

o
ld

u
p

G
R

E
E

N
S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 f
o
r 

o
ld

e
r 

p
e
o
p
le

 

in
te

g
ra

te
d
 w

it
h
 o

th
e
r 

m
e
n
ta

l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 

fr
o
m

 1
.1

.0
7

P
ro

g
re

s
s
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
in

te
g
ra

te
d
 l
e
a
rn

in
g
 d

is
a
b
ili

ti
e
s
 r

e
s
o
u
rc

e
 c

e
n
tr

e
, 
d
u
e
 t
o
 o

p
e
n
 2

0
0
9

A
S

O
u
tl
in

e
 B

u
s
in

e
s
s
 C

a
s
e
 t
o
 D

o
H

 

s
u
b
m

it
te

d
 i
n
 M

a
rc

h
 0

6

D
e
c
is

io
n
 o

n
 P

F
I 
c
re

d
it
s
 -

 

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
6

D
e
ta

ile
d
 s

p
e
c
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 p

re
p
a
re

d
 b

y
 

e
n
d
 o

f 
N

o
v
e
m

b
e
r 

0
6

B
e
a
c
o
n
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
in

c
lu

s
iv

e
, 

in
te

g
ra

te
d
, 
e
m

p
o
w

e
ri
n
g
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 f
o
r 

p
e
o
p
le

 w
it
h
 p

h
y
s
ic

a
l 
d
is

a
b
ili

ti
e
s
 a

n
d
 

s
e
n
s
o
ry

 I
m

p
a
ir
m

e
n
t

E
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 u

s
e
 o

f 
c
a
p
it
a
l 
a
n
d
 o

th
e
r 

re
s
o
u
rc

e
s

C
liv

e
 T

u
rn

e
r/

J
o
h
n
 

B
e
v
e
rt

o
n

R
E

D
T

h
e
 D

o
H

 h
a
s
 a

p
p
ro

v
e
d
 

th
e
 O

u
tl
in

e
 B

u
s
in

e
s
s
 C

a
s
e
 

s
u
b
je

c
t 
to

 a
 Q

u
a
lit

y
 

R
e
v
ie

w
. 
 O

ff
ic

e
rs

 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 

to
 w

o
rk

 w
it
h
 k

e
y
 

s
ta

k
e
h
o
ld

e
rs

 t
o
 p

ro
g
re

s
s
 

th
is

 w
o
rk

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
 d

e
la

y
 i
n
 d

e
c
is

io
n
 o

n
 P

F
I 

c
re

d
it
s
 f
ro

m
 D

O
H

 h
a
s
 c

a
u
s
e
d
 

s
lip

a
g
e
 t
o
 2

0
0
7
-8

N
e
w

 t
a
rg

e
ts

 t
o
 b

e
 s

e
t 
th

ro
u
g
h
 

c
lo

s
e
 w

o
rk

in
g
 w

it
h
 k

e
y
 

s
ta

k
e
h
o
ld

e
rs

O
rg

a
n
is

e
 p

re
s
s
 b

ri
e
fi
n
g
s
 a

n
d
 h

ig
h
lig

h
t 
C

o
u
n
c
il'

s
 p

o
lic

y
 o

n
 c

h
a
lle

n
g
in

g
 t
h
e
  
e
q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 

d
is

c
ri
m

in
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 c

o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 w

it
h
 e

th
n
ic

 g
ro

u
p
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 b

o
ro

u
g
h

C
E

M
a
r-

0
7

C
o
u
n
c
il 

h
a
s
 m

e
t 
w

it
h
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

re
p
re

s
e
n
ta

ti
v
e
s
 t
o
 w

o
rk

 w
it
h
 t
h
e
m

 a
n
d
 

in
fo

rm
 t
h
e
m

 o
f 
C

o
u
n
c
il 

p
o
lic

y

C
h
ri
s
 P

a
y
n
e

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d
. 
B

M
E

 m
e
d
ia

 

b
ri
e
fi
n
g
s
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
e

C
o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
te

 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 a

ro
u
n
d
 C

ro
s
s
ra

il 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il'

s
 p

o
lic

y
 t
o
 s

ta
k
e
h
o
ld

e
rs

 a
n
d
 

re
s
id

e
n
ts

 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 E

a
s
t 
E

n
d
 L

if
e
, 
lo

c
a
l 
a
n
d
 B

e
n
g
a
li 

m
e
d
ia

C
E

A
ll 

e
x
is

ti
n
g
  
m

ile
s
to

n
e
s
 i
n
 C

ro
s
s
ra

il 

C
o
m

m
s
 s

tr
a
te

g
y
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
. 
O

n
 

ta
rg

e
t 
to

 m
e
e
t 
d
e
a
d
lin

e
s
 f
o
r 

P
e
ti
ti
o
n
 b

e
in

g
 p

re
s
e
n
te

d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

H
O

C
 s

e
le

c
t 
C

o
m

m
it
te

e
 J

u
n
e
 0

6
.

C
o
u
n
c
il 

h
a
s
 w

o
n
 m

a
jo

r 
c
h
a
n
g
e
 i
n
 

C
ro

s
s
ra

il 
p
o
lic

y
 a

ff
e
c
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 l
iv

e
s
 o

f 

S
p
it
a
lf
ie

ld
s
  
a
n
d
 B

ri
c
k
 L

a
n
e
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
y

C
h
ri
s
 P

a
y
n
e

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

Im
p
ro

v
e
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 t
ra

n
s
la

ti
o
n
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

le
rt

in
g
 r

e
c
ip

ie
n
t 
w

h
e
n
 l
e
g
a
l 
d
o
c
u
m

e
n
ts

 a
re

 

im
p
o
rt

a
n
t 
a
n
d
 t
ra

n
s
la

ti
o
n
 i
s
 a

v
a
ila

b
le

C
E

S
in

g
le

  
s
id

e
 d

o
c
u
m

e
n
t 
to

 b
e
 

is
s
u
e
d
 w

it
h
 c

o
rr

e
s
p
o
n
d
e
n
c
e
 M

a
rc

h
 

0
7

A
ll 

c
o
rr

e
s
p
o
n
d
a
n
c
e
 s

u
it
a
b
ly

 m
a
tc

h
e
d

T
im

 R
o
d
g
e
rs

R
E

D
N

o
t 
c
o
m

p
le

te
d
 

D
o
c
u
m

e
n
t 
h
a
s
 b

e
e
n
 d

ra
ft
e
d
 

th
o
u
g
h
 n

o
t 
tr

a
n
s
la

te
d
 

W
ill

 c
ro

s
s
 r

e
fe

r 
w

it
h
 e

x
is

ti
n
g
 

e
x
a
m

p
le

s
 t
h
e
n
 c

o
m

m
is

s
io

n

P
u
b
lis

h
 n

e
w

s
 a

n
d
 f
e
a
tu

re
s
 e

n
c
o
u
ra

g
in

g
 h

e
a
lt
h
y
 l
if
e
s
ty

le
's

 i
n
 E

a
s
t 
E

n
d
 L

if
e
 .
 R

e
g
u
la

r 
 m

e
d
ia

 

re
le

a
s
e
s
 t
o
 e

th
n
ic

 m
e
d
ia

 a
n
d
 l
o
c
a
l 
n
e
w

s
 a

n
d
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 o

rg
a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
s
 d

e
ta

ili
n
g
 a

c
ti
v
it
ie

s

C
E

R
e
g
u
la

r 
p
re

s
s
 r

e
le

a
s
e
s
 P

ro
a
c
ti
v
e
 

m
e
d
ia

 s
tr

a
te

g
ie

s
 t
o
 p

la
c
e
 a

rt
ic

le
s
 

in
 a

 t
im

e
ly

 f
a
s
h
io

n
 a

n
d
 i
n
 a

 w
id

e
 

v
a
ri
e
ty

 o
f 
m

e
d
ia

 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 t
h
e
 

tr
a
d
e
 p

re
s
s

N
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
a
rt

ic
le

s
 p

u
b
lis

h
e
d
 a

n
d
 

u
p
ta

k
e
 o

f 
s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 r

e
fl
e
c
te

d
 i
n
 m

o
n
th

ly
 

m
e
d
ia

 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 

C
h
ri
s
 P

a
y
n
e

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

L
o

n
d

o
n

 B
o

ro
u

g
h

 o
f 

T
o

w
e

r 
H

a
m

le
ts

2
E

A
P

 2
0

0
6

/7

Page 80



E
q

u
a

li
ti

e
s

 A
c

ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 2
0

0
6

/0
7

 M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

 R
e

p
o

rt
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 1

D
E

S
R

E
S

K
E

Y
 A

C
T

IV
IT

Y
D

IR
K

E
Y

 M
IL

E
S

T
O

N
E

 &
 

C
O

M
P

L
E

T
IO

N
 D

A
T

E

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
L

E
A

D
 O

F
F

IC
E

R
T

R
A

F
F

IC
 L

IG
H

T
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 T

O
 3

1
 M

a
rc

h
 

0
7

E
X

P
L

A
N

A
T

IO
N

 O
F

 

S
L

IP
P

A
G

E
/F

A
IL

U
R

E
 T

O
 M

E
E

T
 

T
A

R
G

E
T

R
E

M
E

D
IA

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

 

IN
C

L
U

D
IN

G
 N

E
W

 D
E

A
D

L
IN

E
S

P
ro

g
re

s
s
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
C

e
n
tr

e
 f
o
r 

In
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
L
iv

in
g
 f
o
r 

p
e
o
p
le

 w
it
h
 p

h
y
s
ic

a
l 
d
is

a
b
ili

ti
e
s
, 

d
u
e
 t
o
 o

p
e
n
 2

0
0
8
 

A
S

O
u
tl
in

e
 B

u
s
in

e
s
s
 C

a
s
e
 t
o
 D

o
H

 

s
u
b
m

it
te

d
 i
n
 M

a
rc

h
 0

6

D
e
c
is

io
n
 o

n
 P

F
I 
c
re

d
it
s
 -

 

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
6

D
e
ta

ile
d
 s

p
e
c
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 p

re
p
a
re

d
 b

y
 

e
n
d
 o

f 
N

o
v
e
m

b
e
r 

0
6

B
e
a
c
o
n
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
in

c
lu

s
iv

e
, 

in
te

g
ra

te
d
, 
e
m

p
o
w

e
ri
n
g
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 f
o
r 

p
e
o
p
le

 w
it
h
 p

h
y
s
ic

a
l 
d
is

a
b
ili

ti
e
s
 a

n
d
 

s
e
n
s
o
ry

 I
m

p
a
ir
m

e
n
t

E
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 u

s
e
 o

f 
c
a
p
it
a
l 
a
n
d
 o

th
e
r 

re
s
o
u
rc

e
s

B
a
rb

a
ra

 D
is

n
e
y

R
E

D
O

ff
ic

e
rs

 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 w

o
rk

 

w
it
h
 k

e
y
 s

ta
k
e
h
o
ld

e
rs

 t
o
 

p
ro

g
re

s
s
 t
h
is

 w
o
rk

.

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
 d

e
la

y
 i
n
 d

e
c
is

io
n
 o

n
 P

F
I 

c
re

d
it
s
 f
ro

m
 D

O
H

 h
a
s
 c

a
u
s
e
d
 

s
lip

a
g
e
 t
o
 2

0
0
7
-8

N
e
w

 t
a
rg

e
ts

 t
o
 b

e
 s

e
t 
th

ro
u
g
h
 

c
lo

s
e
 w

o
rk

in
g
 w

it
h
 k

e
y
 

s
ta

k
e
h
o
ld

e
rs

E
n
s
u
re

 a
ll 

a
d
u
lt
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 u

s
e
rs

 h
a
v
e
 a

 c
o
p
y
 o

f 
th

e
ir
 c

a
re

 p
la

n
 s

u
m

m
a
ry

 a
n
d
 w

h
e
re

 

a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 i
t 
is

 t
ra

n
s
la

te
d

A
S

C
o
m

p
le

te
d
 b

y
 M

a
rc

h
 2

0
0
7

1
0
0
%

 c
o
m

p
lia

n
c
e

J
o
h
n
 G

o
ld

u
p

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

O
B

J
E

C
T

IV
E

 2
 -

 T
o

 e
n

s
u

re
 t

h
a

t 
n

e
ig

h
b

o
u

rh
o

o
d

 r
e

n
e

w
a

l 

b
e

n
e

fi
ts

 a
ll

 c
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s
P

ro
p
o
s
a
l 
fo

r 
s
e
e
k
in

g
 n

e
ig

h
b
o
u
rh

o
o
d
 r

e
n
e
w

a
l 
fu

n
d
in

g
 m

u
s
t 
id

e
n
ti
fy

 t
h
e
 w

a
y
 i
t 
b
e
n
e
fi
ts

 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s

C
E

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y
 m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 r

e
p
o
rt

s
 t
o
 

C
P

A
G

s
 a

n
d
 6

 m
o
n
th

ly
 t
o
 C

a
b
in

e
t

E
v
a
lu

a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
im

p
a
c
t 
o
f 
fu

n
d
in

g
 -

 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
7

M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 s

h
o
w

s
 s

ig
n
if
ic

a
n
t 
e
v
id

e
n
c
e
 

o
f 
im

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t

M
a
rg

a
re

t 
L
ib

re
ri

R
E

D
A

ll 
p
ro

p
o
s
a
ls

 m
u
s
t 
id

e
n
ti
fy

 

th
e
 s

p
e
c
if
ic

 c
o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
 

w
h
o
 w

ill
 b

e
n
e
fi
t 
fr

o
m

 t
h
e
 

p
ro

je
c
t

R
e
p
o
rt

 i
s
 c

u
rr

e
n
tl
y
 b

e
in

g
 c

o
m

p
ile

d
E

n
d
 o

f 
y
e
a
r 

a
n
a
ly

s
is

 o
f 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
 w

h
ic

h
 h

a
v
e
 

b
e
n
e
fi
tt
e
d
 f
ro

m
 N

e
ig

h
b
o
u
rh

o
o
d
 

R
e
n
e
w

a
l 
fu

n
d
in

g
 w

ill
 b

e
 r

e
p
o
rt

e
d
 

to
 P

M
G

 i
n
 J

u
ly

 2
0
0
7

O
B

J
E

C
T

IV
E

 3
 -

 T
o

 r
e

v
ie

w
 a

c
h

ie
v

e
m

e
n

t 
o

f 
ta

rg
e

ts
 a

n
d

 

ta
k

e
 i

n
to

 a
c

c
o

u
n

t 
c

h
a

n
g

in
g

 c
ir

c
u

m
s

ta
n

c
e

s
U

s
e
 m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 r

e
p
o
rt

s
 t
o
 a

s
s
e
s
s
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 a
g
a
in

s
t 
e
q
u
a
lit

y
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 t
a
rg

e
ts

 i
n
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 

p
la

n
s
 a

n
d
 i
n
c
o
rp

o
ra

te
 f
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 f
ro

m
 c

u
s
to

m
e
r 

c
o
m

p
la

in
ts

 a
n
d
 c

o
m

p
lim

e
n
ts

 t
o
 i
n
fo

rm
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 A

c
ti
o
n
 P

la
n
 R

e
v
ie

w

C
E

R
e
p
o
rt

 o
n
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 C

E
S

G
 

o
n
 a

 s
ix

-m
o
n
th

ly
 b

a
s
is

F
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 f
ro

m
 c

u
s
to

m
e
r 

c
o
m

p
la

in
ts

 

a
re

 a
d
d
re

s
s
e
d
 w

it
h
in

 s
e
rv

ic
e
 e

q
u
a
lit

y
 

ta
rg

e
ts

M
ic

h
a
e
l 
K

e
a
ti
n
g

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

E
n
s
u
re

 s
c
h
o
o
l 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 
re

s
u
lt
s
 a

re
 a

n
a
ly

s
e
d
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy

 u
n
d
e
rp

e
rf

o
rm

in
g
 g

ro
u
p
s

C
H

S
S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
6
 P

ro
v
is

io
n
a
l 
d
a
ta

 

a
n
a
ly

s
e
d

R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 a

re
 t
a
rg

e
te

d
 t
o
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
 

a
c
h
ie

v
e
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
u
n
d
e
rp

e
rf

o
rm

in
g
 

g
ro

u
p
s

D
i 
W

a
rn

e
G

R
E

E
N

R
e
v
ie

w
 d

a
ta

 i
n
fo

rm
in

g
 p

o
te

n
ti
a
l 
c
lie

n
t 
u
s
e
r 

b
a
s
e
s
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
re

a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 
a
n
d
 r

e
v
ie

w
 o

f 

E
IA

 A
c
ti
o
n
 P

la
n
s
 a

n
d
  
a
ls

o
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
S

e
rv

ic
e
 H

e
a
lt
h
 C

h
e
c
k
s

H
A

d
h
e
re

 t
o
 m

ile
s
to

n
e
s
 f
o
r 

h
e
a
lt
h
c
h
e
c
k
 r

e
p
o
rt

s
 a

n
d
 E

IA
 

a
c
ti
v
it
ie

s

R
e
s
u
lt
s
 a

re
 a

n
a
ly

s
e
d
 a

n
d
 u

s
e
d
 t
o
 

in
fo

rm
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 
a
c
ti
v
it
ie

s

J
e
b
in

 S
y
e
d
a

G
R

E
E

N

O
B

J
E

C
T

IV
E

 4
 -

 T
o

 d
e

m
o

n
s

tr
a

te
 t

h
a

t 
a

c
c

u
ra

te
 s

e
rv

ic
e

 u
s

e
r 

p
ro

fi
le

s
 a

re
 b

e
in

g
 u

s
e

d
 t

o
 i

n
fo

rm
 s

e
rv

ic
e

 c
h

a
n

g
e

s
 a

n
d

 

im
p

ro
v

e
m

e
n

ts
U

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
 E

q
u
a
lit

y
 I
m

p
a
c
t 
A

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
n
e
w

 p
o
lic

ie
s
 a

n
d
 f
u
n
c
ti
o
n
s

A
L
L

T
e
a
m

 p
la

n
 r

e
fl
e
c
ts

 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

u
n
d
e
rt

a
k
in

g
 E

IA
s
 o

n
 n

e
w

 p
o
lic

ie
s
 

a
s
 t
h
e
y
 a

ri
s
e
 b

y
 S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
6

T
h
e
 r

e
s
u
lt
s
 o

f 
E

IA
s
 i
n
fo

rm
 p

la
n
s

D
E

L
O

S
G

R
E

E
N

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

P
u
b
lis

h
 a

n
a
ly

s
is

 o
f 
th

e
 R

e
s
id

e
n
ts

 S
u
rv

e
y
 b

y
 k

e
y
 t
a
rg

e
t 
g
ro

u
p
s
 t
o
 b

e
 u

s
e
d
 a

lo
n
g
s
id

e
 e

x
is

ti
n
g
 

p
o
p
u
la

ti
o
n
 p

ro
fi
le

s
 t
o
 i
n
fo

rm
 E

IA
s
 

C
E

P
u
b
lis

h
 R

e
s
id

e
n
ts

 S
u
rv

e
y
 b

y
 J

u
n
e
 

2
0
0
6

R
e
s
id

e
n
ts

 S
u
rv

e
y
 i
s
 b

e
in

g
 u

s
e
d
 t
o
 

in
fo

rm
 t
h
e
 E

IA
s

A
la

n
 S

te
w

a
rd

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

L
o

n
d

o
n

 B
o

ro
u

g
h

 o
f 

T
o

w
e

r 
H

a
m

le
ts

3
E

A
P

 2
0

0
6

/7

Page 81



E
q

u
a

li
ti

e
s

 A
c

ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 2
0

0
6

/0
7

 M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

 R
e

p
o

rt
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 1

D
E

S
R

E
S

K
E

Y
 A

C
T

IV
IT

Y
D

IR
K

E
Y

 M
IL

E
S

T
O

N
E

 &
 

C
O

M
P

L
E

T
IO

N
 D

A
T

E

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
L

E
A

D
 O

F
F

IC
E

R
T

R
A

F
F

IC
 L

IG
H

T
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 T

O
 3

1
 M

a
rc

h
 

0
7

E
X

P
L

A
N

A
T

IO
N

 O
F

 

S
L

IP
P

A
G

E
/F

A
IL

U
R

E
 T

O
 M

E
E

T
 

T
A

R
G

E
T

R
E

M
E

D
IA

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

 

IN
C

L
U

D
IN

G
 N

E
W

 D
E

A
D

L
IN

E
S

M
o
n
it
o
r 

e
x
c
lu

s
io

n
s
 o

f 
m

ix
e
d
 h

e
ri
ta

g
e
 p

u
p
ils

 v
e
ry

 c
lo

s
e
ly

 a
n
d
 r

e
fo

c
u
s
 t
h
e
 w

o
rk

 o
f 
C

a
ri
b
b
e
a
n
 

a
n
d
 A

fr
ic

a
n
 S

tu
d
e
n
ts

 P
ro

je
c
t 
 t
o
 p

ri
o
ri
ti
s
e
 w

o
rk

 w
it
h
 m

ix
e
d
 (

C
a
ri
b
b
e
a
n
/A

fr
ic

a
n
 a

n
d
 W

h
it
e
) 

s
tu

d
e
n
ts

C
H

S
R

e
p
o
rt

 o
n
 0

5
/0

6
 e

x
c
lu

s
io

n
s
, 

O
c
to

b
e
r 

0
6

P
ro

p
o
rt

io
n
a
lly

 h
ig

h
 s

ta
ti
s
ti
c
s
 f
o
r 

e
x
c
lu

d
e
d
 m

ix
e
d
 h

e
ri
ta

g
e
 p

u
p
ils

 a
re

 

re
d
u
c
e
d
 t
o
 e

x
p
e
c
te

d
 l
e
v
e
ls

L
iz

 V
ic

k
e
ri
e

G
R

E
E

N
P

u
p
ils

 o
f 
m

ix
e
d
 h

e
ri
ta

g
e
 

b
a
c
k
g
ro

u
n
d
s
 a

re
 n

o
w

 

e
it
h
e
r 

u
n
d
e
r-

re
p
re

s
e
n
te

d
 

in
 e

x
c
lu

s
io

n
s
 o

r 
a
re

 

e
x
c
lu

d
e
d
 a

t 
a
 r

a
te

 t
h
a
t 
is

 

s
im

ila
r 

to
 t
h
e
ir
 

re
p
re

s
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

s
c
h
o
o
l 
p
o
p
u
la

ti
o
n

A
n
a
ly

s
e
 a

n
d
 r

e
v
ie

w
 a

ll 
E

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
P

s
y
c
h
o
lo

g
ic

a
l 
S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 r

e
fe

rr
a
ls

 b
y
 e

th
n
ic

it
y
, 
g
e
n
d
e
r 

a
n
d
 p

ri
m

a
ry

 S
p
e
c
ia

l 
E

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
N

e
e
d

C
H

S
A

ll 
re

fe
rr

a
ls

 c
h
e
c
k
e
d
 &

 l
o
g
g
e
d
 o

n
 

d
e
d
ic

a
te

d
 d

a
ta

b
a
s
e
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
o
u
t 

th
e
 y

e
a
r 

w
it
h
 m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 3

 t
im

e
s
 a

 

y
e
a
r

A
n
a
ly

s
is

 c
o
m

p
le

te
d
 a

n
d
 c

o
m

p
a
re

d
 

w
it
h
 p

re
v
io

u
s
 y

e
a
rs

 b
y
 S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
6

T
re

n
d
s
 a

n
d
 p

a
tt
e
rn

s
 o

f 
E

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

P
s
y
c
h
o
lo

g
ic

a
l 
R

e
fe

rr
a
ls

 h
a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 a

n
d
 f
in

d
in

g
s
 a

re
 b

e
in

g
 a

c
te

d
 

u
p
o
n

D
a
v
id

 C
a
rr

o
ll

G
R

E
E

N

A
n
a
ly

s
e
 a

ll 
h
e
a
lt
h
 n

o
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 o

f 
u
n
d
e
r 

fi
v
e
s
 b

y
 p

ri
m

a
ry

 s
p
e
c
ia

l 
e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
n
e
e
d
, 
g
e
n
d
e
r 

a
n
d
 e

th
n
ic

it
y

C
H

S
A

ll 
re

fe
rr

a
ls

 c
h
e
c
k
e
d
 a

n
d
 l
o
g
g
e
d
 

o
n
 d

e
d
ic

a
te

d
 d

a
ta

b
a
s
e
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
o
u
t 

th
e
 y

e
a
r

A
n
a
ly

s
is

 c
o
m

p
le

te
d
 a

n
d
 c

o
m

p
a
re

d
 

w
it
h
 p

re
v
io

u
s
 y

e
a
rs

 b
y
 S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
6

T
re

n
d
s
 a

n
d
 p

a
tt
e
rn

s
 o

f 
h
e
a
lt
h
 

n
o
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 a

n
d
 

fi
n
d
in

g
s
 a

re
 b

e
in

g
 a

c
te

d
 u

p
o
n

D
a
v
id

 C
a
rr

o
ll

G
R

E
E

N

E
n
s
u
re

 p
la

n
n
in

g
 t
a
k
e
s
 g

re
a
te

r 
a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
th

e
 s

c
h
o
o
ls

 d
a
ta

 o
n
 r

e
fu

g
e
e
 p

u
p
ils

 a
n
d
 h

o
m

e
 

la
n
g
u
a
g
e
s
 s

p
o
k
e
n

C
H

S
A

n
a
ly

s
e
 a

n
d
 p

u
b
lis

h
 t
h
e
 r

e
s
u
lt
s
 b

y
 

M
a
rc

h
 0

7

R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 a

re
 b

e
tt
e
r 

ta
rg

e
te

d
G

e
o
rg

e
 N

y
a
m

u
n
d
a
n
d
a

G
R

E
E

N

O
B

J
E

C
T

IV
E

 5
 -

 T
o

 e
n

s
u

re
 m

a
n

a
g

e
rs

 h
a

v
e

 b
e

e
n

 a
p

p
ra

is
e

d
 

a
g

a
in

s
t 

s
e

rv
ic

e
 e

q
u

a
li

ty
 t

a
rg

e
ts

 a
n

d
 t

h
e

y
 i

n
c

o
rp

o
ra

te
 

th
e

m
 i

n
 p

ra
c

ti
c

e
U

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
 a

 s
a
m

p
lin

g
 e

x
e
rc

is
e
 o

f 
m

a
n
a
g
e
rs

' t
e
a
m

 p
la

n
s
 a

n
d
 P

D
R

s
 t
o
 e

n
s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 

e
q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 a

c
ti
o
n
s
 a

n
d
 t
a
rg

e
ts

 a
re

 i
n
c
o
rp

o
ra

te
d

A
L
L

C
o
m

p
le

te
 b

y
 D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

0
6

E
q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 t
a
rg

e
ts

 a
n
d
 a

c
ti
o
n
s
 a

re
 

in
c
o
rp

o
ra

te
d
 i
n
 t
e
a
m

 p
la

n
s

D
E

L
O

S
G

R
E

E
N

O
B

J
E

C
T

IV
E

 6
 T

o
 e

n
s

u
re

 t
h

a
t 

e
ff

e
c

ti
v

e
 s

y
s

te
m

s
 a

re
 i

n
 

p
la

c
e

 f
o

r 
m

a
n

a
g

in
g

 e
q

u
a

li
ty

 a
c

ro
s

s
 c

o
n

tr
a

c
ts

 a
n

d
 

p
a

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

s
D

e
v
e
lo

p
 D

iv
e
rs

it
y
 a

n
d
 E

q
u
a
lit

y
 P

o
lic

y
 w

it
h
 g

u
id

e
lin

e
s
 w

h
ic

h
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
 a

ll 
6
 e

q
u
a
lit

y
 s

tr
a
n
d
s
 t
o
 

p
ro

m
o
te

 e
q
u
a
lit

y
 a

n
d
 d

iv
e
rs

it
y
 a

c
ro

s
s
 y

o
u
th

 w
o
rk

 p
ro

v
id

e
rs

C
H

S
A

ll 
p
o
lic

ie
s
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 a

n
d
 

im
p
le

m
e
n
te

d
 b

y
 y

o
u
th

 w
o
rk

 

p
ro

v
id

e
rs

 (
J
u
n
e
 0

6
)

P
ro

v
id

e
rs

 a
re

 a
w

a
re

 o
f 
th

e
ir
 d

u
ty

 t
o
 

e
lim

in
a
te

 a
ll 

fo
rm

s
 o

f 
d
is

c
ri
m

in
a
ti
o
n
 

a
n
d
 t
o
 p

ro
m

o
te

 g
o
o
d
 r

e
la

ti
o
n
s

S
te

v
e
 S

ip
p
le

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
 

w
it
h
 n

e
w

 c
o
n
tr

a
c
to

rs
 a

n
d

D
iv

e
rs

it
y
 a

n
d
 E

q
u
a
lit

y
 

P
o
lic

y
 f
in

a
lis

e
d
.

L
e
tt
in

g
 o

f 
c
o
n
tr

a
c
ts

 -
 r

e
v
ie

w
 a

n
d
 u

p
d
a
te

 s
ta

n
d
a
rd

 t
e
rm

s
 t
o
 i
n
c
o
rp

o
ra

te
 a

 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
t 
to

 

e
n
s
u
re

 c
o
n
tr

a
c
to

rs
 a

re
 a

w
a
re

 o
f 
th

e
ir
 o

b
lig

a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 p

ro
v
id

e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 i
n
 c

o
m

p
lia

n
c
e
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 

c
o
u
n
c
il'

s
 e

q
u
a
lit

y
 p

o
lic

y
 a

n
d
 p

la
n
, 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 i
m

p
o
rt

a
n
c
e
 o

f 
th

e
ir
 c

o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 t
o
w

a
rd

s
 

a
c
h
ie

v
in

g
 t
h
e
 c

o
u
n
c
il'

s
 e

q
u
a
lit

y
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 t
a
rg

e
ts

.

C
E

S
ta

n
d
a
rd

 I
T

T
 c

la
u
s
e
s
 r

e
v
ie

w
e
d
 

a
n
d
 u

p
d
a
te

d
 a

s
 n

e
c
e
s
s
a
ry

 b
y
 

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

2
0
0
6

U
p
 t
o
 d

a
te

 I
T

T
 c

la
u
s
e
s
 o

n
 e

q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 

in
c
lu

d
e
d
 i
n
 s

ta
n
d
a
rd

 t
e
rm

s
 f
o
r 

a
ll 

a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 c
o
n
tr

a
c
ts

N
ic

k
 W

a
lk

e
r

G
R

E
E

N
P

ro
c
u
re

m
e
n
t 
E

q
IA

 i
s
 

c
u
rr

e
n
tl
y
 i
n
 t
ra

in
 t
o
 e

m
b
e
d
 

fu
rt

h
e
r.

L
o

n
d

o
n

 B
o

ro
u

g
h

 o
f 

T
o

w
e

r 
H

a
m

le
ts

4
E

A
P

 2
0

0
6

/7

Page 82



E
q

u
a

li
ti

e
s

 A
c

ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 2
0

0
6

/0
7

 M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

 R
e

p
o

rt
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 1

D
E

S
R

E
S

K
E

Y
 A

C
T

IV
IT

Y
D

IR
K

E
Y

 M
IL

E
S

T
O

N
E

 &
 

C
O

M
P

L
E

T
IO

N
 D

A
T

E

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
L

E
A

D
 O

F
F

IC
E

R
T

R
A

F
F

IC
 L

IG
H

T
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 T

O
 3

1
 M

a
rc

h
 

0
7

E
X

P
L

A
N

A
T

IO
N

 O
F

 

S
L

IP
P

A
G

E
/F

A
IL

U
R

E
 T

O
 M

E
E

T
 

T
A

R
G

E
T

R
E

M
E

D
IA

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

 

IN
C

L
U

D
IN

G
 N

E
W

 D
E

A
D

L
IN

E
S

R
e
v
ie

w
 p

ra
c
ti
c
e
 f
o
r 

re
c
o
rd

in
g
 r

a
c
is

t/
d
is

c
ri
m

in
a
to

ry
 i
n
c
id

e
n
ts

 i
n
 y

o
u
th

 c
lu

b
s
, 
y
o
u
th

 p
ro

je
c
ts

 

a
n
d
 o

th
e
r 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 s

e
tt
in

g
s
.

C
H

S
R

e
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
t 
to

 l
o
g
 a

n
d
 i
n
v
e
s
ti
g
a
te

 

a
ll 

in
c
id

e
n
ts

 i
s
 b

u
ilt

 i
n
to

 c
o
n
tr

a
c
t 

s
p
e
c
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 (

A
u
g
u
s
t 
0
6
)

In
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 l
o
g
g
in

g
 a

n
d
 i
n
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n
 o

f 

ra
c
is

t/
d
is

c
ri
m

in
a
to

ry
 i
n
c
id

e
n
ts

 b
y
 y

o
u
th

 

w
o
rk

 p
ro

v
id

e
rs

S
te

v
e
 S

ip
p
le

G
R

E
E

N

Im
p
ro

v
e
 p

ro
c
u
re

m
e
n
t 
e
q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 p

ra
c
ti
c
e
 b

u
ild

in
g
 o

n
 t
h
e
 p

ro
c
u
re

m
e
n
t 
s
tr

a
te

g
y
 a

n
d
 m

a
n
u
a
l

C
E

P
ro

c
u
re

m
e
n
t 
G

u
id

e
 f
o
r 

s
ta

ff
 i
n
 

p
la

c
e
 b

y
 J

u
n
e
 0

6

P
ro

c
u
re

m
e
n
t 
A

d
v
o
c
a
c
y
 T

e
a
m

 i
n
 

p
la

c
e
 w

o
rk

in
g
 j
o
in

tl
y
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 

c
o
rp

o
ra

te
 P

ro
je

c
t 
M

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

a
n
d
 R

is
k
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
T

e
a
m

s
 b

y
 

D
e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

0
6

T
h
e
 C

e
n
tr

a
l 
P

ro
c
u
re

m
e
n
t 
U

n
it
 

p
ro

v
id

e
s
 a

 m
o
re

 p
ro

-a
c
ti
v
e
 a

n
d
 

s
tr

a
te

g
ic

 s
e
rv

ic
e

N
ic

k
 W

a
lk

e
r

G
R

E
E

N

O
B

J
E

C
T

IV
E

 7
 -

 T
o

 b
e

n
c

h
m

a
rk

 f
u

ll
 r

a
n

g
e

 o
f 

e
q

u
a

li
ty

 

a
c

h
ie

v
e

m
e

n
ts

 a
g

a
in

s
t 

o
th

e
r 

a
u

th
o

ri
ti

e
s

 i
n

 a
 s

im
il

a
r 

p
o

s
it

io
n

S
h
a
re

 a
c
h
ie

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 w
it
h
 o

th
e
r 

C
o
u
n
c
ils

 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 A

L
G

 m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 a

n
d
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
s
 w

it
h
 o

th
e
r 

a
u
th

o
ri
ti
e
s

A
L
L

M
e
e
t 
q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y
 w

it
h
 o

th
e
r 

c
o
u
n
c
il 

a
n
d
/o

r 
a
tt
e
n
d
 A

L
G

 E
q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 

F
o
ru

m
s
 a

n
d
 s

h
a
re

 b
e
s
t 
p
ra

c
ti
c
e

B
e
n
c
h
m

a
rk

in
g
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
 

a
n
d
 l
e
s
s
o
n
s
 a

n
d
 b

e
s
t 
p
ra

c
ti
c
e
 s

h
a
re

d
 

w
it
h
 o

th
e
r 

c
o
u
n
c
ils

D
E

L
O

S
/C

o
rp

o
ra

te

E
q
u
a
lit

ie
s

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

D
e
v
e
lo

p
 e

q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 b

e
n
c
h
m

a
rk

in
g
 w

o
rk

 t
o
 l
e
a
rn

 f
ro

m
 o

th
e
r 

o
rg

a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
s

A
L
L

B
e
n
c
h
m

a
rk

s
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
d
 i
n
 a

ll 

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 r

e
p
o
rt

s
 b

y
 M

a
rc

h
 0

7

S
e
rv

ic
e
 h

a
s
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
d
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 l
e
a
rn

in
g
 

fr
o
m

 o
th

e
r 

o
rg

a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
s

D
E

L
O

S
/C

o
rp

o
ra

te

E
q
u
a
lit

ie
s

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

B
e
n
c
h
m

a
rk

 f
u
ll 

ra
n
g
e
 o

f 
e
q
u
a
lit

y
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 a

n
 e

x
te

rn
a
l 
a
u
d
it
 b

y
 a

u
th

o
rs

 o
f 
th

e
 

e
q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 s

ta
n
d
a
rd

A
L
L

A
u
d
it
 c

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
e
d
 a

n
d
 f
ir
s
t 
v
is

it
 

to
 a

u
d
it
 e

v
id

e
n
c
e
 t
a
k
e
s
 p

la
c
e
:

(A
p
ri
l 
0
6
) 

2
 d

a
y
s
 o

f 
tr

ia
n
g
u
la

ti
o
n
 

in
te

rv
ie

w
s
 t
a
k
e
 p

la
c
e
 i
n
te

rv
ie

w
in

g

2
0
 m

a
n
a
g
e
rs

 -
 (

J
u
n
e
 0

6
) 

F
in

a
l 

re
p
o
rt

 r
e
c
e
iv

e
d
 a

n
d
 p

re
s
e
n
te

d
 t
o
 

C
E

S
G

 (
J
u
ly

 0
6
)

A
u
d
it
 r

e
p
o
rt

 c
o
n
fi
rm

s
 l
e
v
e
l 
fi
v
e
 

a
c
h
ie

v
e
m

e
n
t 
a
n
d
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
s
 k

e
y
 

s
tr

e
n
g
th

s
 a

n
d
 a

re
a
s
 f
o
r 

fu
rt

h
e
r 

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t.

M
ic

h
a
e
l 
K

e
a
ti
n
g

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

B
e
n
c
h
m

a
rk

 e
q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 w

o
rk

 w
it
h
 o

th
e
r 

lo
c
a
l 
a
u
th

o
ri
ti
e
s

A
L
L

C
a
rr

y
 o

u
t 
b
e
n
c
h
m

a
rk

in
g
 o

f 
E

IA
s
 

a
n
d
 p

u
b
lis

h
 r

e
s
u
lt
s
 b

y
 M

a
rc

h
 0

7

B
e
n
c
h
m

a
rk

in
g
 o

f 
E

IA
s
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 

c
a
rr

ie
d
 o

u
t 
B

e
n
c
h
m

a
rk

in
g
 o

f 
e
q
u
a
lit

y
 

p
la

n
n
in

g
 p

ro
c
e
s
s
e
s
 c

a
rr

ie
d
 o

u
t 
a
n
d
 

re
s
u
lt
s
 a

re
 p

u
b
lis

h
e
d

D
E

L
O

S
/C

o
rp

o
ra

te

E
q
u
a
lit

ie
s

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

O
B

J
E

C
T

IV
E

 8
 -

 T
o

 r
e

v
ie

w
/i

m
p

ro
v

e
 e

q
u

a
l 

a
c

c
e

s
s

 t
o

 

s
e

rv
ic

e
s

, 
o

b
je

c
ti

v
e

s
 a

n
d

 t
a

rg
e

ts
E

n
s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 
R

e
fu

g
e
e
 G

ro
u
p
s
 a

re
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 U

s
e
r 

In
v
o
lv

e
m

e
n
t 
S

tr
a
te

g
y

C
E

K
e
y
 w

o
rk

e
r 

a
p
p
o
in

tm
e
n
t 
- 

J
u
ly

  

S
e
rv

ic
e
 U

s
e
rs

 C
o
u
n
c
il 

s
e
t 
u
p
 -

 

J
u
n
e
 0

6
 C

o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
 f
o
ru

m
 s

e
t 

u
p
 i
n
 S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
7

S
ig

n
if
ic

a
n
t 
n
u
m

b
e
rs

 o
f 
re

fu
g
e
e
 g

ro
u
p
s
 

in
v
o
lv

e
d
 o

n
 u

s
e
r 

c
o
u
n
c
il 

a
n
d
 a

tt
e
n
d
 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
 f
o
ru

m

G
ill

y
 C

o
tt
e
w

G
R

E
E

N
S

e
rv

ic
e
 U

s
e
r 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

s
e
t 

u
p
 3

rd
 q

u
a
rt

e
r 

0
6
. 

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
 F

o
ru

m
 s

e
t 

u
p
 J

u
ly

 0
6
. 
R

e
fu

g
e
e
 

G
ro

u
p
 r

e
p
re

s
e
n
te

d
 o

n
 t
h
e
 

fo
ru

m
 a

s
 V

ic
e
-C

h
a
ir
.

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 t
h
e
 T

o
w

e
r 

H
a
m

le
ts

  
A

c
c
e
s
s
 G

ro
u
p
 i
n
 i
m

p
le

m
e
n
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
ir
 t
w

o
 y

e
a
r 

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e

C
E

A
c
c
e
s
s
 g

ro
u
p
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
e
s
 t
o
 m

e
e
t 

o
n
 a

 s
ix

-w
e
e
k
ly

 b
a
s
is

 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 

b
ri
e
fi
n
g
 a

n
d
 t
ra

in
in

g
 s

e
s
s
io

n
s

T
h
e
 g

ro
u
p
 f
e
e
d
s
 i
n
to

 m
a
jo

r 
p
ro

je
c
t 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

M
ic

h
a
e
l 
K

e
a
ti
n
g

G
R

E
E

N
A

c
h
ie

v
e
d

Im
p
ro

v
e
 t
h
e
 a

c
c
e
s
s
ib

ili
ty

 o
f 
th

e
 C

o
u
n
c
il'

s
 c

o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 w

it
h
 r

e
s
id

e
n
ts

 w
it
h
 l
e
a
rn

in
g
 

d
if
fi
c
u
lt
ie

s
 b

y
 p

ilo
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 u

s
e
 o

f 
"e

a
s
y
 r

e
a
d
" 

v
e
rs

io
n
s
 o

f 
c
o
m

m
o
n
ly

 u
s
e
d
 d

o
c
u
m

e
n
ts

C
E

R
e
v
ie

w
 e

ff
e
c
ti
v
e
n
e
s
s
 o

f 
"E

a
s
y
 

R
e
a
d
" 

v
e
rs

io
n
s
 o

f 
d
o
c
u
m

e
n
ts

 b
y
 

M
a
rc

h
 0

7

R
e
s
id

e
n
ts

 w
it
h
 l
e
a
rn

in
g
 d

if
fi
c
u
lt
ie

s
 a

re
 

a
b
le

 t
o
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 f
ro

m
 t
h
e
 

c
o
u
n
c
il

C
h
ri
s
 P

a
y
n
e

R
E

D
C

o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 w

o
rk

s
h
o
p
s
 

h
a
v
e
 t
a
k
e
n
 p

la
c
e

Im
p
le

m
e
n
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 D

is
a
b
ili

ty
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 S

c
h
e
m

e
 A

c
ti
o
n
 P

la
n
 h

a
s
 

c
h
a
n
g
e
d
 t
im

e
s
c
a
le

s
 f
o
r 

d
e
liv

e
ry

. 

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 w

it
h
 l
o
c
a
l 
d
is

a
b
le

d
 

re
s
id

e
n
ts

 h
a
v
e
 t
a
k
e
n
 p

la
c
e
 a

n
d
 

th
e
 r

e
s
u
lt
s
 w

ill
 h

e
lp

 i
n
fo

rm
 f
u
tu

re
 

a
c
ti
o
n

Im
p
ro

v
e
 t
h
e
 a

c
c
e
s
s
ib

ili
ty

 o
f 
E

a
s
t 
E

n
d
 L

if
e

C
E

P
ro

m
o
te

 t
h
e
 a

u
d
io

 v
e
rs

io
n
 o

f 
E

a
s
t 

E
n
d
 L

if
e
 a

n
d
 m

o
n
it
o
r 

u
s
a
g
e

to
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 t
a
k
e
 u

p
, 
re

p
o
rt

 o
n
 

p
ro

g
re

s
s
 b

y
 M

a
rc

h
 0

7

T
h
e
re

 i
s
 a

n
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
d
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

p
e
o
p
le

 u
s
in

g
 t
h
e
 a

u
d
io

 v
e
rs

io
n
 o

f 
E

a
s
t 

E
n
d
 L

if
e

C
h
ri
s
 P

a
y
n
e

R
E

D
M

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 h

a
s
 s

h
o
w

n
 n

o
 

in
c
re

a
s
e

A
s
 a

b
o
v
e
. 

T
h
is

 w
ill

 b
e
 p

ic
k
e
d
 u

p
 i
n
 n

e
x
t 

y
e
a
r'
s
 p

la
n

L
o

n
d

o
n

 B
o

ro
u

g
h

 o
f 

T
o

w
e

r 
H

a
m

le
ts

5
E

A
P

 2
0

0
6

/7

Page 83



E
q

u
a

li
ti

e
s

 A
c

ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 2
0

0
6

/0
7

 M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

 R
e

p
o

rt
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 1

D
E

S
R

E
S

K
E

Y
 A

C
T

IV
IT

Y
D

IR
K

E
Y

 M
IL

E
S

T
O

N
E

 &
 

C
O

M
P

L
E

T
IO

N
 D

A
T

E

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
L

E
A

D
 O

F
F

IC
E

R
T

R
A

F
F

IC
 L

IG
H

T
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 T

O
 3

1
 M

a
rc

h
 

0
7

E
X

P
L

A
N

A
T

IO
N

 O
F

 

S
L

IP
P

A
G

E
/F

A
IL

U
R

E
 T

O
 M

E
E

T
 

T
A

R
G

E
T

R
E

M
E

D
IA

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

 

IN
C

L
U

D
IN

G
 N

E
W

 D
E

A
D

L
IN

E
S

P
ro

m
o
te

 a
c
c
e
s
s
ib

le
 p

u
b
lic

 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

 f
a
c
ili

ti
e
s
 t
o
 d

is
a
b
le

d
 p

e
o
p
le

E
C

G
o
o
d
 G

o
in

g
/A

c
c
e
s
s
ib

le
 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

 

F
o
ru

m
 'G

e
tt
in

g
 A

b
o
u
t 
D

a
y
' b

y
 

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
6

4
0
 d

is
a
b
le

d
 p

e
o
p
le

 a
tt
e
n
d
in

g
 e

v
e
n
t;
 

5
0
%

 o
f 
a
tt
e
n
d
e
e
s
 u

s
in

g
 n

e
w

 p
u
b
lic

 

tr
a
n
s
p
o
rt

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 b

y
 M

a
rc

h
 0

7

M
a
rg

a
re

t 
C

o
o
p
e
r

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

L
o

n
d

o
n

 B
o

ro
u

g
h

 o
f 

T
o

w
e

r 
H

a
m

le
ts

6
E

A
P

 2
0

0
6

/7

Page 84



E
q

u
a

li
ti

e
s

 A
c

ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 2
0

0
6

/0
7

 M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

 R
e

p
o

rt
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 1

D
E

S
R

E
S

K
E

Y
 A

C
T

IV
IT

Y
D

IR
K

E
Y

 M
IL

E
S

T
O

N
E

 &
 

C
O

M
P

L
E

T
IO

N
 D

A
T

E

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
L

E
A

D
 O

F
F

IC
E

R
T

R
A

F
F

IC
 L

IG
H

T
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 T

O
 3

1
 M

a
rc

h
 

0
7

E
X

P
L

A
N

A
T

IO
N

 O
F

 

S
L

IP
P

A
G

E
/F

A
IL

U
R

E
 T

O
 M

E
E

T
 

T
A

R
G

E
T

R
E

M
E

D
IA

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

 

IN
C

L
U

D
IN

G
 N

E
W

 D
E

A
D

L
IN

E
S

P
ro

v
id

e
 t
ra

in
in

g
 a

n
d
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

a
ll 

p
ri
m

a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o
ls

 i
n
 p

ro
v
id

in
g
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 i
n
te

rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 i
n
 

E
n
g
lis

h
 a

n
d
 m

a
th

e
m

a
ti
c
s
 f
o
r 

u
n
d
e
rp

e
rf

o
rm

in
g
 p

u
p
ils

 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 t
a
rg

e
t 
g
ro

u
p
s
 s

u
c
h
 a

s
 b

o
y
s
, 

e
th

n
ic

 g
ro

u
p
s
 e

tc
.

C
H

S
P

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 d

e
liv

e
re

d
 f
o
r 

1
0
0
%

 o
f 

p
ri
m

a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o
ls

 b
y
 J

u
ly

 0
7

In
te

rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
s
 a

re
 b

e
tt
e
r 

m
a
tc

h
e
d
 t
o
 n

e
e
d
s
 o

f 
p
a
rt

ic
u
la

r 
g
ro

u
p
s
, 

le
a
d
in

g
 t
o
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
d
 a

tt
a
in

m
e
n
t

M
o
n
ic

a
 F

o
rt

y
G

R
E

E
N

D
e
v
e
lo

p
 t
h
e
 E

x
te

n
d
e
d
 S

c
h
o
o
ls

 i
n
it
ia

ti
v
e
 o

ff
e
ri
n
g
 a

 c
o
h
e
re

n
t 
s
e
t 
o
f 
s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 t
o
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 

p
a
re

n
ts

 w
it
h
in

 w
a
lk

in
g
 d

is
ta

n
c
e
 o

f 
h
o
m

e

C
H

S
C

o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 o

n
 E

x
te

n
d
e
d
 S

c
h
o
o
ls

 

S
tr

a
te

g
y
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
 b

y
 M

a
y
 0

6

E
x
te

n
d
e
d
 s

c
h
o
o
ls

 o
ff
e
r 

w
ra

p
-a

ro
u
n
d
 

c
h
ild

c
a
re

, 
s
tu

d
y
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 a
c
ti
v
it
ie

s
, 

p
a
re

n
ti
n
g
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 f
a
m

ily
 

le
a
rn

in
g
 a

n
d
 e

a
s
y
 a

n
d
 s

w
if
t 
re

fe
rr

a
ls

 t
o
 

o
th

e
r 

a
g
e
n
c
ie

s

A
y
u
b
 A

li
G

R
E

E
N

U
p
d
a
te

 t
h
e
 S

p
e
c
ia

l 
E

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
N

e
e
d
s
 a

n
d
 I
n
c
lu

s
io

n
 A

c
ti
o
n
 P

la
n
 a

n
d
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 t
h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
 d

is
a
b
le

d
 p

e
o
p
le

 r
e
a
c
h
e
d
 b

y
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s

C
H

S
S

tr
a
te

g
y
 p

ro
d
u
c
e
d
, 
d
is

tr
ib

u
te

d
 t
o
 

a
n
d
 e

x
p
la

in
e
d
 t
o
 k

e
y
 s

ta
k
e
h
o
ld

e
rs

 

(A
u
g
u
s
t 
0
6
)

G
R

E
E

N

D
e
v
e
lo

p
 n

e
tw

o
rk

 f
o
r 

fe
m

a
le

 y
o
u
th

 w
o
rk

e
rs

 a
n
d
 w

o
rk

 w
it
h
 y

o
u
n
g
 w

o
m

e
n
 t
o
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
 a

 

lo
n
g
e
r-

te
rm

 d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
p
la

n
 f
o
r 

w
o
rk

 w
it
h
 g

ir
ls

 a
n
d
 y

o
u
n
g
 w

o
m

e
n
 i
n
 T

o
w

e
r 

H
a
m

le
ts

C
H

S
E

s
ta

b
lis

h
 m

o
n
th

ly
 n

e
tw

o
rk

in
g
 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 f
o
r 

fe
m

a
le

 y
o
u
th

 

w
o
rk

e
rs

. 
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
 

p
ro

d
u
c
e
d
, 
d
is

tr
ib

u
te

d
 a

n
d
 

e
x
p
la

in
e
d
 t
o
 k

e
y
 s

ta
k
e
h
o
ld

e
rs

 

(A
u
g
u
s
t 
0
6
)

G
R

E
E

N

D
e
v
e
lo

p
 a

n
 A

c
ti
o
n
 P

la
n
 f
o
r 

m
o
re

 c
o
-o

rd
in

a
te

d
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 f
o
r 

L
e
s
b
ia

n
, 
G

a
y
, 
B

is
e
x
u
a
l 
a
n
d
 

T
ra

n
s
g
e
n
d
e
r 

(L
G

B
T

) 
y
o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

C
H

S
S

tr
a
te

g
y
 p

ro
d
u
c
e
d
, 
d
is

tr
ib

u
te

d
 t
o
 

a
n
d
 e

x
p
la

in
e
d
 t
o
 k

e
y
 s

ta
k
e
h
o
ld

e
rs

 

(A
u
g
u
s
t 
0
6
)

G
R

E
E

N
A

c
ti
o
n
 P

la
n
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 a

n
d
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 c

a
rr

ie
d
 o

u
t.

F
u
n
d
 a

 p
ro

je
c
t 
to

 b
u
ild

 t
h
e
 c

a
p
a
c
it
y
 o

f 
th

e
 S

o
m

a
li 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 t
o
 d

e
liv

e
r 

h
ig

h
 q

u
a
lit

y
 a

n
d
 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 y

o
u
th

 w
o
rk

 a
n
d
 p

ro
m

o
te

 e
q
u
a
lit

y
 o

f 
a
c
c
e
s
s
 f
o
r 

S
o
m

a
li 

y
o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 t
o
 Y

o
u
th

 a
n
d
 

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 p

ro
v
is

io
n

C
H

S
A

u
d
it
 o

f 
th

e
 y

o
u
th

 w
o
rk

 p
ro

v
is

io
n
 

a
v
a
ila

b
le

 t
o
 y

o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 

c
o
m

p
le

te
d
 (

A
u
g
u
s
t 
0
6
)

S
o
m

a
li 

Y
o
u
th

 S
tr

a
te

g
y
 G

ro
u
p
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 

re
g
u
la

rl
y
, 
in

c
re

a
s
e
d
 q

u
a
lit

y
 

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
, 
a
d
v
ic

e
 a

n
d
 t
ra

in
in

g
 

d
e
liv

e
re

d
 t
o
 S

o
m

a
li 

y
o
u
th

 

o
rg

a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
s

S
te

v
e
 S

ip
p
le

G
R

E
E

N

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
 c

o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
b
u
s
in

e
s
s
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 t
h
e
 T

o
w

e
r 

H
a
m

le
ts

 B
u
s
in

e
s
s
 F

o
ru

m

D
R

E
x
p
lo

re
 a

n
d
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
 w

a
y
s
 o

f 

re
a
c
h
in

g
 B

M
E

 S
M

E
 (

s
m

a
ll 

to
 

m
e
d
iu

m
 e

n
te

rp
ri
s
e
s
) 

s
e
c
to

r 

M
a
rc

h
 0

7

L
o
c
a
l 
S

M
E

 a
re

 b
e
tt
e
r 

in
fo

rm
e
d
 o

n
 h

o
w

 

to
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 a

n
d
 p

re
p
a
re

 f
o
r 

la
rg

e
r 

c
o
n
tr

a
c
ts

/s
u
p
p
ly

 c
h
a
in

s

P
a
tr

ic
ia

 H
o
lm

e
s

G
R

E
E

N

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
 t
h
e
 b

u
s
in

e
s
s
 t
o
u
ri
s
m

 a
n
d
 H

L
T

T
 (

H
o
s
p
it
a
lit

y
, 
L
e
is

u
re

, 
T

ra
v
e
l,
 T

o
u
ri
s
m

) 

s
e
c
to

rs
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 t
h
e
 b

u
s
in

e
s
s
 t
o
u
ri
s
m

 p
la

n
 i
n
 c

o
n
ju

n
c
ti
o
n
 w

it
h
 V

is
it
 L

o
n
d
o
n
, 
E

x
c
e
l 
L
o
n
d
o
n
, 

C
a
n
a
ry

 W
h
a
rf

 M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
a
n
d
 L

o
n
d
o
n
 C

it
y
 A

ir
p
o
rt

D
R

D
e
v
e
lo

p
 n

e
w

 s
p
e
c
ia

lis
t 
m

a
te

ri
a
ls

 

w
h
ic

h
 t
a
rg

e
t 
L
G

B
T

 c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

M
a
rc

h
 0

7

P
ro

fi
le

 r
a
is

e
d
 o

f 
re

ta
il 

a
n
d
 H

L
T

T
 

b
u
s
in

e
s
s
e
s
 a

n
d
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
s
p
e
n
d

P
a
tr

ic
ia

 H
o
lm

e
s

G
R

E
E

N

P
ro

v
id

e
 D

is
a
b
ili

ty
 A

w
a
re

n
e
s
s
 t
ra

in
in

g
 f
o
r 

v
e
n
u
e
s
 f
e
a
tu

re
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 V

e
n
u
e
 G

u
id

e
D

R
R

a
is

e
 a

w
a
re

n
e
s
s
 o

f 
th

e
 D

D
A

1
0
%

 t
ra

in
e
d
 b

y
 A

p
ri
l 
0
7

1
0
0
%

 w
ill

 r
e
c
e
iv

e
 w

ri
tt
e
n
 a

d
v
ic

e
 b

y
 

A
p
ri
l 
0
7

S
e
rv

ic
e
 a

n
d
 a

c
c
e
s
s
ib

ili
ty

 o
f 
v
e
n
u
e
s
 h

a
s
 

im
p
ro

v
e
d

P
a
tr

ic
ia

 H
o
lm

e
s

G
R

E
E

N

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 w

o
rk

 w
it
h
 C

o
rp

o
ra

te
 S

o
c
ia

l 
R

e
s
p
o
n
s
ib

ili
ty

 d
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
ts

 (
in

 b
u
s
in

e
s
s
 s

e
c
to

r)
 t
o
 

ra
is

e
 a

w
a
re

n
e
s
s
 o

f 
c
u
lt
u
ra

l 
d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 i
n
 t
h
e
 b

o
ro

u
g
h

D
R

R
e
v
ie

w
 a

ft
e
r 

6
 m

o
n
th

s
 a

n
d
 

c
o
m

p
le

te
 b

y
 M

a
rc

h
 0

7

C
o
n
tr

ib
u
te

 t
o
 a

n
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 l
o
c
a
l 

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
ra

te
s
 o

f

1
0
%

S
u
e
 H

in
d
s

G
R

E
E

N

P
ro

m
o
te

 S
p
o
rt

 a
n
d
 R

e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 F

a
c
ili

ti
e
s
 a

n
d
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
s
 t
o
 d

is
a
b
le

d
 p

e
o
p
le

 a
n
d
 o

ld
e
r 

p
e
o
p
le

E
C

D
V

D
 p

ro
d
u
c
e
d
 a

n
d
 d

is
tr

ib
u
te

d
 b

y
 

J
u
n
e
 0

6

In
c
re

a
s
e
d
 p

a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n
 f
ro

m
 o

ld
e
r 

p
e
o
p
le

 a
n
d
 d

is
a
b
le

d
 p

e
o
p
le

P
a
u
l 
M

a
rt

in
d
ill

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

Im
p
le

m
e
n
t 
a
n
 e

x
p
a
n
d
e
d
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 o

f 
y
o
u
th

 a
rt

s
 p

ro
je

c
ts

 a
c
ro

s
s
 t
h
e
 B

o
ro

u
g
h

E
C

D
e
liv

e
r 

a
 m

in
im

u
m

 o
f 
4
2
0
 

w
o
rk

s
h
o
p
s
 a

c
ro

s
s
 t
h
e
 b

o
ro

u
g
h
 b

y
 

M
a
rc

h
 0

7

5
5
0
 y

o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 t
o
 p

a
rt

ic
ip

a
te

 b
y
 

M
a
rc

h
 0

7

P
a
u
l 
M

a
rt

in
d
ill

G
R

E
E

N
A

c
h
ie

v
e
d
 a

b
o
v
e
 t
a
rg

e
t 
- 

6
5
2
 y

o
u
th

 a
rt

 w
o
rk

s
h
o
p
s
 

w
it
h
 3

,9
7
9
 y

o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 

(1
3
-1

9
y
o
)

D
e
liv

e
r 

a
 t
a
rg

e
te

d
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 o

f 
s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

n
d
 a

c
ti
v
it
ie

s
 t
o
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 u

n
d
e
r 

1
6
s
 l
ib

ra
ry

 

m
e
m

b
e
rs

h
ip

E
C

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 a

n
d
 

d
e
liv

e
re

d
 (

fr
o
m

 J
u
n
e
 0

6
)

N
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 

p
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
n
g
 i
n
 a

c
ti
v
it
ie

s
 a

n
d
 

b
e
c
o
m

in
g
 a

c
ti
v
e
 u

s
e
rs

 o
f 
lib

ra
ry

 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 i
n
 I
d
e
a
 S

to
re

s
 m

o
n
it
o
re

d
 

m
o
n
th

ly

In
c
re

a
s
e
d
 p

a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
y
o
u
n
g
 

p
e
o
p
le

 a
t 
Id

e
a
 S

to
re

s

Ia
n
 M

c
N

ic
o
l

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

E
n
s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
D

is
a
b
le

d
 C

h
ild

re
n
 i
s
 m

a
x
im

is
e
d

C
H

S
M

o
n
it
o
r 

P
E

P
 c

o
m

p
le

ti
o
n
 6

 m
o
n
th

ly
 

R
e
v
ie

w
 o

f 
a
c
h
ie

v
e
m

e
n
t 
c
o
m

p
le

te
d
 

b
y
 D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

0
6

R
e
v
ie

w
 i
n
fo

rm
s
 a

c
ti
o
n
s

A
n
n
 G

o
ld

s
m

it
h

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

In
c
re

a
s
e
 D

ir
e
c
t 
p
a
y
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 D

is
a
b
le

d
 C

h
ild

re
n

C
H

S
S

ta
ff
 t
ra

in
e
d
 b

y
 J

a
n
u
a
ry

 0
7

U
s
e
r 

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 o

n
 d

ir
e
c
t 

p
a
y
m

e
n
ts

 d
is

tr
ib

u
te

d
 b

y
 

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

2
0
0
6

M
o
re

 c
h
ild

re
n
 a

n
d
 f
a
m

ili
e
s
 h

a
v
e
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 D

ir
e
c
t 
p
a
y
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 e

n
a
b
le

 

th
e
m

 t
o
 h

a
v
e
 m

o
re

 d
ir
e
c
t 
c
o
n
tr

o
l 
o
f 
th

e
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 t
h
e
y
 r

e
c
e
iv

e

K
a
m

in
i 
R

a
m

b
e
lla

s
G

R
E

E
N

N
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
 d

is
a
b
le

d
 p

e
o
p
le

, 

y
o
u
n
g
 w

o
m

e
n
 a

n
d
 L

G
B

T
 y

o
u
n
g
 

p
e
o
p
le

 r
e
a
c
h
e
d
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
d
 f
ro

m
 2

0
0
4
-

5
 b

a
s
e
lin

e

S
te

v
e
 S

ip
p
le

L
o

n
d

o
n

 B
o

ro
u

g
h

 o
f 

T
o

w
e

r 
H

a
m

le
ts

7
E

A
P

 2
0

0
6

/7

Page 85



E
q

u
a

li
ti

e
s

 A
c

ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 2
0

0
6

/0
7

 M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

 R
e

p
o

rt
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 1

D
E

S
R

E
S

K
E

Y
 A

C
T

IV
IT

Y
D

IR
K

E
Y

 M
IL

E
S

T
O

N
E

 &
 

C
O

M
P

L
E

T
IO

N
 D

A
T

E

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
L

E
A

D
 O

F
F

IC
E

R
T

R
A

F
F

IC
 L

IG
H

T
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 T

O
 3

1
 M

a
rc

h
 

0
7

E
X

P
L

A
N

A
T

IO
N

 O
F

 

S
L

IP
P

A
G

E
/F

A
IL

U
R

E
 T

O
 M

E
E

T
 

T
A

R
G

E
T

R
E

M
E

D
IA

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

 

IN
C

L
U

D
IN

G
 N

E
W

 D
E

A
D

L
IN

E
S

E
s
ta

b
lis

h
 w

e
b
s
it
e
 l
a
n
g
u
a
g
e
 b

u
tt
o
n
 l
in

k
 t
o
 t
ra

n
s
la

te
d
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 

A
S

E
x
is

ti
n
g
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 

tr
a
n
s
la

te
d
 D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

0
6

U
p
lo

a
d
 a

n
d
 l
in

k
 t
h
e
 l
a
n
g
u
a
g
e
 

b
u
tt
o
n
 F

e
b
ru

a
ry

 0
7

N
e
w

 s
e
rv

ic
e
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 t
ra

n
s
la

te
d
 

a
n
d
 u

p
lo

a
d
e
d
 M

a
rc

h
 0

7

M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 o

f 
th

e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
h
it
s
 o

n
 t
h
e
 

w
e
b
s
it
e
 e

v
id

e
n
c
e
 a

n
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 u

s
a
g
e

E
m

d
a
d
 H

a
q
u
e
/L

o
rn

a
 

B
a
y
fo

rd

R
E

D
S

o
m

e
 e

x
is

ti
n
g
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 

tr
a
n
s
la

te
d
, 
b
u
t 
c
o
u
ld

 n
o
t 

s
e
n
s
ib

ly
 b

e
 f
in

a
lis

e
d
 u

n
ti
l 
it
 

is
 k

n
o
w

 e
x
a
c
tl
y
 w

h
e
n
 t
h
e
 

D
ir
e
c
to

ra
te

 w
ill

 c
h
a
n
g
e
 i
ts

 

n
a
m

e
 a

n
d
 w

h
a
t 
it
 w

ill
 

c
h
a
n
g
e
 t
o
.

T
h
is

 a
c
ti
o
n
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 s

u
p
e
rc

e
e
d
e
d
 

b
y
 t
h
e
 c

o
rp

o
ra

te
 p

ro
je

c
t 
to

 

re
d
e
s
ig

n
 a

n
d
 r

e
la

u
n
c
h
 t
h
e
 

w
e
b
s
it
e
. 
A

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

is
 p

ro
je

c
t 
a
ll 

d
ir
e
c
to

ra
te

 w
e
b
s
it
e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 w

ill
 b

e
 u

p
d
a
te

d
 s

o
 t
h
is

 

w
o
u
ld

 b
e
 t
h
e
 b

e
s
t 
ti
m

e
 t
o
 a

d
d
 

tr
a
n
s
la

ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 w

e
b
s
it
e
. 

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
 s

ta
n
d
a
rd

s
 o

n
 t
ra

n
s
la

ti
o
n
 

m
a
y
 b

e
 i
n
tr

o
d
u
c
e
d

T
h
e
 c

u
rr

e
n
t 
la

u
n
c
h
 d

a
te

 f
o
r 

th
e
 

n
e
w

 w
e
b
s
it
e
 i
s
 e

n
d
 D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
0
7
. 
N

e
w

 s
e
rv

ic
e
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 

w
it
h
 t
ra

n
s
la

ti
o
n
s
 w

ill
 b

e
 w

ri
tt
e
n
 

b
e
tw

e
e
n
 J

u
n
e
 a

n
d
 D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
0
7
 p

ro
v
id

e
d
 t
h
e
 n

e
e
d
 f
o
r 

tr
a
n
s
la

ti
o
n
s
 i
s
 a

g
re

e
d
 

c
o
rp

o
ra

te
ly

.

E
n
s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 
in

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 r

e
g
a
rd

in
g
 a

c
c
e
s
s
in

g
 s

o
c
ia

l 
c
a
re

 i
s
 r

e
a
d
ily

 a
v
a
ila

b
le

 t
o
 u

s
e
rs

, 

c
a
re

rs
, 
c
h
ild

re
n
 a

n
d
 f
a
m

ili
e
s

C
H

S
/A

S
In

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 m

a
te

ri
a
ls

 p
ri
n
te

d
 a

n
d
 

d
is

tr
ib

u
te

d
 b

y
 O

c
to

b
e
r 

2
0
0
6

In
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 r

e
a
d
ily

 a
v
a
ila

b
le

 t
o
 u

s
e
rs

, 

c
a
re

rs
, 
c
h
ild

re
n
 a

n
d
 f
a
m

ili
e
s
 f
ro

m
 

d
is

a
d
v
a
n
ta

g
e
d
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s

K
a
m

in
i 
R

a
m

b
e
lla

s
G

R
E

E
N

E
n
s
u
re

 E
n
g
lis

h
 l
a
n
g
u
a
g
e
 l
e
s
s
o
n
s
 a

re
 a

c
c
e
s
s
ib

le
 a

n
d
 a

v
a
ila

b
le

 t
o
 f
a
m

ili
e
s
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 l
in

k
s
 t
o
 

lo
c
a
l 
p
ro

v
id

e
rs

C
H

S
In

 p
la

c
e
 b

y
 M

a
y
 0

6
E

n
a
b
le

 c
h
ild

re
n
 a

n
d
 y

o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 t
o
 

fu
lf
il 

th
e
ir
 e

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 p

ro
fe

s
s
io

n
a
l 

p
o
te

n
ti
a
l

A
n
n
 G

o
ld

s
m

it
h

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

T
a
rg

e
t 
N

R
S

 f
u
n
d
in

g
 o

n
 a

c
c
e
le

ra
ti
n
g
 p

ro
g
re

s
s
 o

n
 L

A
A

 a
n
d
 I
m

p
ro

v
in

g
 H

e
a
lt
h
 a

n
d
 W

e
llb

e
in

g
 

S
tr

a
te

g
y

A
S

P
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 a

g
re

e
d
 b

y
 L

iv
in

g
 W

e
ll 

C
P

A
G

 M
a
y
 0

6
 

A
llo

c
a
ti
o
n
s
 a

g
re

e
d
 b

y
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
G

ro
u
p
 J

u
n
e
 0

6
 

A
ll 

p
ro

je
c
ts

 f
u
lly

 o
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l 
b
y
 

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
6
 

B
e
tt
e
r 

c
o
-o

rd
in

a
te

d
, 
m

o
re

 l
o
c
a
lis

e
d
, 

m
o
re

 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
iv

e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s

J
o
h
n
 G

o
ld

u
p

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

P
ilo

t 
p
re

s
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
 o

f 
w

e
b
s
it
e
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 f
o
rm

a
ts

 a
c
c
e
s
s
ib

le
 t
o
 p

e
o
p
le

 w
it
h
 l
e
a
rn

in
g
 

d
is

a
b
ili

ti
e
s

A
S

L
a
u
n
c
h
 p

ilo
t 
s
it
e
 J

u
n
e
 0

6
 

In
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 r

e
a
d
ily

 a
v
a
ila

b
le

 t
o
 u

s
e
rs

 

a
n
d
 c

a
re

rs

J
o
h
n
 B

e
v
e
rt

o
n

G
R

E
E

N
T

h
e
 w

e
b
s
it
e
 i
s
 n

o
w

 u
p
 a

n
d
 

ru
n
n
in

g

In
v
e
s
t 
in

 a
n
d
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
 t
h
e
 w

o
rk

fo
rc

e
 f
o
r 

a
d
v
o
c
a
c
y
 a

n
d
 i
n
te

rp
re

ti
n
g
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

n
d
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
 

m
o
re

 c
u
lt
u
ra

lly
 d

iv
e
rs

e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 m

o
d
e
ls

A
S

O
u
tl
in

e
 b

id
 f
o
r 

N
R

F
 t
o
 f
u
n
d
 p

ilo
t 

p
ro

je
c
t 
to

 t
e
s
t 
m

o
d
e
l 
fo

r 
in

te
g
ra

te
d
 

in
te

rp
re

ti
n
g
 a

n
d
 t
ra

n
s
la

ti
o
n
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 

s
u
b
m

it
te

d
 A

p
ri
l 
0
6
. 
(D

e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
o
n
 

N
R

F
 f
u
n
d
in

g
)

M
o
d
e
l 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 f
o
r 

in
te

g
ra

te
d
 

in
te

rp
re

ti
n
g
 /
 t
ra

n
s
la

ti
o
n
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 w

it
h
 

T
o
w

e
r 

H
a
m

le
ts

 P
ri
m

a
ry

 C
a
re

 T
ru

s
t 

(T
H

P
C

T
) 

th
a
t 
ta

rg
e
ts

 u
n
m

e
t 
la

n
g
u
a
g
e
 

n
e
e
d

M
a
rg

o
t 
F

o
n
s
e
c
a

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

R
e
v
ie

w
 a

ll 
le

a
fl
e
ts

 a
n
d
 p

u
b
lic

it
y
 t
o
 e

n
s
u
re

 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 a

v
a
ila

b
le

 i
s
 c

o
m

p
le

te
 a

n
d
 a

c
c
e
s
s
ib

le
A

S
C

le
a
r 

s
ta

n
d
a
rd

s
, 
c
a
ta

lo
g
u
e
 

s
y
s
te

m
, 
a
n
d
 p

u
b
lic

a
ti
o
n
 p

ro
c
e
s
s
 –

 

A
u
g
u
s
t 
0
6

C
o
lle

c
t,
 a

u
d
it
 a

n
d
 c

a
ta

lo
g
u
e
 a

ll 

e
x
is

ti
n
g
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 –

 S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
6

Id
e
n
ti
fy

 g
a
p
s
 a

n
d
 u

p
d
a
te

s
 /
 n

e
e
d
 

fo
r 

tr
a
n
s
la

ti
o
n
s
 &

 s
c
h
e
d
u
le

 w
o
rk

 –
 

O
c
to

b
e
r 

0
6
 

P
u
b
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 c

o
m

p
le

te
 –

 M
a
rc

h
 0

7
 

C
o
m

p
re

h
e
n
s
iv

e
, 
u
p
 t
o
 d

a
te

, 
a
c
c
e
s
s
ib

le
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 l
e
a
fl
e
ts

 a
v
a
ila

b
le

 t
o
 

s
ta

ff
 a

n
d
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 u

s
e
rs

M
a
rg

o
t 
F

o
n
s
e
c
a

G
R

E
E

N
S

ta
n
d
a
rd

s
, 
p
u
b
lic

a
ti
o
n
 

p
ro

c
e
s
s
 a

n
d
 c

a
ta

lo
g
u
e
 

s
y
s
te

m
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
. 

E
x
is

ti
n
g
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 

s
o
lle

c
te

d
. 
G

a
p
s
 t
o
 b

e
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 a

n
d
 t
ra

n
s
la

ti
o
n
s
 

/p
u
b
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
 b

y
 

M
a
rc

h
 0

7

R
e
v
ie

w
 A

d
u
lt
s
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 o

n
 w

e
b
s
it
e
 t
o
 e

n
s
u
re

 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 c

o
m

p
le

te
 a

n
d
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
ib

le

A
S

R
e
v
ie

w
 a

c
c
u
ra

c
y
 a

n
d
 

c
o
m

p
le

te
n
e
s
s
 o

f 
e
x
is

ti
n
g
 

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 –

 A
u
g
u
s
t 
0
6

D
ra

ft
/c

o
lle

c
t 
u
p
d
a
te

s
 –

 O
c
to

b
e
r 

0
6

U
p
lo

a
d
 t
o
 w

e
b
s
it
e
 –

 D
e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

0
6

C
o
m

p
re

h
e
n
s
iv

e
, 
u
p
 t
o
 d

a
te

 s
e
rv

ic
e
 

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 a

v
a
ila

b
le

 e
le

c
tr

o
n
ic

a
lly

.

M
a
rg

o
t 
F

o
n
s
e
c
a

G
R

E
E

N

W
o
rk

 w
it
h
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 a

n
d
 l
o
c
a
l 
m

e
d
ia

 t
o
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 o

ld
e
r 

p
e
o
p
le

’s
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 f
ro

m
 

m
in

o
ri
ty

 e
th

n
ic

 c
o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s

A
S

C
a
m

p
a
ig

n
 l
a
u
n
c
h
e
d
 J

u
n
e
 0

6

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
B

M
E

 o
ld

e
r 

p
e
o
p
le

 

a
s
s
e
s
s
e
d
 f
o
r 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 t
o
 r

e
fl
e
c
t 

p
o
p
u
la

ti
o
n
 p

ro
fi
le

 b
y
 D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

0
6

T
h
e
 p

e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
 B

M
E

 o
ld

e
r 

p
e
o
p
le

 

(6
5
+

) 
w

h
o
 r

e
c
e
iv

e
 a

s
 a

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 
is

 

th
e
 s

a
m

e
 a

s
 t
h
a
t 
o
f 
th

e
 w

h
it
e
 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
. 
T

h
e
 p

e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
o
ld

e
r 

p
e
o
p
le

 w
h
o
 r

e
c
e
iv

e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

s
 a

 

re
s
u
lt
 o

f 
a
n
 a

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 
is

 t
h
e
 s

a
m

e
 a

s
 

th
e
 w

h
ile

 c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
.

Ia
n
 Q

u
e
e
n
a
n

G
R

E
E

N
T

h
e
 p

e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
B

M
E

 

o
ld

e
r 

p
e
o
p
le

 r
e
c
e
iv

in
g
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
ts

 a
n
d
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 

a
s
 a

 r
e
s
u
lt
 a

re
 b

o
th

 s
lig

h
tl
y
 

h
ig

h
e
r 

th
a
n
 t
h
e
 p

e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 

o
f 
th

e
 w

h
it
e
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

re
c
e
iv

in
g
 t
h
e
s
e
.

L
o

n
d

o
n

 B
o

ro
u

g
h

 o
f 

T
o

w
e

r 
H

a
m

le
ts

8
E

A
P

 2
0

0
6

/7

Page 86



E
q

u
a

li
ti

e
s

 A
c

ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 2
0

0
6

/0
7

 M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

 R
e

p
o

rt
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 1

D
E

S
R

E
S

K
E

Y
 A

C
T

IV
IT

Y
D

IR
K

E
Y

 M
IL

E
S

T
O

N
E

 &
 

C
O

M
P

L
E

T
IO

N
 D

A
T

E

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
L

E
A

D
 O

F
F

IC
E

R
T

R
A

F
F

IC
 L

IG
H

T
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 T

O
 3

1
 M

a
rc

h
 

0
7

E
X

P
L

A
N

A
T

IO
N

 O
F

 

S
L

IP
P

A
G

E
/F

A
IL

U
R

E
 T

O
 M

E
E

T
 

T
A

R
G

E
T

R
E

M
E

D
IA

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

 

IN
C

L
U

D
IN

G
 N

E
W

 D
E

A
D

L
IN

E
S

F
a
c
ili

ta
te

 a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 C

h
ild

 a
n
d
 A

d
o
le

s
c
e
n
t 
M

e
n
ta

l 
H

e
a
lt
h
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 (

C
A

M
H

S
) 

b
y
 p

ro
v
id

in
g
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 i
n
 s

c
h
o
o
ls

, 
e
x
te

n
d
e
d
 s

c
h
o
o
ls

  
a
n
d
 c

h
ild

re
n
’s

 c
e
n
tr

e
s
. 

C
H

S
T

h
ro

u
g
h
 j
o
in

t 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 a

n
d
 

re
v
ie

w
in

g
 b

e
tw

e
e
n
 C

A
M

H
S

 a
n
d
 

e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 o

th
e
r 

a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
,

E
n
s
u
re

 a
d
e
q
u
a
te

 a
c
c
e
s
s
 f
o
r 

L
o
o
k
e
d
 A

ft
e
r 

C
h
ild

re
n
 t
o
 C

A
M

H
S

 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s

E
n
s
u
re

 a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 C

A
M

H
S

 a
d
v
ic

e
 

fo
r 

c
h
ild

re
n
 w

it
h
 a

 l
e
a
rn

in
g
 

d
is

a
b
ili

ty
 b

y
 M

a
rc

h
 0

7

2
2
5
 d

a
y
s
 C

A
M

H
S

 i
n
p
u
t 
in

to
 

c
h
ild

re
n
’s

 c
e
n
tr

e
s
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
 s

a
m

e
 

in
to

 o
th

e
r 

e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 s

e
tt
in

g
s
 b

y
 

J
u
n
e
 0

6

4
5
0
 d

a
y
s
 C

A
M

H
S

 i
n
p
u
t 
in

to
 

c
h
ild

re
n
’s

 c
e
n
tr

e
s
 b

y
 M

a
rc

h
 0

7

Im
p
ro

v
e
d
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 i
s
 d

e
m

o
n
s
tr

a
te

d
K

a
m

in
i 
R

a
m

b
e
lla

s
G

R
E

E
N

D
e
v
e
lo

p
 /
 p

ro
m

o
te

 v
o
lu

n
te

e
ri
n
g
 /
 w

o
rk

 o
p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s
 f
o
r 

o
ld

e
r 

p
e
o
p
le

. 
A

S
B

V
R

 O
ld

e
r 

P
e
o
p
le

 I
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

P
la

n
 a

g
re

e
d
 J

u
n
e
 0

6

In
c
re

a
s
e
d
 e

n
g
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
in

 c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

a
n
d
 p

ro
m

o
ti
o
n
 o

f 
o
p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s
 f
o
r 

o
ld

e
r 

p
e
o
p
le

.

J
o
h
n
 G

o
ld

u
p

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

E
n
s
u
re

 i
n
te

rp
re

ti
n
g
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

re
 m

a
d
e
 a

v
a
ila

b
le

 f
o
r 

a
ll 

im
p
o
rt

a
n
t 
in

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 e

x
c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 

a
n
d
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
s
 w

it
h
 f
a
m

ili
e
s
. 

A
S

/C
H

S
O

n
g
o
in

g
, 
re

v
ie

w
e
d
 q

u
a
rt

e
rl
y
.

In
te

rp
re

ti
n
g
 a

n
d
 t
ra

n
s
la

ti
o
n
 i
s
 

c
o
n
s
is

te
n
tl
y
 a

v
a
ila

b
le

K
a
m

in
i 
R

a
m

b
e
lla

s
G

R
E

E
N

E
n
s
u
re

 D
o
m

e
s
ti
c
 V

io
le

n
c
e
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 a

v
a
ila

b
le

 t
o
 r

e
fu

g
e
e
s

C
E

O
n
g
o
in

g
Im

p
ro

v
e
d
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n

P
h
ili

p
p
a
 C

h
ip

p
in

g
G

R
E

E
N

P
u
b
lic

 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 o

n
 D

V
 

h
a
s
 b

e
e
n
 d

is
tr

ib
u
te

d
 

th
ro

u
g
h
 a

 w
id

e
 r

a
n
g
e
 o

f 

u
n
iv

e
rs

e
a
l 
s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 -

 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 h

e
a
lt
h
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 

a
n
d
 s

c
h
o
o
ls

, 
a
n
d
 2

5
 

o
u
tr

e
a
c
h
 s

ta
lls

 h
a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 

h
e
ld

 a
t 
c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 e

v
e
n
ts

. 

W
a
rr

io
r 

W
o
m

e
n
 C

o
u
rs

e
 

c
o
m

p
le

te
d
 w

it
h
 r

e
fu

g
e
e
 

g
ro

u
p
 a

t 
O

x
fo

rd
 H

o
u
s
e
. 

M
a
jo

r 
c
o
n
fe

re
n
c
e
 o

n
 

M
ig

ra
n
t 
&

 B
A

M
E

 w
o
m

e
n
 

p
la

n
n
e
d
 f
o
r 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
7
.

E
n
s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 
u
p
 t
o
 d

a
te

 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 o

n
 d

ru
g
s
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 r

e
a
c
h
e
s
 t
h
e
 r

e
fu

g
e
e
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
y

C
E

O
n
g
o
in

g
Im

p
ro

v
e
d
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n

G
ill

y
 C

o
tt
e
w

G
R

E
E

N
B

o
ro

u
g
h
-w

id
e
 s

tu
d
y
 o

f 

re
fu

g
e
e
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
 t
o
 

id
e
n
ti
fy

 g
a
p
s
 i
n
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 

c
o
m

p
le

te
d
. 
W

o
rk

s
h
o
p
s
 

ta
rg

e
ti
n
g
 s

p
e
c
if
ic

 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 

a
g
re

e
d
 b

e
tw

e
e
n
 r

e
fu

g
e
e
 

g
ro

u
p
s
 a

n
d
 d

ru
g
s
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s

E
n
s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 
R

e
fu

g
e
e
 G

ro
u
p
s
 a

re
 f
a
c
ili

ta
te

d
 t
o
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 s

u
b
s
ta

n
c
e
 m

is
u
s
e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 

th
e
 p

ro
v
is

io
n
 o

f 
s
a
te

lli
te

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 p

ro
v
id

e
d
 b

y
 N

e
w

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ts

' S
u
p
p
o
rt

 S
c
h
e
m

e

C
E

O
n
g
o
in

g
Im

p
ro

v
e
d
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n

G
ill

y
 C

o
tt
e
w

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

O
ff
ic

e
r 

w
o
rk

in
g
 w

it
h
 b

o
th

 

B
a
n
g
la

d
e
s
h
i 
a
n
d
 S

o
m

a
li 

m
o
s
q
u
e
s
 t
o
 r

a
is

e
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 o

f 

d
ru

g
 a

w
a
re

n
e
s
s
. 
D

A
T

 

w
o
rk

in
g
 w

it
h
 h

o
s
te

ls
 a

n
d
 

h
o
m

e
le

s
s
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 v

ia
 t
h
e
 

D
ru

g
 a

n
d
 A

lc
o
h
o
l 
n
e
tw

o
rk

 

to
 e

n
s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 
a
ll 

g
ro

u
p
s
 

h
a
v
e
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 

o
n
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
. 
D

A
T

 f
u
n
d
s
 

In
te

rp
re

ti
n
g
 S

e
rv

ic
e
 f
o
r 

d
ru

g
s
 a

g
e
n
c
ie

s

L
o

n
d

o
n

 B
o

ro
u

g
h

 o
f 

T
o

w
e

r 
H

a
m

le
ts

9
E

A
P

 2
0

0
6

/7

Page 87



E
q

u
a

li
ti

e
s

 A
c

ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 2
0

0
6

/0
7

 M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

 R
e

p
o

rt
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 1

D
E

S
R

E
S

K
E

Y
 A

C
T

IV
IT

Y
D

IR
K

E
Y

 M
IL

E
S

T
O

N
E

 &
 

C
O

M
P

L
E

T
IO

N
 D

A
T

E

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
L

E
A

D
 O

F
F

IC
E

R
T

R
A

F
F

IC
 L

IG
H

T
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 T

O
 3

1
 M

a
rc

h
 

0
7

E
X

P
L

A
N

A
T

IO
N

 O
F

 

S
L

IP
P

A
G

E
/F

A
IL

U
R

E
 T

O
 M

E
E

T
 

T
A

R
G

E
T

R
E

M
E

D
IA

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

 

IN
C

L
U

D
IN

G
 N

E
W

 D
E

A
D

L
IN

E
S

Im
p
ro

v
e
 a

c
c
e
s
s
ib

ili
ty

 o
f 
th

e
 s

u
m

m
a
ry

 s
ta

te
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
a
c
c
o
u
n
ts

C
E

4
 p

a
g
e
 s

u
m

m
a
ry

 o
f 
a
c
c
o
u
n
ts

 t
o
 b

e
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
 i
n
to

 

c
o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
ts

 b
y
 N

o
v
e
m

b
e
r 

0
6

P
u
b
lis

h
 b

y
 D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

0
6

T
h
e
 s

u
m

m
a
ry

 o
f 
a
c
c
o
u
n
ts

 i
s
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
ib

le
 t
o
 a

 w
id

e
r 

ra
n
g
e
 o

f 
lo

c
a
l 

p
e
o
p
le

 a
n
d
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
s
 u

n
d
e
rs

ta
n
d
in

g
 o

f 

th
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il'

s
 f
in

a
n
c
e
s

A
la

n
 F

in
c
h

G
R

E
E

N
P

u
b
lic

a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
2
0
0
6
/0

7
 

le
a
fl
e
t 
ti
m

e
ta

b
le

d
 f
o
r 

N
o
v
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
0
7
 -

 f
o
llo

w
n
g
 

re
v
ie

w
 o

f 
fo

rm
a
t

T
o
 e

n
s
u
re

 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

T
a
x
 l
e
a
fl
e
t 
is

 a
c
c
e
s
s
ib

le
 t
o
 t
h
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y

C
E

M
o
n
it
o
r 

a
n
d
 e

n
s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 
e
q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 

a
n
d
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 

a
d
d
re

s
s
e
d
 b

y
 J

a
n
u
a
ry

 0
7

L
e
a
fl
e
t 
p
ro

d
u
c
e
d
 b

y
 M

a
rc

h
 0

7

T
h
e
re

 i
s
 a

n
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
d
 u

n
d
e
rs

ta
n
d
in

g
 

o
f 
h
o
w

 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

T
a
x
 i
s
 c

a
lc

u
la

te
d

A
la

n
 F

in
c
h

G
R

E
E

N
P

u
b
lic

a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
2
0
0
8
/0

9
 

le
a
fl
e
t 
ti
m

e
ta

b
le

d
 f
o
r 

M
a
rc

h
 2

0
0
8

P
ro

v
id

e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 t
o
 f
a
m

ili
e
s
 w

it
h
 E

n
g
lis

h
 a

s
 a

 s
e
c
o
n
d
 l
a
n
g
u
a
g
e
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 t
h
e
 f
a
m

ily
 c

e
n
tr

e
 

a
n
d
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 a

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 
p
ro

c
e
s
s

C
H

S
A

rr
a
n
g
e
m

e
n
ts

 i
n
 p

la
c
e
 f
ro

m
 A

p
ri
l,
 

2
0
0
6

A
rr

a
n
g
e
m

e
n
ts

 i
n
 p

la
c
e

A
n
n
 G

o
ld

s
m

it
h

G
R

E
E

N

D
e
v
e
lo

p
 a

n
d
 p

ro
v
id

e
 e

q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 t
ra

in
in

g
 f
o
r 

a
ll 

fr
o
n
tl
in

e
 s

ta
ff
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 t
h
o
s
e
 o

u
ts

id
e
 S

o
c
ia

l 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s
 e

.g
. 
F

a
c
ili

ti
e
s
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

A
S

B
ri
e
fi
n
g
 s

e
s
s
io

n
s
 a

n
d
 f
o
u
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

c
o
u
rs

e
 a

v
a
ila

b
le

 f
o
r 

s
ta

ff
 a

n
d
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
rs

A
ll 

m
a
n
a
g
e
rs

 a
tt
e
n
d
 l
e
g
is

la
ti
o
n
 

b
ri
e
fi
n
g
s
.

A
ll 

s
o
c
ia

l 
w

o
rk

 s
ta

ff
 t
o
 a

tt
e
n
d
 

e
q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 a

n
d
 a

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 

b
ri
e
fi
n
g
s
.

2
0
 m

a
n
a
g
e
rs

 t
o
 a

tt
e
n
d
 e

q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 

fo
u
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 c

o
u
rs

e
. 

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 s
ta

ff
 t
o
 a

tt
e
n
d
 e

q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 

b
ri
e
fi
n
g
s
.

E
IA

 t
ra

in
in

g
 a

v
a
ila

b
le

(M
a
rc

h
 0

7
)

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 d

e
liv

e
ry

 a
n
d
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

L
in

d
a
 C

ra
w

fo
rd

J
a
n
 H

ill

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

Im
p
ro

v
e
 a

c
c
e
s
s
ib

ili
ty

 o
f 
th

e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

w
e
b
 b

a
s
e
d
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
 w

e
b
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
ib

ili
ty

 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 a
s
 a

d
v
is

e
d
 i
n
 g

o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 
g
u
id

e
lin

e
s

C
E

L
o
o
k
 a

t 
o
p
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

a
 C

o
n
te

n
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
S

y
s
te

m

Im
p
le

m
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
 o

f 
a
 C

M
S

 f
o
r 

w
e
b
 

p
u
b
lis

h
in

g
 b

y
 A

p
ri
l 
2
0
0
7
 

J
a
n
e
 M

c
C

o
rm

ic
k

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

E
s
ta

b
lis

h
 C

o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
 F

o
ru

m
 i
n
v
o
lv

in
g
 t
h
e
 T

h
ir
d
 S

e
c
to

r,
 B

M
E

 G
ro

u
p
s
 a

n
d
 F

a
it
h
 g

ro
u
p
s
 t
o
 

in
c
re

a
s
e
 t
h
e
 c

a
p
a
c
it
y
 o

f 
c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 g

ro
u
p
s
 t
o
 r

e
s
p
o
n
d
 t
o
 d

ru
g
 r

e
la

te
d
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 a

n
d
 s

c
ru

ti
n
is

e
 

a
n
d
 s

h
a
p
e
 t
h
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
d
ru

g
 s

tr
a
te

g
y

C
E

F
ir
s
t 
re

p
o
rt

 t
o
 D

A
T

 P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

B
o
a
rd

 b
y
 J

u
n
e
 0

6

F
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 f
ro

m
 C

o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
 

F
o
ru

m
 t
o
 b

e
 a

 s
ta

n
d
in

g
 i
te

m
 o

n
 

D
A

T
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 B
o
a
rd

 a
g
e
n
d
a

In
c
re

a
s
e
d
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
V

C
S

 

o
rg

a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
s
 e

n
g
a
g
e
d
 i
n
 C

o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
 

F
o
ru

m

G
ill

y
 C

o
tt
e
w

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
 F

o
ru

m
 

e
s
ta

b
lis

h
e
d
 J

u
ly

 0
6
. 

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
 F

o
ru

m
 C

h
a
ir
 

a
tt
e
n
d
s
 D

A
T

 P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

B
o
a
rd

. 
F

if
te

e
n
 

o
rg

a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 

fa
it
h
, 
B

M
E

 a
n
d
 b

u
s
in

e
s
s
 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
 r

e
p
re

s
e
n
te

d
 

a
t 
th

e
 F

o
ru

m
.

P
ilo

t 
p
ro

v
is

io
n
 o

f 
in

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 p

a
re

n
ts

 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 P

a
re

n
t 
In

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 P

o
in

t 
(P

IP
) 

s
e
s
s
io

n
s
 i
n
 

s
c
h
o
o
ls

, 
C

h
ild

re
n
's

 C
e
n
tr

e
s
 a

n
d
 C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 v

e
n
u
e
s
 i
n
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 w
it
h
 P

ra
x
is

C
H

S
R

e
v
ie

w
 o

u
tc

o
m

e
s
 o

f 
p
ilo

t 
a
n
d
 

e
x
p
a
n
d
 i
f 
s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu

l 
(J

u
ly

 2
0
0
6
)

B
e
tt
e
r 

a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n

S
h
a
ro

n
 S

u
lli

v
a
n

G
R

E
E

N

O
B

J
E

C
T

IV
E

 9
 -

 T
o

 p
ro

m
o

te
 r

a
c

e
 e

q
u

a
li

ty
 a

n
d

 p
ro

m
o

te
 

g
o

o
d

 r
e

la
ti

o
n

s
 b

e
tw

e
e

n
 d

if
fe

re
n

t 
ra

c
ia

l 
g

ro
u

p
s

T
o
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 t
h
e
 I
n
te

rf
a
it
h
 f
o
ru

m
 m

e
e
t 
th

e
 t
a
rg

e
ts

 s
e
t 
o
u
t 
in

 t
h
e
 "

F
a
it
h
 C

a
p
a
c
it
y
 B

u
ild

in
g
 

F
u
n
d
" 

b
id

 f
o
c
u
s
in

g
 o

n
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
in

g
 f
a
it
h
 a

w
a
re

n
e
s
s
 a

n
d
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 c

o
h
e
s
io

n
.

C
E

/C
H

S
W

o
rk

e
r 

a
p
p
o
in

te
d
 -

 M
a
y
 0

6
 

In
te

rf
a
it
h
 w

e
e
k
 t
a
k
e
s
 p

la
c
e
 -

 

N
o
v
e
m

b
e
r 

0
6
 :
 t
a
rg

e
te

d
 v

is
it
s
 t
a
k
e
 

p
la

c
e
 i
n
 s

c
h
o
o
ls

 b
y
 A

p
ri
l 
0
7

T
a
rg

e
ts

 m
e
t 
a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 i
n
 I
n
te

rf
a
it
h
 

c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 b

u
ild

in
g
 f
u
n
d
 b

id
.

M
ic

h
a
e
l 
K

e
a
ti
n
g

G
R

E
E

N

E
n
s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 n

e
e
d
s
 o

f 
re

fu
g
e
e
s
 a

n
d
 r

e
la

te
d
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 a

re
 r

e
fl
e
c
te

d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 E

q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 A

c
ti
o
n
 

P
la

n
 a

n
d
 r

e
la

te
d
 s

tr
a
te

g
ic

 d
o
c
u
m

e
n
ta

ti
o
n
 t
o
 e

n
s
u
re

 a
 j
o
in

e
d
 u

p
 a

p
p
ro

a
c
h
 t
o
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 n

e
e
d
 

a
n
d
 r

a
is

in
g
 a

w
a
re

n
e
s
s

C
E

R
e
g
u
la

r 
a
tt
e
n
d
a
n
c
e
 a

t 
re

fu
g
e
e
 

fo
ru

m
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
s
 q

u
a
rt

e
rl
y

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 r
e
fu

g
e
e
 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
 a

re
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 E

A
P

 

a
n
d
 t
a
k
e
n
 f
o
rw

a
rd

M
ic

h
a
e
l 
K

e
a
ti
n
g

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

E
n
c
o
u
ra

g
e
 y

o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 t
o
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
 c

u
lt
u
ra

l 
e
x
c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 b

y
 p

ro
m

o
ti
n
g
 t
h
is

 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 

s
c
h
o
o
l,
 y

o
u
th

 w
o
rk

 a
n
d
 o

th
e
r 

s
e
tt
in

g
s

C
H

S
P

ilo
t 
e
x
c
h
a
n
g
e
 w

o
rk

 w
it
h
 o

n
e
 

s
c
h
o
o
l,
 o

n
e
 y

o
u
th

 p
ro

je
c
t 
a
n
d
 o

n
e
 

fa
it
h
 g

ro
u
p
 (

M
a
rc

h
 0

7
)

P
ilo

t 
e
v
a
lu

a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 p

o
s
it
iv

e
 a

n
d
 r

e
s
u
lt
s
 

in
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
c
u
lt
u
ra

l 
e
x
c
h
a
n
g
e
s

J
a
n
e
 C

o
n
n
o
lly

G
R

E
E

N

L
o

n
d

o
n

 B
o

ro
u

g
h

 o
f 

T
o

w
e

r 
H

a
m

le
ts

1
0

E
A

P
 2

0
0

6
/7

Page 88



E
q

u
a

li
ti

e
s

 A
c

ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 2
0

0
6

/0
7

 M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

 R
e

p
o

rt
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 1

D
E

S
R

E
S

K
E

Y
 A

C
T

IV
IT

Y
D

IR
K

E
Y

 M
IL

E
S

T
O

N
E

 &
 

C
O

M
P

L
E

T
IO

N
 D

A
T

E

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
L

E
A

D
 O

F
F

IC
E

R
T

R
A

F
F

IC
 L

IG
H

T
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 T

O
 3

1
 M

a
rc

h
 

0
7

E
X

P
L

A
N

A
T

IO
N

 O
F

 

S
L

IP
P

A
G

E
/F

A
IL

U
R

E
 T

O
 M

E
E

T
 

T
A

R
G

E
T

R
E

M
E

D
IA

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

 

IN
C

L
U

D
IN

G
 N

E
W

 D
E

A
D

L
IN

E
S

T
o
 u

s
e
 t
h
e
 B

e
a
c
o
n
 a

p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
 p

ro
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 d

ri
v
e
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
o
u
s
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t:
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy

 a
re

a
s
 o

f 

b
e
s
t 
p
ra

c
ti
c
e
 a

n
d
 a

re
a
s
 f
o
r 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
a
g
a
in

s
t 
th

e
 c

ri
te

ri
a
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
u
n
d
e
r 

"E
q
u
a
lit

y
 &

 

D
iv

e
rs

it
y
" 

s
e
c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 B

e
a
c
o
n
 a

p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
.

C
E

"E
q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 a

n
d
 D

iv
e
rs

it
y
 "

 s
e
c
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
 s

ig
n
e
d
 o

ff
 b

y
 

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
 E

q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 L

e
a
d
 o

ff
ic

e
r 

w
it
h
in

 s
e
rv

ic
e
(s

) 
a
p
p
ly

in
g
 b

y
 

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
 d

e
a
d
lin

e

S
c
o
re

 o
f 
a
t 
le

a
s
t 
4
 o

u
t 
o
f 
a
 p

o
s
s
ib

le
 6

 

fo
r 

"E
q
u
a
lit

y
 &

 D
iv

e
rs

it
y
" 

fo
r 

a
ll 

s
u
b
m

it
te

d
 B

e
a
c
o
n
 a

p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s

R
o
s
e
 D

o
ra

n
G

R
E

E
N

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

Im
p
le

m
e
n
t 
a
n
 a

m
b
it
io

u
s
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 o

f 
e
v
e
n
ts

 a
n
d
 f
e
s
ti
v
a
l 
w

it
h
 l
a
rg

e
 d

iv
e
rs

e
 g

ro
u
p
s

E
C

6
5
 p

u
b
lic

 e
v
e
n
ts

 h
e
ld

 b
y
 M

a
rc

h
 0

7
E

v
a
lu

a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
6
5
 p

u
b
lic

 e
v
e
n
ts

 s
h
o
w

 

s
u
p
p
o
rt

 f
ro

m
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
 M

a
rc

h
 0

7

S
te

v
e
 M

u
rr

a
y

G
R

E
E

N
A

c
h
ie

v
e
d
 a

b
o
v
e
 t
a
rg

e
t 
- 

8
1
 

fe
s
ti
v
a
ls

 a
n
d
 e

v
e
n
ts

 w
e
re

 

h
e
ld

O
B

J
E

C
T

IV
E

 1
0

 -
 T

o
 e

n
s

u
re

 t
h

a
t 

th
e

 C
o

u
n

c
il

 u
s

e
 b

e
s

t 

p
ra

c
ti

c
e

 i
n

 c
o

m
m

u
n

ic
a

ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 t
h

e
 p

ro
v

is
io

n
 o

f 

in
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
Im

p
ro

v
e
 a

c
c
e
s
s
ib

le
 f
o
rm

a
ts

 f
o
r 

th
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il'

s
 w

e
e
k
ly

 n
e
w

s
p
a
p
e
rs

 E
a
s
t 
E

n
d
 L

if
e
  
a
n
d
 

e
n
c
o
u
ra

g
e
 u

p
ta

k
e
 o

f 
E

E
L
 o

n
 t
a
p
e
 a

n
d
 c

o
m

p
le

te
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
l 
fo

r 
c
o
s
ti
n
g
s
 o

n
  
u
p
ta

k
e
 o

f 

B
e
n
g
a
li 

ta
p
e
s
  
fo

r 
th

e
 v

is
u
a
lly

 i
m

p
a
ir
e
d
 r

e
s
id

e
n
ts

A
L
L

R
e
d
e
s
ig

n
  
o
f 
E

a
s
t 
E

n
d
 L

if
e
 t
o
 

in
c
o
rp

o
ra

te
 a

c
c
e
s
s
ib

le
 f
o
n
ts

 t
o
 

im
p
ro

v
e
 r

e
a
d
a
b
ili

ty
  
M

a
rc

h
 0

7

D
e
m

o
n
s
tr

a
te

 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
d
 a

w
a
re

n
e
s
s
 o

f 

c
o
u
n
c
il 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 t
h
e
 a

n
n
u
a
l 

re
s
id

e
n
ts

 s
u
rv

e
y
 a

n
d
 b

i 
a
n
n
u
a
l 

re
a
d
e
rs

h
ip

 (
 I
C

M
I 
s
u
rv

e
y
)

L
a
ra

in
e
 C

la
y
 

R
E

D
W

e
 a

re
 s

ti
ll 

w
o
rk

in
g
 o

n
 t
h
e
 

E
E

L
 r

e
-d

e
s
ig

n
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
 

ta
lk

in
g
 t
a
p
e
s
 w

e
re

 u
n
d
e
r 

re
v
ie

w
  
a
s
 i
s
 t
h
e
 

s
u
g
g
e
s
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 

B
e
n
g
a
li 

ta
p
e
s

A
 r

e
p
o
rt

 w
a
s
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 b

y
 

C
a
b
in

e
t 
in

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
7
 f
o
r 

p
ro

c
u
re

m
e
n
t 
re

a
s
o
n
s

T
h
e
 t
a
p
e
 p

ro
je

c
t 
is

 u
n
d
e
r 

re
v
ie

w
 

a
n
d
 w

ill
 b

e
 p

ic
k
e
d
 u

p
 i
n
 n

e
x
t 

y
e
a
r'
s
 E

A
P

 w
h
e
n
 t
h
e
 n

e
w

 H
e
a
d
 

o
f 
C

o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 i
n
 p

o
s
t

E
n
s
u
re

 c
o
u
n
c
il 

p
u
b
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 p

ro
m

o
ti
n
g
 c

u
s
to

m
e
r 

a
c
c
e
s
s
 r

e
fl
e
c
t 
a
c
c
e
s
s
ib

ili
ty

 g
u
id

e
lin

e
s
 

C
E

U
p
d
a
te

d
 s

e
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il'

s
 

c
o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 m

a
n
u
a
l 
b
y
 

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
6
 

C
o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 a

u
d
it
  
re

fl
e
c
ts

 

in
c
re

a
s
e
d
 a

d
h
e
re

n
c
e
  
to

 D
D

A
 

g
u
id

e
lin

e
s
 i
n
  
C

o
u
n
c
il 

p
u
b
lic

a
ti
o
n
s

C
h
ri
s
 P

a
y
n
e

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d
, 
re

g
u
la

r 

m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 i
s
 t
a
k
in

g
 p

la
c
e

A
rr

a
n
g
e
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
m

o
n
th

ly
 m

e
d
ia

 b
ri
e
fi
n
g
s
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 B

e
n
g
a
li 

m
e
d
ia

 t
o
 e

n
s
u
re

 w
id

e
s
p
re

a
d
 

d
is

s
e
m

in
a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
in

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 o

n
 b

e
s
t 
p
ra

c
ti
s
e
 a

n
d
 c

o
u
n
c
il 

in
it
ia

ti
v
e
s
. 

C
E

S
c
h
e
d
u
le

 o
f 
B

e
n
g
a
li 

m
e
d
ia

 

b
ri
e
fi
n
g
s
 w

it
h
 C

a
b
in

e
t 
m

e
m

b
e
rs

 

c
o
m

p
le

te
d
 J

u
n
e
 0

6
, 
9
 t
o
 b

e
 h

e
ld

 

b
y
 M

a
rc

h
 0

7
 

Im
p
ro

v
e
d
 a

w
a
re

n
e
s
s
 o

f 
C

o
u
n
c
il 

e
q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 i
n
it
ia

ti
v
e
s
 r

e
fl
e
c
te

d
 i
n
 

n
u
m

b
e
rs

 o
f 
a
rt

ic
le

s
 i
n
 B

e
n
g
a
li 

m
e
d
ia

B
e
la

l 
A

h
m

e
d

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d
 a

n
d
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
e
s

P
u
b
lic

is
e
 e

q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 i
n
it
ia

ti
v
e
s
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

th
ro

u
g
h
 E

a
s
t 
E

n
d
 L

if
e
, 
p
re

s
s
 

re
le

a
s
e
s
 a

n
d
 w

o
rk

in
g
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 m

e
d
ia

, 
lo

c
a
l 
a
n
d
 n

a
ti
o
n
a
l.

C
E

A
t 
le

a
s
t 
1
2
 p

o
s
it
iv

e
 s

to
ri
e
s
 i
n
 l
o
c
a
l,
 

n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 t
ra

d
e
 p

re
s
s
 b

y
 M

a
rc

h
 

0
7

M
e
d
ia

 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 r

e
fl
e
c
ts

 r
a
is

e
d
 

a
w

a
re

n
e
s
s
 o

f 
C

o
u
n
c
il'

s
 g

o
o
d
 p

ra
c
ti
c
e

C
la

re
 S

a
u
l

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

O
n
g
o
in

g
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
C

o
u
n
c
il'

s
 C

o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 M

a
n
u
a
l 
to

 r
e
fl
e
c
t 
d
is

a
b
ili

ty
 g

u
id

e
lin

e
s
 

a
n
d
 b

e
s
t 
p
ra

c
ti
c
e
 i
n
 C

o
u
n
c
il-

w
id

e
 c

o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
s

C
E

C
o
m

p
le

te
d
 b

y
 M

a
rc

h
 0

7
A

n
n
u
a
l 
c
o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 p

u
b
lic

a
ti
o
n
 

c
a
le

n
d
a
r 

d
e
m

o
n
s
tr

a
te

s
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
d
 

d
e
s
ig

n
 o

f 
c
o
u
n
c
il 

p
u
b
lic

a
ti
o
n
s

C
h
ri
s
 P

a
y
n
e

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d
, 
re

v
ie

w
in

g
 

p
u
b
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 c

a
le

n
d
a
r 

0
6
-

0
7
 t
o
 m

e
a
s
u
re

 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
n
e
s
s
 a

n
d
 l
o
o
k
in

g
 

a
t 
0
7
-0

8

P
ro

m
o
te

 t
h
e
 u

s
a
g
e
 o

f 
th

e
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
's

 S
p
o
rt

s
 a

n
d
 A

rt
 f
a
c
ili

ti
e
s
 a

n
d
 L

ib
ra

ri
e
s
 a

n
d
 I
d
e
a
 S

to
re

s
 

to
 t
h
e
 r

e
fu

g
e
e
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
y

E
C

D
e
v
e
lo

p
 a

n
d
 p

ro
v
id

e
 p

ro
m

o
ti
o
n
a
l 

lit
e
ra

tu
re

 o
f 
th

e
s
e
 f
a
c
ili

ti
e
s
 t
o
 k

e
y
 

a
g
e
n
c
ie

s

L
it
e
ra

tu
re

 d
is

tr
ib

u
te

d
 t
o
 k

e
y
 a

g
e
n
c
ie

s
 

b
y
 S

e
p
t 
0
6

P
a
u
l 
M

a
rt

in
d
ill

R
E

D
In

c
o
m

p
le

te
T

h
e
 S

e
rv

ic
e
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 u

n
a
b
le

 t
o
 

e
s
ta

b
lis

h
 r

e
la

ti
o
n
s
h
ip

s
 w

it
h
 k

e
y
 

a
g
e
n
c
ie

s
.

T
h
e
 S

e
rv

ic
e
 w

ill
 l
o
o
k
 a

t 

a
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
w

a
y
s
 t
o
 d

is
tr

ib
u
te

 

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 r

e
fu

g
e
e
 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
.

O
B

J
E

C
T

IV
E

 1
1

 -
 T

o
 p

ro
te

c
t 

v
u

ln
e

ra
b

le
 i

n
d

iv
id

u
a

ls
 f

ro
m

 

in
to

le
ra

n
c

e
 a

n
d

 h
a

te
 c

ri
m

e
s

, 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 r

a
c

e
 c

ri
m

e
s

, 
fa

it
h

 

re
la

te
d

 c
ri

m
e

s
, 

h
o

m
o

p
h

o
b

ic
 c

ri
m

e
s

, 
c

ri
m

e
s

 a
g

a
in

s
t 

re
fu

g
e

e
s

 a
n

d
 a

s
y

lu
m

 s
e

e
k

e
rs

 a
n

d
 c

ri
m

e
s

 a
g

a
in

s
t 

e
ld

e
rl

y
 

p
e

o
p

le

L
o

n
d

o
n

 B
o

ro
u

g
h

 o
f 

T
o

w
e

r 
H

a
m

le
ts

1
1

E
A

P
 2

0
0

6
/7

Page 89



E
q

u
a

li
ti

e
s

 A
c

ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 2
0

0
6

/0
7

 M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

 R
e

p
o

rt
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 1

D
E

S
R

E
S

K
E

Y
 A

C
T

IV
IT

Y
D

IR
K

E
Y

 M
IL

E
S

T
O

N
E

 &
 

C
O

M
P

L
E

T
IO

N
 D

A
T

E

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
L

E
A

D
 O

F
F

IC
E

R
T

R
A

F
F

IC
 L

IG
H

T
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 T

O
 3

1
 M

a
rc

h
 

0
7

E
X

P
L

A
N

A
T

IO
N

 O
F

 

S
L

IP
P

A
G

E
/F

A
IL

U
R

E
 T

O
 M

E
E

T
 

T
A

R
G

E
T

R
E

M
E

D
IA

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

 

IN
C

L
U

D
IN

G
 N

E
W

 D
E

A
D

L
IN

E
S

M
o
n
it
o
r 

th
e
 d

e
liv

e
ry

 o
f 
h
a
te

 c
ri
m

e
 l
it
e
ra

tu
re

/i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 t
ra

in
in

g
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
n
e
e
d
s
 t
o
 

re
fu

g
e
e
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s

C
E

Q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y
 r

e
v
ie

w
 t
o
 M

a
rc

h
 0

7
In

c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 h

a
te

 c
ri
m

e
 r

e
p
o
rt

s
 f
ro

m
 

re
fu

g
e
e
s
 a

n
d
 9

5
%

 o
f 
re

fu
g
e
e
 

o
rg

a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
s
 a

re
 s

a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 

s
e
rv

ic
e

N
a
z
m

a
 B

e
g
u
m

R
E

D
A

ll 
re

fu
g
e
e
 o

rg
a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
s
 

w
e
re

 c
o
n
ta

c
te

d
 a

n
d
 

o
ff
e
re

d
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

, 
tr

a
in

in
g
 t
o
 

s
ta

ff
 a

n
d
 

w
o
rk

s
h
o
p
s
/s

u
rg

e
ri
e
s
 f
o
r 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 u

s
e
rs

. 
 T

h
e
y
 a

ll 

re
c
e
iv

e
d
 l
it
e
ra

tu
re

 i
n
 t
h
e
 2

 

k
e
y
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 l
a
n
g
u
a
g
e
s
.

It
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 d

if
fi
c
u
lt
 t
o
 

m
e
a
s
u
re

 t
h
e
 u

p
ta

k
e
 d

u
e
 t
o
 

d
e
la

y
s
 b

u
t 
th

e
 

re
fu

g
e
e
/n

e
w

c
o
m

e
r

c
a
te

g
o
ry

 h
a
s
 n

o
w

 b
e
e
n
 

a
d
d
e
d
.

In
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 r

e
p
o
rt

s
 f
ro

m
 r

e
fu

g
e
e
s
 

h
a
s
 b

e
e
n
 d

if
fi
c
u
lt
 t
o
 m

e
a
s
u
re

 

b
e
c
a
u
s
e
 o

f 
p
ro

b
le

m
s
 u

p
d
a
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 

n
e
w

 d
a
ta

b
a
s
e
. 

W
o
rk

 i
s
 i
n
 h

a
n
d
 t
o
 t
ry

 a
n
d
 e

n
s
u
re

 

th
e
  
d
a
ta

b
a
s
e
 i
s
 m

a
d
e
 f
it
 f
o
r 

p
u
rp

o
s
e
. 
 T

h
e
 

re
fu

g
e
e
/n

e
w

c
o
m

e
r 

c
a
te

g
o
ry

 h
a
s
 

b
e
e
n
 a

d
d
e
d
. 
 M

e
a
n
w

h
ile

 a
ll 

In
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n
 O

ff
ic

e
rs

, 
L
H

O
s
 a

n
d
 

S
N

T
 O

ff
ic

e
rs

 r
e
c
e
iv

e
d
 t
ra

in
in

g
 

w
h
ic

h
 c

o
v
e
re

d
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 e

ff
e
c
ti
n
g
 

th
e
 R

A
S

 c
o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
.

D
e
liv

e
r 

o
n
e
 i
n
te

rg
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l 
p
ro

je
c
t 
p
e
r 

L
A

P
 (

8
) 

to
 r

e
d
u
c
e
 m

is
c
o
n
c
e
p
ti
o
n
s
 a

n
d
 f
e
a
r 

o
f 

c
ri
m

e
 a

m
o
n
g
s
t 
th

e
 e

ld
e
rl
y
 a

n
d
 t
o
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
 r

e
s
p
e
c
t 
a
n
d
 u

n
d
e
rs

ta
n
d
in

g

C
E

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
, 
A

p
ri
l 
0
6
 -

 P
u
b
lic

is
e
 

a
n
d
 g

e
n
e
ra

te
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

p
ro

je
c
t 

p
la

n
 a

m
o
n
g
s
t 
re

s
id

e
n
ts

 a
n
d
 

a
g
e
n
c
ie

s
, 
M

a
y
 0

6
 -

  
B

ri
n
g
 i
n
 

lo
c
a
lis

e
d
 w

o
rk

e
rs

/p
a
rt

n
e
rs

, 
J
u
n
e
 

0
6
 -

 E
v
a
lu

a
te

 a
ll 

in
it
ia

ti
v
e
s
 a

n
d
 

p
re

p
a
re

 c
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 f
o
r 

A
S

B
A

G
 

J
a
n
u
a
ry

 0
7

D
e
liv

e
ry

 o
f 
8
 i
n
te

rg
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l 
p
ro

je
c
ts

 

p
e
r 

L
A

P

E
m

ily
 F

ie
ra

n
-R

e
e
d

R
E

D
T

w
o
 i
n
te

rg
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l 

p
ro

je
c
ts

 t
o
o
k
 p

la
c
e
 o

n
 t
h
e
 

M
a
lm

e
s
b
u
ry

 e
s
ta

te
 a

n
d
 i
n
 

R
a
v
e
n
s
c
ro

ft
 P

a
rk

. 
S

o
m

e
 

in
te

rg
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l 
w

o
rk

 a
ls

o
 

to
o
k
 p

la
c
e
 o

n
 t
h
e
 

C
o
lli

n
g
w

o
o
d
 E

s
ta

te
 a

n
d
 i
n
 

o
th

e
r 

lo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
.

In
 M

a
y
 2

0
0
6
, 
th

e
 f
u
n
d
in

g
 f
o
r 

th
is

 

p
ro

je
c
t 
w

a
s
 a

g
re

e
d
 b

u
t 

re
s
tr

u
c
tu

ri
n
g
 o

f 
th

e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 t
o
o
k
 

p
la

c
e
. 
 S

o
m

e
 p

e
rs

o
n
n
e
l 
w

e
re

 

th
e
re

fo
re

 n
o
t 
in

 p
la

c
e
 t
o
 c

o
m

p
le

te
 

a
ll 

th
e
 w

o
rk

 i
n
 0

6
/0

7
.

£
9
,0

0
0
 o

f 
fu

n
d
s
 r

e
c
o
n
fi
g
u
re

d
 t
o
 

th
e
 R

a
c
e
 a

n
d
 H

a
te

 C
ri
m

e
 I
n
te

r 

A
g
e
n
c
y
 F

o
ru

m
 i
n
 a

d
d
it
io

n
 t
o
 

£
2
0
,0

0
0
 o

f 
o
th

e
r 

fu
n
d
s
, 
to

 d
e
liv

e
r 

a
n
 i
n
te

rg
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l 
p
ro

je
c
t 
in

 

2
0
0
7
/0

8
.

M
a
k
e
 s

u
re

 t
h
a
t 
a
ll 

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
ta

ff
 a

n
d
 p

u
p
ils

 a
re

 a
w

a
re

 o
f 
p
ro

c
e
d
u
re

s
 f
o
r 

re
p
o
rt

in
g
 r

a
c
is

t 

in
c
id

e
n
ts

C
H

S
D

is
tr

ib
u
te

 s
u
m

m
a
ry

 g
u
id

e
lin

e
s
 o

n
 

p
ro

c
e
d
u
re

s
 t
o
 a

ll 
s
c
h
o
o
ls

 a
n
d
 

s
e
tt
in

g
s
 (

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
6
)

In
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
ra

c
is

t 

in
c
id

e
n
ts

 r
e
p
o
rt

e
d
 b

y
 s

c
h
o
o
ls

 

p
re

v
io

u
s
ly

 m
a
k
in

g
 n

il 
o
r 

lo
w

 r
e
tu

rn
s

S
a
ra

h
 G

a
le

R
E

D
T

h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
s
c
h
o
o
ls

 n
o
t 

re
p
o
rt

in
g
 r

a
c
is

t 
in

c
id

e
n
ts

 

h
a
s
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
d
 f
ro

m
 3

2
 i
n
 

0
5
/0

6
 t
o
 4

9
 i
n
 0

6
/0

7
. 

A
 p

o
s
s
ib

le
 e

x
p
la

n
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 t
h
a
t 
a
s
 a

 

re
s
u
lt
 o

f 
s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu

l 
s
c
h
o
o
l 

s
tr

a
te

g
ie

s
 t
o
 t
a
c
k
le

 r
a
c
is

m
, 
fe

w
e
r 

in
c
id

e
n
ts

 a
re

 n
o
w

 o
c
c
u
rr

in
g
. 

H
o
w

e
v
e
r,

 m
o
re

 r
e
p
o
rt

s
 a

re
 l
ik

e
ly

 

to
 b

e
 r

e
tu

rn
e
d
 a

t 
th

e
 e

n
d
 o

f 
th

e
 

s
c
h
o
o
l 
y
e
a
r.

S
c
h
o
o
ls

 w
it
h
 n

il 
re

tu
rn

s
 h

a
v
e
 

b
e
e
n
 c

o
n
ta

c
te

d
 a

n
d
 r

e
m

in
d
e
d
 o

f 

th
e
 n

e
e
d
 t
o
 r

e
tu

rn
 r

e
p
o
rt

s
. 
 T

h
e
y
 

h
a
v
e
 a

ls
o
 b

e
e
n
 o

ff
e
re

d
 t
ra

in
in

g
 

to
 e

n
s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 
a
ll 

s
ta

ff
 k

n
o
w

 t
h
e
 

p
ro

c
e
d
u
re

s
 f
o
r 

re
c
o
rd

in
g
 a

n
d
 

re
p
o
rt

in
g
 r

a
c
is

t 
in

c
id

e
n
ts

. 

W
o
rk

 w
it
h
 s

c
h
o
o
ls

 a
n
d
 o

th
e
r 

s
e
tt
in

g
s
 t
o
 c

o
m

b
a
t 
ra

c
is

m
 a

n
d
 a

ll 
fo

rm
s
 o

f 
d
is

c
ri
m

in
a
to

ry
 

b
e
h
a
v
io

u
r 

b
y
 e

x
te

n
d
in

g
 t
h
e
 d

iv
e
rs

it
y
 a

w
a
re

n
e
s
s
 t
ra

in
in

g
 p

a
c
k
a
g
e
s
 t
o
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
 a

ll 
6
 e

q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 

s
tr

a
n
d
s

C
H

S
J
u
n
e
 0

6
 N

e
w

 i
n
c
id

e
n
t 
re

p
o
rt

in
g
 

fo
rm

 d
e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 f
o
r 

u
s
e
 i
n
 s

c
h
o
o
ls

.

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
6
 T

ra
in

in
g
 

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 a

v
a
ila

b
le

. 
M

a
rc

h
 0

7
 

T
ra

in
in

g
 d

e
liv

e
re

d
 i
n
 1

5
 s

c
h
o
o
ls

 

a
n
d
 5

 s
e
tt
in

g
s
 (

J
u
n
e
 0

6
)

S
c
h
o
o
ls

, 
p
a
re

n
ts

 a
n
d
 g

o
v
e
rn

o
rs

 r
e
p
o
rt

 

p
o
s
it
iv

e
ly

 o
n
 t
h
e
 i
m

p
a
c
t 
o
f 
th

e
 t
ra

in
in

g

S
a
ra

h
 G

a
le

G
R

E
E

N

E
n
s
u
re

 f
a
m

ili
e
s
 w

it
h
o
u
t 
re

c
o
u
rs

e
 t
o
 p

u
b
lic

 f
u
n
d
s
 a

re
 p

ro
v
id

e
d
 w

it
h
 a

c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
/o

r 

fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l 
s
u
p
p
o
rt

 a
n
d
 h

a
v
e
 o

n
g
o
in

g
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 a
n
d
 r

e
v
ie

w

C
H

S
O

n
g
o
in

g
, 
to

 b
e
 r

e
v
ie

w
e
d
 i
n
 M

a
rc

h
 

0
7

C
h
ild

re
n
 f
ro

m
 f
a
m

ili
e
s
 w

it
h
o
u
t 

re
c
o
u
rs

e
 t
o
 p

u
b
lic

 f
u
n
d
s
 a

re
 k

e
p
t 
s
a
fe

A
n
n
 G

o
ld

s
m

it
h

G
R

E
E

N

Im
p
ro

v
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 t
o
 p

ri
v
a
te

ly
 f
o
s
te

re
d
 c

h
ild

re
n
 f
ro

m
 e

th
n
ic

 m
in

o
ri
ti
e
s
 b

y
 v

is
it
in

g
 a

n
d
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
in

g
 t
h
e
s
e
 a

rr
a
n
g
e
m

e
n
ts

 a
n
d
 e

n
s
u
ri
n
g
 e

ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 o

f 
th

is
 w

o
rk

C
H

S
R

a
is

e
 a

w
a
re

n
e
s
s
 w

it
h
 s

o
c
ia

l 
w

o
rk

 

s
ta

ff
 b

y
 J

u
ly

 0
6

Im
p
le

m
e
n
t 
C

o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n

s
tr

a
te

g
y
 a

c
ro

s
s
 s

ta
tu

to
ry

 a
n
d
 t
h
ir
d
 

s
e
c
to

r 
a
g
e
n
c
ie

s
 b

y
 M

a
rc

h
 0

7

R
a
is

e
 a

w
a
re

n
e
s
s
 w

it
h
 f
a
it
h
 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
 a

n
d
  
th

e
 g

e
n
e
ra

l 

p
u
b
lic

 b
y
 M

a
rc

h
 0

7

L
in

k
 w

it
h
 C

A
M

H
S

 t
o
 p

ro
v
id

e
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt

 t
o
 p

ri
v
a
te

ly
 f
o
s
te

re
d
 

c
h
ild

re
n
 b

y
 D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

0
6

L
in

k
 w

it
h
 K

in
s
h
ip

 C
a
re

 t
e
a
m

 t
o
 

p
ro

v
id

e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 t
o
 p

ri
v
a
te

 f
o
s
te

r 

c
a
re

rs
 b

y
 D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

0
6

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 p
ro

v
id

e
d
 t
o
 4

0
 p

ri
v
a
te

ly
 

fo
s
te

re
d
 c

h
ild

re
n
 b

y
 D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

0
6

6
 m

o
n
th

ly
 r

e
p
o
rt

in
g
 a

n
d
 u

p
d
a
te

s
 

S
o
c
ia

l 
w

o
rk

 s
ta

ff
 a

re
 a

w
a
re

 o
f 
th

e
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt

 t
h
a
t 
c
a
n
 b

e
 p

ro
v
id

e
d
 t
o
 

p
ri
v
a
te

ly
 f
o
s
te

re
d
 c

h
ild

re
n

Im
p
ro

v
e
d
 c

o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
 a

c
ro

s
s
 

s
ta

tu
to

ry
 a

n
d
 t
h
ir
d
 s

e
c
to

r 
a
g
e
n
c
ie

s

F
a
it
h
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
 g

e
n
e
ra

l 

p
u
b
lic

 a
re

 m
o
re

 a
w

a
re

 o
f 
th

e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 

th
a
t 
c
a
n
 b

e
 p

ro
v
id

e
d
 t
o
 p

ri
v
a
te

ly
 

fo
s
te

re
d
 c

h
ild

re
n

A
n
n
 R

o
a
c
h

G
R

E
E

N

L
o

n
d

o
n

 B
o

ro
u

g
h

 o
f 

T
o

w
e

r 
H

a
m

le
ts

1
2

E
A

P
 2

0
0

6
/7

Page 90



E
q

u
a

li
ti

e
s

 A
c

ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 2
0

0
6

/0
7

 M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

 R
e

p
o

rt
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 1

D
E

S
R

E
S

K
E

Y
 A

C
T

IV
IT

Y
D

IR
K

E
Y

 M
IL

E
S

T
O

N
E

 &
 

C
O

M
P

L
E

T
IO

N
 D

A
T

E

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
L

E
A

D
 O

F
F

IC
E

R
T

R
A

F
F

IC
 L

IG
H

T
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 T

O
 3

1
 M

a
rc

h
 

0
7

E
X

P
L

A
N

A
T

IO
N

 O
F

 

S
L

IP
P

A
G

E
/F

A
IL

U
R

E
 T

O
 M

E
E

T
 

T
A

R
G

E
T

R
E

M
E

D
IA

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

 

IN
C

L
U

D
IN

G
 N

E
W

 D
E

A
D

L
IN

E
S

E
x
p
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 a

v
a
ila

b
ili

ty
 o

f 
s
u
p
p
o
rt

e
d
 l
iv

in
g
 o

p
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 w
it
h
 S

u
p
p
o
rt

in
g
 P

e
o
p
le

A
S

E
x
te

n
s
io

n
 o

f 
S

u
p
p
o
rt

in
g
 P

e
o
p
le

 

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 t
o
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
 p

e
o
p
le

 w
it
h
 

P
h
y
s
ic

a
l 
D

is
a
b
ili

ti
e
s
/S

e
n
s
o
ry

 

Im
p
a
ir
m

e
n
t/
H

IV
/A

ID
S

. 
M

a
rc

h
 2

0
0
7
 

In
v
o
lv

e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 u

s
e
rs

 i
n
 

g
o
v
e
rn

a
n
c
e
 a

rr
a
n
g
e
m

e
n
ts

.

C
o
m

m
e
n
c
e
 S

e
rv

ic
e
 U

s
e
rs

 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 F

o
ru

m
 (

L
D

) 
b
y
 J

u
n
e
 0

6

N
e
w

 S
u
p
p
o
rt

in
g
 P

e
o
p
le

 c
o
n
tr

a
c
t 
to

 b
e
 

in
 p

la
c
e
 f
o
r 

1
s
t 
A

p
ri
l 
2
0
0
7
 

S
e
rv

ic
e
 u

s
e
rs

 i
n
v
o
lv

e
d
 i
n
 c

o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

o
n
 e

lig
ib

ili
ty

 c
ri
te

ri
a
 a

n
d
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 

fr
a
m

e
w

o
rk

.

J
o
h
n
 G

o
ld

u
p

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

Im
p
ro

v
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 a
v
a
ila

b
le

 t
o
 o

ld
e
r 

p
e
o
p
le

 w
it
h
in

 t
h
e
 S

o
m

a
li 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 

re
c
o
n
fi
g
u
ra

ti
o
n
 o

f 
M

a
y
fi
e
ld

 H
o
u
s
e
 D

a
y
 C

e
n
tr

e

A
S

F
o
llo

w
in

g
 c

o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 w

it
h
 S

o
m

a
li 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 u

s
e
rs

 a
n
d
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

o
rg

a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
ls

 t
o
 C

a
b
in

e
t 

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
6

M
o
re

 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 a

n
d
 c

o
s
t 
e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt

 t
o
 o

ld
e
r 

p
e
o
p
le

 w
it
h
in

 t
h
e
 

S
o
m

a
li 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y

D
a
v
id

 C
o
w

e
ll

R
E

D
M

e
e
ti
n
g
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
in

g
 w

it
h
 

lo
c
a
l 
S

o
m

a
li 

o
rg

a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
s
 

w
it
h
 w

h
o
m

 a
 p

ro
v
is

io
n
a
l 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 m

o
d
e
l 
h
a
s
 b

e
e
n
 

a
g
re

e
d
.

D
e
la

y
s
 i
n
it
ia

lly
 i
n
c
u
rr

e
d
 d

u
e
 t
o
 

u
n
c
e
rt

a
in

ti
e
s
 o

v
e
r 

th
e
 i
m

p
a
c
t 
o
f 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 C

h
o
ic

e
. 
T

h
e
s
e
 h

a
v
e
 n

o
w

 

b
e
e
n
 o

v
e
rc

o
m

e
.

R
e
p
o
rt

 t
o
 C

a
b
in

e
t 
o
n
 4

/7
/0

7
 

s
e
e
k
in

g
 p

e
rm

is
s
io

n
 r

u
n
 a

 

re
s
tr

ic
te

d
, 
s
im

p
lif

ie
d
 t
e
n
d
e
r 

fo
r 

M
a
y
fi
e
ld

 H
o
u
s
e
. 
S

u
it
a
b
le

 

o
rg

a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
s
 w

ill
 b

e
 i
n
v
it
e
d
 t
o
 

p
a
rt

ic
ip

a
te

 i
n
 t
h
e
 t
e
n
d
e
r 

w
h
ic

h
 i
s
 

a
im

e
d
 a

t 
s
e
c
u
ri
n
g
 a

 S
o
m

a
li 

le
d
 

a
n
d
 m

a
n
a
g
e
d
 s

e
rv

ic
e
.

In
c
re

a
s
e
 s

ta
ff
 u

n
d
e
rs

ta
n
d
in

g
 o

f 
re

fu
g
e
e
s
 p

h
y
s
ic

a
l 
a
n
d
 m

e
n
ta

l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 c

a
re

 n
e
e
d
s
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 

tr
a
in

in
g
 a

n
d
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n

A
S

T
ra

in
in

g
 P

la
n
 i
n
 p

la
c
e
 S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
6
 T

ra
in

in
g
 p

ro
v
id

e
d
 f
o
r 

re
p
re

s
e
n
ta

ti
v
e
s
 f
ro

m
 A

d
u
lt
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 t
e
a
m

s

T
ra

in
in

g
 i
m

p
a
c
t 
e
v
a
lu

a
ti
o
n
 s

h
o
w

s
 9

0
%

 

a
p
p
ro

v
a
l 
ra

ti
n
g
 f
o
r 

im
p
a
c
t 
o
f 
tr

a
in

in
g
 

o
n
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 p

ro
v
id

e
d
. 
R

e
fu

g
e
e
s
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
in

g
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 s

u
rv

e
y
 s

h
o
w

s
 

s
ig

n
if
ic

a
n
tl
y
 g

re
a
te

r 
s
a
ti
s
fa

c
ti
o
n
 w

it
h
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 u

s
e
 

J
a
n
 H

ill
G

R
E

E
N

T
h
e
 t
ra

in
in

g
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 

d
is

tr
ib

u
te

d
 t
o
 e

v
e
ry

 t
e
a
m

, 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
re

 w
ill

 b
e
 o

n
-g

o
in

g
 

tr
a
in

in
g
 c

o
u
rs

e
s
 d

u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 

y
e
a
r 

to
 c

o
v
e
r 

n
e
w

 s
ta

ff
.

T
h
u
s
, 
th

e
 i
s
s
u
e
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 

ra
is

e
d
 w

it
h
 a

ll 
o
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
a
l 

s
ta

ff
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
re

 w
ill

 b
e
 o

n
-

g
o
in

g
 t
ra

in
in

g

In
c
re

a
s
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
p
e
o
p
le

 a
b
le

 t
o
 l
iv

e
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
tl
y
 i
n
 t
h
e
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 w

it
h
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 

s
u
p
p
o
rt

A
S

C
o
n
tr

a
c
t 
fo

r 
tr

a
in

in
g
 a

n
d
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 

p
ro

v
is

io
n
 l
e
t 
J
u
n
e
 2

0
0
6
 

2
0
 t
e
le

c
a
re

 a
s
s
e
s
s
o
rs

 t
ra

in
e
d
 b

y
 

O
c
to

b
e
r 

2
0
0
6
 

1
5
0
 u

s
e
rs

 b
y
 M

a
rc

h
 0

7

M
o
s
t 
v
u
ln

e
ra

b
le

 s
e
rv

ic
e
 u

s
e
rs

, 
a
n
d
 

th
e
ir
 c

a
re

rs
, 
m

o
re

 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly

 s
u
p
p
o
rt

e
d

J
o
h
n
 G

o
ld

u
p

R
E

D
T

e
le

c
a
re

 p
ro

je
c
t 
b
o
a
rd

 

h
a
s
 b

e
e
n
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
e
d
. 
 A

 

p
ro

je
c
t 
p
la

n
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 s

e
t 

o
u
t 
a
n
d
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
ls

 t
o
 

e
n
h
a
n
c
e
 t
h
e
 e

x
is

ti
n
g
 c

a
re

 

a
la

rm
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 

a
g
re

e
d
.

R
e
v
is

io
n
 o

f 
d
e
liv

e
ry

 s
tr

a
te

g
y
.

T
e
le

c
a
re

 P
ro

je
c
t 
w

ill
 d

e
liv

e
r 

a
s
s
is

ti
v
e
 t
e
c
h
n
o
lo

g
y
 t
o
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 

o
ld

e
r 

p
e
o
p
le

 t
o
 l
iv

e
 a

t 
h
o
m

e
 o

n
 a

 

p
ilo

t 
b
a
s
is

 f
ro

m
 M

a
y
 2

0
0
7
 a

n
d
 

w
it
h
 a

 f
u
ll 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 o

p
e
ra

ti
n
g
 b

y
 

M
a
rc

h
 2

0
0
8
.

F
u
rt

h
e
r 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
 a

n
d
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 t
a
k
e
 u

p
 o

f 
D

ir
e
c
t 
P

a
y
m

e
n
ts

 S
c
h
e
m

e
A

S
L
e
a
fl
e
t 
to

 b
e
 a

v
a
ila

b
le

 o
n
 t
h
e
 

T
o
w

e
r 

H
a
m

le
ts

 W
e
b
s
it
e
 b

y
 J

u
ly

 

2
0
0
6

A
ll 

s
o
c
ia

l 
w

o
rk

 t
e
a
m

s
, 
C

M
H

T
s
, 

ID
E

A
 s

to
re

s
, 
a
n
d
 a

 r
a
n
g
e
 o

f 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 r

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 t
o
 h

a
v
e
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 n

e
w

 l
e
a
fl
e
t 
b
y
 J

u
ly

 2
0
0
6

A
ll 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
 t
o
 h

a
v
e
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

D
ir
e
c
t 
P

a
y
m

e
n
ts

 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n

B
a
rb

a
ra

 D
is

n
e
y

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

D
e
liv

e
r 

h
o
lis

ti
c
 p

e
rs

o
n
a
l 
s
a
fe

ty
 t
ra

in
in

g
 c

o
u
rs

e
 f
o
r 

w
o
m

e
n
 f
ro

m
 t
a
rg

e
te

d
 v

u
ln

e
ra

b
le

 g
ro

u
p
s
 

(W
a
rr

io
r 

W
o
m

e
n
)

C
E

1
5
 c

o
u
rs

e
s
 r

u
n
 e

a
c
h
 a

tt
e
n
d
e
d
 b

y
 

a
t 
le

a
s
t 
1
2
 w

o
m

e
n
 b

y
 A

p
ri
l 
2
0
0
7
 

1
8
0
 w

o
m

e
n
 c

o
m

p
le

te
 c

o
u
rs

e
 a

n
d
 

e
v
a
lu

a
te

 a
s
 s

a
ti
s
fa

c
to

ry
 o

r 
b
e
tt
e
r.

P
h
ili

p
p
a
 C

h
ip

p
in

g
R

E
D

1
2
 W

a
rr

io
r 

W
o
m

e
n
 

c
o
u
rs

e
s
 w

e
re

 c
o
m

p
le

te
d
 i
n
 

th
e
 y

e
a
r 

- 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 1

 

c
o
u
rs

e
 d

e
liv

e
re

d
 i
n
 B

e
n
g
a
li 

a
n
d
 2

 t
o
 S

o
m

a
li 

w
o
m

e
n
. 

A
v
e
ra

g
e
 a

tt
e
n
d
a
n
c
e
 h

a
s
 

b
e
e
n
 1

2
 w

o
m

e
n
 p

e
r 

c
o
u
rs

e

T
h
is

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 d

e
p
e
n
d
s
 o

n
 

p
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 w
o
rk

in
g
 w

it
h
 h

o
s
t 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 o

rg
a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
s
 w

h
o
 a

re
 

re
s
p
o
n
s
ib

le
 f
o
r 

p
ro

v
is

io
n
 o

f 

p
re

m
is

e
s
 a

n
d
 p

a
rt

ic
ip

a
n
t 

re
c
ru

it
m

e
n
t.
 U

n
fo

rt
u
n
a
te

ly
 3

 

c
o
u
rs

e
s
 t
h
a
t 
h
a
d
 b

e
e
n
 p

la
n
n
e
d
 

c
o
u
ld

 n
o
t 
ta

k
e
 p

la
c
e
 b

e
c
a
u
s
e
 o

f 

s
m

a
ll 

n
u
m

b
e
rs

 o
r 

p
a
rt

ic
ip

a
n
ts

 

re
c
ru

it
e
d
, 
a
n
d
 i
n
 o

n
e
 c

a
s
e
, 

b
u
ild

in
g
 w

o
rk

s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 p

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 

v
e
n
u
e
. 
A

ls
o
, 
w

it
h
 o

n
e
 t
ra

in
e
r 

a
b
le

 

to
 d

e
liv

e
r 

th
e
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 t
h
e
re

 i
s
 

a
 l
im

it
 t
o
 h

o
w

 m
a
n
y
 c

o
u
rs

e
s
 c

a
n
 

b
e
 r

u
n
 c

o
n
c
e
rr

e
n
tl
y
 -

 s
o
 i
t 
is

 

d
if
fi
c
u
lt
 t
o
 r

e
a
rr

a
n
g
e
 c

o
u
rs

e
s
 i
f 

v
e
n
u
e
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 a

ri
s
e
.

T
h
e
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 w

ill
 r

u
n
 a

g
a
in

 i
n
 

0
7
/0

8
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 s

a
m

e
 t
a
rg

e
t.
 

T
ra

in
e
rs

 f
ro

m
 3

 c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

o
rg

a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
s
 a

re
 b

e
in

g
 t
ra

in
e
d
 i
n

d
e
liv

e
ry

 o
f 
th

e
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 w

h
ic

h
 

w
ill

 e
n
a
b
le

 m
o
re

 c
o
u
rs

e
s
 t
o
 r

u
n
 

c
o
n
c
u
rr

e
n
tl
y

L
o

n
d

o
n

 B
o

ro
u

g
h

 o
f 

T
o

w
e

r 
H

a
m

le
ts

1
3

E
A

P
 2

0
0

6
/7

Page 91



E
q

u
a

li
ti

e
s

 A
c

ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 2
0

0
6

/0
7

 M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

 R
e

p
o

rt
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 1

D
E

S
R

E
S

K
E

Y
 A

C
T

IV
IT

Y
D

IR
K

E
Y

 M
IL

E
S

T
O

N
E

 &
 

C
O

M
P

L
E

T
IO

N
 D

A
T

E

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
L

E
A

D
 O

F
F

IC
E

R
T

R
A

F
F

IC
 L

IG
H

T
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 T

O
 3

1
 M

a
rc

h
 

0
7

E
X

P
L

A
N

A
T

IO
N

 O
F

 

S
L

IP
P

A
G

E
/F

A
IL

U
R

E
 T

O
 M

E
E

T
 

T
A

R
G

E
T

R
E

M
E

D
IA

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

 

IN
C

L
U

D
IN

G
 N

E
W

 D
E

A
D

L
IN

E
S

Im
p
ro

v
e
 t
h
e
 t
ra

in
in

g
 a

n
d
 j
o
b
 o

p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s
 t
o
 c

a
re

 l
e
a
v
e
rs

C
H

S
D

e
v
e
lo

p
 s

c
h
e
m

e
 t
o
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 c
a
re

 

le
a
v
e
rs

 a
c
c
e
s
s
in

g
 w

o
rk

 

e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
 a

n
d
 j
o
b
 o

p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s

S
c
h
e
m

e
 d

ra
ft
e
d
 b

y
 J

u
n
e
 2

0
0
6
 a

n
d
 

in
 o

p
e
ra

ti
o
n
 b

y
 S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

2
0
0
6

In
c
re

a
s
e
 t
h
e
 p

e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
c
a
re

 

le
a
v
e
rs

 i
n
 e

m
p
lo

y
m

e
n
t,
 e

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 

tr
a
in

in
g
 a

t 
1
9
 t
o
 7

0
%

 b
y
 M

a
rc

h
 2

0
0
7
 

(B
V

P
I1

6
1
)

J
e
n
n
y
 B

o
y
d

G
R

E
E

N
 Y

o
u
th

 e
n
g
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

w
o
rk

e
r 

a
p
p
o
in

te
d
 a

n
d
 

ta
rg

e
t 
e
x
c
e
e
d
e
d
.

E
x
te

n
d
 e

m
p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
o
p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s
 f
o
r 

p
e
o
p
le

 w
it
h
 m

e
n
ta

l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 p

ro
b
le

m
s
 a

n
d
 l
e
a
rn

in
g
 

d
is

a
b
ili

ti
e
s
 b

y
:

-e
x
p
a
n
d
in

g
 r

a
n
g
e
 o

f 
e
m

p
lo

y
e
rs

 c
o
m

m
it
ti
n
g
 t
o
 p

ro
v
id

e
 e

m
p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
to

 p
e
o
p
le

 w
it
h
 l
e
a
rn

in
g
 

d
is

a
b
ili

ti
e
s
.

-d
e
v
e
lo

p
in

g
 v

o
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
s
u
p
p
o
rt

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 w

it
h
in

 t
h
e
 b

o
ro

u
g
h
 f
o
r 

p
e
o
p
le

 w
it
h
 m

e
n
ta

l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 

n
e
e
d
s
.

- 
in

c
re

a
s
in

g
 t
h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
p
e
o
p
le

 w
it
h
 p

h
y
s
ic

a
l 
d
is

a
b
ili

ti
e
s
 a

c
c
e
s
s
in

g
 e

m
p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
o
r 

tr
a
in

in
g
 o

p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s
 v

ia
 t
h
e
 D

a
y
 O

p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s
 R

e
s
o
u
rc

e
 C

e
n
tr

e

A
S

4
 s

ig
n
if
ic

a
n
t 
e
m

p
lo

y
e
rs

 s
ig

n
e
d
 u

p
 

b
y
 S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
6
.

5
%

 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 (

M
a
rc

h
 0

6
 b

a
s
e
lin

e
) 

o
n
 n

u
m

b
e
rs

 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le

 e
m

p
lo

y
e
d
 

w
it
h
 m

e
n
ta

l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 p

ro
b
le

m
s
 a

n
d
 /
 

o
r 

d
is

a
b
ili

ti
e
s
 k

n
o
w

n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

b
y
 S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
6
, 
a
n
d
 1

5
%

 

in
c
re

a
s
e
 b

y
 M

a
rc

h
 0

7

M
o
re

 p
e
o
p
le

 w
it
h
 l
e
a
rn

in
g
 d

is
a
b
ili

ti
e
s
, 

m
e
n
ta

l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 n

e
e
d
s
 a

n
d
 p

h
y
s
ic

a
l 

d
is

a
b
ili

ti
e
s
 i
n
 e

m
p
lo

y
m

e
n
t

J
o
h
n
 G

o
ld

u
p

R
E

D
It
 h

a
s
 n

o
t 
b
e
e
n
 p

o
s
s
ib

le
 t
o
 

e
s
ta

b
lis

h
 a

 b
a
s
e
lin

e
 f
ro

m
 

w
h
ic

h
 t
o
 d

e
te

rm
in

e
 t
h
e
 

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 r

is
e
 i
n
 

n
u
m

b
e
rs

 o
f 
d
is

a
b
le

d
 

p
e
o
p
le

 a
n
d
 p

e
o
p
le

 w
it
h
 

m
e
n
ta

l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 p

ro
b
le

m
s
 

h
e
lp

e
d
 i
n
 t
o
 e

m
p
lo

y
m

e
n
t,
 

th
e
re

o
fe

 a
c
h
ie

v
e
m

e
n
t 

a
g
a
in

s
t 
o
ri
g
in

a
l 
ta

rg
e
t 

c
a
n
n
o
t 
b
e
 m

e
a
s
u
re

d
.

H
o
w

e
v
e
r,

 i
n
 t
h
e
 d

is
a
b
ili

ti
e
s
 

a
re

a
 a

 n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
d
is

a
b
le

d
 

p
e
o
p
le

 h
a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 h

e
lp

e
d
 

b
y
 t
h
e
 v

a
ri
o
u
s
 p

ro
je

c
ts

 a
s
 

fo
llo

w
s
: 
D

IT
O

 h
a
s
 h

e
lp

e
d
 

3
2
 p

e
o
p
le

 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 1

1
 

v
o
lu

n
te

e
rs

. 
N

R
F

-N
e
x
t 

S
te

p
s
-'
W

a
y
 A

h
e
a
d
': 

1
 

p
e
rs

o
n
 a

lr
e
a
d
y
 i
n
 w

o
rk

 

p
la

c
e
m

e
n
t.
 N

R
F

-N
e
x
t 

S
te

p
s
-'
L
if
e
 B

e
g
in

s
 A

t' 
1
 

p
e
rs

o
n
 i
n
 e

m
p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

1
 e

x
p
e
c
te

d
 t
o
 s

ta
rt

 i
n
 m

id
 

F
e
b
 0

7
. 
P

o
s
it
iv

e
 E

a
s
t:
 

E
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t:
 2

5
 T

o
w

e
r 

H
a
m

le
ts

 r
e
s
id

e
n
ts

 h
a
v
e
 

b
e
e
n
 g

iv
e
n
 a

n
 A

c
ti
o
n
 P

la
n
. 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 /
 T

ra
in

in
g
: 
7
 

T
o
w

e
r

H
a
m

le
ts

re
s
id

e
n
ts

E
x
te

n
d
e
d
 t
im

e
 p

e
ri
o
d
 t
o
 s

e
c
u
re

 

N
R

F
 f
u
n
d
in

g
 c

a
u
s
e
d
 s

lip
p
a
g
e
 i
n
 

re
c
ru

it
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
k
e
y
 s

ta
ff
.

K
e
y
 s

ta
ff
 n

o
w

 i
n
 p

la
c
e
. 
 R

e
v
is

e
d
 

ta
rg

e
t 
to

 s
ig

n
 u

p
 4

 s
ig

n
if
ic

a
n
t 

e
m

p
lo

y
e
rs

 i
s
 D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
0
7
.

T
a
c
k
le

 Y
o
u
th

 H
a
te

 C
ri
m

e
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 m

e
d
ia

 a
n
d
 a

rt
 b

y
 b

ri
n
g
in

g
 g

ro
u
p
s
 o

f 
y
o
u
th

s
 f
ro

m
 d

if
fe

re
n
t 

b
a
c
k
g
ro

u
n
d
s
 t
o
g
e
th

e
r 

to
 c

h
a
lle

n
g
e
 s

te
re

o
ty

p
e
s
 a

n
d
 h

e
lp

 c
h
a
n
g
e
 p

e
rc

e
p
ti
o
n
s

C
E

T
e
n
d
e
ri
n
g
 p

ro
c
e
s
s
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 3

rd
 

S
e
c
to

r 
b
y
 S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
6

A
s
s
is

t 
d
e
liv

e
ri
n
g
 a

n
d
 a

s
s
e
s
s
 a

ll 

p
ro

je
c
ts

 b
y
 M

a
rc

h
 0

7

T
h
e
re

 i
s
 a

 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 r

e
p
re

s
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
 

o
f 
y
o
u
th

 h
a
te

 c
ri
m

e
s
 a

s
 b

o
th

 v
ic

ti
m

s
 

a
n
d
 p

e
rp

e
tr

a
to

rs

M
a
n
a
ra

 A
h
m

e
d

R
E

D
A

ls
o
 S

S
C

F
 f
u
n
d
e
d
 p

ro
je

c
t 

to
 A

lp
h
a
 G

ro
v
e
 Y

o
u
th

 

C
e
n
tr

e
 t
o
 p

ro
d
u
c
e
 a

 r
a
c
e
 

a
n
d
 f
a
it
h
 p

la
y
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 a

im
 

o
f 
b
ri
n
g
in

g
 y

o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 

fr
o
m

 d
if
fe

re
n
t 

b
a
c
k
g
ro

u
n
d
s
 t
o
g
e
th

e
r.

 

T
h
is

 w
a
s
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
.

C
u
llo

d
e
n
 B

a
n
g
la

d
e
s
h
i 

P
ro

je
c
t,
 1

7
 y

o
u
th

s
 

a
tt
e
n
d
e
d
 a

n
d
 9

8
%

 s
ta

te
d
 

th
e
 o

b
je

c
ti
v
e
s
 w

e
re

 m
e
t 

w
e
ll 

C
h
ri
s
p
 S

t 
Id

e
a
 S

to
re

, 

1
2
 y

o
u
th

s
 a

tt
e
n
d
e
d
 a

n
d
 

9
2
%

 s
ta

te
d
 t
h
e
 o

b
je

c
ti
v
e
s
 

w
e
re

 m
e
t 
w

e
ll

2
 s

e
s
s
io

n
s
 w

it
h
 Y

o
u
th

 

O
ff
e
n
d
in

g
 T

e
a
m

, 
6
 

p
e
rp

e
tr

a
to

rs
, 
1
0
0
%

 s
ta

te
d
 

o
b
je

c
ti
v
e
s
 w

e
re

 m
e
t 
A

lp
h
a
 

G
ro

v
e
 Y

o
u
th

 C
e
n
tr

e
, 
1
5
 

y
o
u
th

s
. 
9
0
%

 T
o
w

e
r 

H
a
m

le
ts

 C
o
lle

g
e
, 
1
1
8
 

s
tu

d
e
n
ts

 w
h
o
 w

e
re

 

d
is

a
ff
e
c
te

d
 y

o
u
th

s
 a

n
d
 h

a
d
 

le
a
rn

in
g
 d

if
fi
c
u
lt
ie

s
, 
1
0
0
%

A
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 T

h
e
 R

e
a
lly

 B
ig

 

A
d
v
e
n
tu

re
 P

la
y
 w

a
s
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
d
, 

th
e
 e

v
a
lu

a
ti
o
n
 r

e
p
o
rt

 i
s
 n

o
t 
d
u
e
 

u
n
ti
l 
4
th

 J
u
n
e
. 
It
 w

ill
 a

n
a
ly

s
e
 

e
q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 f
o
rm

s
 a

n
d
 

e
v
a
lu

a
ti
o
n
 f
o
rm

s
 a

n
d
 w

ill
 s

ta
te

 

th
e
 p

e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
s
 o

f 
v
ie

w
 i
n
 

w
h
e
th

e
r 

th
e
 o

b
je

c
ti
v
e
s
 h

a
v
e
 

b
e
e
n
 m

e
t,
 c

o
n
fi
d
e
n
c
e
 i
n
 

c
h
a
lle

n
g
in

g
 d

is
c
ri
m

in
a
to

ry
 

b
e
h
a
v
io

u
r 

a
n
d
 s

o
 f
o
rt

h
.

L
o

n
d

o
n

 B
o

ro
u

g
h

 o
f 

T
o

w
e

r 
H

a
m

le
ts

1
4

E
A

P
 2

0
0

6
/7

Page 92



E
q

u
a

li
ti

e
s

 A
c

ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 2
0

0
6

/0
7

 M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

 R
e

p
o

rt
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 1

D
E

S
R

E
S

K
E

Y
 A

C
T

IV
IT

Y
D

IR
K

E
Y

 M
IL

E
S

T
O

N
E

 &
 

C
O

M
P

L
E

T
IO

N
 D

A
T

E

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
L

E
A

D
 O

F
F

IC
E

R
T

R
A

F
F

IC
 L

IG
H

T
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 T

O
 3

1
 M

a
rc

h
 

0
7

E
X

P
L

A
N

A
T

IO
N

 O
F

 

S
L

IP
P

A
G

E
/F

A
IL

U
R

E
 T

O
 M

E
E

T
 

T
A

R
G

E
T

R
E

M
E

D
IA

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

 

IN
C

L
U

D
IN

G
 N

E
W

 D
E

A
D

L
IN

E
S

In
c
re

a
s
e
 r

e
p
o
rt

in
g
 o

f 
H

o
m

o
p
h
o
b
ic

 H
a
te

 C
ri
m

e
 a

n
d
 p

ro
v
id

e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 t
o
 L

G
B

T
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

m
e
m

b
e
rs

 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 e

m
p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
s
p
e
c
ia

lis
t 
H

o
m

o
p
h
o
b
ic

 V
ic

ti
m

 S
u
p
p
o
rt

 C
a
s
e
 W

o
rk

e
r

C
E

W
o
rk

e
r 

re
c
ru

it
e
d
 b

y
 M

a
y
 0

6

T
ra

in
in

g
 f
o
r 

w
o
rk

e
r 

p
ro

d
u
c
e
d
 a

n
d
 

d
e
liv

e
re

d
 b

y
 M

a
rc

h
 0

7

A
ll 

L
G

B
T

 h
a
te

 C
ri
m

e
 v

ic
ti
m

s
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt

e
d
 b

y
 M

a
rc

h
 0

7

R
e
p
o
rt

 t
o
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 m
e
m

b
e
rs

 b
y
 

M
a
rc

h
 0

7

%
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
H

a
te

 C
ri
m

e
 

re
p
o
rt

s
 r

e
c
e
iv

e
d
 f
ro

m
 L

G
B

T
 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y

1
0
0
%

 v
ic

ti
m

s
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

e
d
 a

n
d
 9

5
%

 

v
ic

ti
m

s
 s

a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 w

it
h
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 p

ro
v
id

e
d

N
a
ta

lie
 K

e
r 

W
a
ts

o
n
/F

a
z
a
l

M
a
h
m

o
o
d

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

E
n
s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 
re

lig
io

u
s
 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
, 
s
c
h
o
o
ls

, 
m

a
jo

r 
b
u
s
in

e
s
s
e
s
, 
y
o
u
th

 g
ro

u
p
s
 a

n
d
 v

o
lu

n
ta

ry
 

s
e
c
to

r 
a
re

 c
o
n
ta

c
te

d
 a

n
d
 t
h
a
t 
o
p
ti
o
n
 o

f 
H

a
te

 C
ri
m

e
 t
ra

in
in

g
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 a
n
d
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

n
e
e
d
s
 a

re
 p

ro
v
id

e
d

C
E

M
in

im
u
m

 o
f 
2
0
 o

rg
a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
s
 

c
o
n
ta

c
te

d
 a

n
d
 a

s
s
e
s
s
e
d
 f
o
r 

H
a
te

 

C
ri
m

e
 n

e
e
d
s
 b

y
 M

a
r 

0
7

A
im

 f
o
r 

3
0
%

 o
f 
o
rg

a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 

ta
k
e
 u

p
 H

a
te

 C
ri
m

e
 a

w
a
re

n
e
s
s
 

tr
a
in

in
g
 b

y
 M

a
r 

0
7

9
5
%

 o
f 
a
g
e
n
c
ie

s
 c

o
n
ta

c
te

d
 w

h
ic

h
 t
a
k
e
 

u
p
 a

re
 s

a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 w

it
h
 s

e
rv

ic
e
/t
ra

in
in

g

%
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 r

e
p
o
rt

in
g
 o

f 
H

a
te

 C
ri
m

e
 

to
 C

o
u
n
c
il'

s
 f
re

e
p
h
o
n
e
 l
in

e

N
a
z
m

a
 B

e
g
u
m

G
R

E
E

N
O

v
e
r 

2
0
 O

rg
a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
s
 

w
e
re

 c
o
n
ta

c
te

d
 a

n
d
 

o
ff
e
re

d
 t
ra

in
in

g
 a

n
d
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt

.

3
0
%

 t
a
rg

e
t 
w

a
s
 e

x
c
e
e
d
e
d
 

in
 T

ra
in

in
g
 t
a
k
e
 u

p

9
5
%

 a
g
e
n
c
ie

s
 s

a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 

w
it
h
 s

e
rv

ic
e
/t
ra

in
in

g
 t
a
rg

e
t 

h
a
s
 b

e
e
n
 m

e
t

O
B

J
E

C
T

IV
E

 1
2

 -
 T

o
 i

m
p

ro
v

e
 s

e
rv

ic
e

s
 f

o
r 

g
ro

u
p

s
 t

h
a

t 
th

e
 

C
o

u
n

c
il

 h
a

s
 f

o
u

n
d

 h
a

rd
 t

o
 r

e
a

c
h

 a
n

d
 f

o
r 

v
u

ln
e

ra
b

le
 a

n
d

 

e
x

c
lu

d
e

d
 g

ro
u

p
s

M
o
n
it
o
r 

a
n
d
 t
ra

c
k
 k

e
y
 o

u
tc

o
m

e
s
 f
o
r 

n
e
w

ly
-a

rr
iv

e
d
 c

h
ild

re
n
 a

n
d
 y

o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

C
H

S
E

n
c
o
u
ra

g
e
 s

c
h
o
o
ls

 t
o
 r

e
tu

rn
 d

a
ta

 

o
n
 r

e
fu

g
e
e
 p

u
p
ils

 a
n
d
 l
a
n
g
u
a
g
e
s
 

s
p
o
k
e
n
 a

n
d
 a

n
a
ly

s
e
 t
h
e
 r

e
s
u
lt
s
 b

y
 

D
e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

0
6

R
e
p
o
rt

 p
ro

d
u
c
e
d
 w

h
ic

h
 i
n
fo

rm
s
 s

c
h
o
o
l 

p
la

n
n
in

g

G
e
o
rg

e
 N

y
a
m

u
n
d
a
n
d
a

G
R

E
E

N

D
e
v
e
lo

p
 s

ta
ff
 a

w
a
re

n
e
s
s
 o

f 
re

fu
g
e
e
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 t
ra

in
in

g
, 
w

e
b
s
it
e
 a

n
d
 r

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s

C
H

S
O

n
 g

o
in

g
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
w

it
h
 a

 

re
v
ie

w
 i
n
 J

a
n
u
a
ry

 0
7
 T

ra
in

in
g
 

p
ro

v
id

e
d
 b

y
 M

a
rc

h
 0

7
: 
K

e
y
 

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 p

ro
v
id

e
d
 o

n
 w

e
b
s
it
e
 b

y
 

D
e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

0
7

S
c
h
o
o
ls

 m
a
k
e
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 p
ro

v
is

io
n
 

fo
r 

re
fu

g
e
e
 p

u
p
ils

 a
s
 e

v
a
lu

a
te

d
 b

y
 

s
a
m

p
lin

g
 p

ro
c
e
s
s
.

J
a
n
e
 C

o
n
n
o
lly

G
R

E
E

N

D
is

s
e
m

in
a
te

 b
e
s
t 
p
ra

c
ti
c
e
 i
n
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

n
e
w

ly
-a

rr
iv

e
d
 c

h
ild

re
n
 a

n
d
 y

o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 w
it
h
 

E
n
g
lis

h
 a

s
 a

n
 a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
la

n
g
u
a
g
e
 i
n
 s

c
h
o
o
ls

C
H

S
E

n
s
u
re

 a
ll 

E
M

A
 (

E
th

n
ic

 M
in

o
ri
ty

 

A
c
h
ie

v
e
m

e
n
t)

 C
o
-o

rd
in

a
to

rs
 a

re
 

a
w

a
re

 o
f 
p
ro

c
e
d
u
re

s
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 

b
ri
e
fi
n
g
s
 a

n
d
 t
ra

in
in

g
 b

y
 M

a
rc

h
 0

7

A
ll 

p
a
re

n
ta

l 
c
o
m

p
la

in
ts

 a
b
o
u
t 
q
u
a
lit

y
 o

f 

e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 

n
e
w

 a
d
m

is
s
io

n
s
 d

e
a
lt
 

w
it
h
 s

a
ti
s
fa

c
to

ri
ly

: 
S

n
a
p
s
h
o
t 
v
is

it
s
 t
o
 

s
c
h
o
o
ls

 s
h
o
w

 g
o
o
d
 p

ra
c
ti
c
e
 s

tr
a
te

g
ie

s
 

a
d
o
p
te

d
.

J
a
n
e
 C

o
n
n
o
lly

G
R

E
E

N

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 s
p
e
c
ia

l 
s
c
h
o
o
ls

 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 d

e
liv

e
ry

 a
n
d
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
o
u
tr

e
a
c
h
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 t
o
 

m
a
in

s
tr

e
a
m

 s
c
h
o
o
ls

C
H

S
F

e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 e

a
c
h
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
te

rm
 o

n
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 d

e
liv

e
re

d

A
n
a
ly

s
e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 d

e
liv

e
re

d
 o

v
e
r 

a
 

s
c
h
o
o
l 
y
e
a
r 

w
it
h
 s

c
h
o
o
ls

D
a
v
id

 C
a
rr

o
ll

G
R

E
E

N

C
o
m

m
is

s
io

n
 n

e
w

 w
o
m

e
n
's

 d
ru

g
 t
re

a
tm

e
n
t 
s
e
rv

ic
e

C
E

S
e
rv

ic
e
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
e
d
 a

n
d
 r

e
c
e
iv

in
g
 

c
lie

n
ts

 b
y
 J

u
ly

 0
6

In
c
re

a
s
e
 t
h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
fe

m
a
le

 

p
ro

b
le

m
a
ti
c
 d

ru
g
 u

s
e
rs

 e
n
g
a
g
e
d
 a

n
d
 

re
ta

in
e
d
 i
n
 t
re

a
tm

e
n
t 
to

 2
7
%

 o
f 
a
ll 

u
s
e
rs

 (
2
0
%

 c
u
rr

e
n
tl
y
)

G
ill

y
 C

o
tt
e
w

R
E

D
T

h
e
 w

o
m

e
n
's

 d
ru

g
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 

o
p
e
n
e
d
 t
o
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 u

s
e
rs

 i
n
 

N
o
v
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
0
6
. 
N

u
m

b
e
rs

 

o
f 
fe

m
a
le

 p
ro

b
le

m
a
ti
c
 

d
ru

g
 u

s
e
rs

 e
n
g
a
g
e
d
 i
n
 

tr
e
a
tm

e
n
t 
h
a
s
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
d
 t
o
 

2
8
.6

%

S
e
rv

ic
e
 o

p
e
n
in

g
 w

a
s
 o

ri
g
in

a
lly

 

p
la

n
n
e
d
 f
o
r 

J
u
ly

 2
0
0
6
. 
T

h
e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 

is
 h

o
u
s
e
d
 i
n
 H

o
p
e
to

w
n
 H

o
s
te

l 
(a

 

n
e
w

 b
u
ild

 s
it
e
) 

a
n
d
 d

u
e
 t
o
 d

e
la

y
s
 

in
 c

o
n
s
tr

u
c
ti
o
n
 t
h
e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 w

a
s
 

u
n
a
b
le

 t
o
 o

p
e
n

T
h
e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 i
s
 n

o
w

 o
p
e
n

D
e
v
e
lo

p
 a

n
te

-n
a
ta

l 
c
lin

ic
 f
o
r 

p
re

g
n
a
n
t 
d
ru

g
 u

s
e
rs

C
E

S
e
rv

ic
e
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
e
d
 b

y
 J

u
ly

 0
6

In
c
re

a
s
e
 t
h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
p
re

g
n
a
n
t 
d
ru

g
 

u
s
e
rs

 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 a

n
d
 e

n
g
a
g
e
d
 b

y
 a

n
te

-

n
a
ta

l 
s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 b

y
 1

0
%

G
ill

y
 C

o
tt
e
w

G
R

E
E

N
T

h
e
 P

C
T

, 
E

L
C

M
H

T
, 
B

a
rt

s
 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
 L

o
n
d
o
n
 H

o
s
p
it
a
l 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
 D

A
T

 h
a
v
e
 w

o
rk

e
d
 

in
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 t
o
 o

v
e
rs

e
e
 

th
e
 o

p
e
n
in

g
 o

f 
th

e
 S

e
a
c
o
le

 

C
lin

ic
. 
T

h
is

 h
a
s
 e

n
a
b
le

d
 a

 

g
re

a
te

r 
fo

c
u
s
 o

n
, 
a
n
d
 

s
u
b
s
e
q
e
n
t 
e
n
g
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
o
f 

p
re

g
n
a
n
t 
d
ru

g
 u

s
e
rs

 w
it
h
in

 

th
e
 s

p
e
c
ia

lis
t 
m

id
w

if
e
ry

 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 a

t 
th

e
 R

o
y
a
l 

L
o
n
d
o
n
 H

o
s
p
it
a
l.

D
e
v
e
lo

p
 l
in

k
s
 w

it
h
 C

h
ild

re
n
's

 S
e
rv

ic
e
s
 t
o
 e

n
s
u
re

 d
ru

g
 u

s
e
rs

 a
re

 a
b
le

 t
o
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 f
u
ll 

ra
n
g
e
 o

f 

c
h
ild

c
a
re

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s

C
E

P
ro

to
c
o
l 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 b

y
 

D
A

T
/C

h
ild

re
n
's

 S
e
rv

ic
e
s
 t
o
 e

n
s
u
re

 

a
ll 

e
lig

ib
le

 d
ru

g
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 c

lie
n
ts

 

h
a
v
e
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 f
u
n
d
e
d
 c

h
ild

c
a
re

 

p
ro

v
is

io
n
, 
b
y
 S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

2
0
0
6

M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 s

h
o
w

s
 a

n
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 o

f 
th

e
 

u
p
ta

k
e
 o

f 
c
h
ild

c
a
re

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 b

y
 d

ru
g
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 c

lie
n
ts

 b
y
 2

0
%

G
ill

y
 C

o
tt
e
w

G
R

E
E

N
C

le
a
r 

p
ro

to
c
o
ls

 a
re

 a
g
re

e
d
 

a
n
d
 i
n
 p

la
c
e
. 
M

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 

in
d
ic

a
te

s
 a

n
  
in

c
re

a
s
e
 o

f 

th
e
 u

p
ta

k
e
 o

f 
c
h
ild

c
a
re

 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 b

y
 d

ru
g
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 

c
lie

n
ts

.

L
o

n
d

o
n

 B
o

ro
u

g
h

 o
f 

T
o

w
e

r 
H

a
m

le
ts

1
5

E
A

P
 2

0
0

6
/7

Page 93



E
q

u
a

li
ti

e
s

 A
c

ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 2
0

0
6

/0
7

 M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

 R
e

p
o

rt
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 1

D
E

S
R

E
S

K
E

Y
 A

C
T

IV
IT

Y
D

IR
K

E
Y

 M
IL

E
S

T
O

N
E

 &
 

C
O

M
P

L
E

T
IO

N
 D

A
T

E

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
L

E
A

D
 O

F
F

IC
E

R
T

R
A

F
F

IC
 L

IG
H

T
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 T

O
 3

1
 M

a
rc

h
 

0
7

E
X

P
L

A
N

A
T

IO
N

 O
F

 

S
L

IP
P

A
G

E
/F

A
IL

U
R

E
 T

O
 M

E
E

T
 

T
A

R
G

E
T

R
E

M
E

D
IA

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

 

IN
C

L
U

D
IN

G
 N

E
W

 D
E

A
D

L
IN

E
S

A
d
v
is

e
 s

c
h
o
o
ls

 o
n
 t
h
e
 i
m

p
le

m
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 D

is
a
b
ili

ty
 D

is
c
ri
m

in
a
ti
o
n
 A

c
t 
in

 r
e
la

ti
o
n
 t
o
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 e

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 

p
u
p
ils

 w
it
h
 p

h
y
s
ic

a
l 
im

p
a
ir
m

e
n
t 
a
n
d
 s

e
ri
o
u
s
 m

e
d
ic

a
l 
c
o
n
d
it
io

n
s

C
H

S
E

x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

 o
n
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 I
n
it
ia

ti
v
e
 

G
ra

n
t 
a
g
re

e
d
 w

it
h
 s

c
h
o
o
ls

 (
M

a
rc

h
 

0
7
)

M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 s

h
o
w

s
 a

n
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
s
c
h
o
o
ls

 r
e
q
u
e
s
ti
n
g
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

H
ila

ry
 M

a
g
u
ir
e
/ 
L
y
n
n
e
 

R
o
b
e
rt

s

G
R

E
E

N

B
ra

ill
e
 a

n
d
 f
in

g
e
rs

p
e
lli

n
g
 a

lp
h
a
b
e
t 
b
o
o
k
 p

ro
d
u
c
e
d
 b

y
 R

N
IB

 f
o
r 

T
o
w

e
r 

H
a
m

le
ts

 a
n
d
 

d
is

tr
ib

u
te

d
 t
o
 t
a
rg

e
te

d
 p

a
re

n
ts

 a
n
d
 a

ll 
E

a
rl
y
 Y

e
a
rs

 s
e
tt
in

g
s

C
H

S
L
a
u
n
c
h
 e

v
e
n
t 
(M

a
y
 0

6
)

A
w

a
re

n
e
s
s
 o

f 
s
ta

ff
 a

n
d
 c

h
ild

re
n
 i
n
 E

Y
 

s
e
tt
in

g
s
 r

a
is

e
d
 a

n
d
 p

a
re

n
ts

 o
f 
v
is

io
n
-

im
p
a
ir
e
d
 a

n
d
 h

e
a
ri
n
g
-i
m

p
a
ir
e
d
  
p
re

-

s
c
h
o
o
l 
c
h
ild

re
n
 w

e
lc

o
m

e
 a

n
d
 u

s
e
 t
h
e
 

p
u
b
lic

a
ti
o
n

J
a
s
o
n
 S

w
a
le

L
y
n
n
e
 R

o
b
e
rt

s

G
R

E
E

N

C
a
rr

y
 o

u
t 
a
u
d
it
 o

f 
s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 p

ro
v
id

e
d
 b

y
 C

h
ild

re
n
's

 I
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 S

e
rv

ic
e
, 
P

a
re

n
ts

 A
d
v
ic

e
 

C
e
n
tr

e
 a

n
d
 C

h
ild

re
n
's

 C
e
n
tr

e
s
 t
o
 e

n
s
u
re

 s
e
n
s
it
iv

it
y
 t
o
 g

e
n
d
e
r 

d
if
fe

re
n
c
e
s

C
H

S
T

ra
in

in
g
 p

ro
v
id

e
d
 b

y
 F

a
th

e
rs

 

D
ir
e
c
t 
fo

r 
a
ll 

s
ta

ff
 a

n
d
 a

re
a
s
 f
o
r 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
id

e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 (

O
c
to

b
e
r 

0
6
)

A
c
ti
o
n
 P

la
n
 r

e
v
ie

w
e
d
 (

M
a
rc

h
 0

7
)

In
c
re

a
s
e
d
 u

s
e
 o

f 
s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 b

y
 f
a
th

e
rs

, 

a
s
 m

e
a
s
u
re

d
 b

y
 c

o
n
ta

c
t 
w

it
h
 s

ta
ff

S
a
ra

h
 G

a
le

G
R

E
E

N

P
ro

m
o
te

 r
o
a
d
 s

a
fe

ty
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
s
 t
o
 v

u
ln

e
ra

b
le

 a
g
e
 g

ro
u
p
s

E
C

1
0
0
0
 p

u
p
ils

 t
o
 h

a
v
e
 p

a
rt

ic
ip

a
te

d
 b

y
 

D
e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

0
6

A
n
 a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
3
 s

c
h
o
o
ls

 t
o
 h

a
v
e
 

th
e
 J

u
n
io

r 
ro

a
d
 s

a
fe

ty
 o

ff
ic

e
rs

 b
y
 

M
a
rc

h
 0

7

T
ra

in
in

g
 f
o
r 

3
 e

ld
e
rs

 g
ro

u
p
s
 

c
o
m

p
le

te
d
 b

y
 D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

0
6

E
v
id

e
n
c
e
 o

f 
im

p
ro

v
e
d
 r

o
a
d
 s

a
fe

ty
 

a
w

a
re

n
e
s
s

M
a
rg

a
re

t 
C

o
o
p
e
r

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

R
e
v
ie

w
 e

x
is

ti
n
g
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
s
 a

n
d
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
 a

 r
a
n
g
e
 o

f 
n
e
w

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
s
 a

t 
le

is
u
re

 c
e
n
tr

e
s
 t
o
 

e
n
c
o
u
ra

g
e
 p

a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n
 f
ro

m
 u

n
d
e
r-

re
p
re

s
e
n
te

d
 g

ro
u
p
s
 a

c
ro

s
s
 t
h
e
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
 

E
C

1
0
0
 m

e
m

b
e
rs

 i
n
 6

0
+

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 

b
y
 M

a
rc

h
 0

7

1
0
,0

0
0
 w

o
m

e
n
 a

n
d
 g

ir
ls

 

p
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
n
g
 b

y
 M

a
rc

h
 0

7

2
0
0
 M

e
m

b
e
rs

 w
it
h
 d

is
a
b
ili

ti
e
s
 b

y
 

M
a
rc

h
 0

7

M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 s

h
o
w

s
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
d
 

p
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n

P
a
u
l 
M

a
rt

in
d
ill

G
R

E
E

N
A

c
h
ie

v
e
d
 a

b
o
v
e
 t
a
rg

e
t 
- 

o
v
e
r 

1
4
4
,0

0
0
 v

is
it
s
 b

y
 

w
o
m

e
n
 a

n
d
 g

ir
ls

 t
o
 l
e
is

u
re

 

c
e
n
tr

e
s
, 
2
5
1
 d

is
a
b
le

d
 

m
e
m

b
e
rs

Im
p
ro

v
e
 d

iv
e
rs

it
y
 m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 f
o
r 

a
 f
o
o
tb

a
ll 

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 f
o
r 

7
-1

1
s
 i
n
 s

c
h
o
o
ls

 a
n
d
 a

t 
th

e
 

F
o
o
tb

a
ll 

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
C

e
n
tr

e

E
C

D
ra

ft
 s

y
s
te

m
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
ls

 a
g
re

e
d
 b

y
 

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
6

M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 g

o
e
s
 l
iv

e
 i
n
 O

c
to

b
e
r 

0
6

B
a
s
e
lin

e
 f
o
r 

e
th

n
ic

it
y
 a

n
d
 g

e
n
d
e
r 

e
s
ta

b
lis

h
e
d

P
a
u
l 
M

a
rt

in
d
ill

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

In
c
re

a
s
e
 t
h
e
 p

ro
fi
le

 o
f 
d
is

a
b
le

d
 s

p
o
rt

s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 B

o
ro

u
g
h

E
C

H
o
s
t 
th

e
 L

o
n
d
o
n
 Y

o
u
th

 G
a
m

e
s
 a

t 

M
ile

 E
n
d
 L

e
is

u
re

 C
o
m

p
le

x

O
rg

a
n
is

e
 t
e
a
m

 e
n
tr

ie
s
 f
ro

m
 

d
is

a
b
le

d
 p

e
o
p
le

 f
o
r 

th
e
 L

o
n
d
o
n
 

Y
o
u
th

 G
a
m

e
s

E
n
te

r 
te

a
m

s
 f
o
r 

th
e
 m

a
x
im

u
m

 n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
e
v
e
n
ts

 (
6
)

E
s
ta

b
lis

h
e
d
 t
ra

in
in

g
 s

e
s
s
io

n
s
 f
o
r 

b
o
y
s
 

&
 g

ir
ls

 d
is

a
b
ili

ty
 f
o
o
tb

a
ll,

 d
is

a
b
ili

ty
 

s
w

im
m

in
g
, 
a
th

le
ti
c
s
, 
b
o
c
c
ia

P
a
u
l 
M

a
rt

in
d
ill

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

Im
p
ro

v
e
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 p

la
y
 f
o
r 

d
is

a
b
le

d
 c

h
ild

re
n

E
C

4
 n

e
w

 i
n
c
lu

s
iv

e
 p

la
y
 s

e
s
s
io

n
s
 b

y
 

M
a
rc

h
 0

7

Im
p
ro

v
e
 P

la
y
 f
a
c
ili

ti
e
s
 f
o
r 

d
is

a
b
le

d
 

c
h
ild

re
n
 i
n
 M

ile
 E

n
d
 P

a
rk

P
a
u
l 
M

a
rt

in
d
ill

G
R

E
E

N

D
e
v
e
lo

p
 b

e
tt
e
r 

m
a
tc

h
in

g
 o

f 
p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
 a

c
ro

s
s
 t
h
e
 s

o
c
ia

l 
h
o
u
s
in

g
 s

e
c
to

r 
fo

r 
d
is

a
b
le

d
 

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

s

H
R

e
g
is

te
r 

o
f 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

s
 w

it
h
 a

 

d
is

a
b
le

d
 p

e
rs

o
n
 a

n
d
 a

c
c
e
s
s
ib

le
 

p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
 t
o
 b

e
 i
n
 u

s
e
 b

y
 J

u
n
e
 0

6
 

E
v
id

e
n
c
e
 o

f 
in

c
re

a
s
e
d
 s

a
ti
s
fa

c
ti
o
n
 b

y
 

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

s
 w

it
h
 a

 d
is

a
b
le

d
 p

e
rs

o
n
 t
h
a
t 

th
e
y
 c

a
n
 m

a
k
e
 m

o
re

 i
n
fo

rm
e
d
 c

h
o
ic

e
s
 

w
h
e
n
 b

id
d
in

g
 f
o
r 

p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s

J
o
h
n
 H

a
rk

in
G

R
E

E
N

P
ilo

t 
e
x
te

n
s
io

n
 o

f 
th

e
 o

ld
 a

g
e
 p

e
n
s
io

n
e
rs

 &
 d

is
a
b
le

d
 t
e
n
a
n
ts

 d
e
c
o
ra

ti
n
g
 s

c
h
e
m

e
 t
o
 t
e
n
a
n
ts

 

o
f 
re

g
is

te
re

d
 s

o
c
ia

l 
la

n
d
lo

rd
s

H
S

ta
rt

 P
ilo

t 
in

 A
p
ri
l 
0
6

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 i
m

p
a
c
t 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
th

e
 

p
ilo

t 
c
o
m

p
le

te
d
 b

y
 A

u
g
u
s
t 
0
6

E
v
a
lu

a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 p

ilo
t 
a
n
d
 d

e
c
is

io
n
 

to
 e

x
te

n
d
 t
h
e
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 t
a
k
e
n
 b

y
 

D
e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

0
6

J
o
in

t 
p
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 w
o
rk

in
g
 e

n
s
u
re

s
 

c
o
m

p
a
ra

b
le

 s
e
rv

ic
e
 s

ta
n
d
a
rd

s
 a

n
d
 

c
a
re

 f
o
r 

v
u
ln

e
ra

b
le

 t
e
n
a
n
ts

 a
c
ro

s
s
 

s
o
c
ia

l 
h
o
u
s
in

g
 p

ro
v
id

e
rs

S
u
e
 L

a
w

re
n
c
e

G
R

E
E

N

U
n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
 a

 t
e
n
u
re

 b
lin

d
 r

e
v
ie

w
 o

f 
th

e
 p

ro
v
is

io
n
 o

f 
a
d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

d
is

a
b
le

d
 r

e
s
id

e
n
ts

H
R

e
p
o
rt

 f
in

d
in

g
s
 o

f 
re

v
ie

w
 b

y
 

J
a
n
u
a
ry

 2
0
0
6
 w

it
h
 a

 p
la

n
 f
o
r 

im
p
le

m
e
n
ta

ti
o
n

R
e
v
ie

w
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
 a

n
d
 

re
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 a

g
re

e
d
 t
o
 e

n
s
u
re

 

b
e
s
t 
u
s
e
 m

a
d
e
 o

f 
p
ro

v
is

io
n
 o

f 
fu

n
d
s
 t
o
 

th
o
s
e
 i
n
 n

e
e
d

J
a
c
k
ie

 O
d
u
n
o
y
e

G
R

E
E

N

L
o

n
d

o
n

 B
o

ro
u

g
h

 o
f 

T
o

w
e

r 
H

a
m

le
ts

1
6

E
A

P
 2

0
0

6
/7

Page 94



E
q

u
a

li
ti

e
s

 A
c

ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 2
0

0
6

/0
7

 M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

 R
e

p
o

rt
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 1

D
E

S
R

E
S

K
E

Y
 A

C
T

IV
IT

Y
D

IR
K

E
Y

 M
IL

E
S

T
O

N
E

 &
 

C
O

M
P

L
E

T
IO

N
 D

A
T

E

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
L

E
A

D
 O

F
F

IC
E

R
T

R
A

F
F

IC
 L

IG
H

T
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 T

O
 3

1
 M

a
rc

h
 

0
7

E
X

P
L

A
N

A
T

IO
N

 O
F

 

S
L

IP
P

A
G

E
/F

A
IL

U
R

E
 T

O
 M

E
E

T
 

T
A

R
G

E
T

R
E

M
E

D
IA

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

 

IN
C

L
U

D
IN

G
 N

E
W

 D
E

A
D

L
IN

E
S

M
a
rk

e
t 
h
o
u
s
e
p
ro

u
d
 g

ra
n
ts

 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 H

o
u
s
e
p
ro

u
d
 S

c
h
e
m

e
 t
o
 l
e
a
s
e
h
o
ld

e
rs

 a
n
d
 f
re

e
h
o
ld

e
rs

 

w
h
o
 a

re
 o

v
e
r 

6
0
 a

n
d
/o

r 
d
is

a
b
le

d

H
2
5
 H

o
u
s
e
p
ro

u
d
 g

ra
n
ts

 a
n
d
 

re
fe

rr
a
ls

 t
o
 H

o
u
s
e
p
ro

u
d
 p

ri
v
a
te

 

lo
a
n
 s

c
h
e
m

e
 b

y
 M

a
rc

h
 0

6

2
5
 e

lig
ib

le
 h

o
m

e
o
w

n
e
rs

 h
a
v
e
 r

e
c
e
iv

e
d
 

g
ra

n
t 
a
s
s
is

ta
n
c
e
 t
o
 h

e
lp

 t
h
e
m

 a
c
c
e
s
s
 a

 

H
o
u
s
e
p
ro

u
d
 l
o
a
n
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 r

e
p
a
ir
s
 a

n
d
 

a
d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
ir
 p

ro
p
e
rt

y

A
lis

o
n
 T

h
o
m

a
s

G
R

E
E

N

S
u
s
ta

in
 a

n
d
 s

tr
e
n
g
th

e
n
 p

la
n
n
in

g
 f
o
r 

S
u
p
p
o
rt

in
g
 P

e
o
p
le

 c
o
m

m
is

s
io

n
e
d
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s

H
C

a
rr

y
 o

u
t 
o
n
g
o
in

g
 r

e
v
ie

w
s
 a

n
d
 

m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 o

f 
s
u
p
p
o
rt

in
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 

fu
n
d
e
d
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 b

y
 M

a
rc

h
 0

7
 

8
0
%

 S
u
p
p
o
rt

in
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 s
e
rv

ic
e
 u

s
e
rs

 

a
re

 s
u
p
p
o
rt

e
d
 t
o
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
 a

n
d
 

m
a
in

ta
in

 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
liv

in
g

3
0
%

 s
u
p
p
o
rt

in
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 s
e
rv

ic
e
 u

s
e
rs

 

h
a
v
e
 m

o
v
e
d
 o

n
 i
n
 a

 p
la

n
n
e
d
 w

a
y
 f
ro

m
 

te
m

p
o
ra

ry
 l
iv

in
g
 a

rr
a
n
g
e
m

e
n
ts

C
a
rr

ie
 K

ilp
a
tr

ic
k

G
R

E
E

N

A
 S

o
m

a
li 

Y
o
u
n
g
 P

e
o
p
le

's
 E

a
rl
y
 I
n
te

rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 O

u
tr

e
a
c
h
 P

ra
c
ti
ti
o
n
e
r 

w
ill

 e
n
s
u
re

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 

a
re

 a
c
c
e
s
s
in

g
 S

o
m

a
li 

y
o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 a
n
d
 t
h
e
ir
 f
a
m

ili
e
s

C
E

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
p
ro

je
c
t 
to

 b
e
 

re
v
ie

w
e
d
 S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
6

In
c
re

a
s
e
d
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
S

o
m

a
li 

Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le

 a
n
d
 f
a
m

ili
e
s
 e

n
g
a
g
e
d
 i
n
 T

ie
r 

2
/3

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s

T
im

 S
to

n
e
b
ri
d
g
e

G
R

E
E

N

Y
o
u
n
g
 P

e
o
p
le

's
 A

d
v
is

o
ry

 G
ro

u
p
 D

ru
g
s
 a

n
d
 A

lc
o
h
o
l 
to

 b
e
 f
o
rm

e
d
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy

 i
s
s
u
e
s
 a

n
d
 

n
e
e
d
s
 o

f 
y
o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 a
s
 w

e
ll 

a
s
 r

e
v
ie

w
 e

x
is

ti
n
g
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 p

ro
v
is

io
n
 a

n
d
 m

a
k
e
 

re
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 Y

o
u
n
g
 P

e
rs

o
n
s
 S

u
b
s
ta

n
c
e
 M

is
u
s
e
 J

o
in

t 
C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
in

g
 G

ro
u
p

C
E

Y
o
u
n
g
 P

e
o
p
le

's
 A

d
v
is

o
ry

 G
ro

u
p
 

c
o
n
v
e
n
e
d
 J

u
n
e
 0

6

In
c
re

a
s
e
d
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
y
o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 

e
n
g
a
g
e
d
 i
n
 y

o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

's
 a

d
v
is

o
ry

 

g
ro

u
p

T
im

 S
to

n
e
b
ri
d
g
e

R
E

D
9
4
 y

o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 w
e
re

 

e
n
g
a
g
e
d
 o

n
 a

n
 o

u
tr

e
a
c
h
 

b
a
s
is

 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 L

if
e
lin

e
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 a

t 
y
e
a
r 

e
n
d
, 
5
 o

f 

w
h
o
m

 w
e
re

 p
ro

v
id

e
d
 w

it
h
 

ti
e
r 

3
 i
n
te

rv
e
n
ti
o
n
s
. 
T

w
o
 

ta
rg

e
te

d
 w

o
rk

s
h
o
p
s
 w

e
re

 

d
e
liv

e
re

d
 i
n
 Q

4
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 

th
e
 L

if
e
lin

e
 d

e
liv

e
ry

 

s
tr

a
te

g
y
 f
o
r 

th
is

 B
M

E
 

g
ro

u
p
.

T
h
e
 o

v
e
ra

ll 
ta

rg
e
t 
w

a
s
 s

e
t 
u
p
 t
o
 b

e
 

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d
 i
n
 2

0
0
6
-0

7
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 

o
n
g
o
in

g
 t
ra

in
in

g
 a

n
d
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

in
it
ia

ti
v
e
s
 i
n
te

n
d
e
d
 t
o
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 

a
c
h
ie

v
e
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
e
q
u
a
lit

y
 s

ta
n
d
a
rd

 

le
v
e
l 
5
. 
T

h
e
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 w

a
s
 s

lo
w

 

to
 g

e
t 
o
ff
 t
h
e
 g

ro
u
n
d
 i
n
 2

0
0
6
/0

7
 

a
n
d
 a

ll 
o
f 
th

e
 r

e
p
o
rt

e
d
 a

c
ti
v
iit

e
s
 

o
c
c
u
rr

e
d
 i
n
 q

u
a
rt

e
r 

4
.

A
 r

e
m

e
d
ia

l 
a
c
ti
o
n
 p

la
n
 f
o
r 

th
is

 

p
o
s
t 
h
a
s
 b

e
e
n
 p

u
t 
in

 p
la

c
e
 f
o
r 

2
0
0
7
/0

8
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 r

o
b
u
s
t 

q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y
 D

A
A

T
 a

c
ti
v
it
ie

s
 

m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
, 
w

e
e
k
ly

 i
n
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
o
f 

th
e
 p

o
s
t 
h
o
ld

e
r 

w
it
h
 w

o
rk

p
la

n
s
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 a

n
d
 s

tr
in

g
e
n
t 
w

e
e
k
ly

 

e
n
g
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
ta

rg
e
ts

 t
o
 b

e
 

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d
 i
n
 p

la
c
e
.

P
ro

m
o
te

 i
n
it
ia

ti
v
e
s
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

in
g
 m

e
n
ta

l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 a

n
d
 w

e
ll-

b
e
in

g
 o

f 
c
a
re

 l
e
a
v
e
rs

 i
n
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

w
it
h
 T

o
w

e
r 

H
a
m

le
ts

 C
o
lle

g
e
 i
n
 o

rd
e
r 

to
 p

ro
v
id

e
 c

o
u
n
s
e
lli

n
g
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 f
o
r 

c
a
re

 l
e
a
v
e
rs

C
H

S
R

e
v
ie

w
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 b
y
 J

u
n
e
 0

6
 

a
n
d
 a

g
re

e
 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
a
ti
o
n
/a

m
e
n
d
m

e
n
t 
o
f 

p
ro

v
is

io
n

A
ll 

c
a
re

 l
e
a
v
e
rs

 h
a
v
e
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 

in
fo

rm
a
l 
s
o
u
rc

e
 o

f 
c
o
u
n
s
e
lli

n
g
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

J
e
n
n
y
 B

o
y
d

G
R

E
E

N

E
M

P
L

O
Y

M
E

N
T

 A
N

D
 T

R
A

IN
IN

G
O

B
J

E
C

T
IV

E
 1

3
 -

 T
o

 d
e

m
o

n
s

tr
a

te
 m

o
v

e
m

e
n

t 
to

w
a

rd
s

 

g
re

a
te

r 
e

q
u

a
li

ty
 i

n
 t

h
e

 w
o

rk
p

la
c

e
 p

ro
fi

le
 a

n
d

 o
th

e
r 

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n

t 
ta

rg
e

ts
Im

p
le

m
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
 o

f 
in

it
ia

ti
v
e
s
 t
o
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 a
c
h
ie

v
e
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
a
ll 

W
o
rk

fo
rc

e
 t
o
 R

e
fl
e
c
t 
th

e
 

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 t
a
rg

e
ts

; 
C

o
u
n
c
il 

w
id

e

C
E

/H
R

P
ro

g
re

s
s
 r

e
p
o
rt

 a
g
a
in

s
t 
ta

rg
e
ts

  
to

 

C
a
b
in

e
t 
in

 J
u
ly

 0
6
 a

n
d
 J

a
n
u
a
ry

 0
7

R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 a

re
a
s
 h

ig
h
lig

h
te

d
 f
o
r 

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 
in

 D
ir
e
c
to

ra
te

s
 d

u
ri
n
g
 

0
6
/7

 c
o
m

p
a
re

d
 t
o
 0

5
/6

C
a
tr

io
n
a
 H

u
n
t

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

Im
p
le

m
e
n
t 
p
o
s
it
iv

e
 a

c
ti
o
n
s
 t
ra

in
in

g
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 a

g
re

e
d
 b

y
 C

M
T

C
E

/H
R

S
c
h
e
m

e
s
 f
in

a
lis

e
d
 b

y
 S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
6

S
c
h
e
m

e
s
 a

re
 i
n
 p

la
c
e
 t
o
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
 

m
id

d
le

 m
a
n
a
g
e
rs

 t
h
a
t 
w

ill
 e

n
a
b
le

 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

to
 g

ro
w

 i
ts

 o
w

n
 s

e
n
io

r 

m
a
n
a
g
e
rs

 o
f 
th

e
 f
u
tu

re

D
e
v
o
ra

 W
o
lf
s
o
n

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

L
o

n
d

o
n

 B
o

ro
u

g
h

 o
f 

T
o

w
e

r 
H

a
m

le
ts

1
7

E
A

P
 2

0
0

6
/7

Page 95



E
q

u
a

li
ti

e
s

 A
c

ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 2
0

0
6

/0
7

 M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

 R
e

p
o

rt
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 1

D
E

S
R

E
S

K
E

Y
 A

C
T

IV
IT

Y
D

IR
K

E
Y

 M
IL

E
S

T
O

N
E

 &
 

C
O

M
P

L
E

T
IO

N
 D

A
T

E

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
L

E
A

D
 O

F
F

IC
E

R
T

R
A

F
F

IC
 L

IG
H

T
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 T

O
 3

1
 M

a
rc

h
 

0
7

E
X

P
L

A
N

A
T

IO
N

 O
F

 

S
L

IP
P

A
G

E
/F

A
IL

U
R

E
 T

O
 M

E
E

T
 

T
A

R
G

E
T

R
E

M
E

D
IA

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

 

IN
C

L
U

D
IN

G
 N

E
W

 D
E

A
D

L
IN

E
S

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 t
h
e
 s

ta
ff
 e

q
u
a
lit

y
 f
o
ru

m
s
 a

n
d
 e

n
s
u
re

 t
h
e
y
 c

a
n
 m

e
e
t 
re

g
u
la

rl
y

C
E

/H
R

T
e
rm

s
 o

f 
re

fe
re

n
c
e
 a

n
d
 f
o
rm

a
t 
o
f 

fo
ru

m
s
 r

e
v
ie

w
e
d
 b

y
 C

E
S

G
 b

y
 e

n
d
 

o
f 
J
u
ly

 0
6

T
h
e
 f
o
ru

m
s
 a

re
 a

ll 
w

e
ll 

a
tt
e
n
d
e
d
 a

n
d
 

k
e
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 c

o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
te

d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 C

E
S

G
 

a
n
d
 r

e
le

v
a
n
t 
s
e
rv

ic
e
s

F
a
ti
m

a

S
h
u
a
ib

u
/C

o
rp

o
ra

te

E
q
u
a
lit

ie
s

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

In
c
re

a
s
e
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 a

g
a
in

s
t 
b
e
s
t 
p
ra

c
ti
c
e
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 i
n
 S

to
n
e
w

a
ll 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 I
n
d
e
x

C
E

/H
R

L
G

B
T

 s
ta

ff
 f
o
ru

m
 t
o
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
 

a
c
ti
o
n
 p

la
n
 t
o
 C

E
S

G
 b

y
 M

a
y
 0

6

L
B

T
H

 s
c
o
re

 i
n
 S

to
n
e
w

a
ll 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 

In
d
e
x
 h

a
s
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
d

F
a
ti
m

a
 S

h
u
a
ib

u
G

R
E

E
N

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
 t
h
e
 E

m
p
lo

y
e
rs

 F
o
ru

m
 o

n
 D

is
a
b
ili

ty
 S

ta
n
d
a
rd

C
E

/H
R

Im
p
le

m
e
n
t 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 a

n
d
 

a
c
ti
o
n
 p

la
n
 f
ro

m
 0

5
 s

u
rv

e
y
 b

y
 

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
6

C
E

S
G

 t
o
 c

o
n
s
id

e
r 

p
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 

0
7
 s

u
rv

e
y
 b

y
 D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

0
6

M
e
a
s
u
ra

b
le

 b
e
n
e
fi
ts

 c
a
n
 b

e
 

d
e
m

o
n
s
tr

a
te

d

F
a
ti
m

a
 S

h
u
a
ib

u
G

R
E

E
N

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

E
s
ta

b
lis

h
 w

o
rk

fo
rc

e
 p

ro
fi
le

s
 t
o
 e

n
s
u
re

 w
e
 h

a
v
e
 t
h
e
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 w
o
rk

fo
rc

e
 f
o
r 

fu
tu

re
 n

e
e
d
s

A
S

P
ro

fi
lin

g
 f
u
lly

 c
o
m

p
le

te
d
 b

y
 

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
6

A
c
c
u
ra

te
 r

e
p
o
rt

in
g
 o

n
 w

o
rk

fo
rc

e
 

p
ro

fi
le

s
 e

n
a
b
le

s
 t
a
rg

e
ti
n
g
 o

f 
p
o
s
it
iv

e
 

a
c
ti
o
n
.

M
a
ri
e
 R

a
n
c
e

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

O
B

J
E

C
T

IV
E

 1
4

 -
 T

o
 e

n
s

u
re

 t
h

a
t 

th
e

 a
u

th
o

ri
ty

 c
a

n
 s

h
o

w
 

th
a

t 
it

 i
s

 p
a

y
in

g
 i

ts
 s

ta
ff

 e
q

u
a

ll
y

 f
o

r 
w

o
rk

 o
f 

e
q

u
a

l 
v

a
lu

e

M
e
a
s
u
re

 g
e
n
d
e
r 

p
a
y
 g

a
p
 i
n
 a

c
c
o
rd

a
n
c
e
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il’

s
 E

q
u
a
l 
P

a
y
 P

o
lic

y
 f
o
llo

w
in

g
 

im
p
le

m
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
 o

f 
S

in
g
le

 S
ta

tu
s
 A

g
re

e
m

e
n
t 
a
n
d
 j
o
b
 e

v
a
lu

a
ti
o
n
 p

ro
c
e
s
s

C
E

/H
R

R
e
p
o
rt

 o
n
 3

rd
 e

q
u
a
l 
p
a
y
 a

u
d
it
  
b
y
 

D
e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

0
6
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

e
d
 b

y
 a

n
 

a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 a
c
ti
o
n
 p

la
n

A
u
d
it
 s

h
o
w

s
 a

 n
a
rr

o
w

in
g
 o

f 
th

e
 g

e
n
d
e
r 

p
a
y
 g

a
p
 i
n
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

c
o
m

p
a
re

d
 t
o
 

J
a
n
u
a
ry

 0
5
 a

u
d
it

F
a
ti
m

a
 S

h
u
a
ib

u
G

R
E

E
N

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

O
B

J
E

C
T

IV
E

 1
5

 -
 T

o
 d

e
m

o
n

s
tr

a
te

 t
h

a
t,

 s
ta

ff
 a

re
 f

u
ll

y
 

tr
a

in
e

d
 i

n
 t

h
e

 s
y

s
te

m
s

 f
o

r 
d

e
li

v
e

ri
n

g
 f

u
ll

 r
a

n
g

e
 o

f 
fa

ir
 

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n

t 
a

n
d

 e
q

u
a

l 
p

a
y

 o
b

je
c

ti
v

e
s

A
ll 

s
ta

ff
 n

e
w

 t
o
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il,

 p
a
rt

ic
ip

a
te

 i
n
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

e
q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 i
n
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 t
ra

in
in

g
 p

ro
c
e
s
s
e
s
.

A
L

L
C

ro
s
s
 d

ir
e
c
to

ra
te

 s
n
a
p
s
h
o
t 
s
u
rv

e
y
 

o
f 
n
e
w

 s
ta

ff
 -

 F
e
b
ru

a
ry

 2
0
0
7
: 

R
e
p
o
rt

 t
o
 C

E
S

G
 -

 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
7

C
le

a
r 

e
v
id

e
n
c
e
 c

o
n
fi
rm

s
 t
h
a
t 
n
e
w

 s
ta

ff
 

a
tt
e
n
d
 e

q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 i
n
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 t
ra

in
in

g

D
e
v
o
ra

 W
o
lf
s
o
n

S
te

p
h
e
n
 W

ig
g
e
tt

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

U
n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
 j
o
b
 e

v
a
lu

a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
fo

rm
e
r 

m
a
n
u
a
l 
w

o
rk

e
r 

ro
le

s
.

C
E

/H
R

Id
e
n
ti
fy

 H
u
m

a
n
 R

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 s

ta
ff
 

a
n
d
 T

ra
d
e
 U

n
io

n
 R

e
p
re

s
e
n
ta

ti
v
e
s
 

th
a
t 
re

q
u
ir
e
 t
ra

in
in

g
 d

u
ri
n
g
 0

6
/7

 b
y
 

e
n
d
 o

f 
A

p
ri
l 
0
6

C
o
m

p
le

te
 e

v
a
lu

a
ti
o
n
s
 b

y
 M

a
rc

h
 

0
7
, 
p
ro

v
id

e
d
 a

ll 
tr

a
d
e
 u

n
io

n
s
 h

a
v
e
 

a
g
re

e
d
 t
o
 l
o
c
a
l 
im

p
le

m
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
 o

f 

S
in

g
le

 S
ta

tu
s
 A

g
re

e
m

e
n
t

S
u
ff
ic

ie
n
t 
s
ta

ff
 a

re
 a

v
a
ila

b
le

 t
o
 c

a
rr

y
 

o
u
t 
jo

b
 e

v
a
lu

a
ti
o
n
s
 u

s
in

g
 G

L
P

C
 

s
c
h
e
m

e
 a

n
d
 a

ll 
fo

rm
e
r 

m
a
n
u
a
l 

w
o
rk

e
rs

 p
o
s
ts

 h
a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 e

v
a
lu

a
te

d
 

b
e
fo

re
 t
h
e
 e

n
d
 o

f 
M

a
rc

h
 0

7

C
a
tr

io
n
a
 H

u
n
t

R
E

D
R

e
le

v
a
n
t 
p
e
o
p
le

 h
a
v
e
 

b
e
e
n
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 a

n
d
 t
ra

in
e
d
 

T
h
e
 j
o
b
 e

v
a
lu

a
ti
o
n
 s

c
h
e
m

e
 h

a
s
 

n
o
t 
b
e
e
n
 i
m

p
le

m
e
n
te

d
 p

e
n
d
in

g
 

re
s
u
lt
s
 o

f 
s
in

g
le

 s
ta

tu
s
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n

T
h
is

 a
c
ti
o
n
 w

ill
 b

e
 c

a
rr

ie
d
 

fo
rw

a
rd

E
n
s
u
re

 s
ta

ff
 a

re
 a

b
le

 t
o
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 t
ra

in
in

g
 o

p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s
 i
n
 r

e
g
a
rd

 t
o
 d

if
fe

re
n
t 

re
fu

g
e
e
 g

ro
u
p
s
 a

n
d
 t
h
e
ir
 c

u
lt
u
re

s
.

C
H

S
S

p
e
c
if
ic

 t
ra

in
in

g
 e

v
e
n
ts

 i
n
 p

la
c
e
 

fr
o
m

 M
a
y
 0

6
 o

n
w

a
rd

s
.

L
e
a
rn

in
g
 a

n
d
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
s
tr

a
te

g
y
 t
o
 

re
c
ru

it
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
 a

n
d
 r

e
ta

in
 a

 w
o
rk

fo
rc

e
 

th
a
t 
re

fl
e
c
ts

 t
h
e
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 i
n
 p

la
c
e
 b

y
 

M
a
rc

h
 0

7

A
n
n
 G

o
ld

s
m

it
h

G
R

E
E

N

O
B

J
E

C
T

IV
E

 1
6

 -
 T

o
 d

e
v

e
lo

p
 a

n
d

 d
e

li
v

e
r 

e
q

u
a

li
ti

e
s

 a
n

d
 

d
iv

e
rs

it
y

 t
ra

in
in

g
 f

o
r 

m
a

n
a

g
e

rs
 a

n
d

 f
ro

n
t 

li
n

e
 w

o
rk

e
rs

.

Im
p
le

m
e
n
t 
th

e
 C

o
u
n
c
il’

s
 c

o
re

 a
p
p
ro

a
c
h
 t
o
 e

q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 l
e
a
rn

in
g
 a

n
d
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

C
E

/H
R

R
e
v
is

e
d
 c

o
n
te

n
t 
o
f 
e
q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 

tr
a
in

in
g
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 0

6
/7

 

C
o
rp

o
ra

te
 L

e
a
rn

in
g
 a

n
d
 

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 (

A
p
ri
l 

0
6
)

M
in

im
u
m

 a
tt
e
n
d
a
n
c
e
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
7
5
%

 

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d

D
e
v
o
ra

 W
o
lf
s
o
n

R
E

D
U

p
ta

k
e
 o

f 
0
6
/0

7
 C

o
rp

o
ra

te
 

L
&

D
 P

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 e

q
u
a
lit

y
 

a
n
d
 d

iv
e
rs

it
y
 c

o
u
rs

e
s
 a

t 

6
2
.5

%
. 
D

is
a
b
ili

ty
 E

q
u
a
lit

y
 

C
o
u
rs

e
 a

tt
e
n
d
a
n
c
e
 a

t 
8
3
%

In
tr

o
d
u
c
e
 e

q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 f
o
r 

e
le

c
te

d
 m

e
m

b
e
rs

 c
o
n
s
is

te
n
t 
w

it
h
 t
h
e
 a

p
p
ro

a
c
h
 u

s
e
d
 f
o
r 

s
ta

ff

C
E

C
o
m

p
le

ti
o
n
 o

f 
m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 &

 

a
n
a
ly

s
is

 o
f 
re

s
u
lt
s
 b

y
 M

a
rc

h
 0

7

M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 s

h
o
w

s
 e

v
id

e
n
c
e
 t
h
a
t 
m

a
k
e
 

u
p
 o

f 
C

o
u
n
c
il 

re
fl
e
c
ts

 l
o
c
a
l 
c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y

J
o
h
n
 S

 W
ill

ia
m

s
A

M
B

E
R

D
is

c
u
s
s
io

n
 h

e
ld

 w
it
h
 

M
e
m

b
e
rs

 r
e
: 
th

e
 b

e
s
t 

m
e
a
n
s
 o

f 
c
o
lle

c
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 a

t 
th

e
 M

e
m

b
e
r 

L
e
a
rn

in
g
 a

n
d
 

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
G

ro
u
p
 i
n
 

F
e
b
ru

a
ry

 0
7
.

E
x
te

n
d
e
d
 d

is
c
u
s
s
io

n
 r

e
: 
re

s
o
lu

ti
o
n
 

o
f 
is

s
u
e
s
 a

n
d
 s

e
n
s
it
iv

it
ie

s
 a

ro
u
n
d
 

c
o
lle

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
d
a
ta

.

C
o
lle

c
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 a

n
a
ly

s
is

 o
f 
d
a
ta

 

n
o
w

 t
o
 b

e
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n
 J

u
n
e
/J

u
ly

 

2
0
0
7

L
o

n
d

o
n

 B
o

ro
u

g
h

 o
f 

T
o

w
e

r 
H

a
m

le
ts

1
8

E
A

P
 2

0
0

6
/7

Page 96



E
q

u
a

li
ti

e
s

 A
c

ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 2
0

0
6

/0
7

 M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

 R
e

p
o

rt
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 1

D
E

S
R

E
S

K
E

Y
 A

C
T

IV
IT

Y
D

IR
K

E
Y

 M
IL

E
S

T
O

N
E

 &
 

C
O

M
P

L
E

T
IO

N
 D

A
T

E

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
L

E
A

D
 O

F
F

IC
E

R
T

R
A

F
F

IC
 L

IG
H

T
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 T

O
 3

1
 M

a
rc

h
 

0
7

E
X

P
L

A
N

A
T

IO
N

 O
F

 

S
L

IP
P

A
G

E
/F

A
IL

U
R

E
 T

O
 M

E
E

T
 

T
A

R
G

E
T

R
E

M
E

D
IA

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

 

IN
C

L
U

D
IN

G
 N

E
W

 D
E

A
D

L
IN

E
S

D
e
liv

e
r 

c
o
m

p
re

h
e
n
s
iv

e
 a

n
d
 f
o
c
u
s
e
d
 i
n
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 f
o
r 

n
e
w

 m
e
m

b
e
rs

C
E

C
o
m

p
le

ti
o
n
 o

f 
p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 b

y
 

M
a
rc

h
 0

7

P
o
s
it
iv

e
 f
e
e
d
b
a
c
k

J
o
h
n
 S

 W
ill

ia
m

s
G

R
E

E
N

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

T
o
 r

o
ll-

o
u
t 
a
n
 e

q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 t
ra

in
in

g
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 f
o
r 

m
a
n
a
g
e
rs

E
C

T
o
 c

o
m

p
le

te
 a

 n
e
e
d
s
 a

n
a
ly

s
is

 b
y
 

M
a
rc

h
 0

6

T
o
 c

o
m

m
e
n
c
e
 r

o
ll-

o
u
t 
o
f 
tr

a
in

in
g
 

b
y
 O

c
to

b
e
r 

0
6

M
a
n
a
g
e
rs

 h
a
v
e
 a

n
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
d
 

u
n
d
e
rs

ta
n
d
in

g
 o

f 
e
q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 a

n
d
 

h
o
w

 i
t 
a
ff
e
c
ts

 s
e
rv

ic
e
 d

e
liv

e
ry

T
im

 C
la

y
to

n
G

R
E

E
N

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

E
q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 t
ra

in
in

g
 f
o
r 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 s

ta
ff
 t
o
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
 r

e
fr

e
s
h
e
r 

c
o
u
rs

e
 o

n
 t
h
e
 r

e
v
is

e
d
 C

R
E

 c
o
d
e
 o

f 

p
ra

c
ti
c
e
 o

n
 r

e
n
te

d
 h

o
u
s
in

g

H
E

q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 t
ra

in
in

g
 t
o
 b

e
 u

p
d
a
te

d
 

b
y
 M

a
r 

0
7

P
ro

p
o
s
a
l 
fo

r 
tr

a
in

in
g
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 f
o
r 

h
o
u
s
in

g
 s

ta
ff
 o

v
e
r 

1
8
 m

o
n
th

 a
g
re

e
d
 

a
n
d
 i
n
 p

la
c
e
.

P
a
u
l 
R

o
u
h
a
n

G
R

E
E

N

In
c
lu

d
e
 e

q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 t
ra

in
in

g
 i
n
 t
h
e
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 f
o
r 

m
e
m

b
e
rs

 o
f 
T

e
n
a
n
t 
R

e
s
id

e
n
t 
A

s
s
o
c
ia

ti
o
n
s
 

a
n
d
 T

e
n
a
n
t 
C

o
m

p
a
c
t 
G

ro
u
p
s
 i
n
 l
in

e
 w

it
h
 N

a
ti
o
n
a
l 
H

o
u
s
in

g
 F

e
d
e
ra

ti
o
n
 e

q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 b

e
s
t 

p
ra

c
ti
c
e

H
E

q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 t
ra

in
in

g
 t
o
 b

e
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
d
 i
n
 

th
e
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 b

y
 M

a
y
 0

6

T
a
k
e
 u

p
 o

f 
th

e
 e

q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 t
ra

in
in

g
 b

y
 

re
p
re

s
e
n
ta

ti
v
e
s
 b

y
 M

a
r 

0
7
.

V
ic

k
i 
P

o
tt
ic

a
ry

G
R

E
E

N

O
B

J
E

C
T

IV
E

  
1

7
 -

 T
o

 d
e

m
o

n
s

tr
a

te
 t

h
a

t 
m

a
n

a
g

e
rs

 

m
a

in
s

tr
e

a
m

 e
q

u
a

li
ty

 o
b

je
c

ti
v

e
s

 i
n

 e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n

t 
p

ra
c

ti
c

e
 

a
n

d
 a

re
 a

p
p

ra
is

e
d

 a
g

a
in

s
t 

th
e

m
R

e
v
ie

w
 s

a
m

p
le

 o
f 
P

D
R

s
 t
o
 e

n
s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 
m

a
n
a
g
e
rs

 a
re

 b
e
in

g
 a

p
p
ra

is
e
d
 a

g
a
in

s
t 
e
q
u
a
lit

y
 

ta
rg

e
ts

C
E

/H
R

R
e
v
ie

w
 P

D
R

s
 o

f 
3
0
 S

e
n
io

r 

M
a
n
a
g
e
rs

 a
n
d
 r

e
p
o
rt

 f
in

d
in

g
s

1
0
0
%

 o
f 
m

a
n
a
g
e
rs

 a
re

 a
p
p
ra

is
e
d
 

a
g
a
in

s
t 
e
q
u
a
lit

y
 t
a
rg

e
ts

 r
e
le

v
a
n
t 
to

 t
h
e
i r

s
e
rv

ic
e

D
e
v
o
ra

 W
o
lf
s
o
n

R
E

D
0
5
/0

6
: 
 6

5
%

 o
f 
P

D
R

s
 

re
v
ie

w
e
d
 i
n
d
ic

a
te

d
 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 a

p
p
ra

is
a
l 
a
g
a
in

s
t 

re
le

v
a
n
t 
e
q
u
a
lit

y
 t
a
rg

e
ts

E
m

b
e
d
 e

q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 o

b
je

c
ti
v
e
s
 a

n
d
 t
a
rg

e
ts

 i
n
 m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 a

n
d
 e

v
a
lu

a
ti
o
n
 p

ro
c
e
s
s

H
H

o
u
s
in

g
 S

e
rv

ic
e
 P

la
n
 a

n
d
 T

e
a
m

 

P
la

n
s
 t
o
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
 a

c
ti
v
it
ie

s
 f
ro

m
 t
h
e
 

E
q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 A

c
ti
o
n
 P

la
n
 0

6
-0

7
 b

y
 

A
p
ri
l 
0
6

H
o
u
s
in

g
 b

u
s
in

e
s
s
 p

la
n
s
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
 

e
q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 o

b
je

c
ti
v
e
s
 a

n
d
 a

c
ti
v
it
ie

s

M
e
la

n
ie

 V
ic

k
e
rs

G
R

E
E

N

O
B

J
E

C
T

IV
E

  
1

8
 -

 T
o

 b
e

n
c

h
m

a
rk

 a
 f

u
ll

 r
a

n
g

e
 o

f 
e

q
u

a
li

ty
 

a
c

h
ie

v
e

m
e

n
ts

 a
g

a
in

s
t 

o
th

e
r 

a
u

th
o

ri
ti

e
s

B
e
n
c
h
m

a
rk

 W
o
rk

fo
rc

e
 t
o
 R

e
fl
e
c
t 
th

e
 C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 a

g
a
in

s
t 
n
e
ig

h
b
o
u
ri
n
g
 a

n
d
 

o
th

e
r 

to
p
 p

e
rf

o
rm

in
g
 L

o
n
d
o
n
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
s

C
E

/H
R

R
e
p
o
rt

 t
o
 C

a
b
in

e
t 
in

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 0
6

C
o
u
n
c
il 

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 t
o
p
 

q
u
a
rt

ile
 c

o
m

p
a
re

d
 t
o
 o

th
e
r 

L
o
n
d
o
n
 

B
o
ro

u
g
h
s

F
a
ti
m

a
 S

h
u
a
ib

u
G

R
E

E
N

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

B
e
n
c
h
m

a
rk

 L
B

T
H

 B
a
n
g
la

d
e
s
h
i 
s
ta

ff
 p

ro
fi
le

 a
g
a
in

s
t 
s
im

ila
r 

a
u
th

o
ri
ti
e
s
 w

it
h
 p

re
d
o
m

in
a
n
t 

m
in

o
ri
ty

 p
o
p
u
la

ti
o
n
s

C
E

/H
R

R
e
p
o
rt

 t
o
 C

a
b
in

e
t 
in

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 0
7

T
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il'

s
 w

o
rk

fo
rc

e
 p

ro
fi
le

 

c
o
m

p
a
re

s
 f
a
v
o
u
ra

b
ly

 t
o
 t
h
a
t 
o
f 
s
im

ila
r 

a
u
th

o
ri
ti
e
s

F
a
ti
m

a
 S

h
u
a
ib

u
G

R
E

E
N

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

T
o
 b

e
n
c
h
m

a
rk

 f
u
ll 

ra
n
g
e
 o

f 
e
q
u
a
lit

y
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 a
g
a
in

s
t 
th

e
 n

a
ti
o
n
a
l 
lo

c
a
l 
g
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 

e
q
u
a
lit

y
 s

ta
n
d
a
rd

C
E

/H
R

E
v
id

e
n
c
e
 g

a
th

e
re

d
 b

y
 J

u
ly

 0
6
 

A
u
d
it
 t
a
k
e
s
 p

la
c
e
 b

y
 N

o
v
e
m

b
e
r 

0
6
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

m
a
in

ta
in

s
 l
e
v
e
l 
5
 o

f 
th

e
 

e
q
u
a
lit

y
 s

ta
n
d
a
rd

M
ic

h
a
e
l 
K

e
a
ti
n
g

G
R

E
E

N
A

c
h
ie

v
e
d

L
o

n
d

o
n

 B
o

ro
u

g
h

 o
f 

T
o

w
e

r 
H

a
m

le
ts

1
9

E
A

P
 2

0
0

6
/7

Page 97



E
q

u
a

li
ti

e
s

 A
c

ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 2
0

0
6

/0
7

 M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

 R
e

p
o

rt
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 1

D
E

S
R

E
S

K
E

Y
 A

C
T

IV
IT

Y
D

IR
K

E
Y

 M
IL

E
S

T
O

N
E

 &
 

C
O

M
P

L
E

T
IO

N
 D

A
T

E

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
L

E
A

D
 O

F
F

IC
E

R
T

R
A

F
F

IC
 L

IG
H

T
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 T

O
 3

1
 M

a
rc

h
 

0
7

E
X

P
L

A
N

A
T

IO
N

 O
F

 

S
L

IP
P

A
G

E
/F

A
IL

U
R

E
 T

O
 M

E
E

T
 

T
A

R
G

E
T

R
E

M
E

D
IA

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

 

IN
C

L
U

D
IN

G
 N

E
W

 D
E

A
D

L
IN

E
S

O
B

J
E

C
T

IV
E

  
1

9
 -

 T
o

 p
ro

v
id

e
 a

c
c

e
s

s
 t

o
 e

m
p

lo
y

m
e

n
t 

fo
r 

lo
c

a
l 

p
e

o
p

le
 a

n
d

 t
o

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 t
h

e
 W

o
rk

fo
rc

e
 t

o
 r

e
fl

e
c

t 
th

e
 

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

 t
a

rg
e

ts
W

o
rk

 w
it
h
 J

o
b
 C

e
n
tr

e
 P

lu
s
 t
o
 r

e
c
ru

it
 l
o
c
a
l 
jo

b
 s

e
e
k
e
rs

C
E

/H
R

R
e
v
ie

w
 c

u
rr

e
n
t 
p
ilo

t 
in

it
ia

ti
v
e
 w

it
h
 

J
o
b
 C

e
n
tr

e
 P

lu
s
 a

n
d
 s

u
b
m

it
 

re
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 C

H
R

G
 i
n
 

A
p
ri
l 
0
6

T
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

c
a
n
 d

e
m

o
n
s
tr

a
te

 

in
c
re

a
s
e
d
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
re

c
ru

it
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
lo

c
a
l 

p
e
o
p
le

F
a
ti
m

a
 S

h
u
a
ib

u
G

R
E

E
N

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

P
ro

v
id

e
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 g

ro
u
p
s
 a

n
d
 t
h
o
s
e
 w

o
rk

in
g
 w

it
h
 A

s
y
lu

m
 S

e
e
k
e
rs

 a
n
d
 R

e
fu

g
e
e
s
 w

it
h
 

c
o
n
ta

c
t 
d
e
ta

ils
 o

f 
th

e
 C

o
u
n
c
il'

s
 s

c
h
e
m

e
s
 a

n
d
 t
h
o
s
e
 o

f 
o
th

e
r 

p
u
b
lic

 s
e
c
to

r 
e
m

p
lo

y
e
rs

C
E

/H
R

P
ro

v
id

e
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 g

ro
u
p
s
 w

it
h
 

c
o
n
ta

c
t 
d
e
ta

ils
 f
o
r 

e
a
c
h
 s

c
h
e
m

e
 

b
y
 S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
6

In
c
re

a
s
e
d
 a

w
a
re

n
e
s
s
 o

f 
c
a
re

e
r 

p
a
th

s
 

a
n
d
 o

p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il

C
a
tr

io
n
a
 H

u
n
t

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

P
ro

v
id

e
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 g

ro
u
p
s
 w

it
h
 d

e
ta

ils
 o

f 
v
a
c
a
n
c
ie

s
 a

n
d
 o

p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s
 a

v
a
ila

b
le

 a
n
d
 o

ff
e
r 

a
d
v
ic

e
 o

n
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il'

s
 a

p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
 p

ro
c
e
d
u
re

C
E

/H
R

C
o
n
ta

c
t 
c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 g

ro
u
p
s
 a

n
d
 

o
ff
e
r 

a
d
v
ic

e
 b

y
 S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
6

A
s
y
lu

m
 s

e
e
k
e
rs

 a
n
d
 R

e
fu

g
e
e
s
 a

re
 

a
w

a
re

 o
f 
th

e
 o

p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s
 a

v
a
ila

b
le

 

w
it
h
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il

C
a
tr

io
n
a
 H

u
n
t

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

D
e
liv

e
r 

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
tr

a
in

in
g
 s

c
h
e
m

e
s
 t
h
a
t 
in

c
re

a
s
e
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 c

a
re

e
r 

o
p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s
 f
o
r 

lo
c
a
l 

y
o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

. 

C
E

/H
R

1
9
 G

ra
d
u
a
te

s
 t
o
 c

o
m

p
le

te
 t
h
e
 

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 b

y
 S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
6

1
0
 t
ra

in
e
e
s
 t
o
 c

o
m

p
le

te
 t
h
e
 

H
a
m

le
ts

 Y
o
u
th

 T
ra

in
in

g
 S

c
h
e
m

e
 

b
y
 D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

0
6

7
0
%

 o
f 
g
ra

d
u
a
te

s
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

e
d
 t
o
 f
in

d

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t

7
5
%

 o
f 
tr

a
in

e
e
s
 t
o
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
 t
h
e
ir
 N

V
Q

s

D
e
v
o
ra

 W
o
lf
s
o
n

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

D
e
v
e
lo

p
 a

 p
a
c
k
a
g
e
 o

f 
in

it
ia

ti
v
e
s
 t
o
 e

n
s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 S

o
m

a
li 

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 i
s
 b

e
tt
e
r 

re
p
re

s
e
n
te

d
 

in
 t
h
e
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
w

o
rk

fo
rc

e

C
H

S
R

e
c
ru

it
 S

o
m

a
li 

re
s
id

e
n
ts

 o
n
 a

 

tr
a
in

in
g
 c

o
u
rs

e
 l
e
a
d
in

g
 t
o
 p

a
id

 

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
in

 s
c
h
o
o
ls

 (
A

p
ri
l 
0
6
)

8
 t
ra

in
e
e
s
 a

re
 o

ff
e
re

d
 j
o
b
s
 

(S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
6
)

T
h
e
 p

e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
S

o
m

a
li 

s
ta

ff
 i
n
 

s
c
h
o
o
ls

 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
s
 b

y
 5

0
%

 (
fr

o
m

 2
4
 t
o
 

3
6
 e

m
p
lo

y
e
e
s
)

S
a
ra

h
 G

a
le

G
R

E
E

N

E
n
c
o
u
ra

g
e
 t
e
a
c
h
in

g
 a

s
 a

 c
a
re

e
r 

o
p
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 

S
o
m

a
li 

s
c
h
o
o
l-
le

a
v
e
rs

 a
n
d
 u

n
d
e
r-

g
ra

d
u
a
te

s
C

H
S

5
 S

o
m

a
li 

y
o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 a
re

 f
u
n
d
e
d
 

to
 t
ra

in
 a

s
 t
e
a
c
h
e
rs

 (
S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
6
)

T
e
a
c
h
in

g
 b

e
c
o
m

e
s
 a

 m
o
re

 a
tt
ra

c
ti
v
e
 

c
a
re

e
r 

o
p
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 

S
o
m

a
li 

s
c
h
o
o
l-

le
a
v
e
rs

 a
n
d
 u

n
d
e
rg

ra
d
u
a
te

s
, 
re

s
u
lt
in

g
 

in
 a

 1
0
0
%

 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

in
it
ia

l 
te

a
c
h
e
r 

tr
a
in

in
g
 

fr
o
m

 S
o
m

a
li 

s
tu

d
e
n
ts

S
a
ra

h
 G

a
le

G
R

E
E

N
7
 y

o
u
n
g
 S

o
m

a
li 

p
e
o
p
le

 

c
o
m

p
le

te
 t
ra

in
in

g
 a

n
d
 3

 

a
re

 s
u
p
p
o
rt

e
d
 t
o
 g

a
in

 

q
u
a
lif

ie
d
 t
e
a
c
h
e
r 

s
ta

tu
s
. 

T
h
e
 n

o
. 
o
f 
S

o
m

a
li 

te
a
c
h
e
rs

 e
m

p
lo

y
e
d
 i
n
 

s
c
h
o
o
ls

 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
s
 f
ro

m
 3

 

to
 5

 (
M

a
r 

0
6
).

 

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 t
h
e
 p

ro
g
re

s
s
io

n
 o

f 
B

M
E

 t
e
a
c
h
e
rs

 i
n
to

 m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
ro

le
s
.

C
H

S
C

o
m

p
le

te
 c

o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 w

it
h
 

s
c
h
o
o
ls

 J
u
ly

 0
6

P
u
b
lic

is
e
 o

p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s
 S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
6

M
a
rc

h
 0

7
 2

0
 B

M
E

 t
e
a
c
h
e
rs

 

a
c
c
e
s
s
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
s

1
0
 m

o
re

 B
M

E
 t
e
a
c
h
e
rs

 m
o
v
e
 i
n
to

 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
ro

le
s

S
a
ra

h
 G

a
le

G
R

E
E

N
2
4
 B

M
E

 t
e
a
c
h
e
rs

 a
c
c
e
s
s
 

p
ro

fe
s
s
io

n
a
l 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 i
n
 p

re
p
a
ra

ti
o
n
 

fo
r 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
p
o
s
it
io

n
s

T
e
c
h
n
ic

a
l 
s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 t
o
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
 t
a
rg

e
ts

 w
it
h
 c

o
n
tr

a
c
to

r 
p
a
rt

n
e
rs

 f
o
r 

th
e
 p

ro
v
is

io
n
 o

f 
lo

c
a
l 

la
b
o
u
r 

fr
o
m

 d
iv

e
rs

e
 g

ro
u
p
s

H
T

a
rg

e
ts

 i
n
 p

la
c
e
 b

y
 M

a
rc

h
 0

7
In

c
re

a
s
e
d
 l
o
c
a
l 
e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 

e
v
id

e
n
c
e
d
 i
n
 m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 o

v
e
r 

s
u
b
s
e
q
u
e
n
t 
y
e
a
rs

P
e
te

r 
A

lle
n

G
R

E
E

N

O
B

J
E

C
T

IV
E

  
2

0
 -

 T
o

 e
n

s
u

re
 d

iv
e

rs
it

y
 m

o
n

it
o

ri
n

g
 o

f 

w
o

rk
fo

rc
e

 a
n

d
 s

e
rv

ic
e

 t
a

k
e

-u
p

 b
y

 o
u

r 
p

a
rt

n
e

r 

o
rg

a
n

is
a

ti
o

n
E

x
p
lo

re
 t
h
e
 p

o
te

n
ti
a
l 
fo

r 
th

e
 L

o
c
a
l 
In

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 S

y
s
te

m
, 
T

H
IS

 (
T

H
 I
n
fo

 S
y
s
te

m
) 

b
o
ro

u
g
h
 f
o
r 

p
ro

v
id

in
g
 e

q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 a

n
a
ly

s
is

 o
f 
lo

c
a
l 
in

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n

C
E

B
y
 D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

0
6

P
o
te

n
ti
a
l 
h
a
s
 b

e
e
n
 a

s
s
e
s
s
e
d

A
la

n
 S

te
w

a
rd

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

Im
p
le

m
e
n
t 
m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 a

rr
a
n
g
e
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
 d

iv
e
rs

it
y
 p

ro
fi
le

 o
f 
T

h
ir
d
 S

e
c
to

r 
g
ro

u
p
s
 

w
it
h
 a

 c
o
n
tr

a
c
tu

a
l 
re

la
ti
o
n
s
h
ip

 w
it
h
 L

B
T

H

C
E

/H
R

M
e
th

o
d
 o

f 
c
o
lle

c
ti
n
g
 a

n
d
 a

n
a
ly

s
in

g
 

d
a
ta

 a
g
re

e
d
 b

y
 T

h
ir
d
 S

e
c
to

r 

G
ro

u
p
 b

y
 S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

2
0
0
6

T
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

c
a
n
 d

e
m

o
n
s
tr

a
te

 i
t 

a
c
ti
v
e
ly

 m
o
n
it
o
rs

 t
h
e
 d

iv
e
rs

it
y
 o

f 

c
o
n
tr

a
c
to

rs
 w

o
rk

fo
rc

e
s

F
a
ti
m

a
 S

h
u
a
ib

u
R

E
D

W
e
 a

re
 n

o
w

 r
e
c
ru

it
ti
n
g
 

te
m

p
o
ra

ry
 e

m
p
lo

y
e
e
s
 

th
ro

u
g
h
 a

 u
n
iq

u
e
 s

o
u
rc

e

In
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 w

a
s
 n

o
t 
a
v
a
ila

b
le

 a
s
 

w
e
 w

e
re

 u
s
in

g
 s

e
v
e
ra

l 
a
g
e
n
c
ie

s
 t
o
 

re
c
ru

it
 t
e
m

p
o
ra

ry
 e

m
p
lo

y
e
e
s

T
h
is

 c
a
n
 b

e
 p

ic
k
e
d
 u

p
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 

th
e
 m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 o

f 
C

o
m

m
e
n
s
u
ra

 

c
o
n
tr

a
c
t

In
v
e
s
ti
g
a
te

 a
n
d
 s

h
a
re

 g
o
o
d
 p

ra
c
ti
c
e
 i
n
 r

e
c
ru

it
in

g
 a

n
d
 r

e
ta

in
in

g
 a

 d
iv

e
rs

e
 w

o
rk

fo
rc

e
 w

it
h
 

p
u
b
lic

 s
e
c
to

r 
p
a
rt

n
e
rs

 i
n
 t
h
e
 b

o
ro

u
g
h
, 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 R

S
L
s

C
E

/H
R

A
rr

a
n
g
e
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 s

h
a
ri
n
g
 e

v
e
n
t 

a
n
d
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy

 g
o
o
d
 p

ra
c
ti
c
e
s
 t
h
a
t 

c
a
n
 b

e
 a

d
o
p
te

d
 b

y
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 

(D
e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

0
6
)

A
ll 

p
u
b
lic

 s
e
c
to

r 
e
m

p
lo

y
e
rs

 i
n
 L

B
T

H
 

a
re

 a
w

a
re

 o
f 
g
o
o
d
 p

ra
c
ti
c
e
s
 t
h
a
t 
c
a
n
 

in
c
re

a
s
e
 t
h
e
 d

iv
e
rs

it
y
 o

f 
th

e
ir
 w

o
rk

fo
rc

e
 

p
ro

fi
le

s

C
a
tr

io
n
a
 H

u
n
t

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

L
o

n
d

o
n

 B
o

ro
u

g
h

 o
f 

T
o

w
e

r 
H

a
m

le
ts

2
0

E
A

P
 2

0
0

6
/7

Page 98



E
q

u
a

li
ti

e
s

 A
c

ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 2
0

0
6

/0
7

 M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

 R
e

p
o

rt
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 1

D
E

S
R

E
S

K
E

Y
 A

C
T

IV
IT

Y
D

IR
K

E
Y

 M
IL

E
S

T
O

N
E

 &
 

C
O

M
P

L
E

T
IO

N
 D

A
T

E

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
L

E
A

D
 O

F
F

IC
E

R
T

R
A

F
F

IC
 L

IG
H

T
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 T

O
 3

1
 M

a
rc

h
 

0
7

E
X

P
L

A
N

A
T

IO
N

 O
F

 

S
L

IP
P

A
G

E
/F

A
IL

U
R

E
 T

O
 M

E
E

T
 

T
A

R
G

E
T

R
E

M
E

D
IA

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

 

IN
C

L
U

D
IN

G
 N

E
W

 D
E

A
D

L
IN

E
S

O
B

J
E

C
T

IV
E

  
2

1
 -

 P
re

p
a

re
 f

o
r 

a
n

d
 i

m
p

le
m

e
n

t 
a

g
e

 

d
is

c
ri

m
in

a
ti

o
n

 l
e

g
is

la
ti

o
n

U
n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
 s

n
a
p
s
h
o
t 
p
o
lic

y
 a

u
d
it
 t
o
 e

n
s
u
re

 t
h
e
 c

o
u
n
c
il 

is
 c

o
m

p
lia

n
t 
w

it
h
 l
e
g
is

la
ti
o
n

C
E

K
e
y
 p

o
lic

ie
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 f
ro

m
 a

ll 

d
ir
e
c
to

ra
te

s
 S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

2
0
0
6
 

P
o
lic

ie
s
 a

u
d
it
e
d
 a

n
d
 f
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 

p
ro

v
id

e
d
 -

 O
c
to

b
e
r 

2
0
0
6

R
e
p
o
rt

 t
o
 C

E
S

G
 -

 N
o
v
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
0
6

P
o
lic

y
 a

u
d
it
 s

h
o
w

s
 f
u
ll 

c
o
m

p
lia

n
c
e
 w

it
h
 

n
e
w

 l
e
g
is

la
ti
o
n
.

M
ic

h
a
e
l 
K

e
a
ti
n
g

G
R

E
E

N
It
 w

a
s
 r

e
c
o
g
n
is

e
d
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
 

lo
c
a
l 
la

b
o
u
r 

m
a
rk

e
t 
h
a
s
 

g
re

a
te

r 
d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 a

n
d
, 

u
n
lik

e
 m

o
s
t 
b
o
ro

u
g
h
s
, 

T
o
w

e
r 

H
a
m

le
ts

 h
a
s
 a

 

s
u
rp

lu
s
 o

f 
s
c
h
o
o
l 
le

a
v
e
rs

 

id
e
a
l 
fo

r 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
in

g
 a

n
d
 

P
ro

v
id

e
 a

d
v
ic

e
, 
tr

a
in

in
g
 a

n
d
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 t
o
 p

re
p
a
re

 m
a
n
a
g
e
rs

 f
o
r 

a
g
e
 d

is
c
ri
m

in
a
ti
o
n
 l
e
g
is

la
ti
o
n

C
E

/H
R

D
e
liv

e
r 

tr
a
in

in
g
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 C

o
rp

o
ra

te
 

L
e
a
rn

in
g
 a

n
d
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 (

o
n
-g

o
in

g
)

P
ro

v
id

e
 b

ri
e
fi
n
g
s
 t
o
 m

a
n
a
g
e
rs

 a
n
d
 

p
u
b
lic

is
e
 g

u
id

a
n
c
e
 o

n
 a

g
e
 

d
is

c
ri
m

in
a
ti
o
n
 f
ro

m
 J

u
ly

 0
6

M
in

im
u
m

 a
tt
e
n
d
a
n
c
e
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
7
5
%

 

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d

M
a
n
a
g
e
rs

 a
re

 f
u
lly

 a
w

a
re

 o
f 
th

e
 

im
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
 o

f 
a
g
e
 l
e
g
is

la
ti
o
n
 w

h
e
n
 

m
a
n
a
g
in

g
 s

ta
ff

D
e
v
o
ra

 W
o
lf
s
o
n

R
E

D
T

w
o
 t
ra

in
in

g
 s

e
s
s
io

n
s
 w

e
re

 

h
e
ld

A
tt
e
n
d
a
n
c
e
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 p

o
o
r

T
h
e
re

 a
re

 t
w

o
 t
ra

in
in

g
 s

e
s
s
io

n
s
 

p
la

n
n
e
d
 n

e
x
t 
y
e
a
r.

O
B

J
E

C
T

IV
E

  
2

2
 -

 P
re

p
a

re
 f

o
r 

a
n

d
 i

m
p

le
m

e
n

t 
e

m
p

lo
y

m
e

n
t 

a
s

p
e

c
ts

 d
u

ti
e

s
 t

o
 p

ro
m

o
te

 d
is

a
b

il
it

y
, 

a
g

e
 a

n
d

 g
e

n
d

e
r 

e
q

u
a

li
ty

P
re

p
a
re

 f
o
r 

a
n
d
 i
m

p
le

m
e
n
t 
e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
a
s
p
e
c
ts

 o
f 
D

is
a
b
ili

ty
 E

q
u
a
lit

y
 L

e
g
is

la
ti
o
n

C
E

/H
R

Im
p
le

m
e
n
t 
h
u
m

a
n
 r

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
ts

 o
f 
p
o
s
it
iv

e
 d

u
ty

 t
o
 

p
ro

m
o
te

 d
is

a
b
ili

ty
 e

q
u
a
lit

y
 b

y
 

O
c
to

b
e
r 

0
6

L
B

T
H

 c
o
m

p
lie

s
 w

it
h
 e

m
p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 

re
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
ts

 o
f 
th

e
 d

u
ty

 t
o
 p

ro
m

o
te

 

d
is

a
b
ili

ty
 e

q
u
a
lit

y

C
a
tr

io
n
a
 H

u
n
t

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

P
re

p
a
re

 f
o
r 

a
n
d
 i
m

p
le

m
e
n
t 
e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
a
s
p
e
c
ts

 o
f 
G

e
n
d
e
r 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 L

e
g
is

la
ti
o
n

C
E

/H
R

Im
p
le

m
e
n
t 
h
u
m

a
n
 r

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
ts

 o
f 
d
u
ty

 t
o
 p

ro
m

o
te

 

g
e
n
d
e
r 

e
q
u
a
lit

y
 b

y
 M

a
rc

h
 0

7

L
B

T
H

 c
o
m

p
lie

s
 w

it
h
 e

m
p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 

re
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
ts

 o
f 
th

e
 d

u
ty

 t
o
 p

ro
m

o
te

 

g
e
n
d
e
r 

e
q
u
a
lit

y

C
a
tr

io
n
a
 H

u
n
t

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

O
B

J
E

C
T

IV
E

  
2

3
 -

 U
s

e
 r

e
s

u
lt

s
 o

f 
s

u
rv

e
y

s
 a

n
d

 m
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

 

in
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
 t

o
 i

m
p

ro
v

e
 e

m
p

lo
y

m
e

n
t 

p
ra

c
ti

c
e

C
o
n
d
u
c
t 
a
 b

i-
a
n
n
u
a
l 
s
ta

ff
 s

u
rv

e
y
 t
o
 m

e
a
s
u
re

 c
o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
k
e
y
 p

ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 t
o
 s

ta
ff

C
E

/H
R

S
e
c
o
n
d
 s

ta
ff
 s

u
rv

e
y
 t
o
 b

e
 

u
n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n
 b

y
 D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

0
6
 a

n
d
 

re
s
u
lt
s
 p

u
b
lis

h
e
d
 b

y
 M

a
rc

h
 0

7
 

Im
p
le

m
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
 o

f 
e
x
is

ti
n
g
 s

ta
ff
 

s
u
rv

e
y
 a

c
ti
o
n
 p

la
n
, 
p
ro

v
id

in
g
 

p
ro

g
re

s
s
 r

e
p
o
rt

s
 t
o
 C

C
T

 i
n
 J

u
n
e
 

0
6
 a

n
d
 O

c
to

b
e
r 

0
6

S
u
rv

e
y
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n
 a

n
d
 r

a
te

 o
f 

p
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
d
 f
ro

m
 0

4

T
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

c
a
n
 d

e
m

o
n
s
tr

a
te

 t
h
a
t 
it
 

h
a
s
 a

c
te

d
 o

n
 t
h
e
 f
in

d
in

g
s
 o

f 
th

e
 0

4
 

s
ta

ff
 s

u
rv

e
y

D
e
v
o
ra

 W
o
lf
s
o
n

R
E

D
T

h
e
 s

ta
ff
 s

u
rv

e
y
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 

c
o
m

m
is

s
io

n
e
d
 a

n
d
 w

ill
 b

e
 

c
a
rr

ie
d
 o

u
t 
in

 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
7
.

It
 w

a
s
 d

e
c
id

e
d
 t
h
a
t 
A

p
ri
l/
M

a
y
 

w
o
u
ld

 b
e
 a

 b
e
tt
e
r 

ti
m

e
 o

f 
th

e
 y

e
a
r 

in
 w

h
ic

h
 t
o
 m

a
x
im

is
e
 s

ta
ff
 

p
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n
.

S
ta

ff
 S

u
rv

e
y
 o

n
 t
ra

c
k
 -

 

c
o
m

p
le

ti
o
n
 d

a
te

 1
6
/5

/0
7
 w

it
h
 

re
s
p
o
n
s
e
 r

a
te

 4
6
%

L
E

A
D

E
R

S
H

IP
 &

 C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
 C

O
M

M
IT

M
E

N
T

O
B

J
E

C
T

IV
E

  
2

4
 -

 T
o

 d
e

m
o

n
s

tr
a

te
 s

u
c

c
e

s
s

 i
n

 m
e

e
ti

n
g

 a
 

ra
n

g
e

 o
f 

ta
rg

e
ts

 a
c

ro
s

s
 t

h
e

 a
u

th
o

ri
ty

T
o

 r
e

v
ie

w
 T

a
rg

e
ts

 a
n

d
 A

c
ti

o
n

 P
la

n
A

rr
a
n
g
e
 f
o
r 

a
n
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
a
u
d
it
 o

f 
th

e
 C

o
u
n
c
il'

s
 p

ro
g
re

s
s
 a

g
a
in

s
t 
th

e
 N

a
ti
o
n
a
l 
E

q
u
a
lit

y
 

S
ta

n
d
a
rd

C
E

A
u
d
it
 c

a
rr

ie
d
 o

u
t 
b
y
 A

u
g
u
s
t 
0
6
 

c
o
n
fi
rm

s
 l
e
v
e
l 
5
 m

a
in

ta
in

e
d

L
e
v
e
l 
5
 i
s
 v

a
lid

a
te

d
 w

it
h
 a

c
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 

fu
rt

h
e
r 

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t

M
ic

h
a
e
l 
K

e
a
ti
n
g

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

O
B

J
E

C
T

IV
E

  
2

5
 -

 T
o

 e
n

s
u

re
 e

q
u

a
li

ti
e

s
 i

s
s

u
e

s
 a

re
 

d
is

c
u

s
s

e
d

 r
e

g
u

la
rl

y
 a

t 
D

ir
e

c
to

ra
te

 M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 

T
e

a
m

 

M
e

e
ti

n
g

s
A

ll 
D

ir
e
c
to

ra
te

s
 t
o
 e

n
s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 
e
q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 i
s
 a

 s
ta

n
d
in

g
 i
te

m
 a

t 
e
a
c
h
 D

M
T

 m
e
e
ti
n
g

A
L
L

E
q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 i
s
 a

 s
ta

n
d
in

g
 i
te

m
 a

t 

D
M

T
s
 a

n
d
 e

m
b
e
d
d
e
d
 i
n
 b

u
s
in

e
s
s
 

p
ro

c
e
s
s
e
s

E
q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 a

n
d
 d

iv
e
rs

it
y
 i
s
 e

m
b
e
d
d
e
d
 i
n
 

C
o
u
n
c
il'

s
 p

ro
c
e
s
s
e
s

D
E

L
O

S
G

R
E

E
N

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

L
o

n
d

o
n

 B
o

ro
u

g
h

 o
f 

T
o

w
e

r 
H

a
m

le
ts

2
1

E
A

P
 2

0
0

6
/7

Page 99



E
q

u
a

li
ti

e
s

 A
c

ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 2
0

0
6

/0
7

 M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

 R
e

p
o

rt
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 1

D
E

S
R

E
S

K
E

Y
 A

C
T

IV
IT

Y
D

IR
K

E
Y

 M
IL

E
S

T
O

N
E

 &
 

C
O

M
P

L
E

T
IO

N
 D

A
T

E

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
L

E
A

D
 O

F
F

IC
E

R
T

R
A

F
F

IC
 L

IG
H

T
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 T

O
 3

1
 M

a
rc

h
 

0
7

E
X

P
L

A
N

A
T

IO
N

 O
F

 

S
L

IP
P

A
G

E
/F

A
IL

U
R

E
 T

O
 M

E
E

T
 

T
A

R
G

E
T

R
E

M
E

D
IA

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

 

IN
C

L
U

D
IN

G
 N

E
W

 D
E

A
D

L
IN

E
S

O
B

J
E

C
T

IV
E

  
2

6
 -

 T
o

 a
d

d
re

s
s

 t
h

e
 n

e
e

d
s

 o
f 

c
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s
 

th
a

t 
C

o
u

n
c

il
s

 h
a

v
e

 t
ra

d
it

io
n

a
ll

y
 f

o
u

n
d

 h
a

rd
 t

o
 r

e
a

c
h

D
e
liv

e
r 

a
 p

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 a

g
re

e
d
 b

e
tw

e
e
n
 t
h
e
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 s
u
p
p
o
rt

 t
e
a
m

 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 C

E
N

 

(C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 E

m
p
o
w

e
rm

e
n
t 
N

e
tw

o
rk

) 
to

 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 e

n
g
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
ta

rg
e
te

d
 g

ro
u
p
s

C
E

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 a

g
re

e
d
 b

y
 J

u
n
e
 0

6
, 

re
v
ie

w
s
 O

c
to

b
e
r 

0
6
 a

n
d
 A

p
ri
l 
0
7

In
c
re

a
s
e
d
 a

tt
e
n
d
a
n
c
e
 f
o
r 

ta
rg

e
te

d
 

g
ro

u
p
s

M
a
rg

a
re

t 
L
ib

re
ri

G
R

E
E

N
S

o
m

a
li 

a
tt
e
n
d
a
n
c
e
 a

t 
L
A

P
 

e
v
e
n
ts

 i
s
 c

u
rr

e
n
tl
y
 a

t 
3
%

, 

in
d
ic

a
ti
n
g
 t
h
a
t 
w

e
 a

re
 

a
tt
ra

c
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 S

o
m

a
li 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 t
o
 e

v
e
n
ts

, 

a
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 a

tt
e
n
d
a
n
c
e
  
is

 

b
e
lo

w
 t
h
e
 t
a
rg

e
t 
o
f 
5
%

.

W
e
 d

o
 n

o
t 
h
a
v
e
  
re

lia
b
le

 s
ta

ti
s
ti
c
 

o
n
 t
h
e
 S

o
m

a
li 

p
o
p
u
la

ti
o
n
 a

s
 a

 

p
ro

p
o
rt

io
n
 o

f 
th

e
 T

o
w

e
r 

H
a
m

le
ts

 

p
o
p
u
la

ti
o
n
, 
a
n
d
 n

o
 b

a
s
e
lin

e
 f
o
r 

S
o
m

a
li 

a
tt
e
n
d
a
n
c
e
 a

t 
L
A

P
 e

v
e
n
ts

.

T
h
e
 2

0
0
1
 c

e
n
s
u
s
 d

a
ta

 s
h
o
w

s
 t
h
a
t 

3
%

 o
f 
th

e
 p

o
p
u
la

ti
o
n
 a

re
 'B

la
c
k
 

A
fr

ic
a
n
'. 

 S
c
h
o
o
l 
re

g
is

tr
a
ti
o
n
 d

a
ta

 

s
h
o
w

s
 t
h
a
t 
2
%

 o
f 
th

e
 s

tu
d
e
n
t 

p
o
p
u
la

ti
o
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 b

o
ro

u
g
h
 i
s
 

S
o
m

a
li.

  
T

h
e
 5

%
 t
a
rg

e
t 
is

 a
n
 

e
s
ti
m

a
te

 b
a
s
e
d
 o

n
  
d
a
ta

 f
ro

m
 

d
if
fe

re
n
t 
s
o
u
rc

e
s
. 
 T

h
e
 e

s
ti
m

a
te

, 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
re

fo
re

 t
h
e
 t
a
rg

e
t,
 m

a
y
 b

e
 

s
e
t 
to

o
 h

ig
h
. 

T
h
e
 b

a
s
e
lin

e
 w

e
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
 f
o
r 

S
o
m

a
li 

a
tt
e
n
d
a
n
c
e
 i
n
 2

0
0
6
-0

7
 

w
ill

 b
e
 u

s
e
d
 t
o
 s

e
t 
th

e
 2

0
0
7
-0

8
 

ta
rg

e
t.
  
P

u
b
lic

it
y
 f
o
r 

L
A

P
 e

v
e
n
ts

 

is
 t
a
rg

e
te

d
 a

t 
th

e
 S

o
m

a
li 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 S

o
m

a
li 

ra
d
io

 

a
n
d
 p

u
b
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
. 
 W

e
 a

ls
o
 

c
o
m

m
is

s
io

n
 w

o
rk

 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 t
h
e
 

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 E

m
p
o
w

e
rm

e
n
t 

N
e
tw

o
rk

 t
o
 e

n
g
a
g
e
 h

a
rd

 t
o
 r

e
a
c
h
 

g
ro

u
p
s
, 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 S

o
m

a
li 

g
ro

u
p
s
. 

F
o
r 

2
0
0
7
-0

8
 w

e
 w

ill
 w

o
rk

 d
ir
e
c
tl
y
 

w
it
h
 t
h
e
 S

o
m

a
li 

n
e
tw

o
rk

 t
o
 t
a
rg

e
t 

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 a

b
o
u
t 
e
v
e
n
ts

 a
n
d
 

in
c
re

a
s
e
 e

n
g
a
g
e
m

e
n
t.

S
tr

e
n
g
th

e
n
 t
h
e
 c

o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 a

rr
a
n
g
e
m

e
n
ts

 o
f 
e
x
te

rn
a
l 
e
q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 g

ro
u
p
s
 s

u
c
h
 a

s
 t
h
e
 

e
x
te

rn
a
l 
L
G

B
T

 f
o
ru

m
 a

n
d
 F

a
it
h
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s

C
E

S
u
m

m
a
ri
s
e
 a

n
d
 e

v
a
lu

a
te

 p
ro

g
re

s
s
 

in
 a

 r
e
p
o
rt

 t
o
 C

E
S

G
 b

y
 D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

0
6

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 a

rr
a
n
g
e
m

e
n
ts

 a
re

 

s
tr

o
n
g
e
r 

a
n
d
 p

ro
v
id

e
 b

e
tt
e
r 

s
o
u
rc

e
 o

f 

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n

M
ic

h
a
e
l 
K

e
a
ti
n
g

G
R

E
E

N
In

 p
la

c
e

T
o
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
ra

te
s
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 t
h
e
 J

o
b
 B

ro
k
e
ra

g
e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 a

t 
S

k
ill

s
m

a
tc

h
D

R
T

o
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 w

o
rk

 w
it
h
 C

S
R

 

D
e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
ts

 t
o
 r

a
is

e
 a

w
a
re

n
e
s
s
 

o
f 
c
u
lt
u
ra

l 
d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 i
n
 t
h
e
 b

o
ro

u
g
h
 

C
le

a
r 

a
n
d
 t
ra

n
s
p
a
re

n
t 
p
ro

g
re

s
s
io

n
 f
o
r 

c
lie

n
ts

 f
ro

m
 r

e
g
is

tr
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 

e
n
g
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
 i
n
 e

m
p
lo

y
m

e
n
t

S
u
e
 H

in
d
s

A
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 E

m
p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r

G
R

E
E

N
W

e
 d

o
 n

o
t 
h
a
v
e
  
re

lia
b
le

 

s
ta

ti
s
ti
c
 o

n
 t
h
e
 S

o
m

a
li 

p
o
p
u
la

ti
o
n
 a

s
 a

 p
ro

p
o
rt

io
n
 

o
f 
th

e
 T

o
w

e
r 

H
a
m

le
ts

 
W

e
 d

o
 n

o
t 

h
a

v
e

  
re

lia
b

le
 s

ta
ti
s
ti
c
 o

n
 t

h
e

 S
o

m
a

li 
p

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n
 a

s
 a

O
B

J
E

C
T

IV
E

  
2

7
 -

 T
o

 b
e

n
c

h
m

a
rk

 t
h

e
 a

u
th

o
ri

ty
's

 

p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c

e
 a

g
a

in
s

t 
c

o
m

p
a

ra
b

le
 o

th
e

rs
 a

n
d

 s
h

a
re

 

e
x

p
e

ri
e

n
c

e
 i

n
 d

e
v

e
lo

p
in

g
 g

o
o

d
 p

ra
c

ti
c

e
B

e
n
c
h
m

a
rk

 L
B

T
H

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 w

it
h
 o

th
e
r 

L
o
n
d
o
n
 b

o
ro

u
g
h
s
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 p

a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 A

L
G

 

(A
s
s
o
c
ia

ti
o
n
 o

f 
L
o
n
d
o
n
 G

o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t)

 a
n
d
 o

th
e
r 

fo
ru

m
s
 o

r 
g
ro

u
p
s

A
L
L

T
o
 c

a
rr

y
 o

u
t 
b
e
n
c
h
m

a
rk

in
g
 

e
x
e
rc

is
e
 a

n
d
 a

tt
e
n
d
 A

L
G

 e
q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 

fo
ru

m
s
 q

u
a
rt

e
rl
y

B
e
s
t 
p
ra

c
ti
c
e
 i
s
 s

h
a
re

d
 w

it
h
 o

th
e
r 

L
o
n
d
o
n
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
u
th

o
ri
ti
e
s
 a

n
d
 b

e
in

g
 

u
s
e
d
 t
o
 i
n
fo

rm
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 

a
c
ti
v
it
ie

s

D
E

L
O

S
/C

o
rp

o
ra

te

E
q
u
a
lit

ie
s

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

O
B

J
E

C
T

IV
E

  
2

8
 -

 T
o

 s
h

a
re

 a
n

d
 c

o
n

s
u

lt
 o

n
 g

o
o

d
 p

ra
c

ti
c

e
 

w
it

h
 p

a
rt

n
e

rs
 a

n
d

 3
rd

 s
e

c
to

r
B

e
tt
e
r 

e
q
u
ip

 y
o
u
th

 w
o
rk

e
rs

 t
o
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
 p

a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n
 w

o
rk

 w
it
h
 y

o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 t
h
e
 u

s
e
 

o
f 
a
 T

o
o
lk

it
.

C
H

S
T

o
o
lk

it
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 a

n
d
 d

is
tr

ib
u
te

d
 

to
 u

n
it
s
 (

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
6
)

Im
p
ro

v
e
d
 y

o
u
th

 p
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n
 s

h
o
w

n
 

d
u
ri
n
g
 p

e
e
r 

in
s
p
e
c
ti
o
n
s
 a

n
d
 m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g

S
te

v
e
 S

ip
p
le

G
R

E
E

N

R
e
v
ie

w
 b

e
s
t 
p
ra

c
ti
c
e
 o

n
 f
u
n
d
in

g
 r

e
la

ti
o
n
s
h
ip

s
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 T

h
ir
d
 S

e
c
to

r
C

E
Id

e
n
ti
fy

 m
o
d
e
ls

 a
n
d
 c

a
s
e
 s

tu
d
ie

s
 

o
n
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
in

g
 m

o
re

 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 

p
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

s
 a

t 
lo

c
a
l 
le

v
e
l 
a
n
d
 

th
ro

u
g
h
 L

S
P

 a
n
d
 d

is
s
e
m

in
a
te

 

th
ro

u
g
h
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
u
th

o
ri
ty

 n
e
tw

o
rk

 b
y
 

M
a
rc

h
 0

7

T
h
e
 o

u
tc

o
m

e
 i
n
fo

rm
s
 r

e
v
ie

w
 o

f 
e
x
is

ti
n
g
 

fu
n
d
in

g
 a

rr
a
n
g
e
m

e
n
ts

 a
n
d
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
o
p
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

fu
tu

re
 

fu
n
d
in

g
 a

rr
a
n
g
e
m

e
n
ts

S
h
a
ro

n
 M

c
G

ilc
h
ri
s
t

G
R

E
E

N
F

u
n
d
in

g
 r

e
v
ie

w
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 

u
n
e
rt

a
k
e
n
.

Y
o
u
th

 p
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n
 f
o
ru

m
 (

in
v
o
lv

in
g
 y

o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 i
n
 d

e
c
is

io
n
 m

a
k
in

g
) 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 t
o
 b

ri
n
g
 

to
g
e
th

e
r 

p
ra

c
ti
ti
o
n
e
rs

 f
ro

m
 a

ro
u
n
d
 t
h
e
 b

o
ro

u
g
h
.

C
H

S
F

ir
s
t 
m

e
e
ti
n
g
 h

e
ld

 (
J
u
ly

 0
6
)

F
o
ru

m
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
e
d
 a

n
d
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 

b
im

o
n
th

ly

S
te

v
e
 S

ip
p
le

G
R

E
E

N
T

h
e
 b

a
s
e
lin

e
 w

e
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
 

fo
r 

S
o
m

a
li 

a
tt
e
n
d
a
n
c
e
 i
n
 

2
0
0
6
-0

7
 w

ill
 b

e
 u

s
e
d
 t
o
 s

e
t 

T
h

e
 b

a
s
e

lin
e

 w
e

 e
s
ta

b
lis

h
 f

o
r 

S
o

m
a

li 
a

tt
e

n
d

a
n

c
e

 i
n

 2
0

0
6

-0
7

 w
i

In
c
re

a
s
e
 u

s
e
 o

f 
th

e
 p

a
n
 L

o
n
d
o
n
 L

a
n
d
lo

rd
 A

c
c
re

d
it
a
ti
o
n
 S

c
h
e
m

e
 t
o
 r

a
is

e
 e

q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 i
s
s
u
e
s
, 

o
ff
e
r 

g
u
id

a
n
c
e
 a

n
d
 b

e
s
t 
p
ra

c
ti
c
e
 a

d
v
ic

e
 t
o
 p

ri
v
a
te

 s
e
c
to

r 
la

n
d
lo

rd
s

H
A

tt
e
n
d
 q

u
a
rt

e
rl
y
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
s
 a

n
d
 

e
n
s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 
e
q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 a

re
 

ra
is

e
d
 a

t 
le

a
s
t 
e
v
e
ry

 s
ix

 m
o
n
th

s

E
v
id

e
n
c
e
 t
h
a
t 
b
e
s
t 
p
ra

c
ti
c
e
 o

n
 

e
q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 i
s
 b

e
in

g
 s

h
a
re

d
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 t
h
e
 

s
c
h
e
m

e

A
lis

o
n
 T

h
o
m

a
s

G
R

E
E

N

O
B

J
E

C
T

IV
E

  
2

9
 -

 T
o

 i
d

e
n

ti
fy

 a
n

d
 d

is
s

e
m

in
a

te
 s

p
e

c
if

ic
 

e
x

a
m

p
le

s
 o

f 
g

o
o

d
 p

ra
c

ti
c

e
 i

n
 r

e
la

ti
o

n
 t

o
 e

q
u

a
li

ti
e

s
 a

n
d

 

c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

 e
n

g
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 

a
n

d
 c

o
h

e
s

io
n

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 a
 s

e
ri
e
s
 o

f 
e
v
e
n
ts

 t
o
 e

n
c
o
u
ra

g
e
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 c

o
h
e
s
io

n
 s

u
c
h
 a

s
 B

la
c
k
 H

is
to

ry
 M

o
n
th

, 

In
te

rn
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
D

a
y
 o

f 
D

is
a
b
le

d
 P

e
o
p
le

, 
e
tc

..
.

C
E

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 a

g
re

e
d
 b

y
 M

a
y
 0

6
 

a
n
d
 r

e
v
ie

w
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
 b

y
 F

e
b
ru

a
ry

 

0
7

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 d

e
liv

e
re

d
 a

n
d
 g

o
o
d
 

fe
e
d
b
a
c
k
 r

e
c
e
iv

e
d

M
ic

h
a
e
l 
K

e
a
ti
n
g

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d
 a

n
d
 w

e
 a

re
 

p
ilo

ti
n
g
 n

e
w

 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 

a
n
d
 e

v
a
lu

a
ti
o
n
 p

ro
c
e
s
s

L
o

n
d

o
n

 B
o

ro
u

g
h

 o
f 

T
o

w
e

r 
H

a
m

le
ts

2
2

E
A

P
 2

0
0

6
/7

Page 100



E
q

u
a

li
ti

e
s

 A
c

ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 2
0

0
6

/0
7

 M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

 R
e

p
o

rt
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 1

D
E

S
R

E
S

K
E

Y
 A

C
T

IV
IT

Y
D

IR
K

E
Y

 M
IL

E
S

T
O

N
E

 &
 

C
O

M
P

L
E

T
IO

N
 D

A
T

E

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
L

E
A

D
 O

F
F

IC
E

R
T

R
A

F
F

IC
 L

IG
H

T
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 T

O
 3

1
 M

a
rc

h
 

0
7

E
X

P
L

A
N

A
T

IO
N

 O
F

 

S
L

IP
P

A
G

E
/F

A
IL

U
R

E
 T

O
 M

E
E

T
 

T
A

R
G

E
T

R
E

M
E

D
IA

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

 

IN
C

L
U

D
IN

G
 N

E
W

 D
E

A
D

L
IN

E
S

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 R
e
fu

g
e
e
 W

e
e
k
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 t
h
e
 p

ro
v
is

io
n
 o

f 
fu

n
d
in

g
 t
o
 P

ra
x
is

 a
n
d
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 t
h
e
 

p
ro

m
o
ti
o
n
 o

f 
e
v
e
n
ts

 o
n
 t
h
e
 I
n
te

rn
e
t 
a
n
d
 I
n
tr

a
n
e
t

C
E

F
u
n
d
in

g
 a

g
re

e
d
 a

n
d
 i
n
 b

u
d
g
e
t 

p
la

n
 b

y
 A

p
ri
l 
2
0
0
6

E
v
e
n
ts

 p
la

n
n
e
d
 a

n
d
 p

ro
m

o
te

d
: 

e
v
a
lu

a
ti
o
n
 t
a
k
e
s
 p

la
c
e
 J

u
n
e
 2

0
0
6

E
v
a
lu

a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
e
v
e
n
t 
s
h
o
w

s
 g

o
o
d
 

fe
e
d
b
a
c
k
 f
ro

m
 u

s
e
rs

M
ic

h
a
e
l 
K

e
a
ti
n
g

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

L
o

n
d

o
n

 B
o

ro
u

g
h

 o
f 

T
o

w
e

r 
H

a
m

le
ts

2
3

E
A

P
 2

0
0

6
/7

Page 101



E
q

u
a

li
ti

e
s

 A
c

ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 2
0

0
6

/0
7

 M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

 R
e

p
o

rt
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 1

D
E

S
R

E
S

K
E

Y
 A

C
T

IV
IT

Y
D

IR
K

E
Y

 M
IL

E
S

T
O

N
E

 &
 

C
O

M
P

L
E

T
IO

N
 D

A
T

E

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
L

E
A

D
 O

F
F

IC
E

R
T

R
A

F
F

IC
 L

IG
H

T
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 T

O
 3

1
 M

a
rc

h
 

0
7

E
X

P
L

A
N

A
T

IO
N

 O
F

 

S
L

IP
P

A
G

E
/F

A
IL

U
R

E
 T

O
 M

E
E

T
 

T
A

R
G

E
T

R
E

M
E

D
IA

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

 

IN
C

L
U

D
IN

G
 N

E
W

 D
E

A
D

L
IN

E
S

D
e
v
e
lo

p
 t
h
e
 C

h
ild

re
n
 a

n
d
 Y

o
u
n
g
 P

e
o
p
le

's
 P

a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n
 S

tr
a
te

g
y

C
H

S
8
 "

H
e
a
r 

B
y
 R

ig
h
t"

 a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
ts

 

u
n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n
 i
n
 y

o
u
th

 p
ro

je
c
ts

 i
n
 

e
a
c
h
 L

A
P

 a
re

a
 w

it
h
 s

ta
ff
 a

n
d
 

y
o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 b
y
 O

c
to

b
e
r 

0
6
.

C
h
ild

re
n
 a

n
d
 Y

o
u
n
g
 P

e
o
p
le

's
 

P
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 

b
y
 M

a
rc

h
 0

7
.

B
e
n
c
h
m

a
rk

s
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
e
d
 f
o
r 

m
o
re

 

a
d
v
a
n
c
e
d
 l
e
v
e
ls

 o
f 
p
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 b

e
 

a
c
h
ie

v
e
d
.

B
lo

s
s
o
m

 Y
o
u
n
g

G
R

E
E

N
H

e
a
r 

B
y
 R

ig
h
t 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
ts

 i
n
 5

 s
e
rv

ic
e
 

a
re

a
s
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
 b

y
 e

n
d
 

M
a
rc

h
 2

0
0
7
. 
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 

fi
n
a
lis

e
d
 b

y
 e

n
d
 M

a
rc

h
 

2
0
0
7
 a

s
 i
n
 o

ri
g
in

a
l 

s
c
h
e
d
u
le

.

P
ilo

t 
"B

u
ild

in
g
 B

ri
d
g
e
s
" 

p
o
s
t 
(P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 b
e
tw

e
e
n
 C

h
ild

re
n
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

n
d
 C

h
ie

f 
E

x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
's

)
C

E
R

e
v
ie

w
 p

ro
je

c
t 
D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

0
6

P
ro

p
o
s
a
ls

 f
o
r 

m
a
in

s
tr

e
a
m

in
g
 

M
a
rc

h
 0

7

M
e
a
s
u
ra

b
le

 o
u
tc

o
m

e
s
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 t
o
 

ill
u
s
tr

a
te

 C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 C

o
h
e
s
io

n

M
ic

h
a
e
l 
K

e
a
ti
n
g

R
E

D
T

h
e
 C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
 f
o
r 

In
te

g
ra

ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 C

o
h
e
s
io

n
 

is
 n

o
t 
re

p
o
rt

in
g
 u

n
ti
l 
J
u
n
e
 

0
7
 t
h
e
re

fo
re

 p
ro

p
o
s
a
ls

 a
re

 

o
n
 h

o
ld

 u
n
ti
l 
th

e
n

T
h
e
 C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
 f
o
r 

In
te

g
ra

ti
o
n
 

a
n
d
 C

o
h
e
s
io

n
 i
s
 n

o
t 
re

p
o
rt

in
g
 u

n
ti
l 

J
u
n
e
 0

7
 t
h
e
re

fo
re

 p
ro

p
o
s
a
ls

 a
re

 

o
n
 h

o
ld

 u
n
ti
l 
th

e
n

P
ro

p
o
s
a
ls

 w
ill

 b
e
 p

re
s
e
n
te

d
 t
o
 

M
e
m

b
e
rs

 i
n
 2

0
0
7

T
o
 p

ro
v
id

e
 a

s
s
is

ta
n
c
e
 w

it
h
 c

o
s
ts

 o
f 
p
ro

je
c
ts

 t
h
a
t 
m

e
e
t 
id

e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 n

e
e
d
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 b

o
ro

u
g
h
 

th
ro

u
g
h
o
u
t 
th

e
 M

a
in

s
tr

e
a
m

 G
ra

n
ts

 p
ro

c
e
s
s

C
E

A
t 
le

a
s
t 
5
 S

e
rv

ic
e
 A

g
re

e
m

e
n
ts

 i
n
 

p
la

c
e
 b

y
 M

a
rc

h
 0

7

S
e
rv

ic
e
 A

g
re

e
m

e
n
ts

 a
re

 i
n
 p

la
c
e

M
ic

h
a
e
l 
K

e
a
ti
n
g

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 t
h
e
 w

o
rk

 o
f 
fa

it
h
 g

ro
u
p
s
 i
n
 i
n
c
re

a
s
in

g
 p

a
re

n
ti
n
g
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 t
o
 f
a
m

ili
e
s
 a

n
d
 m

a
in

ta
in

 

th
e
 c

o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 f
a
it
h
 g

ro
u
p
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 A

C
P

C
 a

n
d
 n

e
w

 s
a
fe

g
u
a
rd

in
g
 a

rr
a
n
g
e
m

e
n
ts

C
H

S
L
o
c
a
l 
S

a
fe

g
u
a
rd

in
g
 C

h
ild

re
n
 

B
o
a
rd

 (
L
C

S
B

) 
m

e
m

b
e
rs

h
ip

 t
o
 

re
fl
e
c
t 
T

o
w

e
r 

H
a
m

le
ts

 c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y

M
e
m

b
e
rs

h
ip

 o
f 
C

h
ild

 P
ro

te
c
ti
o
n
 

C
o
m

m
it
te

e
 (

C
P

C
) 

a
n
d
 L

C
S

B
 s

u
b
-

c
o
m

m
it
te

e
s
 t
o
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 r

e
fl
e
c
t 

T
o
w

e
r 

H
a
m

le
ts

 c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y

L
C

S
B

 w
o
rk

 p
la

n
 t
o
 r

e
fl
e
c
t 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 c

o
n
c
e
rn

s
 a

n
d
 p

ri
o
ri
ti
e
s

M
a
rc

h
 2

0
0
7
: 
M

o
n
it
o
r 

a
tt
e
n
d
a
n
c
e
 

a
n
d
 i
n
v
o
lv

e
m

e
n
t 
a
n
d
 d

e
m

o
n
s
tr

a
te

 

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 
  
  
  
  
  
  
P

re
s
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
 

to
 I
n
te

rf
a
it
h
 F

o
ru

m
 -

 J
a
n
u
a
ry

 0
7

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
 i
n
v
o
lv

e
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
fa

it
h
 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
 i
n
 L

C
S

B
 a

n
d
 C

P
C

A
n
n
 R

o
a
c
h

G
R

E
E

N

L
o

n
d

o
n

 B
o

ro
u

g
h

 o
f 

T
o

w
e

r 
H

a
m

le
ts

2
4

E
A

P
 2

0
0

6
/7

Page 102



E
q

u
a

li
ti

e
s

 A
c

ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 2
0

0
6

/0
7

 M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

 R
e

p
o

rt
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 1

D
E

S
R

E
S

K
E

Y
 A

C
T

IV
IT

Y
D

IR
K

E
Y

 M
IL

E
S

T
O

N
E

 &
 

C
O

M
P

L
E

T
IO

N
 D

A
T

E

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
L

E
A

D
 O

F
F

IC
E

R
T

R
A

F
F

IC
 L

IG
H

T
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 T

O
 3

1
 M

a
rc

h
 

0
7

E
X

P
L

A
N

A
T

IO
N

 O
F

 

S
L

IP
P

A
G

E
/F

A
IL

U
R

E
 T

O
 M

E
E

T
 

T
A

R
G

E
T

R
E

M
E

D
IA

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

 

IN
C

L
U

D
IN

G
 N

E
W

 D
E

A
D

L
IN

E
S

C
O

N
S

U
L

T
A

T
IO

N
, 
C

O
M

M
U

N
IT

Y
 

D
E

V
E

L
O

P
M

E
N

T
 &

 S
C

R
U

T
IN

Y
O

B
J

E
C

T
IV

E
  

3
0

 -
 T

o
 i

n
c

re
a

s
e

 i
n

v
o

lv
e

m
e

n
t 

o
f 

c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

 

a
n

d
 s

c
ru

ti
n

y
 b

o
d

ie
s

 i
n

 s
e

rv
ic

e
 d

e
v

e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
a

n
d

 i
n

c
re

a
s

e
 

s
a

ti
s

fa
c

ti
o

n
 w

it
h

 s
e

rv
ic

e
s

 a
n

d
 p

ro
g

re
s

s
 i

n
 m

e
e

ti
n

g
 

ta
rg

e
ts

E
n
s
u
re

 c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 e

n
g
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
in

 t
h
e
 L

o
c
a
l 
D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
F

ra
m

e
w

o
rk

 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

p
ro

c
e
s
s

D
R

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 l
in

e
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 

S
ta

te
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

In
v
o
lv

e
m

e
n
t 
c
o
m

p
le

te
d
 b

y
 

D
e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
0
6

Im
p
ro

v
e
d
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
F

ra
m

e
w

o
rk

O
w

e
n
 W

h
a
lle

y
G

R
E

E
N

In
c
re

a
s
e
 t
h
e
 c

a
p
a
c
it
y
 o

f 
th

e
 t
h
ir
d
 s

e
c
to

r 
to

 p
a
rt

ic
ip

a
te

 i
n
 t
h
e
 p

la
n
n
in

g
 a

n
d
 d

e
liv

e
ry

 o
f 

e
x
c
e
lle

n
t 
p
u
b
lic

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s

C
E

R
e
v
ie

w
 t
h
e
 r

o
ll 

o
u
t 
o
f 
th

e
 T

h
ir
d
 

S
e
c
to

r 
S

tr
a
te

g
y
 b

y
 c

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
in

g
 

c
o
d
e
 o

f 
p
ra

c
ti
c
e
 a

c
ro

s
s
 t
h
e
 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 b
y
 S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
6

E
v
id

e
n
c
e
 o

f 
c
o
m

m
is

s
io

n
in

g
 o

f 
T

h
ir
d
 

S
e
c
to

r 
b
y
 D

ir
e
c
to

ra
te

s

S
h
a
ro

n
 M

c
G

ilc
h
ri
s
t

G
R

E
E

N

D
e
v
e
lo

p
 a

 P
a
rk

s
 a

n
d
 O

p
e
n
 S

p
a
c
e
s
 D

is
a
b
ili

ty
 C

o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 G

ro
u
p

E
C

G
ro

u
p
 f
o
rm

e
d
 b

y
 O

c
to

b
e
r 

0
6

Im
p
ro

v
e
d
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 a

rr
a
n
g
e
m

e
n
ts

 a
n
d
 

fa
c
ili

ti
e
s
 i
n
 l
in

e
 w

it
h
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
ts

 o
f 
th

e
 

D
D

A

P
a
u
l 
M

a
rt

in
d
ill

R
E

D
In

c
o
m

p
le

te
S

ta
ff
 r

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 h

a
v
e
 n

o
t 
b
e
e
n
 

a
v
a
ila

b
le

 t
o
 c

o
m

p
le

te
 t
h
e
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
d
 

w
o
rk

 d
u
e
 t
o
 v

a
c
a
n
c
y
 o

f 
k
e
y
 

p
o
s
it
io

n
s
.

A
n
 a

n
a
ly

s
is

 o
f 
2
0
0
6
/2

0
0
7
 p

a
rk

 

u
s
e
r 

s
u
rv

e
y
 w

a
s
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n
 t
o
 

d
e
te

rm
in

e
 p

e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
u
s
e
rs

 

w
h
o
 c

o
n
s
id

e
r 

th
e
m

s
e
lv

e
s
 t
o
 b

e
 

d
is

a
b
le

d
. 
A

 p
re

s
s
 r

e
le

a
s
e
 w

ill
 b

e
 

g
o
in

g
 o

u
t 
in

 s
p
ri
n
g
 2

0
0
7
 i
n
v
it
in

g
 

in
te

re
s
te

d
 p

a
rt

ie
s
 t
o
 j
o
in

 t
h
e
 u

s
e
r 

g
ro

u
p

In
c
re

a
s
e
 t
h
e
 p

a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
c
h
ild

re
n
 l
o
o
k
e
d
 a

ft
e
r 

a
n
d
 c

a
re

 l
e
a
v
e
rs

 i
n
 d

e
c
is

io
n
 m

a
k
in

g
 

fo
ru

m
s
, 
p
o
lic

y
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
a
n
d
 p

ra
c
ti
c
e
 r

e
v
ie

w

C
H

S
E

m
p
lo

y
 P

a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n
 O

ff
ic

e
r 

b
y
 

J
u
ly

 0
6

F
a
c
ili

ta
te

 u
p
 t
o
 2

 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

e
v
e
n
ts

 p
e
r 

y
e
a
r 

fo
r 

c
h
ild

re
n
 l
o
o
k
e
d
 

a
ft
e
r 

a
n
d
 c

a
re

 l
e
a
v
e
rs

 S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
6

P
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n
 O

ff
ic

e
r 

in
 p

o
s
t

O
u
tc

o
m

e
s
 o

f 
p
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 i
n
fo

rm
in

g
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

J
e
n
n
y
 B

o
y
d

G
R

E
E

N

L
o

n
d

o
n

 B
o

ro
u

g
h

 o
f 

T
o

w
e

r 
H

a
m

le
ts

2
5

E
A

P
 2

0
0

6
/7

Page 103



E
q

u
a

li
ti

e
s

 A
c

ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 2
0

0
6

/0
7

 M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

 R
e

p
o

rt
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 1

D
E

S
R

E
S

K
E

Y
 A

C
T

IV
IT

Y
D

IR
K

E
Y

 M
IL

E
S

T
O

N
E

 &
 

C
O

M
P

L
E

T
IO

N
 D

A
T

E

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
L

E
A

D
 O

F
F

IC
E

R
T

R
A

F
F

IC
 L

IG
H

T
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 T

O
 3

1
 M

a
rc

h
 

0
7

E
X

P
L

A
N

A
T

IO
N

 O
F

 

S
L

IP
P

A
G

E
/F

A
IL

U
R

E
 T

O
 M

E
E

T
 

T
A

R
G

E
T

R
E

M
E

D
IA

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

 

IN
C

L
U

D
IN

G
 N

E
W

 D
E

A
D

L
IN

E
S

O
B

J
E

C
T

IV
E

  
3

1
 -

 T
o

 r
e

c
e

iv
e

 r
e

s
u

lt
s

 f
ro

m
 c

o
n

s
u

lt
a

ti
o

n
 

g
ro

u
p

s
 i

n
c

lu
d

in
g

 s
ta

ff
 i

n
 o

rd
e

r 
to

 a
s

s
e

s
s

 h
o

w
 f

a
r 

ta
rg

e
ts

 

h
a

v
e

 b
e

e
n

 m
e

t 
a

n
d

 w
e

re
 r

e
le

v
a

n
t 

to
 t

h
e

ir
 n

e
e

d
s

, 

re
q

u
ir

e
m

e
n

ts
 o

r 
c

o
n

c
e

rn
s

W
o
rk

 w
it
h
 k

e
y
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 t
o
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
 t
h
e
 f
o
rw

a
rd

 p
la

n
 o

f 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n

C
E

R
e
v
ie

w
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
 a

n
d
 p

re
s
e
n
te

d
 

to
 E

P
S

 C
P

A
G

 b
y
 J

u
ly

 0
6

C
a
s
e
 s

tu
d
y
 p

u
b
lis

h
e
d
 b

y
 

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
6

T
h
e
re

 i
s
 a

 s
tr

a
te

g
ic

 a
p
p
ro

a
c
h
 a

c
ro

s
s
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 t
o
 c

o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 p

u
b
lic

C
la

ir
e
 S

y
m

o
n
d
s

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

D
e
v
e
lo

p
 t
h
e
 c

o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 c

a
le

n
d
a
r 

to
 b

e
 m

o
re

 u
s
e
r 

fr
ie

n
d
ly

 a
n
d
 a

c
c
e
s
s
ib

le
C

E
K

e
y
 p

a
rt

n
e
r 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
s
 

p
u
b
lis

h
e
d
 o

n
 t
h
e
 c

a
le

n
d
a
r 

b
y
 J

u
n
e
 

0
6

T
h
e
 c

a
le

n
d
a
r 

is
 u

p
 t
o
 d

a
te

 w
it
h
 

re
le

v
a
n
t 
in

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n

C
la

ir
e
 S

y
m

o
n
d
s

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

H
o
u
s
in

g
 s

ta
ff
 a

n
d
 T

e
n
a
n
t 
C

o
m

p
a
c
t 
G

ro
u
p
 t
o
 b

e
 i
n
v
o
lv

e
d
 i
n
 c

o
n
s
id

e
ri
n
g
 e

q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 r

e
p
o
rt

s
 

a
n
d
 m

a
k
in

g
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 o

n
 c

o
u
rs

e
s
 o

f 
a
c
ti
o
n
 t
o
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
 d

iv
e
rs

it
y
 t
a
rg

e
ts

 s
p
e
c
if
ic

a
lly

 

o
n
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 d

e
liv

e
ry

 a
n
d
 c

u
s
to

m
e
r 

s
a
ti
s
fa

c
ti
o
n

H
H

o
u
s
in

g
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 t
o
 c

o
-o

rd
in

a
te

 a
 

re
p
o
rt

 c
o
v
e
ri
n
g
 H

o
u
s
in

g
's

 k
e
y
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 a

re
a
s
 b

y
 D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

0
6

R
e
p
o
rt

 p
re

s
e
n
te

d
 t
o
 T

e
n
a
n
t 

C
o
m

p
a
c
t 
G

ro
u
p
 b

y
 F

e
b
ru

a
ry

 0
7

F
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 f
ro

m
 C

o
m

p
a
c
t 
m

e
m

b
e
rs

 i
s
 

c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 a

n
d
 u

s
e
d
 t
o
 i
n
fo

rm
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 
a
c
ti
v
it
ie

s

V
ic

k
i 
P

o
tt
ic

a
ry

J
e
b
in

 S
y
e
d
a

G
R

E
E

N

O
B

J
E

C
T

IV
E

  
3

2
 -

 T
o

 r
e

v
ie

w
 e

m
p

o
w

e
rm

e
n

t 
c

o
n

s
e

q
u

e
n

c
e

s
 

o
f 

p
ro

g
re

s
s

 a
g

a
in

s
t 

ta
rg

e
ts

A
n
a
ly

s
in

g
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

k
e
y
 p

la
n
s
 f
o
r 

e
v
id

e
n
c
e
 o

f 
im

p
a
c
t/
e
m

p
o
w

e
rm

e
n
t 
o
f 
lo

c
a
l 
c
o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
C

E
R

e
p
o
rt

 o
n
 f
in

d
in

g
s
 b

y
 D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

0
6

M
a
k
e
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 b

y
 

F
e
b
ru

a
ry

 0
7

R
e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
fo

rm
 Y

e
a
r 

2
 o

f 

th
e
 n

e
w

 S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 P
la

n

M
ic

h
a
e
l 
K

e
a
ti
n
g

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

R
e
v
ie

w
 p

ro
g
re

s
s
 a

g
a
in

s
t 
ta

rg
e
ts

 f
o
r 

3
rd

 S
e
c
to

r 
te

a
m

 c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 e

m
p
o
w

e
rm

e
n
t 
ro

le
C

E
R

e
v
ie

w
 p

ro
c
e
s
s
 c

o
m

p
le

te
 b

y
 J

u
ly

 

0
6

T
a
rg

e
ts

 a
m

e
n
d
e
d
 a

n
d
 a

c
ti
o
n
s
 r

e
v
is

e
d
 

in
 3

rd
 s

e
c
to

r 
w

o
rk

 p
la

n

M
ic

h
a
e
l 
K

e
a
ti
n
g

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

O
B

J
E

C
T

IV
E

  
3

3
 -

 T
o

 r
e

v
ie

w
 m

e
th

o
d

s
 o

f 
c

o
n

s
u

lt
a

ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 

in
v

o
lv

e
m

e
n

t 
w

it
h

 s
e

rv
ic

e
 u

s
e

rs
 a

n
d

 s
ta

ff
R

e
v
ie

w
 o

f 
s
ta

ff
 f
o
ru

m
s
 (

L
G

B
T

, 
D

is
a
b
le

d
 S

ta
ff
 a

n
d
 B

M
E

) 
a
s
 s

ta
ff
 c

o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 f
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 

m
e
c
h
a
n
is

m
s

C
E

R
e
v
ie

w
 o

f 
s
e
c
o
n
d
 y

e
a
r 

o
f 
s
ta

ff
 

fo
ru

m
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
 b

y
 A

p
ri
l 
2
0
0
7

R
e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 a

d
o
p
te

d
 l
e
a
d
in

g
 t
o
 

m
o
re

 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 p

ro
c
e
s
s

M
ic

h
a
e
l 
K

e
a
ti
n
g

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d
, 
th

e
 j
o
in

t 
s
ta

ff
 

fo
ru

m
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 w

a
s
 h

e
ld

 i
n
 

M
a
rc

h
 a

n
d
 p

la
n
s
 a

re
 i
n
 

p
la

c
e
 t
o
 s

tr
e
n
g
th

e
n
 t
h
e
 

ro
le

s
 o

f 
th

e
 f
o
ru

m
s

R
e
v
ie

w
 &

 r
e
la

u
n
c
h
 c

o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 f
ra

m
e
w

o
rk

 t
o
 e

n
s
u
re

 c
o
m

p
lia

n
c
e
 a

n
d
 t
h
a
t 
a
ll 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

a
c
ti
v
it
y
 i
s
 s

h
a
re

d
 v

ia
 t
h
e
 c

o
rp

o
ra

te
 c

o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 c

a
le

n
d
a
r

A
S

R
e
v
ie

w
 f
ra

m
e
w

o
rk

 b
y
 S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
6

A
m

e
n
d
 t
o
o
lk

it
 i
n
to

 f
a
c
t 
s
h
e
e
ts

 f
o
r 

in
tr

a
n
e
t 
b
y
 A

u
g
u
s
t 
0
6

A
d
v
e
rt

is
e
 f
ra

m
e
w

o
rk

. 
P

ro
c
e
s
s
e
s
 

a
n
d
 t
o
o
lk

it
 N

o
v
e
m

b
e
r 

0
6

In
c
re

a
s
e
d
 i
m

p
a
c
t 
o
f 
in

v
o
lv

e
m

e
n
t 

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 c

o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
 

s
tr

a
te

g
ie

s

M
a
rg

o
t 
F

o
n
s
e
c
a

R
E

D
F

ra
m

e
w

o
rk

 h
a

s
 b

e
e

n
 

re
v
ie

w
e

d
, 

to
o

lk
it
 a

n
d

 

fa
c
ts

h
e

e
ts

 h
a

v
e

 b
e

e
n

 

a
m

e
n

d
e

d
. 

T
h

e
 f

ra
m

e
w

o
rk

 

h
a

s
 n

o
t 

y
e

t 
b

e
e

n
 a

d
v
e

rt
is

e
d

 

a
s
 t

h
e

re
 w

a
s
 s

o
m

e
 s

lip
p

a
g

e
 

d
u

e
 t

o
 t

h
e

 s
p

lit
 o

f 
A

d
u

lt
s
 a

n
d

 

C
h

ild
re

n
s
 S

e
rv

ic
e

s
. 

T
h

is
 w

ill
 

n
o

w
 b

e
 r

o
lle

d
 o

v
e

r 
to

 n
e

x
t 

y
e

a
r.

S
lip

p
a
g
e
 d

u
e
 t
o
 s

p
lit

 o
f 
S

o
c
ia

l 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s
 i
n
to

 A
d
u
lt
 a

n
d
 C

h
ild

re
n
's

 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s
.

A
c
ti
o
n
s
 n

o
w

 c
o
m

p
le

te
.

R
e
v
ie

w
 o

f 
p
re

s
e
n
t 
p
ro

c
e
s
s
e
s
 f
o
r 

p
a
re

n
ta

l 
fe

e
d
b
a
c
k

C
H

S
B

e
g
in

 r
e
v
ie

w
 J

u
ly

 0
6

M
o
d
if
ie

d
 s

y
s
te

m
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 

im
p
le

m
e
n
te

d
 f
ro

m
 A

u
tu

m
n
 0

6

D
a
v
id

 C
a
rr

o
ll

G
R

E
E

N

Im
p
le

m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 m

o
n
it
o
r 

th
e
 a

g
re

e
d
 p

ro
c
e
d
u
re

 f
o
r 

c
a
p
tu

ri
n
g
 a

n
d
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 I
C

T
 e

n
ro

lm
e
n
t 

a
n
d
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 n
e
e
d
s
 o

f 
d
is

a
b
le

d
 s

ta
ff

C
E

P
ro

c
e
d
u
re

 a
g
re

e
d
 w

it
h
 a

ll 
in

te
rn

a
l 

p
a
rt

ie
s
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 H

R
 &

 D
is

a
b
le

d
 

s
ta

ff
 f
o
ru

m
 b

y
 J

u
ly

 0
6

R
e
p
o
rt

 t
o
 I
C

T
 D

M
T

 N
o
v
e
m

b
e
r 

0
6
 

p
ro

v
id

e
s
 m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 o

n
 

n
u
m

b
e
rs

 o
f 
u
s
e
rs

 

e
n
ro

lle
d
/s

u
p
p
o
rt

e
d
 a

n
d
 

tu
rn

a
ro

u
n
d
 t
im

e
s

S
u
rv

e
y
 o

f 
d
is

a
b
le

d
 I
C

T
 u

s
e
rs

 

c
o
n
d
u
c
te

d
 J

a
n
u
a
ry

 0
6

IC
T

 s
e
rv

ic
e
 e

v
a
lu

a
ti
o
n
 s

h
o
w

s
 n

e
e
d
s
 o

f 

d
is

a
b
le

d
 s

ta
ff
 a

re
 b

e
in

g
 s

ig
n
if
ic

a
n
tl
y
 

m
e
t

J
im

 R
o
b
e
rt

s
R

E
D

L
o
o
k
in

g
 a

t 
th

e
 p

ro
c
e
d
u
re

s
 

th
a
t 
n
e
e
d
 t
o
 b

e
 p

u
t 
in

 

p
la

c
e
 t
o
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 t
h
is

 

p
ro

je
c
t

D
u
e
 t
o
 s

lip
p
a
g
e
 o

f 
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 

a
c
ti
v
it
ie

s
 s

u
c
h
 a

s
 t
h
e
 n

e
w

 

e
n
ro

lm
e
n
t 
s
y
s
te

m
 a

n
d
 

im
p
le

m
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
 o

f 
n
e
w

 s
e
rv

ic
e
 

d
e
s
k
 t
o
o
l

N
e
w

 t
a
rg

e
t 
d
a
te

 i
s
 M

a
rc

h
 0

8

L
o

n
d

o
n

 B
o

ro
u

g
h

 o
f 

T
o

w
e

r 
H

a
m

le
ts

2
6

E
A

P
 2

0
0

6
/7

Page 104



E
q

u
a

li
ti

e
s

 A
c

ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 2
0

0
6

/0
7

 M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

 R
e

p
o

rt
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 1

D
E

S
R

E
S

K
E

Y
 A

C
T

IV
IT

Y
D

IR
K

E
Y

 M
IL

E
S

T
O

N
E

 &
 

C
O

M
P

L
E

T
IO

N
 D

A
T

E

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
L

E
A

D
 O

F
F

IC
E

R
T

R
A

F
F

IC
 L

IG
H

T
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 T

O
 3

1
 M

a
rc

h
 

0
7

E
X

P
L

A
N

A
T

IO
N

 O
F

 

S
L

IP
P

A
G

E
/F

A
IL

U
R

E
 T

O
 M

E
E

T
 

T
A

R
G

E
T

R
E

M
E

D
IA

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

 

IN
C

L
U

D
IN

G
 N

E
W

 D
E

A
D

L
IN

E
S

In
s
ta

ll 
B

a
n
g
la

W
o
rd

 (
T

ra
n
s
la

ti
o
n
 s

o
ft
w

a
re

) 
o
n
to

 P
C

s
 o

f 
a
ll 

M
e
m

b
e
rs

 w
h
o
 r

e
q
u
e
s
t 
it

C
E

A
ll 

re
q
u
e
s
te

d
 s

o
ft
w

a
re

 i
n
s
ta

lle
d
 b

y
 

J
u
ly

 0
6

R
e
q
u
e
s
te

d
 i
n
s
ta

lla
ti
o
n
s
 a

n
d
 t
ra

in
in

g
 

s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu

lly
 p

ro
v
id

e
d
 f
o
r 

a
ll 

M
e
m

b
e
rs

 

w
h
o
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
 i
t

J
im

 R
o
b
e
rt

s
G

R
E

E
N

C
o
m

p
le

te
d

In
c
re

a
s
e
 r

e
s
id

e
n
t 
in

v
o
lv

e
m

e
n
t 
a
n
d
 w

id
e
r 

p
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 T

e
n
a
n
t 
C

o
m

p
a
c
t

H
R

e
la

u
n
c
h
 A

re
a
 R

e
s
id

e
n
t 
P

a
n
e
ls

 

J
u
n
e
 0

6
. 
  
  
  
 W

ri
tt
e
n
 T

e
n
a
n
t 

C
o
m

p
a
c
t 
A

g
re

e
m

e
n
t 
to

 b
e
 r

e
v
is

e
d
 

b
y
 M

a
rc

h
 0

7

Im
p
ro

v
e
d
 f
o
ru

m
s
 f
o
r 

re
s
id

e
n
t 

re
p
re

s
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
 t
h
a
t 
m

e
e
ts

 c
h
a
n
g
in

g
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m

e
n
ts

 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 i
m

p
a
c
t 
o
f 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 C

h
o
ic

e

V
ic

k
i 
P

o
tt
ic

a
ry

G
R

E
E

N

R
o
ll 

o
u
t 
o
f 
R

e
s
id

e
n
t 
In

v
o
lv

e
m

e
n
t 
R

e
g
is

te
r 

to
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 w

is
h
in

g
 t
o
 c

o
n
s
u
lt
 r

e
s
id

e
n
ts

 o
n
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 s

p
e
c
if
ic

 i
s
s
u
e
s

H
P

ro
m

o
ti
o
n
 o

f 
u
s
e
 o

f 
re

g
is

te
r 

to
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 b

y
 J

u
n
e
 0

6
. 
  
 R

e
v
ie

w
 u

s
e
 

o
f 
re

g
is

te
r 

a
n
d
 m

a
k
e
 r

e
fi
n
e
m

e
n
ts

 

b
y
 S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
6

In
c
re

a
s
e
s
 o

p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s
 f
o
r 

re
s
id

e
n
ts

 t
o
 

g
iv

e
 f
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 o

n
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 a

n
d
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
im

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t 
a
c
ti
v
it
ie

s

J
e
b
in

 S
y
e
d
a

G
R

E
E

N

U
n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
 c

o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 o

n
 d

ra
ft
 r

e
s
e
rv

e
s
 p

o
lic

y
 f
o
r 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 g

ro
u
p
s

C
E

D
ra

ft
 p

o
lic

y
 M

a
y
 t
o
 J

u
ly

 0
6
, 
la

u
n
c
h
 

o
f 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
6
, 

re
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 g

ra
n
ts

 p
a
n
e
l 

D
e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

0
6

Im
p
ro

v
e
d
 p

o
lic

y
 i
n
 p

la
c
e

H
ila

ry
 H

u
g
h
e
s

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

O
B

J
E

C
T

IV
E

  
3

4
 -

 T
o

 b
e

n
c

h
m

a
rk

 c
o

n
s

u
lt

a
ti

o
n

 a
n

d
 

s
c

ru
ti

n
y

 p
ra

c
ti

c
e

 a
g

a
in

s
t 

c
o

m
p

a
ra

b
le

 o
th

e
rs

 a
n

d
 s

h
a

re
 i

n
 

d
e

v
e

lo
p

in
g

 g
o

o
d

 p
ra

c
ti

c
e

P
a
rt

ic
ip

a
te

 &
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
 w

o
rk

 o
f 
P

e
e
r 

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 P
ro

je
c
t 
fo

c
u
s
in

g
 o

n
 d

is
s
e
m

in
a
ti
n
g
 e

ff
e
c
ti
v
e

im
p
a
c
t 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 
p
ra

c
ti
c
e
 w

it
h
 G

ra
v
e
s
h
a
m

 &
 B

ri
s
to

l

C
E

P
ro

je
c
t 
m

a
p
p
in

g
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 J

u
n
e
 0

6
, 

la
u
n
c
h
 e

v
e
n
t 
S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
6

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 p
ro

v
id

e
d
 t
o
 3

0
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
u
th

o
ri
ti
e
s
 

w
h
o
 e

v
a
lu

a
te

 s
u
p
p
o
rt

 a
s
 g

o
o
d
 o

r 

b
e
tt
e
r.

M
ic

h
a
e
l 
K

e
a
ti
n
g

R
E

D
N

e
w

 m
e
e
ti
n
g
 d

a
te

s
 h

a
v
e
 

b
e
e
n
 s

e
t 
u
p
 a

n
d
 o

ff
ic

e
rs

 

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d

R
e
c
ru

ti
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
m

e
n
to

rs
 i
n
 o

th
e
r 

a
u
th

o
ri
ti
e
s
 l
e
d
 t
o
 d

e
la

y
 i
n
 t
h
e
 s

ta
rt

 

d
a
te

 o
f 
th

e
 p

ro
je

c
t.

T
ra

in
in

g
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n
 a

n
d
 p

ro
je

c
t 

w
ill

 b
e
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
 i
n
 e

a
rl
y
 0

8

E
n
s
u
re

 a
c
h
ie

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 a
re

 b
e
n
c
h
m

a
rk

e
d
 w

it
h
 o

th
e
r 

C
o
u
n
c
ils

 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 A

L
G

 m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 a

n
d
 

o
n
e
 t
o
 o

n
e
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
s
 w

it
h
 o

th
e
r 

a
u
th

o
ri
ti
e
s

C
E

T
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

h
a
s
 b

e
e
n
 a

p
p
ro

a
c
h
e
d
 

b
y
 o

th
e
r 

lo
c
a
l 
a
u
th

o
ri
ti
e
s

T
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

is
 r

e
c
o
g
n
is

e
d
 a

s
 u

s
in

g
 

b
e
s
t 
p
ra

c
ti
c
e
 i
n
 e

q
u
a
lit

ie
s

M
ic

h
a
e
l 
K

e
a
ti
n
g

G
R

E
E

N
A

 s
e
ri
e
s
 o

f 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
/c

o
n
fe

re
n
c
e
s

w
e
re

 h
o
s
te

d
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
o
u
t 

th
e
 y

e
a
r 

a
n
d
 w

e
 r

e
c
e
iv

e
d
 

p
o
s
it
iv

e
 f
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 

L
o

n
d

o
n

 B
o

ro
u

g
h

 o
f 

T
o

w
e

r 
H

a
m

le
ts

2
7

E
A

P
 2

0
0

6
/7

Page 105



E
q

u
a

li
ti

e
s

 A
c

ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 2
0

0
6

/0
7

 M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

 R
e

p
o

rt
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 1

D
E

S
R

E
S

K
E

Y
 A

C
T

IV
IT

Y
D

IR
K

E
Y

 M
IL

E
S

T
O

N
E

 &
 

C
O

M
P

L
E

T
IO

N
 D

A
T

E

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
L

E
A

D
 O

F
F

IC
E

R
T

R
A

F
F

IC
 L

IG
H

T
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 T

O
 3

1
 M

a
rc

h
 

0
7

E
X

P
L

A
N

A
T

IO
N

 O
F

 

S
L

IP
P

A
G

E
/F

A
IL

U
R

E
 T

O
 M

E
E

T
 

T
A

R
G

E
T

R
E

M
E

D
IA

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

 

IN
C

L
U

D
IN

G
 N

E
W

 D
E

A
D

L
IN

E
S

O
B

J
E

C
T

IV
E

  
3

5
 -

 T
o

 i
n

c
re

a
s

e
 i

n
te

g
ra

ti
o

n
 o

f 
 s

o
c

ia
l 

c
a

re
, 

e
d

u
c

a
ti

o
n

 a
n

d
 h

e
a

lt
h

 s
e

rv
ic

e
s

 f
o

r 
v

u
ln

e
ra

b
le

 c
h

il
d

re
n

A
ll 

c
h
ild

re
n
s
 w

o
rk

fo
rc

e
  
s
ta

ff
 t
o
 b

e
 t
ra

in
e
d
 i
n
 C

o
m

m
o
n
 A

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 
F

ra
m

e
w

o
rk

 (
C

A
F

) 
C

H
S

A
ll 

s
ta

ff
 t
ra

in
e
d
 a

t 
ti
e
r 

1
,2

 o
r 

th
re

e
 

d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
o
n
 s

k
ill

 s
e
t 
b
y
 A

p
ri
l 
0
7

C
A

F
 i
s
 f
u
lly

 u
n
d
e
rs

to
o
d
 b

y
 a

ll 
s
ta

ff
L
iz

 V
ic

k
e
ri
e

G
R

E
E

N

T
o
 i
n
te

g
ra

te
 h

e
a
lt
h
, 
e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 s

o
c
ia

l 
c
a
re

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 f
o
r 

c
h
ild

re
n
 l
o
o
k
e
d
 a

ft
e
r.

 
C

H
S

N
e
w

 m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
a
n
d
 s

ta
ff
in

g
 

s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 i
n
 p

la
c
e
 b

y
 S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
7
  
In

te
g
ra

te
d
 c

h
ild

re
n
 l
o
o
k
e
d
 

a
ft
e
r 

p
la

n
 i
n
 p

la
c
e
 b

y
 A

p
ri
l 
2
0
0
7

C
le

a
rl
y
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 s

p
e
c
if
ic

 o
u
tc

o
m

e
s
 f
o
r 

c
h
ild

re
n
 l
o
o
k
e
d
 a

ft
e
r

L
iz

 V
ic

k
e
ri
e
 

J
e
n
n
y
 B

o
y
d

G
R

E
E

N

E
n
s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 
n
e
e
d
s
 o

f 
re

fu
g
e
e
s
 a

re
 f
u
lly

 c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 i
n
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
jo

in
t 
h
e
a
lt
h
 a

n
d
 

s
o
c
ia

l 
c
a
re

 c
o
m

m
is

s
io

n
in

g
 s

tr
a
te

g
ie

s
 w

it
h
in

 f
ra

m
e
w

o
rk

 o
f 
Im

p
ro

v
in

g
 H

e
a
lt
h
 a

n
d
 W

e
llb

e
in

g

A
S

A
ll 

c
o
m

m
is

s
io

n
in

g
 s

tr
a
te

g
ie

s
  

u
p
d
a
te

d
 a

n
d
 a

g
re

e
d
 b

y
 r

e
le

v
a
n
t 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 B
o
a
rd

 b
y
 M

a
rc

h
 0

7

N
e
w

 s
tr

a
te

g
ie

s
 t
a
k
e
 i
n
to

 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
th

e
 

n
e
e
d
s
 o

f 
re

fu
g
e
e
s

J
o
h
n
 G

o
ld

u
p

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

O
B

J
E

C
T

IV
E

  
3

6
 -

 T
o

 a
s

s
e

s
s

 t
h

e
 n

e
e

d
s

 o
f 

s
e

rv
ic

e
 u

s
e

rs
 

a
n

d
 r

e
v

ie
w

 p
ro

g
re

s
s

 a
g

a
in

s
t 

ta
rg

e
ts

 i
n

c
lu

d
in

g
 a

n
y

 

s
ig

n
if

ic
a

n
t 

im
p

a
c

t 
o

n
 t

h
e

 r
ig

h
ts

 a
n

d
 o

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
ie

s
 

a
v

a
il

a
b

le
 t

o
 d

is
a

d
v

a
n

ta
g

e
d

g
ro

u
p

s
E

s
ta

b
lis

h
 P

a
re

n
ts

 A
d
v
ic

e
 C

e
n
tr

e
 p

a
re

n
t 
u
s
e
r 

g
ro

u
p
 t
o
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
 u

s
e
r 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 a

m
o
n
g
s
t 

a
ll 

g
ro

u
p
s
, 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 d

is
a
d
v
a
n
ta

g
e
d
 g

ro
u
p
s

C
H

S
F

ir
s
t 
m

e
e
ti
n
g
 h

e
ld

 f
o
llo

w
e
d
 b

y
 

q
u
a
rt

e
rl
y
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
s
 (

J
u
n
e
 0

6
)

2
0
 p

a
re

n
ts

 p
a
rt

ic
ip

a
te

 o
v
e
r 

1
2
 m

o
n
th

s
. 

U
s
e
r 

g
ro

u
p
 f
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 r

e
s
u
lt
s
 i
n
 g

re
a
te

r 

ta
k
e
-u

p
 o

f 
th

e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 b

y
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 

g
ro

u
p
s

C
la

re
 D

o
ro

th
y

G
R

E
E

N

Im
p
ro

v
e
 r

e
c
o
rd

in
g
 a

n
d
 m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 o

f 
e
q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 d

a
ta

 a
b
o
u
t 
s
e
rv

ic
e
 u

s
e
rs

 a
n
d
 e

n
s
u
re

 

e
q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 p

ro
fi
lin

g
 o

f 
a
ll 

p
e
o
p
le

 c
a
lli

n
g
 t
h
e
 c

u
s
to

m
e
r 

c
o
n
ta

c
t 
c
e
n
tr

e

A
S

A
ll 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 t
o
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
 9

0
%

 

e
th

n
ic

it
y
 c

o
d
in

g
 o

f 
th

e
ir
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 

u
s
e
rs

 a
n
d
 m

o
n
it
o
r 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 u

s
a
g
e
 

o
r 

u
p
ta

k
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 T

o
w

e
r 

H
a
m

le
ts

 

e
s
ti
m

a
te

d
 e

th
n
ic

 p
o
p
u
la

ti
o
n
s

P
ro

fi
lin

g
 f
u
lly

 c
o
m

p
le

te
d
 b

y
 

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
6

S
e
rv

ic
e
s
 p

la
n
n
e
d
 a

n
d
 d

e
s
ig

n
e
d
 t
o
 f
u
lly

 

re
fl
e
c
t 
th

e
 n

e
e
d
s
 a

n
d
 a

s
p
ir
a
ti
o
n
s
 o

f 
a
 

d
iv

e
rs

e
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
y

J
o
h
n
 G

o
ld

u
p

G
R

E
E

N
R

e
c
o
rd

in
g
 o

f 
e
th

n
ic

it
y
 

c
o
d
in

g
 o

n
 S

W
IF

T
 n

o
w

 

s
ta

n
d
s
 a

t 
9
8
.5

%
 o

f 
a
ll 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 u

s
e
rs

.

D
e
v
e
lo

p
 j
o
in

t 
s
y
s
te

m
s
 f
o
r 

H
e
a
lt
h
 a

n
d
 S

o
c
ia

l 
c
a
re

 E
IA

s
 a

n
d
 d

iv
e
rs

it
y
 m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g

A
S

A
g
re

e
 a

p
p
ro

a
c
h
 t
o
 E

IA
s
 o

f 

in
te

g
ra

te
d
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 P

C
T

 

J
a
n
u
a
ry

 0
7

M
a
p
 e

x
is

ti
n
g
 s

y
s
te

m
s
 o

f 
d
iv

e
rs

it
y
 

m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 F

e
b
ru

a
ry

 0
7
 P

ro
g
re

s
s
 

re
p
o
rt

 t
o
 C

E
S

G
 -

 M
a
rc

h
 0

7

J
o
in

t 
a
p
p
ro

a
c
h
 t
o
 E

IA
s
 

D
iv

e
rs

it
y
 m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 p

ro
c
e
s
s
e
s
 

m
a
p
p
e
d
 a

s
 b

a
s
is

 f
o
r 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
in

g
 j
o
in

t 

p
ro

to
c
o
ls

M
a
rg

o
t 
F

o
n
s
e
c
a

G
R

E
E

N
E

IA
 o

f 
th

e
 I
n
te

rp
re

ti
n
g
 a

n
d
 

th
e
 l
a
n
g
u
a
g
e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 

c
o
m

p
le

te
d
 i
n
 M

a
rc

h
 2

0
0
7
.

T
o
 b

e
 a

d
d
re

s
s
e
d
 b

y
 t
h
e
 

In
te

g
ra

ti
o
n
 P

ro
g
ra

m
m

e
 B

o
a
rd

 

a
n
d
 I
n
te

g
ra

ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

s
 

P
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 M

a
n
a
g
e
r 

w
h
e
n
 i
n
 

p
o
s
t 
- 

p
o
s
tp

o
n
e
d
 u

n
ti
l 
2
0
0
7
-8

.

L
o

n
d

o
n

 B
o

ro
u

g
h

 o
f 

T
o

w
e

r 
H

a
m

le
ts

2
8

E
A

P
 2

0
0

6
/7

Page 106



E
q

u
a

li
ti

e
s

 A
c

ti
o

n
 P

la
n

 2
0

0
6

/0
7

 M
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

 R
e

p
o

rt
A

p
p

e
n

d
ix

 1

D
E

S
R

E
S

K
E

Y
 A

C
T

IV
IT

Y
D

IR
K

E
Y

 M
IL

E
S

T
O

N
E

 &
 

C
O

M
P

L
E

T
IO

N
 D

A
T

E

S
U

C
C

E
S

S
 C

R
IT

E
R

IA
L

E
A

D
 O

F
F

IC
E

R
T

R
A

F
F

IC
 L

IG
H

T
P

R
O

G
R

E
S

S
 T

O
 3

1
 M

a
rc

h
 

0
7

E
X

P
L

A
N

A
T

IO
N

 O
F

 

S
L

IP
P

A
G

E
/F

A
IL

U
R

E
 T

O
 M

E
E

T
 

T
A

R
G

E
T

R
E

M
E

D
IA

L
 A

C
T

IO
N

 

IN
C

L
U

D
IN

G
 N

E
W

 D
E

A
D

L
IN

E
S

E
s
ta

b
lis

h
 u

s
e
r 

c
o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 s

tr
a
te

g
y
 t
o
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 f
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 o

n
 c

h
ild

re
n
's

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 f
ro

m
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 u

s
e
rs

 a
n
d
 p

a
rt

n
e
r 

a
g
e
n
c
ie

s

C
H

S
M

o
n
it
o
r 

a
n
d
 E

v
a
lu

a
te

 c
o
m

p
la

in
ts

 

fr
o
m

 c
h
ild

re
n
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 t
h
o
s
e
 f
ro

m
 

c
h
ild

re
n
 w

it
h
 a

 d
is

a
b
ili

ty
. 
Q

u
a
rt

e
rl
y
 

b
a
s
is

C
o
n
s
u
lt
 a

n
d
 l
ia

s
e
 w

it
h
 T

o
w

e
r 

H
a
m

le
ts

 F
o
s
te

r 
C

a
re

 A
s
s
o
c
ia

ti
o
n
. 

J
u
n
e
 0

6

In
tr

o
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
fe

e
d
b
a
c
k
 f
o
rm

 f
o
r 

c
h
ild

re
n
, 
p
a
re

n
ts

, 
s
ta

ff
 a

n
d
 p

a
rt

n
e
r 

a
g
e
n
c
ie

s
 r

e
la

ti
n
g
 t
o
 r

e
v
ie

w
s
 o

f 

c
h
ild

re
n
 i
n
 p

u
b
lic

 c
a
re

. 
O

c
to

b
e
r 

0
6
.

F
o
rm

a
lis

e
d
 i
m

p
le

m
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
 w

o
rk

 

d
o
n
e
 i
n
 p

ilo
t 
fo

r 
c
h
ild

 p
ro

te
c
ti
o
n
 

c
a
s
e
 c

o
n
fe

re
n
c
e
s
 t
o
 g

e
t 
fe

e
d
b
a
c
k
 

fr
o
m

 s
e
rv

ic
e
 u

s
e
rs

 a
n
d
 p

a
rt

n
e
r 

a
g
e
n
c
ie

s
. 
O

c
to

b
e
r 

0
6

A
c
ti
o
n
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 i
n
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 

e
v
a
lu

a
ti
o
n

Im
p
ro

v
e
d
 f
o
s
te

ri
n
g
  
a
n
d
 a

d
o
p
ti
o
n
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
.

In
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 w

ill
 b

e
 u

s
e
d
 t
o
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 f
o
r 

u
s
e
rs

 a
n
d
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

.

In
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 w

ill
 b

e
 u

s
e
d
 t
o
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 f
o
r 

u
s
e
rs

 a
n
d
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

L
y
n
n
e
 M

y
e
rs

A
n
n
 G

o
ld

s
m

it
h

G
R

E
E

N

T
o
 e

m
b
e
d
 e

q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 w

it
h
in

 t
h
e
 s

c
o
p
in

g
 p

ro
c
e
s
s
 f
o
r 

re
v
ie

w
s
 c

a
rr

ie
d
 o

u
t 
b
y
 O

v
e
rv

ie
w

 a
n
d
 

S
c
ru

ti
n
y

C
E

R
e
v
ie

w
 s

c
o
p
in

g
 p

ro
c
e
s
s
e
s
 

a
m

e
n
d
e
d
 f
ro

m
 M

a
y
 0

6

A
ll 

s
c
ru

ti
n
y
 r

e
v
ie

w
s
 t
o
 d

e
m

o
n
s
tr

a
te

 

e
q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 c

o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
s
 d

u
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 

s
c
o
p
in

g
 p

ro
c
e
s
s

M
ic

h
a
e
l 
K

e
a
ti
n
g

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

T
o
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 e

n
g
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
th

ro
u
g
h
 S

c
ru

ti
n
y

C
E

P
la

n
 o

f 
a
c
ti
v
it
ie

s
 t
o
 e

n
h
a
n
c
e
 

re
la

ti
o
n
s
h
ip

s
 b

e
tw

e
e
n
 O

S
C

 

c
o
u
n
c
ill

o
rs

 a
n
d
 c

o
-o

p
te

e
s
 a

n
d
 f
o
r 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
in

g
 b

e
tt
e
r 

lin
k
s
 w

it
h
 

e
x
te

rn
a
l 
fo

ru
m

s
 a

n
d
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 b
y
 

D
e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

0
6

In
c
re

a
s
e
 c

o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 o

f 
O

S
C

 c
o
-

o
p
te

e
s
 a

n
d
 a

p
p
o
in

te
d
 r

e
p
re

s
e
n
ta

ti
v
e
s
 

a
t 
O

S
C

 a
n
d
 i
n
 r

e
v
ie

w
s
. 

M
ic

h
a
e
l 
K

e
a
ti
n
g

R
E

D
O

n
 h

o
ld

T
h
e
 A

n
g
lic

a
n
 r

e
p
re

s
e
n
ti
v
e
 w

a
s
 n

o
t 

e
le

c
te

d
 n

o
r 

w
e
re

 t
h
e
 p

a
re

n
t 

g
o
v
e
rn

o
r 

re
p
re

s
e
n
ta

ti
v
e
s

T
o
 b

e
 a

d
d
re

s
s
e
d
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 

2
0
0
7
/0

8
 O

v
e
rv

ie
w

 a
n
d
 S

c
ru

ti
n
y
 

w
o
rk

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e

T
o
 c

re
a
te

 H
e
a
lt
h
 s

c
ru

ti
n
y
 w

o
rk

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 a

ro
u
n
d
 t
h
e
 t
h
e
m

e
s
 o

f 
h
e
a
lt
h
 i
n
e
q
u
a
lit

ie
s

C
E

W
o
rk

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 a

g
re

e
d
 b

y
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 S

c
ru

ti
n
y
 P

a
n
e
l 
a
n
d
 O

S
C

 b
y
 

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
6

Im
p
ro

v
e
d
 h

e
a
lt
h
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 p

ro
v
is

io
n
 a

n
d
 

re
d
u
c
e
d
 h

e
a
lt
h
 i
n
e
q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 

e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
d
 b

y
 l
o
c
a
l 
p
e
o
p
le

M
ic

h
a
e
l 
K

e
a
ti
n
g

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

T
o
 r

a
is

e
 p

ro
fi
le

 o
f 
e
q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 O

v
e
rv

ie
w

 a
n
d
 S

c
ru

ti
n
y

C
E

U
n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
 r

e
v
ie

w
 b

y
 D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

0
6

Im
p
ro

v
e
d
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 p

ro
v
is

io
n
 w

it
h
 a

 f
o
c
u
s

o
n
 e

q
u
a
lit

ie
s
. 
Im

p
ro

v
e
d
 e

n
g
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
o
f 

lo
c
a
l 
p
e
o
p
le

 i
n
 s

c
ru

ti
n
y
 r

e
v
ie

w
s
.

M
ic

h
a
e
l 
K

e
a
ti
n
g

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

In
te

g
ra

te
 h

o
m

e
 c

a
re

 c
o
n
tr

a
c
ts

 a
n
d
 o

ld
e
r 

p
e
o
p
le

’s
 p

ri
v
a
te

 a
n
d
 v

o
lu

n
ta

ry
 s

e
c
to

r 

a
d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti
o
n
 f
u
n
c
ti
o
n
s
 w

it
h
in

 c
o
m

m
is

s
io

n
in

g
 a

c
ti
v
it
y

A
S

P
ro

p
o
s
a
ls

 p
ro

d
u
c
e
d
 f
o
r 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 J

u
n
e
 0

6

Im
p
le

m
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
d
 b

y
 

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

0
6

M
o
re

 e
ff
ic

ie
n
t 
c
o
m

m
is

s
io

n
in

g
 a

n
d
 

m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 o

f 
s
e
rv

ic
e
s

Ia
n
 Q

u
e
e
n
a
n
 /
 D

a
v
id

 

C
o
w

e
ll

R
E

D
R

e
s
tr

u
c
tu

ri
n
g
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
ls

 

c
o
m

p
le

te
d

In
te

g
ra

ti
o
n
 o

f 
P

&
V

 T
e
a
m

 i
n
to

 

O
ld

e
r 

C
io

m
m

is
s
io

n
in

g
 (

O
ld

e
r 

p
e
o
p
le

) 
c
o
m

p
le

te
d
.

R
in

g
fe

n
c
e
d
 I
n
te

rv
ie

w
s
 t
o
 b

e
 

c
o
n
d
u
c
te

d
 r

e
 P

la
c
e
m

e
n
t 
O

ff
ic

e
r 

P
o
s
ts

C
o
m

p
le

te
 r

in
g
-f

e
n
c
e
d
 I
n
te

rv
ie

w
s
 

fo
r 

P
la

c
e
m

e
n
t 
O

ff
ic

e
rs

 b
y
 3

0
th

 

J
u
n
e
 0

7
.

O
B

J
E

C
T

IV
E

  
3

7
 -

 T
o

 a
id

 c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

 d
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

in
 

in
n

o
v

a
ti

v
e

 w
a

y
s

S
tr

e
n
g
th

e
n
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

s
 b

e
tw

e
e
n
 c

h
ild

re
n
 a

n
d
 y

o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 a
n
d
 f
a
it
h
 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 b

y
 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 c

h
ild

re
n
 a

n
d
 y

o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 i
n
 t
h
e
 I
n
te

r-
fa

it
h
 F

o
ru

m
.

C
H

S
M

a
rc

h
 0

7
 P

ilo
t 
o
n
e
 I
n
te

r-
fa

it
h
 

F
o
ru

m
 e

v
e
n
t.

C
h
ild

re
n
 a

n
d
 y

o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

's
 v

ie
w

s
 

in
fl
u
e
n
c
e
 t
h
e
 w

o
rk

 o
f 
th

e
 i
n
te

rf
a
it
h
 

F
o
ru

m
 r

e
s
u
lt
in

g
 i
n
 a

 w
e
ll 

a
tt
e
n
d
e
d
 

e
v
e
n
t

P
a
rm

je
e
t 
S

e
h
m

i
G

R
E

E
N

S
u
p
p
o
rt

in
g
 "

W
IT

H
IN

" 
g
ro

u
p
s
 t
o
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
 c

o
n
s
o
rt

iu
m

 b
id

s
C

E
S

u
p
p
o
rt

 4
 I
n
te

rn
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
W

o
m

e
n
's

 

D
a
y
 e

v
e
n
ts

 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 t
h
e
 w

o
m

e
n
 i
n
 

T
o
w

e
r 

H
a
m

le
ts

 I
n
c
lu

s
iv

e
 N

e
tw

o
rk

 

M
e
m

b
e
rs

 b
y
 M

a
rc

h
 0

7

4
 w

e
ll 

a
tt
e
n
d
e
d
 e

v
e
n
ts

 h
a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 h

e
ld

 
H

ila
ry

 H
u
g
h
e
s

G
R

E
E

N
C

o
m

p
le

te
d

L
o

n
d

o
n

 B
o

ro
u

g
h

 o
f 

T
o

w
e

r 
H

a
m

le
ts

2
9

E
A

P
 2

0
0

6
/7

Page 107



Page 108

This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

Committee 
 

Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

Date 
 

5th June 2007 
 

Classification 
 

Unrestricted 
 

Report No. 
 
 

Agenda Item No. 
 

 
 

Report of:  
 

Sara Williams 
Assistant Chief Executive 
 
Originating Officer(s):  

 
Afazul Hoque 
Acting Scrutiny Policy Manager  
 

Title:  
 

Access to GP / Dentistry Services - Report of the 
Health Scrutiny Panel 
 

Ward(s) affected: 

 
All 
 

 
 
 
1. Summary 
 
1.1  This report submits the report and recommendations of the Health Scrutiny Panel 

review on Access to GP / Dentistry Services for consideration by the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee.  

 
 
2.  Recommendations 

It is recommended that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee: 
 

 2.1 Endorse the draft report of the Health Scrutiny Panel 
 
2.2 The Service Head, Scrutiny & Equalities be authorised to agree the final report before 

its submission to Cabinet, after consultation with the Chair of Health Scrutiny Panel. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT, 2000 (SECTION 97) 
LIST OF “BACKGROUND PAPERS” USED IN THE PREPARATION OF THIS REPORT 
Background paper 
 
Scrutiny Review File held in Scrutiny Policy Team 

Name and telephone number of and address where open to 
inspection 
 
Afazul Hoque 
020 7364 4636 

Agenda Item 11.1

Page 109



 2 

 
3. Background 
 
3.1 In September 2006 the Health Scrutiny Panel agreed its work programme for 2006/07 

with a focus on health inequalities and to consider possible solutions to ensure all 
residents are able to access health services as they require. Tackling health 
inequalities means access to health services needs to be improved. This piece of 
work would help the Panel develop a better understanding of how local needs are 
currently addressed and how, its work can help improve residents needs. The Panel 
visited a GP Practice, a Dental Practice and the Mobile Dental unit. The Panel also 
meetings with Tower Hamlets Primary Care Trust, Patient and Public Involvement 
Forums and community organisations. Witten evidence was also submitted by a 
number of organisations. 

 
3.2 The report with recommendations is attached at Appendix 1. 
 
3.3 Once agreed, the working group's recommendations will be submitted to Cabinet for a 

response to their recommendations.  
 
4. Concurrent Report of the Assistant Chief Executive (Legal Services) 
 
4.1 There are no direct legal implications arsing from this report. Any legal considerations 

arsing from the resultant Action Plan will be addressed at that point.  
 
5. Comments of the Chief Financial Officer 
 
5.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. 
 

 
6. Equal Opportunity Implications 
 

6.1 The report makes a number of recommendations to improve access for disabled users 
and hard to reach communities.  

 
 
7. Anti-Poverty Implications  
 
7.1 The report considers important issues for health inequalities, which is an important 

aspect of addressing poverty in the borough.  
 
 
8. Sustainable Action for a Greener Environment 
 
8.1 There are no direct actions for a greener environment arising from the report. 
 
 
9. Risk Management 
 
9.1 There are no direct risk management implications arising from the report or 

recommendations.  
  

 

 
Appendix 1 Report of the Health Scrutiny Panel – Access to GP Dentistry Services + 

Page 110



 
 

Report of the Health Scrutiny Panel 
 
 
 
 
 

Access to GP / Dentistry Services 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tower Hamlets Council 

May 2007 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 111



DRAFT 

 - 2 - 

Index 
 
 
 

Page 

  
Acknowledgements 
 

3 

Chair’s foreword 
 

4 

  
Chapter 1 
Introduction 
 

5 

Chapter 2      
National Policy Context 
 

7 

Chapter 3      
Local Policy Context 
 

8 

Chapter 4    
What Local People Think About Access to GPs and Dentists 
 

11 

Chapter 5         
Conclusions and Recommendations 
 

18 

Appendix 1 22 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 112



DRAFT 

 - 3 - 

Acknowledgements 
 
 
Panel Chair: 
Councillor Mohammed Abdus Salique (Labour)  
 
Panel Members: 
Councillor Marc Francis – Vice Chair (Labour) 
Councillor Mohammed Shahid Ali (Labour) 
Councillor Ann Jackson (Labour) 
Councillor Lutfa Begum (Respect) 
Councillor Timothy O’Flaherty (Liberal Democrat) 
Councillor Emma Jones (Conservative) 
Councillor Ahmed Hussain (Deputising for Cllr Lutfa Begum) 
 
Co-opted Panel Members 
Kathleen Banks, Chair, Barts and the London NHS Trust Patient and Public Involvement  
Forum    
Nuruz Jaman, Vice-Chair, Tower Hamlets PCT Patient and Public Involvement Forum 
John Lee, Vice-Chair, East London and City Mental Health Trust Patient and Public 
Involvement Forum 
 
London Borough of Tower Hamlets: 
Natalie Parish – Service Head, Strategy Commissioning and Partnerships 
Michael Keating, Service Head, Scrutiny and Equalities 
Sue Ritchie, Consultation and Involvement Manager 
Margot Fonseca – Policy and Research Manager, Adult Services 
 
Scrutiny Policy Officers 
Afazul Hoque, Scrutiny Policy Officer  
Alan Steward, Scrutiny Policy Manager 
 
External  

 
Tower Hamlets Primary Care Trust 
Andrew Ridley – Director of Primary and Community Care Commissioning 
Vivienne Cencora - Associate Director Primary and Community Care Commissioning 
John Wardell – Associate Director Primary and Community Care Commissioning 
Ursula Bennett – Head of Dentistry  
 
Social Action for Health 
Shabira Papin – Project Manager Health Guides 
 
Women’s Health & Family Services  
Joyce Grandison – Project Co-ordinator 
 
Shaw Trust 
Ed Baptist – Facilitator  

Page 113



DRAFT 

 - 4 - 

Chair’s foreword 
 
 
The Health Scrutiny Panel has started work on developing a four-year work programme. The 
Induction Sessions held at the beginning of the year provided the Panel with a framework for 
understanding the current health needs and priority for Tower Hamlets. 
 
Health Inequalities has emerged as the key theme for the Panel’s work over the next four 
years. This is already a key priority for the Council and its partners. In tackling health 
inequalities three areas of importance have emerged which are health promotion and 
prevention, integration and partnership and access to services. 
 
As a starting point the Panel have decided to undertake a piece of work looking at how our 
residents access health services, specifically GP and Dental Services. Helping to address this 
would provide a useful step to challenging local inequality and also help the Panel develop  
a better understanding of how local needs are currently addressed and how, or if, its work can 
help improve access.  It will also then enable the Panel to go on to focus on the three health 
issues identified in the Induction Session, which were mental health, smoking and heart 
disease.  
 
The Panel conducted a wide-ranging review over five months; it consulted a number of key 
stakeholders and gathered evidence through a variety of consultation and engagement 
methods. These sessions were very stimulating, generated lots of good comment and 
suggestions and I want to thank all those who participated or provided their written comments.  
 
Improving the health of local people is not the responsibility of one agency, it's something that 
many different organisations can contribute to. We hope that our findings will be seen as the 
responsibility of all our partners and our recommendations are implemented.  
 
Finally I would like to thank all the officers from Tower Hamlets Primary Care Trust and the 
Council for their continued support throughout the course of the review.  
 
 
 
 
Cllr Mohammed Abdus Salique 
Chair 
Health Scrutiny Panel 
 
 
 

Page 114



DRAFT 

 - 5 - 

Chapter 1 - Introduction 

 
Background 
 
1. In September 2006 the Health Scrutiny Panel agreed its work programme for 2006/07 

with a focus on health inequalities and to consider possible solutions and ensure all 
residents are able to access health services as they require. The Health Scrutiny Panel 
through its induction programme identified a number of potential areas of work. A key 
theme that  emerged is to address health inequalities in the borough. Tackling health 
inequalities means access to health services needs to be improved. This piece of work 
would help the Panel develop a better understanding of how local needs are currently 
addressed and how, its work can help improve residents needs. It would also then 
enable the Panel to go on to focus on the three health issues identified in the Induction 
Session which included smoking, heart disease and mental health. In turn, this can also 
draw on work which has been carried out in other boroughs. For example, Newham 
Council has undertaken a wide ranging review of mental health services.  

 
2. To understand how local residents experience the health service, the Panel agreed to 

look at how our residents access GP and Dentistry Services because of the belief that 
some of our residents are not accessing the appropriate form of services with 
consequent effects. Helping to address this would provide a useful first step to 
challenging local inequality. The new role of the Primary Care Trust (PCT) as the main 
commissioner for services from the Bart's and the London NHS Trust also highlighted 
how organisational changes could impact on this issue.  

 
3. Access to high-quality primary health care has a vital role in helping people to live longer 

and healthier lives. Integration of these services with other community and social care 
services helps to ensure better co-ordinated support and care for each individual, better 
management of chronic disease, and reduced need for costly and avoidable hospital 
care. General practice remains best placed to offer patients their usual point of contact 
for routine and continuing care, and to help patients to navigate other parts of the system. 

 
4. The Panel agreed the aim of the review was to consider access and availability of local 

NHS GP and Dental Services, and to evaluate how this affects health inequalities in 
Tower Hamlets. The Panel agreed the following objectives: 

 

• To gain an understanding of the distribution of services across the borough; 

• To assess issues around physical access including waiting times; 

• To assess the effectiveness of the hours of operation, out of hours arrangements and 
management of appointment systems; 

• To develop knowledge of the role of GPs and Dentists in helping patients access 
other parts of the NHS; 

• To gain an understanding of how different groups within the local population access 
services; 

• To assess the quality of service being accessed; 

• To gain an understanding of users perspective of GP and dental services; 

• To draw together the evidence and identify gaps and improvement; 

• To use information from the review for further work of the Panel. 
 
 
 

Page 115



DRAFT 

 - 6 - 

5. The Panel's work programme is outlined below: 
 

Stage 1 
(Nov 06) 

• Consideration of national and local policies; 

• Consideration of data on GP / Dentist numbers; 

• Consideration of Performance data; 

• Health and Well Being Strategy; 

• Oral Health Strategy. 
Stage 2 
(Dec 06 - Feb 07) 

• Visits to GP , Dentist and Mobile Dental Unit 

• Staff and patients views 
Stage 3 
(Feb 07) 

• Roundtable discussion with PPI Forum Members; 

• Written evidence from community organisations 

• GPAQ Survey Analysis 
Stage 4 
(Apr 07) 

• Draft report and consultation 

 
6. GPs still remain the main health professional residents would consult for advice on minor 

ailments and medicines with 59% of respondents in the Annual Residents Survey 2006. 
Concerns about the quality of health services in LAP 3 where there was a dramatic rise, 
due to the retirement of the GP, have been considered by the Living Well Community 
Plan Action Group (CPAG) and the Health Scrutiny Panel. Tower Hamlets PCT has 
outlined its proposal to develop a new health centre in Ryan Yard and move services 
from the current centre. This has been welcomed by the Health Scrutiny Panel as a 
positive step to improving quality of service and increase types of services that would be 
available to residents. The Panel also heard about a Patients Forum that had been set up 
to engage patients in the service development at this centre. Since then. the clinical 
indicators of care are much improved for these patients. They receive better care of their 
long- term conditions and, better prescribing of more appropriate drugs. They now have 
access to more staff, more services and a brand new building 

 
7. An area of key concern is around oral health and the level of dental decay in young 

children. There has been a fall in dental decay since 2003 with the exception of Local 
Area Partnership (LAP) 7. The London rate in 2003 was 33.5% in comparison Tower 
Hamlets lowest rate in LAP 8 was 39.45 rising to 51.6% in LAP 7. The Graph below 
illustrates the level of decay within the borough. 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
Source: THIS Borough - 2005 

 

Page 116



DRAFT 

 - 7 - 

Chapter 2 – The National Policy Context 

 
GP Services 
 
8. The White Paper ‘Our Health, Our Care, Our Say: a new direction for community 

services’ supports greater personalisation of both health and social care services. It 
emphasises the importance of access to GP and other services, the provision of greater 
diversity in service provision and improvements in the supply of up to date and 
accessible information to help people play a greater role in self-care and in exercising 
choice of services.  

 
9. A key theme of the White Paper is personal and responsive health and social care 

services that reflect people’s needs and wishes – more personalised care, information 
and support that is convenient to patients and users. This includes more convenient 
opening hours at primary care centres, new locations for GPs and more NHS Walk-in 
Centres. A further key theme is around tackling inequalities and increased partnership 
working.  

 
10. Primary medical care delivery and the range of primary care services are changing. 

Primary care can be provided in a wide range of settings including Walk-In Centres, 
Pharmacies and Accident and Emergency Departments. In addition, Practice Based 
Commissioning has provided a powerful mechanism to achieve greater clinical and public 
involvement in the planning and commissioning of services that are responsive to 
individual and community needs.  

 
11. The ‘Choosing Health’ White Paper sets out how people can change their lifestyles to 

improve their health and reduce the risk of ill-health. The White Paper was the focus of a 
Scrutiny Review last year which used obesity as a case study.  

 
Dental Services 
 
12. A new Dental Contract was introduced on 1st April 2006 with the intention of providing 

better access for all too high quality services whilst introducing a new charging system. It 
changed the previous fee per item system, where dentists’ remuneration was based on 
each individual treatment. The maximum fee for a single course of NHS treatment was 
£384. 

 
13. From 1st April 2006 the maximum charge for a complex course of treatment was reduced 

to £189 with the introduction of a simplified charging regime for NHS dental treatment. 
The key points of the new contractual arrangements include patients no longer need to 
register with a dental practice, 3 standard charges for NHS treatment ranging from 
£15.50 to £189 with the amount paid depending on the treatment needed. From 1st April 
2007 there has been a slight increase to the 3 band of charges rising £15.90 to £194. 

 
14. Dentists are no longer monitored on fee per item, but on points per band system instead. 

The points have been named Units of Dental Activity (UDA) and the band is the new 
patient charges scheme. Whole courses of treatment are weighted according to their 
overall complexity and a UDA score is assigned to the course. Therefore a patient could 
receive a number of different treatments in one visit with the dentist being paid one single 
fee for the whole course of treatment.  UDA make up the overall activity level required by 
an individual dental contractor in return for an agreed annual contract value, to be agreed 
between the dentist and the primary care trust.  

Page 117



DRAFT 

 - 8 - 

 
15. There are some concerns that the new dental contract does not incentivise dentists to 

take on patients with complex and high treatment needs, e.g. crowns, bridges, 
endodontics (treatment of gum disease). This clearly represents a risk of increased 
inequalities. 

 

Chapter 3 – Local Policy Context 

 
 

GP Services 

16. Access to GP Services is a high strategic priority within Tower Hamlets PCT. It is 
accepted that to reduce health inequalities that exists within the borough access to 
services must be improved. The Living Well CPAG has also placed reducing health 
inequalities as a key priority for the borough.  

 
17. Improving access is a challenging agenda due to the growth and transit nature of the 

local population. Furthermore, population in Tower Hamlets is set to increase faster than 
the rest of London between now and 2011. Local residents have also reported concerns 
about accessing services. Demand for services in Tower Hamlets is twice the national 
average; this places additional pressure on the service. In September 2006 the 
registered practice population was 234,000 within the 37 practices in the borough. The 
current access targets are that patients should be able to obtain an appointment with a 
GP within 48 hours and with a Primary Care Professional within 24 hours.  

 
18. Tower Hamlets Primary Care Trust has introduced a number of initiatives to improve 

access. This includes Salary GP Scheme to recruit more GPs, Demand and Capacity 
mapping to identify the demand and availability of appointments over the week. It was 
noted that some practices in Tower Hamlets see an average 10% of their practice list 
size per week compared to 6% nationally. Other initiatives include Doctor and Nurse led 
telephone triage and a pilot text messaging scheme.  

 
19. A key initiative is around extending opening hours with an increase in 32,000 

appointments. This has proved to be extremely popular with patients and Members of the 
Panel saw this when they visited Stepney Medical Practice during its extended opening 
hours on a Thursday evening. This scheme has been funded by both the Primary Care 
Trust and the Neighbourhood Renewal Fund. The redevelopment of existing premises 
and investment in 10 new Health Centres are also a major initiative to improve access. 
These will lead to both increase in service and also improvements to the quality of 
service. The development of the Health Centres is also a performance indicator in the 
Local Area Agreement. A further initiative has been the Pharmacy First scheme which 
enables residents to consult their Pharmacists for basic health advice. This has proved to 
be very successful and has seen a steady increase in users, promoting both external 
and internal team members such as practice nurses, health visitors, pharmacists, 
benefits advisors as more appropriate alternatives.   

 
20. Other issues identified by the PCT relating to access include patient education which was 

an important issue raised by heath care professionals and will be discussed in more 
detail later. Also appropriateness of attendance, patient expectations, self management, 
frequent attendees, DNA Rates, Information and promoting both internal and external 

Page 118



DRAFT 

 - 9 - 

team members such as practice nurses, health visitors, pharmacists and benefits 
advisors as more appropriate alternative. 

 
21. Urgent care is provided to patients through the out of hours services from general 

practices and also through the Whitechapel Walk-in Centre and Canary Wharf Walk-in 
Centre and the Accident and Emergency Department at Whitechapel Hospital. The Panel 
held brief discussions about the appropriate use of these facilities and noted that in some 
cases patients were using these facilities as an alterative to GP services and patient 
education needed to be improved around the use of these facilities.  

 
 
Health and Well being Strategy 
 
22 The Health and Well Being Strategy outlines proposals for the future development of 

primary and community care services in Tower Hamlets until 2016. The strategy sets out 
an ambitious programme for developing services across the Council and local NHS to 
improve the health and well being of the local community. It builds on the Community 
Plan and has been produced after consultation with local people. A key vision of this 
strategy is that by 2016 primary care services in Tower Hamlets will be the best in the 
country and this will be recognised by local people. There are a number of principles 
which guide decisions about developing services and investing resources.  

 
23. There are a number of key strategic outcomes which have been used to develop longer 

term indicators to achieve the vision and principles of the strategy. The outcomes are 
listed below; 

 

• Reduce inequalities in health and well-being; 

• Improve the experience of people who use services; 

• Develop excellent, integrated and more localised services; 

• Promoting independence, choice and control by service users; 

• Invest resources effectively.  
 
24. Under the outcome of improving the experience of people who use services there are a 

number of indicators which relate to improving access to services. Long term indicators 
have been set for the 10-year period until 2016; with short term priorities selected for 
development over the 3 years until 2009. For short term indicators it includes increased 
capacity in primary care by expanding existing practises and commissioning new ones 
including the development of ten new centres and mainstream NRF extended opening 
hours project. They include 100% extended opening hours and exceeding the national 
average for health care professionals to patients ratio, for long term indicators.  

 
Dental Services 
 
25. As of 1st April 2006 budget for dental services have been devolved to Tower Hamlets 

Primary Care Trust. Dental Care services are provided from 36 sites in the borough and 
include contractor, specialist and Trust site. In addition the Trust manages the Mobile 
Dental Units which operate in different parts of the borough. Out of hours and emergency 
services is provided from the Royal London Hospital Dental Clinic.  

 
26. From the data below the Panel noted that dental sites are unequally distributed across 

the borough. Unlike GPs patients can go to a dentist in any area. The national 
percentage of patients who visit dentists is 60% in comparison to 22% in Tower Hamlets. 
The data below covers April 2006 to June 2006. The table also shows that although the 

Page 119



DRAFT 

 - 10 - 

distribution of dental practices across LAP areas is uneven, this does not necessarily 
correlate with the proportion of residents in each LAP area who visit a dentist. 23% of 
residents of each of LAPs 2,3 and 5 visit a dentist; yet the number of dental practices 
located in these areas is very different.  

 
LAP 1 

 
2 3 4 5 6 7 8 

Dentists 7 
 

3 6 1 1 0 5 4 

% who 
visit 
Dentists 

24 23 23 18 23 22 26 18 

 
27. There are limited data available about adults’ oral health but is expected to be poor with 

links to poor nutrition, smoking, paan and tobacco chewing. There are data available for 
5 year olds which indicate that at least 50% of all children have had experience of dental 
decay with at least 5 decayed teeth most of which is untreated. It is an accepted belief 
that levels of disease in 5-year-old children can be used as marker for disease levels in 
the adult population. Hence, in areas where 5 year-olds have a lot of decay, adults are 
likely to also have high levels of disease. A 2003 MORI poll found that some of the 
reasons why people did not attend an NHS dentist was because they could not find an 
NHS Dentist, no current oral health problem, poor previous experience, fear and 
inconvenient opening hours. Studies have also shown that an important reason why 
people do not access dental services particularly in deprived areas with multi-ethnic 
communities is due to low perception of need.  

 
Oral Health Strategy for Tower Hamlets 2006-2009 
 
28. From the reform of NHS dentistry Tower Hamlets PCT has produced an Oral Health 

Strategy which sets out a programme of work to put modernisation of dentistry on a firm 
footing locally during the period 2006-2009. The aims of this strategy fit with the aims of 
the Improving Health and Well-Being Strategy. The Strategy sets out the key oral health 
priorities under five key themes of the Health and Well-Being Strategy as set out in 
paragraph 24.  

 
29. The Strategy recognises that there are significant inequalities in disease levels and that 

oral health shares risk factors with a range of other chronic diseases. It is therefore 
important to take a generic approach to health promotion and preventative activities. 
Tower Hamlets PCT has already taken the innovative step of transferring its oral health 
promotion team to the Directorate of Public Health and Health Improvement. This 
facilitates joint working on shared risk factors. There are also inequalities in access to 
services with only 30% of children and 28% of adults in Tower Hamlets attending high 
street practices regularly.  The PCT has been working closely with a network of local 
organisations and regeneration initiatives to jointly plan initiatives around improving 
access to dental care and the spread of appropriate information. The main example of 
this work is the Award winning ‘Community Dental Access Project’ which uses mobile 
dental surgeries travelling around the borough, to offer screening and/or treatment 
services in the LAP areas.  

 
30. The distribution of dentists per head of population is one of many factors affecting access 

to dental care. At present the distribution of dentists per head of population is unequal 
across the borough with some areas having plenty of dentists and other areas none at all 
– e.g. Whitechapel has one dentist for approximately every 1,000 people in comparison 

Page 120



DRAFT 

 - 11 - 

in St Dunstan’s’ and Stepney Green, Shadwell and St Katherine’s and Wapping where 
there is a ratio of one dentist for more than 30,000 people. The PCT will consider ways to 
redistribute service capacity, bearing in mind additional factors such as impact of 
population growth and the number of practice owners nearing retirement age.  

 
31. Appendix 1 provides a summary of the key priorities for action in the next three years and 

includes many of the issues identified by the Panel such as oral health promotion and 
improvement to premises.  

 
Improving Access to Dental Care in East London 
 
32. Professor Ray Croucher and Ratna Sohanpal from Queen Mary’s School of Medicine 

and Dentistry undertook a study to identify barriers to the uptake of primary dental care 
in East London and report ideas to improve access to primary dental care. The 
methodology was a qualitative study using 68 volunteers aged 18-40 years from the 
Bangladeshi, Indian, Black Caribbean communities and general adult.  

 
33. The key findings were around three inter-related themes which influenced views on 

access: the structure of primary dental care, cost and anxiety. There was little evidence 
of differences in barriers to access based on ethnicity alone, reflecting the role of 
factors such as social class. Adult volunteers with young families enabled a wider 
perspective on barriers to access to be achieved, particularly the impact of cost on 
family budgets. Areas for improvement included outreach activity and improved 
communication between dental services and other primary care services.  

 
 
Conclusions 
 

35. The Panel concluded that despite the various initiatives of Tower Hamlets PCT, access 
to GPs and Dentists still remains a key concern of local people. The Panel 
acknowledges that some of the initiatives have had a very positive impact on residents 
and this includes the Pharmacy First and extended opening hours scheme.  

 
36. The development of the Health and Well Being Strategy has provided a framework for 

the Council and its partners to work towards a long-term improvement in local health 
services. The Panel fully supports the aims and objectives of the Strategy and feels that 
it has identified many of the concerns of local people. The Action Plan sets out a clear 
timetable for achievement of key targets. The Panel is keen to ensure that monitoring 
reports for the action plan are brought to future meetings of the Health Scrutiny Panel. 

 
37. The Panel was surprised at the lack of data on oral health for residents other than 

children. The Panel felt that it is important to gather some data to help in the planning, 
delivery and monitoring of services. The use of schools and GPs to gather data should 
be explored.  

 
38. The geographical distribution of Dentists within the borough was of key concern to the 

Panel. This has been highlighted to the Panel through surveys undertaken as well as 
during the Panel’s visits. The Panel acknowledges that many of the new developments 
of Health Centres would include a dental practice within this and PCT was looking at the 
relocation of some of the practices as part of its Capital Investment Strategy.  

 
39. The Panel also welcomed the commitment outlined in the Oral Health Strategy. The 

dental service being under the control of PCT would help better manage oral health 

Page 121



DRAFT 

 - 12 - 

locally. However, the Panel were keen to see how the good practice and performance 
from around the country- particularly area that face similar issues with low take-up of 
dental services and high inequalities – informed the development of the Oral health 
Strategy. The Panel were also concerned at the impact of the new contract and at the 
time of the review there was insufficient data available to establish this. The Panel asks 
that the PCT closely monitor this to ensure that the new charging system does not have 
a negative impact on local people.  

 

Chapter 4 – What Local People Think About Access to GPs and Dentists 

 
 
Introduction 

40. In undertaking the review the Panel consulted a number of groups to ascertain the views 
of local people about accessing primary care services. This included the borough’s three 
PPI Forums, community organisations, patients, and the Tower Hamlets Access Group. 
In this section we outline some of the concerns of local people. A key source of evidence 
was the Tower Hamlets General Practice Assessment Questionnaire (GPAQ) 2006 
Analysis. 

 
41. The Department of Health is also undertaking a national survey to ascertain the views of 

patients. The GP patient survey: your doctor, your experience, your say has been 
developed as a result of a commitment made in the White Paper Our health, our care, 
our say; a new direction for community services. The survey has been developed to act 
as nationally consistent tool for eliciting patients’ views on primary care services at 
practice level. The Survey focuses on patients’ experience of access and the results will 
be used by primary care trusts to reward general practices on the basis of their patients’ 
experiences of consulting a GP. A questionnaire was sent to randomly selected patients 
during January 2007 and reminder letters sent during February and March. The results 
of the survey are expected to be published after 31st May 2007. The Panel is keen to 
see if the results of this survey are similar to the concerns raised in this review.  

 
42. The Scrutiny Policy Team sent out the terms of review along with some questions to a 

number of community organisations. Two organisations working closely with residents 
on accessing health services have provided responses and these are discussed in more 
detail in paragraphs below. The Panel also considered reports from the Tower Hamlets 
Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS).  

 
43. The Panel also held a meeting with Bart’s and London PPI Forum, Tower Hamlets 

Primary Care PPI Forum and East London and the City Mental Health PPI Forum. A 
Member of the Panel also attended a meeting of the Tower Hamlets Access Group. The 
visits to GP and Dental Practice also enabled the Panel to elicit the views of health care 
professionals.  

 
Tower Hamlets GPAQ 2006/07 Analysis 
 

44. The GPAQ has been developed at the National Primary Care Research and 
Development Centre in Manchester for the new GP contract. GPAQ focuses on access, 
inter-personal aspects of care, and continuity of care.  

 

Page 122



DRAFT 

 - 13 - 

45. The Survey questionnaire was sent to patients after they had been for a consultation at 
36 Practices. Over 4,903 forms were returned. 62.2% of respondents were female 
although they make up only 50% of the general population in Tower Hamlets and the 
average age of respondents was 41.5 compared to the average for Tower Hamlets 
which is 31.8. The table below shows the ethnicity of respondents which is fairly 
reflective of the population as per the Tower Hamlets 2001 Census. 

 
46. The GPAQ survey used in the PCT is the version used following a consultation (rather 

than the postal version). Respondents are more likely to be those who consult with their 
GP more frequently than others, e.g. those with long-term conditions and women. 

 
Ethnic Group Survey Respondents Tower Hamlets (2001 

census) 
 

White 
 

51.1% 51.4% 

Black or Black British 
 

8.4% 6.5% 

Asian or Asian British 
 

32.0% 36.6% 

Mixed 
 

3.0% 2.5% 

Chinese & Other ethnic 
group 
 

5.5% 3.0% 

 
 
Analysis of Results 
 

47. The results have been analysed into three main categories which are access to 
practices, GP consultation and overall satisfaction rating.  For access to practices Tower 
Hamlets average was broadly similar to the GPAQ average for questions relating to 
satisfaction with receptionists, phoning through to practice and phoning through to 
doctor for advice. Although the average is broadly similar there remain more then half of 
the practices which are below the Tower Hamlets as well as GPAQ average. A further 
concern was particular practices were scoring very highly on all the questions and some 
were scoring very low on all the questions. 

 
48. The Tower Hamlets average was lower than the GPAQ average for questions relating to 

satisfaction with opening hours, availability of particular doctor, and availability of any 
doctor, waiting times at practice and with continuity of care. These issues have 
highlighted some of the concerns patients have raised about access. With regard to 
opening times 28.5% of respondents have requested additional opening hours during 
weekends. In 2006/07 76.6% respondents waited 20 minutes or less for their 
appointment an increase of 2.7% points from 2005/06.  

 
49. The above analysis and the composite overall satisfaction found that there are a number 

of GP practices within the borough which are scoring very highly on all the questions 
asked and also there are a number of practices which are scoring very low on all the 
questions. It is obvious from this analysis and a discussion the Panel held with the PPI 
Forum more work was needed to be undertaken with those practices that were 
performing badly on all the questions.  

 

Page 123



DRAFT 

 - 14 - 

50. The customer service aspect and the availability of an appointment are key access 
factors which the PCT needs to consider. The Panel hoped that the analysis of the 
results would help develop services in the poor scoring practices and lessons can be 
learnt from the practices performing highly.  

 
Discussion with Patients 
 

51. During the  visit to a GP, Dentist and the Mobile Dental Unit the Panel had brief 
discussions with patients. In regards to GPs some of the concerns raised about 
accessing GP were highlighted by patients. There were more obvious physical access 
issues raised during the Panel’s visit to the Mobile Dental Unit. The Panel met a 
disabled user who had raised concerns about the lack of physically accessible dentists 
within the borough and although the Mobile Dental Unit existed this was not publicised 
or widely know by GPs.  

 
52. The Panel also saw the physical access issue during their visit to a Dental Practice 

which was on the first floor with very steep and narrow stairs. Although the staff at the 
practice helped some patients to get up and down the stairs, many residents would not 
be able to access this practice.  

 
Tower Hamlets PPI Forums 
 
53. In February 2007 the Panel held a meeting with joint PPI Forum for Tower Hamlets. It 

was a well attended meeting with 12 Forum Members in attendance as well as the Trust 
PPI Forum Liaisons Officers. This was a roundtable discussion mainly focused on 
issues patients have raised with Forum Members about accessing primary care 
services.  

 
54. A key point of discussion was around the results of the 2006/07 GPAQ Survey. The 

Forum Members highlighted the huge inequalities that existed within the practices in the 
borough and also where PCT intervention has resulted in service improvement as well 
as better engagement with patients. The St Paul’s Way Practice was highlighted as an 
example where a patient forum had been set up as a result of concerns from patients.  

 
55. Forum Members also expressed concerns about trying to phone GPs between 8.30am 

and 9.30am to book an appointment. Many patients found it impossible to get through 
to the GP during this time and many of the appointments were taken once they get 
through.  

 
56. A further area of concern for patients was regarding the role of reception staff booking 

appointments. It was noted that in some practices reception staff would ask about the 
nature of their problem before deciding whether or not to offer them an appointment. It 
was queried whether these staff were qualified or had received adequate training to be 
able to make such important decisions. Some Forum Members felt this practice needed 
to be stopped as patients were being put in danger.  

 
57. There were also issues raised about equal treatment of patients and the problems 

language barriers can cause in accessing services. Furthermore, information for 
patients needed to be improved. This is a role which should include all the key partners 
including the use of East End Life.      

 
58. The PCT has contracts with 27 separate dental practices in Tower Hamlets to provide 

NHS dental care.  For Dental Services concerns were raised about the geographical 

Page 124



DRAFT 

 - 15 - 

locations of dental practices as they were unevenly distributed across the borough. 
There are a lot private dental practices with few willing to take on NHS patients. The 
cost of dental services was still unclear and patient education needed to be improved 
around this. The Forum Members highlighted the very positive comments that were put 
forward about the Mobile Dental Unit.  

 
Tower Hamlets Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) 
 
59. Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) are central to the new system of patient and 

public involvement.  This is a customer care service which provides advice and 
information about local NHS services to help patients, their families, carers, and health 
professionals. PALS help resolve concerns that people may have with NHS services. 
They talk to patients and to departments and general practices to see what can be done 
to help. They work closely and liaise with other agencies and Barts and the London 
PALS to ensure a seamless service for users and staff. 

 
60. Approximately 70% of all cases presented to Tower Hamlets PCT PALS are related to 

access. The key themes are around lack of communication and poor communication. 
This included appointments being arranged for patients without notifying patients and 
also staff not being aware of appointments made for them with patients. As a 
consequence patients are attending clinics where the health professional is absent or 
patients have to wait unnecessary and unreasonable length of time to see the health 
professional. 

 
61. A major issue highlighted by patients is the ability to make an appointment with a GP 

within a few days. Many practices operate a system where they book appointments on 
a 48-hour schedule and therefore patients are not able to book appointments beyond 2 
days in advance. As a result of this system patients are repeatedly asked to ting back. 
When patients call back they are told that all the available appointments have been 
booked and patients are asked to ring back. With many patients this pattern is repeated 
and can take several weeks before a patient can be successful in obtaining an 
appointment with a GP.  

 
62. The Panel found this evidence from PALS to be very consistent with some of the issues 

local residents have raised with Councillors. The Panel noted that in many instances 
the interventions of PALS have helped reduce patient anxiety and also improve service 
provided to patients.  

 
 
Tower Hamlets Access Group 
 
63. Tower Hamlets Access Group advises and consults on all access issues relating to the 

built environment, street environment and Council policies and services. The Group is a 
key Council consultation body and represents disabled residents and service users who 
have a wide range of physical, sensory and mental health impairments. 

 
64. Councillor Ann Jackson attended a meeting of the Access Group in March 2007. The 

Group were asked three specific questions and their response is provided below: 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 125



DRAFT 

 - 16 - 

 
What are the 3 key physical 
barriers do you think local 
disabled experience when 
accessing their doctors? 

What are the 3 key customer 
services related barriers do 
you think local disabled 
people experience when 
visiting their doctor or dentist? 

What are 3 key things that 
could improve access to your 
doctor and dentist for local 
disabled people? 
 
 

Transport  to surgeries 
 

Refused service at nearest 
GP surgery 

Disabled residents should be 
referred to Mobile Dental Unit 

Height of reception counters 
 

Lack of understanding by 
receptionist of patients needs 

Greater publicity of GP and 
Dental Services 

Equipment used in dental 
rooms 
 

No assistance to patients with 
needs 

Staff training around disabled 
patients needs 

 GPs resistant to treat 
disabled patients with 
neurological conditions  

 

 Lack of information to patients  
 

 

 
65. The Panel noted the concerns of the group and believed that basic changes such as 

staff training around disabled patients needs, better information for patients and the 
location and design of new practices could make a significant contribution to the service 
level experienced by disabled patients.  

 
Social Action for Health 
 
66. Social Action for Health is a community development organisation that works with local 

people to address issues that affects their health and well-being. A key project the 
organisation runs is the Health Guides Project. Health Guides are local lay people from 
marginalised communities who are trained to run community sessions with groups of 
local people held in community settings and conducted in their ‘mother tongue’ to 
facilitate own-language access to information. 

 
67. During October to December 2006 Health Guides held a number of sessions with 

approximately 85 people from the Bengali and Somali Community in Tower Hamlets. 
The issues local people raised around accessing GPs included difficulty getting through 
to GP by phone, lack of translation facilities and lack of understanding or sympathy by 
GPs toward patients needs. There were concerns also raised about reception staff who 
residents felt were ‘rude, disrespectful and unhelpful’.  

 
68. The issues around dental care included local people not being aware of the pricing 

bands and the difference between the different dental practices. There is a high 
percentage of fear around attending dentists, but mostly there is a lack of priority given 
to dental care because of other chronic illnesses they are trying to manage. Most of the 
people who had attended these sessions had not heard of the mobile dental units.  

 
69. The Panel noted that many of concerns raised through these sessions are similar to 

those raised by patients and PPI Forum Members. This demonstrated to the Panel 
some of the barriers to BME communities gaining access to GP and Dentistry Services.  

 
 
 

Page 126



DRAFT 

 - 17 - 

Women’s Health and Family Services 
 
70. Women’s Health and Family Services is a multi-ethnic advocacy organisation that aims 

to address the unmet health and welfare needs of minority ethnic women and their 
families. The organisation runs a number of projects ranging from maternity services to 
diabetes project.  

 
71. The Project Co-ordinator provided written submission to the Panel on the key issues 

raised with them about accessing primary care services. These were around availability 
of appointments, getting through on the phone, translation facilities and lack of 
understanding of patients needs.  

 
72. Among the areas of improvements suggested were improving appointment system, 

evening and weekend services to be available, staff training and improved 
communication between GP and patients. The Panel noted that these concerns are 
similar to those already raised.  

 
Health Care Professionals Views 
 
73. The Panel’s visit to a GP and Dental Practice gave them an opportunity to discuss the 

key challenges facing staff in improving access. A key issue that was drawn to the 
Panel’s attention was ‘Patient Education’. This was based on the fact that many patients 
were seeking appointments for basic health problems, benefits and housing advice. This 
was putting additional pressure on the limited resources. Although most practices 
undertake work with patients about navigating their way around the health system, 
because of the mobile population these people move on and new patients come along.  

 
74. All the Health Care Professionals the Panel spoke with were very keen to ensure that all 

local agencies take responsibilities for educating residents about accessing health care 
facilities. The role of the Council was discussed including the use of Councillors and the 
Council’s newspaper East End Life. 

 
75. The increasing population of the borough was also putting additional pressure on the 

services. The Panel’s visit to Stepney Medical Practice highlighted how the regeneration 
of this area was impacting on local health services. With the current patient list of 9,000 
and development of new homes it is expected to rise to more then 10,000. The practice 
also has an annual turnover of 1,500 patients joining and leaving. Stepney Medical 
Practice is one of the practices that are heavily engaged in one of the capital 
development schemes. The practice will be moving into a new building June 2008 and 
will have the capacity to increase their list size to 10,000 

 
76. Resource implications were also drawn to the Panel’s attention. The funding for the 

extended opening hours scheme was for a limited period only and this would have a 
huge impact on the practices once this scheme finished. The Panel noted that this was 
one of the targets of the Health and Well being Strategy and by 2016 all practices would 
have extended opening hours. The Panel is keen to ensure that practices with high 
demand are still funded for extended opening hours.  

 
77. The Panel explored the possibility of using the Mobile Dental Unit at schools to improve 

the uptake of dental services. The Panel felt that this would be an extremely useful way 
of encouraging parents and kids to have their teeth checked and then refer patients onto 
a dental practice.  

 

Page 127



DRAFT 

 - 18 - 

Conclusions 
 
78. The Health Scrutiny Panel found the results from the GPAQ Survey very useful. The 

Panel is keen to see if these results are similar to the survey undertaken by MORI on 
behalf of the Department of Health. The Panel noted that although there were some 
areas where Tower Hamlets practices were scoring near to the GPAQ average, there 
were a number of practices that were scoring very poorly. 

 
79. The Panel was concerned that it was the same practices that were scoring very highly 

and also the same practices that were scoring very poorly. The Panel feels that this is 
an issue the PCT needs to look at urgently and ensure the systems of the better scoring 
practices are shared with those scoring poorly.  

 
80. Information about new services and initiatives need to be sent more widely to Health 

Care Professionals. The rota for the Mobile Dental Unit needs to be sent to all GPs and 
other organisations working with disabled people.  

 
81. The Panel noted that patient engagement was the key way forward in improving 

services. The establishment of a Patients Forum in St Paul’s Way has alleviated many 
of the patients concerns as they are now able to feed into the planning and delivery of 
services. The Panel suggests that the PCT works closely with all the practices to 
improve patient engagement in service planning and delivery.  

 
82. The role of reception staff in determining whether or not to offer patients appointments 

was raised with the Panel. The Panel feels that although this practice may help reduce 
some of the ‘unnecessary’ appointments with GPs, it would also risk patients who may 
have serious conditions but cannot communicate this to staff. The Panel suggests that 
patients should be able to at least speak to a Health Care Professional before a 
decision is made on whether or not to offer them an appointment.  

 
83. The role of the Council and its partners in educating patients and providing information 

was also highlighted to the Panel. Information about how to find a GP / Dental Practice 
or the location of the Mobile Dental Unit needs to be widely publicised and shared with 
community organisations. The use of East End Life to publicise these information has 
been widely discussed and the Panel has discussed this with Council Media Officers 
who are also keen to develop this. 

 
84. The Panel noted that staff training around various aspects needs to be improved. In 

particular customer services, how to deal with disabled and BME patients and basic 
medical knowledge needs to be considered. Receptionists as the first point of contact 
for sometime very concerned residents need to be able to be polite, calm and 
reassuring. 

 
85. The Panel suggest that all disabled patients should be offered the option to be referred 

to the Mobile Dental Unit. This is an extremely popular service with local people and 
would provide extremely useful convenient service for disabled users.  

 
86. The Panel noted that many of concerns of patients highlighted by the various groups 

are very similar. These include allocation of appointment, getting through on the phone, 
advocacy services and lack of understanding of patients needs. The Panel suggests 
that the PCT focus on these issues as a priority in their service development.  

 
 

Page 128



DRAFT 

 - 19 - 

Chapter 5 – Conclusions and Recommendations 

 
 
87. This section draws the key findings of the review together and makes a number of 

recommendations that we feel will contribute to improving local access for primary care 
services.  

 
88.  Tower Hamlets residents experience more ill health and higher rates of death from 

diseases such as cancer, heart, circulatory and respiratory disease, than other areas of 
the country. Thirteen of the 17 wards have life expectancy significantly below the 
England average, and none have life expectancy significantly above. Health inequalities 
within the borough are rife and addressing this is a key priority for the Council and its 
partners. The need and subsequent demand for health care in Tower Hamlets is high 
and this makes access to limited primary care services all the more important. 

 
89. The White Paper ‘Our Health, Our Care, Our Say: a new direction for community 

services’ will shape much of the policy in relation to Access to GP and Dentistry 
Services. The ‘Choosing Health’ White Paper also encourages people to change their 
lifestyles to improve their health and reduce the risk of ill-health. The introduction of the 
new dental contract will also impact on future access to dental services.  

 
90. The Health and Well Being Strategy and the Oral Health Strategy will provide the 

context within which services are developed and delivered over the next 10 years in 
Tower Hamlets. This sets out an ambitious plan not only to improve access to services 
but also improve the quality of service making it one of the best primary care services in 
the country.  

 
91. GP and Dental practices need good quality and accessible accommodation from where 

they can develop and expand high quality services. The proposals in the Health and 
Well Being Strategy to develop 10 new Health Centres in the borough and improve 
existing practices will help improve services and also bring a range of services together 
in particular GPs and Dentists. 

 
 
GP Services 
 
92. The doctor to patient ratio in the PCT has been recently verified at practice level and is 

1WTE (whole time equivalent) to 1685 patients, or 59.3 WTE per 100,000. This actually 
compares well to the national range of 40.6 to 83.5, an average of 57.88.The Demand 
and Capacity Mapping exercise in Tower Hamlets however, showed that Tower 
Hamlets GPs have to cope with 10% of GP patients being seen on a weekly basis in 
comparison to a national average of 6%. This means that there is still a greater burden 
upon GP practices in Tower Hamlets.   

 
93. The GPAQ survey highlighted the inequality that exists within GP practices in the 

borough. The level of inequality between the top scoring practices and poorest scoring 
practices is huge and unacceptable. With the level of health inequalities that exist within 
the borough the PCT needs to ensure that all residents of the borough are able to 
experience a good quality of service . The Panel therefore felt by sharing ideas the poor 
performing practices would be able to identify ways they could improve services.  

 
 
 

Page 129



DRAFT 

 - 20 - 

Recommendation 1 
That the PCT supports GP practices in developing a mechanism to share models of good 
practise especially so that GPs that are performing poorly work with GPs that are performing 
well. 

 
94. The Panel is also keen to see the results of the MORI survey which the Department of 

Health has commissioned and has been undertaken during the course of the review. 
This survey will provide more information about residents’ perception of local health 
services. The Panel requests that the Primary Care Trust present this information to a 
future Health Scrutiny Panel meeting. 

 

Recommendation 2 
That the PCT provide the Health Scrutiny Panel with a comparative analysis of the results of 
the ‘Your Doctor, Your Experience, Your Say’ with the General Practitioners Assessment 
Questionnaire Survey results. Furthermore, the PCT use the results of both surveys to identify 
areas of improvement and improve performance monitoring of services.  

 
95. The role of reception staff in deciding whether or not to offer an appointment was 

discussed widely and the Panel supports the view that patients should be able to speak 
to a Health Care Professional before being refused an appointment. Furthermore, 
training for reception staff needs to be improved particularly around customer services 
and patient needs especially disabled patients and those from BME communities. In 
addition the Panel felt that the PCT should look at the development of guidance for all 
staff around dealing with disabled patients.  

 

Recommendation 3 
That the PCT reviews the training and guidance provided to GPs and Dental Practice 
reception staff in particular focusing on Customer Services and understanding the needs of 
disabled and BME patients.  

 
Dental Services  
 
96. The Panel was keen that data around local people’s oral health be developed as this 

would help greatly in service planning and delivery. Although the geographical 
distribution of Dentists within the borough is very uneven, the PCT is addressing this 
through the Health and Well Being Strategy and its Capital Investment Strategy.  

 

Recommendation 4 
That the Primary Care Trust works with local schools, GDPs and community organisations to 
begin compilation of data about local peoples oral health and improve uptake of dental 
services. 

 
97. The impact of the new dental charging system is still unclear and the Panel is keen that 

the PCT monitor this closely and report any changes to the Health Scrutiny Panel. The 
new dental charging system for NHS patients has meant that dentists maybe reluctant 
to take on patients with high or complex needs. This could lead to a worsening of the 
borough’s oral health. The Panel was keen that the PCT monitors this closely and 
reports their findings to the Panel.  

 

Recommendation 5 
That the Primary Care Trust undertakes a comprehensive review of the impact of the new 
dental contract and charging system and reports the finding to the Health Scrutiny Panel. In 

Page 130



DRAFT 

 - 21 - 

particular the Trust is asked to work with Dental Practices that do not work with NHS patients 
and are currently just working with private patients.  

 
98. The Mobile Dental Unit has proved extremely popular with residents and provides a key 

way of reaching out to hard to reach communities. Furthermore, the current physical 
infrastructure of many of the Dental Practices is very challenging especially for disabled 
patients. The Panel suggests that all disabled patients should be offered the option to 
be referred to the Mobile Dental Unit especially where there are no accessible practices 
close by.  

 

Recommendation 6 
That all disabled patients without an accessible dental practice near their home be offered the 
option to be referred to the Mobile Dental Unit.  

 
99. The Panel particularly supported the idea of using the Mobile Dental Unit at schools to 

encourage patients from a young age to use dental services and feels that the PCT 
should seek additional funding to undertake this. It would also make the service more 
visible to parents and the wider community.  

 

Recommendation 7 
That the Mobile Dental Unit visits schools and local community events to make this service 
more visible and target residents from a young age. 

 
 
100. The Panel supported the commitment outlined in the Oral Health Strategy developed by 

the PCT. However, due to low registered population and uptake of dental services the 
Panel was keen to see what benchmarking exercises the PCT has undertaken in 
developing the Oral Health Strategy. In particular looking at areas which have similar 
issues such as low take up of dental services and huge health inequalities.  

 

Recommendation 8 
That the PCT reports to the Health Scrutiny Panel on how good practice and performance 
from around the country - particularly areas that face similar issues as the borough - informed 
the development of the Oral Health Strategy. 

 
 
GP and Dental Services  
 
101. The Panel found that information about Primary Care Services and in particular new 

initiatives such as Pharmacy First and the Mobile Dental Unit is not shared widely 
amongst the community. The Panel felt that the PCT needs to work more closely with 
the Council and voluntary sector to disseminate this information across the borough.  

 

Recommendation 9 
That Tower Hamlets PCT develops a major publicity campaign that explains the role of GPs, 
Dentists and other primary care professionals and also increases awareness of the availability 
of additional primary care services including Pharmacy First and the Walk-In Centres. The 
PCT should works closely with the Council and voluntary sector in undertaking this campaign. 
The Working Group suggests that East End Life is used to publicise information about how to 
join a GP and Dental Practice and also the rota for the Mobile Dental Unit.  The Mobile Dental 
Unit rota should also be provided to all GPs, Dental Practices, and community organisations 
working in the field of health as well as local Councillors. 

Page 131



DRAFT 

 - 22 - 

102. The Panel noted that patient engagement was the key to developing services that 
better meet the needs of local people. The development of the Local Involvement 
Network (LINks) and practice patient forums provide further opportunities for the 
involvement of local people. This would make the service more accountable to local 
people and would also provide opportunities to design and deliver services according to 
local needs.  

 

Recommendation 10  
That the PCT works closely with ‘LINks’ and the Health Scrutiny Panel to monitor primary care 
services including asking LINks Members to make service visits to GPs and Dental Practices.  

 
103.  Patient education was a key issue many of the Health Care Professionals raised with 

the Panel. This includes how local people navigate the health care system and how 
they make effective use of the various services available. The Panel noted that this is a 
long term issue which the Council, health partners and the local voluntary organisations 
need to work jointly on to develop. The role of Health Trainers in linking up local 
organisations with the community would be key in educating patients.  

 

Recommendation 11 
That the PCT works closely with the Council and voluntary sector to improve patient 
education. In particular using Health Trainers to link up residents with local community 
organisations, PCT and the Council.  

 
104. The Panel concluded that access to primary care services in Tower Hamlets is a key 

issue. Although the PCT and its partners have introduced a number of initiatives and 
have developed two key strategies to improve primary care services, the Panel notes 
that this will take time to materialise. The Panel feels that in order to address the issue 
of health inequalities in the borough, access to services must be improved. The Panel’s 
review has highlighted that is a long term issue which the PCT needs to continue to 
work with the Council and other partners to address. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 132



DRAFT 

 - 23 - 

Appendix 1 
 

ORAL HEALTH STRATEGY FOR TOWER HAMLETS 

PRIORITIES FOR ACTION 2006 - 2009 

The following list summarises key priority areas for action in the next 3 years: 

 

1. Establish evidence-based oral health promotion programmes, clearly integrated with 
generic health promotion activities. 

 

2. Develop an approach to access that clearly targets people who are not using 
existing services. The model of service should include the use of mobile dental 
surgeries, which can travel out to communities. These are popular with local people 
and have been shown to improve access for people not using other services. 

 

3. Ensure that information on services, treatments and costs, is widely disseminated to 
patients and that mechanisms exist in all services for patients’ views to be heard. 

 

4. Develop Clinical Governance activities in high street practices in the same way that 
these are now developed in PCT-provided services. 

 

5. Improve translation support to dental practices. 
 

6. Address gaps in service provision by bringing enough dentists into poorly served 
areas – this should involve redistribution of existing services from over-provided 
areas, as well as considering additional capacity. It should also include building 
greater flexibility into service models – for example, greater availability of evening 
and weekend appointments. 

 

7. Increase capacity in special care services, to address the wide range of needs of 
excluded groups, including expanding the provision of outreach. 

 

8. Ensure OOH dentistry fully integrated with other out-of-hours services. 
 

9. Establish Dental Outreach Teaching Centre at Barkantine. 
 

10. Ensure all health planning for local communities includes consideration of oral 
health needs. 

 

11. Develop dental specialities in the community setting. 
 

12. Recruit dental workforce, where possible, from local communities. 
 

13. Develop appropriate IT systems. 
 

14. Work to improve premises. 

Page 133



DRAFT 

 - 24 - 

Scrutiny in Tower Hamlets 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
To find out more about Scrutiny in Tower Hamlets  
 
Please contact 
 
Scrutiny Policy Team 
London Borough of Tower Hamlets 
6th Floor, Mulberry Place 
5 Clove Crescent 
London 
E14 2BG 
 
 
Tele: 020 7364 4636 
E-Mail: afazul.hoque@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
Web: www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/scrutiny 
 
 

Page 134


	Agenda
	4 UNRESTRICTED MINUTES
	5.1 Overview and Scrutiny Committee - Terms of Reference (FOR NOTING)
	5.2 Overview and Scrutiny Committee - Protocols and Guidance (FOR DECISION)
	5.3 Overview and Scrutiny Committee - Schedule of Dates (FOR NOTING)
	5.4 Membership of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee / Appointment of Six Lead Scrutiny Members / Establishment of Health Scrutiny Panel / Co-options to the Committee (FOR DECISION)
	8.1 REPORT CALLED IN - Review of the Inclusion (SEN) Strategy (CAB 175/067)
	Inclusion (SEN) Strategy Final

	9.1 Tower Hamlets Community Plan to 2010: Year 7 (2007/2008) - Revision (FOR DECISION)
	9.2 The Council's Strategic Plan 2006 to 2011: Year 2 Implementation Plan (2007/08) and Best Value Performance Plan (FOR DECISION)
	10.1 Equalities Action Plan 2006/07: End of Year Monitoring Report (FOR DECISION)
	EAP0607

	11.1 Health Scrutiny Panel - Access to GP / Dentistry Services
	GP-Dentistry Services Review - Final


